

Rock art and Landscape: an empirical Analysis in the content, context and distribution of the rock art sites in Omandumba East and West, Erongo Region-Namibia

Alma Nankela

▶ To cite this version:

Alma Nankela. Rock art and Landscape : an empirical Analysis in the content, context and distribution of the rock art sites in Omandumba East and West, Erongo Region-Namibia. Archaeology and Prehistory. Museum national d'histoire naturelle - MNHN PARIS; Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro (Portugal), 2017. English. NNT : 2017MNHN0032 . tel-04767335

HAL Id: tel-04767335 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04767335v1

Submitted on 5 Nov 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Universidade de Trás-os Montes e Alto Douro



International Doctorate in QUATERNARY AND PREHISTORY Doutoramento Quaternário, Materiais e Culturas

ROCK ART AND LANDSCAPE:

An empirical Analysis in the content, context and distribution of the rock art sites in Omandumba East and West, Erongo Region-Namibia

ALMA MEKONDJO NANKELA

Orientadores :

Professor Doutor Professor Doutor Professor Doutor Luiz Miguel Oosterbeek François Sémah David Pleurdeau

Ano Académico 2017



Júri:

- Prof. Dr.
- Prof. Dr.
- Denis Vialou (arguente) Luis Jorge Rodrigues Gonçalves (arguente) Dra Maria Emilia Pereira Simões de Abreu (vogal) David Pleurdeau (vogal) Prof. Dr.
- Prof. Dr.
- TilmanLenssen-Erz (relator Erasmus-mundus) Prof..Dr

"Our current lives are linked with the lives of others both past and present, as part of a deep and wide river of human experience moving through time" (Lipe 2002:28).

DECLARATION

I hereby, declare that this thesis is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it contains no material, which has been accepted or submitted for the award of any other degree or diploma.

I also declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no material previously published or written by any other person except where due reference is made in the text of the thesis.

Alma MekondjoNankela Researcher

DEDICATED

To the Namibian child

Table of Contents

PREFACE	vii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	viii
ABSTRACT	X
RÉSUMÉ	xi
RESUMO	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiii
LIST OF TABLES	xix
ABBREVIATIONS	xx
GLOSSARY	xxi
	1
I.INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND TO THE STUDY	1
1.1.BACKGROUND	I
1.2. Research Questions	6
1.3.Research Objectives	6
1.4.Significance of the Study	8
1.5. Thematic Structure of the Thesis	8
2.ENVIRONMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC CONTEXT OF ERONGO MOUNTAI	INS11
2.1.Geographical Context	
2.2.Geological Context	14
2.3.Geomorphological Context	16
2.4.Climate	17
2.5. Flora and Fauna	
2.6.Current land use system	
2.7.Sites setting: Omandumba East & West Farms	
	- 21
3.PALAEUENVIKUNMENI AND AKCHAEULUGICAL CUNTEATS	3I
3.1.SECTION A	
3.1.1.Holocene Chimate of Central Namib, Erongo Region	
2.1.2. An every set to emhand a sint sin Central Namid of Erongo Region	
3.1.3. An overview of the archaeological records in Erongo Region	
2.2.1 An everying of the archeology of the Middle Stone Age and Late Stone Age of the	
5.2.1. All overview of the archaeology of the whome Stone Age and Late Stone Age of the Erongo Mountains	45
2.2.2.4 brief background of rock ort baritage in Central Namib of Erongo Degion	
3.2.2.A brief bistory of rock art research in Eronge Mountains	
3.2.4 Deek Art research challenges	
5.2.4. ROCK AIT research chaneliges	05
4.LITERATURE REVIEW	65
4.1.Definition of Rock Art	65
4.2. Types of Rock Art	66
4.3. Tradition, style and techniques of Productions	69
4.4.Dating Rock Art	
4.5.Rock Art and Ethnography	
4.6.Location of Rock Art	
4.7.A Landscape Approach: An Archaeological Perspective to Rock Art	92
4.7.1.Landscape Definitions	94
4.7.2.Rock Art and Contexts	95
5.RESEARCH METHODS	
5.1. Formal and informed methods in rock art research	
5.2. Methodologies and data collection	101

5.2.1.Section A: research preparation	
5.2.2.Section B: data collection	
5.2.3.Section C: Data management and Analysis	
5.3.Ethical considerations	
6.RESEARCH RESULTS	
6.1.SECTION A: ROCK PAINTINGS	
6.1.1.Spatial organization of the study areas: Omandumba West and East Farms	
6.1.2. Spatial distribution of Rock Art Sites	
6.1.3.Selected Rock Art Sites	
6.1.4.Part A: General Description of the Rock Painting Sites	
6.1.5.Part B: Spatial Analyses of Landscape Attributes	
6.1.6.Part C: Rock Art Morphological Variables	
6.2.SECTION B: ROCK ENGRAVING	
6.2.1.Spatial distribution of rock Engraving site	
6.2.2.Selection of engraved panels	
6.2.3.Part A: Interviews with local San men	
6.2.4.Part B: General Description of Engraved Panels	
6.2.5.Part C: Spatial Analyses of Landscape Attributes	
6.2.6.Part D: Engravings Morphological Variables	
6.3.SECTION C: PIGMENT ANALYSES	
(2) 1 Similian and a standard in the standard	411
6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	
6.3.2.Results	
6.3.2.Results	
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 412 429 429 429 436 443
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 429 429 429 429 436 443 443
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 429 429 429 429 436 443 463 463
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 429 429 429 429 436 443 463 463 465 465
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 429 429 429 429 429 436 443 463 465 465 466
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 429 429 429 429 436 436 443 465 465 465 466 467
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 429 429 429 436 436 443 463 465 465 465 466 467 467
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 429 429 429 429 436 443 463 465 465 465 465 466 467 467 468
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 429 429 429 429 436 443 463 465 465 465 465 466 467 467 468 468
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 429 429 429 436 443 463 465 465 465 465 466 467 467 468 468 468
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 429 429 429 436 436 443 463 465 465 465 466 467 467 467 467 468 468 468 469 ge register
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 429 429 429 429 436 443 463 465 465 465 465 466 467 467 467 467 468 468 469 ge register 469
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 429 429 429 429 429 436 443 463 465 465 465 465 466 467 467 467 468 468 468 469 ge register 469 470
 6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study	411 412 429 429 429 429 436 443 463 465 465 465 465 465 466 467 468 468 468 469 ge register 469 470 483

PREFACE

I think most people think that you're almost born to be an archaeologist. I wasn't that kid, that played in a sandbox to become a future archaeologist. My own experiences and interests were different. "Why archaeology?" "What is so interesting about...studying prehistoric cultures that are no longer relevant in today's societies", "spending your life digging in the dirt", or "studying prehistoric doodles?" I have often been asked. I must admit; at first, I, too, was rather unimpressed. I grew up with the love of the outdoors that largely shaped by my childhood years in refugees' camps in Angola during Namibia liberation struggle and years spent in the village shortly after Namibian independence.

Growing up, right from onset, I've always had love for a History and Geography. I was nurtured quiet early from my parents who shared their experiences when they joined the struggle for the liberation of Namibia. Fleeing their homes and country into exile at a very tender age of 14 years old. The risks on the journeys to the borders, walking for miles through days and nights to avoid being noticed, shot at or being caught by insurgents. Most of them were caught in a war and experienced grim hazards and tragic loss at the epicentre of violence, including their homes and the loss of their beloved family members. They had endured harrowing voyages from their own home as they sought refuge in Angola- a long journey for children who arrived often exhausted with wounded feet as they walked for days, weeks and then months before they could join their Namibian brothers and sisters with a common objective. My parents narrated their walks and how they 'd shared their pains and became each other's parents, binding one another's wounds, sharing sips of mud water and burying their dead and how their spirits of hope remained strong through their unyielding faith in God. These young people were bright, full of life, with burning desire to become contributing members of their communities both in the exile and rebuilding their country once liberated. In recounting their stories, sometimes they experience a measure of therapeutic catharsis. But revisiting their experiences also triggers a deep sense of loss and anguish. These brave persons endured this for the one reason only- to liberate Namibia. Over the years, my parents drilled these accounts into my head and that of my siblings over and over again, making sure that we understood every bit of it. A lesson, I am very much aware, they are sharing with their grandchildren and experiences, they're narrating in their book.

So, I went to high school, knowing exactly what I wanted to study. I wanted to do something I was inspired by. There is nothing in the world that does not become intriguing and far more mysterious-once we recognize the complex events and causes that let to its creations. So, I chose History and Geography. I wanted to explore the diversity of human experiences, how profound people have differed in their ideas and cultural practices, how widely their experiences varies over period and circumstances, how they have struggled with each other while inhabiting a shared world and how they had explored every conceivable aspect of their reality in time and place. Their material cultures, many of which are passed down from one generation to another, the remnants of their ancestors, some of which are exhibited in museums today but many remains within families, the physical objects of the culture and the idea associated with them. Whilst at University, I continued with the discipline of History and Geography as I became more interested in the story behind every material culture; so slowly, I became more interested in the artifact and I guess, that's where archaeology bug bit me.

My initial interest in archaeology was largely driven by the fact that Namibia has even today acute shortage of archaeologists even with its extensive archaeological records in the region. There are number of factors might attribute this including but not limited to lack of awareness of the discipline, widespread emphasis engrossed primarily on mathematics and technology whilst overlooking heritage, a perception that heritage is not strategic resource etc. But fortunately the status quo is slowly improving. Knowing the complexity of the archaeology as a discipline, I was drawn to rock art largely because my archaeology lecturer and mentor at University. He too, admit was fascinated by the enigma of rock art. The same has happened to me, and this dissertation in a way, I am hoping it convey, in addition to the theories and scientific evidence, something of the deep enthrallment I have felt in my encounters with prehistoric rock art. Although many people find it incomprehensible and tedious thing of the past, I am convinced that anyone who makes the effort to understand it will realize that it's a rewarding experience, because these prehistoric remnants carries messages that are universal in the fullest sense of the word. It reflects the thoughts and worldview of an era in time that was of fundamental significance to human evolution and which therefore, apart from being one of our greatest surviving prehistoric written art treasures. It possesses a large body of evidence of human artistic, cognitive, and cultural beginnings. The intrinsic efficacy of rock art lies in its universality of appeal and to sustain it in a manner in which all can discern it. Therefore, it was a proud privilege for me to conduct my research in Omandumba farms where we stand in the global context especially in terms of rock art studies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Undertaking this PhD has been a truly life-changing experience for me and it would not have been possible to do without the immense supports and guidance that I have received from many people all deserving of my appreciations. I gratefully acknowledge the funding received from the Board of Erasmus Mundus Consortium Scholarship for granting me this three years fellowship to pursue this Joint Doctorate Program of the International Doctorate in Quaternary and Prehistory at two partner institutions.

Any academic merit in this study owes much to the guidance of my supervisors and advisors. They have provided substantial ideas and suggestions for my study. I would like to first say a very big thank you to my supervisor Dr David Pleaurdeau for all the encouragement and guidance you gave me every step of the way especially during months I spent undertaking my field work in Namibia. Without your guidance and constant feedback, this PhD would not have been achievable. I greatly appreciate the support and brilliant mentorship from Professor Luiz Oosterbeek whose insights, valuable discussions were enriching. You have both created the invaluable space for me to do this research and develop myself as a researcher in the best possible way. I greatly appreciate the freedom you have given me to find my own path and the guidance and support you offered when needed. I also want to take a moment to thank Dr. Tilman Lenssen-Erz for investing time and providing interesting and valuable feedbacks. Your mix of straightforward criticism has given me great confidence as a researcher, and at the same time made me realize that I am only a beginner in this exciting profession.

While supervision, discussion and inspiration have all been important for the materialisation of this thesis, some people have directly contributed to its contents, namely researchers, the students who worked on the empirical projects and scientific analysis of the pigments. A special thank you to my colleague Sara Garcês from the Museu de Arte Pré-histórica do Sagrado Vale do Tejo and its friendly staff; Instituto Terra e Memória and FundaçãoMuseu. Methodologies used in this thesis have been the backbone of this research. Most of the results described in this thesis would not have been obtained without a close collaboration with the multi-disciplinary team from the Museum National D'Histoire Naturelle whose support went beyond the field and laboratory studies. I owe a great deal of appreciation and gratitude to Dr. Matthieu Lebon, Océane Lapauze, and Guilhem Mauran and to Dr. Florent Detroit. For your time, expertise, keen interest and dedication to 'mission archéologique en Namibie'. I equally indebted to Mr. Kxao /Lukxaov and Mr. N!ani R!kxao, from Omandumba San Living Museum, whose inherent traditional knowledge of animal tracking had assisted me enormously in identifying animal figures and spoors tracks depictions in rock art of Omandumba farms. Thank you so much for your knowledge, skills and time. Without your astonishing supports, I would have been nowhere. The interviews recorded for the study had enriched this research and generally rock art interpretation in Namibia.

My deep appreciation goes out to the local field research team members: Mrs. Fousy Shinana-Kambombo, Maria Mwatondange and Tuuda Haitula. Their excellent team efforts during data collection have made an invaluable contribution towards my PhD.

And then of course, my special and heartily thanks to the Rust family. Words fail me to express my sincere appreciation for your supports, time, efforts, understanding, generous care and the homely feeling in Omandumba. Thank you doesn't seem sufficient but it is said with appreciation and respect to you. From the beginning of this research, you made our stay very

comfortable in every possible way. You were instrumental in assisting us to locate most of the rock art sites in your farm. You have provided us with free and safe accommodation at your campsites, safe drinking water and have allowed us to charge our camera batteries in their house. I am also grateful to your family, friendship and the warmth you have extended to us for the past five years.

I express my gratitude to all colleagues who reviewed my work. The diversity of opinions, comments, and criticisms, made my work and writing genuine and legitimate. A very special thanks you to Luis Mitras for your invaluable advice and feedback on my research, especially with the mammoth task of reviewing the final editing of this thesis. I am also very grateful to individuals in various institutions in Namibia such as the National Museum of Namibia, the National Heritage Council, the Geological Survey of Namibia and the Ministry of Lands and Resettlement of Namibia, for providing logistics supports to this the projects, in form of the heritage research permits, fieldwork vehicles, drivers, camping equipment and all primary rock art recording equipment. Without your supports, this thesis would have not been possible.

I would also like to say a heartfelt thank you Dr. Jeremy Silvester for always believing in me, nurturing my professional growth and encouraging me to follow my dreams. I want to express my thanks first and foremost to my fiancée, my family, my friends, and my co-workers who have helped me through this project by providing unfailing moral support, and by keeping me on track when I wandered off. Laurent Vareliette has dedicated countless hours of guidance and invaluable critique. To them, for them, I will always be grateful.

My academic life in Mação Portugal were facilitated and coordinated by much hospitality and innumerable courtesies from Professor Artur Agostinho de Abreu Sa and Professor João Baptista at UTAD as well as very friendly staffs at the Museu de Arte Pré-histórica do Sagrado Vale do Tejo including Dr. Margarida Morais, Sara Garces and Dr. Sara Cura. The Erasmus Mundus mobility studies at the Museum National d'Histoire Naturelle in Paris were coordinated by Professor François Sémah, Dr. ChafikaFalguele, Dr. David Pleurdeau and the friendly administrative staffs at the Musée de L'homme, for whom I am eternally grateful. Finally, I would also like to thank members of the júris for having accepted to assess my thesis.

To my parents meme Maria Fatima Hamulo and tate Penda Nankela, thank you for your sacrifices and devotions to my academic life.

You gave me a purpose.

ABSTRACT

Much of the research into rock art in Namibia has focused on the Brandberg, Spitzkoppe and Twyfefontein mountains. These are national and World Heritage sites in central Namibia where the largest densities of prehistoric rock art sites have been recorded. Very little attention has been given to another key rock art area in central Namibia - the Erongo Mountains. The central objective of this study is to establish whether the spatial distribution of rock art in Omandumba in the Erongo Mountains has a density comparable to those other well-researched sites. It is hoped that this research will add values to the existing body of knowledge about rock art in Central Namibia.

To achieve this, this study adopted a contextual approach to the study of rock art in relation to its landscape. The landscape approach considers a number of variables, namely, its spatial distribution, the possible target audience, accessibility, elevation, proximity to water sources and animal trails, aspect/orientation, the placement and visibility of rock art sites in the landscape. For our purposes, an interdisciplinary framework was adopted: data obtained from archaeology, bioarchaeology, ethnography, ethno-history, geology, geography, paleoenvironment, GIS and zooarchaeology have been applied to investigate the rock art sites in relation to their contexts, this to better understand their spatial distribution. In addition to the spatial variables, the study further studied the morphological aspects of both paintings and engravings, and determined their overall state of preservation. The study has also established the sources and geographical origin of the raw materials used in the production of rock paintings. These were extracted from three contexts namely: archaeological sequences, geological and by means of *in situ* analyses of pigments from suitable rock painting sites. The chronological sequences of painted figures were also established.

The contextual data for this study were collected through a systematic surveys and documentation of rock art that was carried out in field campaigns of 2014 and 2016 in Omandumba East and West farms in the Erongo Mountains, Namibia. In total, 60 rock painting sites containing 70 rock painted panels were recorded. In addition, a rock-engraving site containing 50 engraved panels was also recorded.

Key words: Namibia, Erongo Mountains, Omandumba Rock Art and Landscape

RÉSUMÉ

Les travaux de recherche sur l'art pariétal namibien, menés avant l'indépendance et depuis lors, se sont focalisés sur trois ensembles de massifs de Namibie Centrale : le Brandberg, les massifs du Spitzkoppe et le site du patrimoine mondial de Twyfelfontein. Ces trois massifs sont riches des plus fortes concentrations d'art pariétal préhistorique enregistrées en Namibie. Mais une autre région cruciale pour l'art pariétal de la Namibie Centrale a souvent été oublié, n'ayant que trop peu été étudiée : les massifs de l'Erongo. L'étude de l'art pariétal présent sur les fermes d'Omandumba, situées dans les massifs de l'Erongo, vise à comparer sa distribution spatiale, avec celle des ensembles plus connus que sont le Brandberg, le Spitzkoppe et Twyfelfontein, permettant ainsi une meilleure compréhension du corpus de l'art pariétal de la Namibie Centrale.

Dans ce la thèse envisage une approche contextuelle de l'étude de la relation liant l'art pariétal à son environnement, son paysage. Distribution spatiale, public potentiel, accessibilité, élévation, proximité de point d'eau et de gibiers, aspect, orientation, emplacement et visibilité des sites d'art pariétal au sein des paysages dont ils font partis sont autant de variables considérées dans cette approche du paysage afin d'établir les fonctions potentielles des différents sites d'art pariétal considérés. Cette étude se situe au cœur d'un réseau interdisciplinaire faisant dialoguer et interagir données archéologiques, ethno-historiques, bioarchéologiques, ethnographiques, géologiques, géographiques, paléoenvironementales, et zooarchéologiques. Intégrées aux SIG, ces données ont apporté de nouvelles informations sur la distribution spatiale. Cette thèse étudie également les variables morphologiques des peintures et des gravures, ainsi que leur état de préservation. En plus des variables spatiales, la thèse a en outre étudié les aspects morphologiques des peintures et des gravures, et déterminé l'ensemble de leur état de préservation. La thèse tente également d'établir les sources et l'origine géographique des matières premières utilisées dans la production de peintures. Ces ont été extraites de trois contextes à savoir: séquences archéologiques, géologiques et par le biais d'analyses in situ des pigments de peinture des sites. L'ordre chronologique des séquences de figures peintes a également été établir.

Les données contextuelles utilisées dans cette étude ont été collectées au cours de campagnes de prospections et de documentations systématiques en 2014/16 des sites d'art pariétal situés dans les fermes d'Omandumba Est et Ouest, massif de l'Erongo, Namibie. L'étude repose sur une soixantaine de sites de peintures contenant 70 panneaux, ainsi qu'un site de gravures regroupant 50 panneaux ornés.

Mots Clés: Namibie, Les massifs de l'Erongo, Omandumba, Arte Rupestre et Paysage.

RESUMO

Muita da investigação sobre a arte em arte rupestre na Namíbia tem incidido sobre a Brandberg, SpitzkoppeTwyfefontein e montanhas. Estes são nacionais e sítios de Património Mundial na central a Namíbia, onde se registou a maior densidade de sítios de arte rupestre pré-histórica. Dado que muito pouca atenção tem sido dada a uma outra zona chave de arte rupestre na Namíbia central, as montanhas de Erongo, os objetivos da presente investigação em arte rupestre são os de estabelecer se a distribuição espacial da arte rupestre de Omandumba tem uma densidade comparável à de outros locais bem documentados, a fim de compreender o atual corpus de conhecimentos sobre a arte rupestre centro da Namíbia.

Para atingir estes objetivos, a dissertação aplicou uma abordagem contextual ao estudo da arte rupestre na relação com a paisagem. A abordagem paisagística da arte rupestre reconsiderou variáveis referentes aos sítios, nomeadamente a distribuição espacial, a possível audiência, a acessibilidade, o relevo, a proximidade de fontes de água e trilhos de animais, a perspetiva/orientação, a localização e sua visibilidade na paisagem, a fim de estabelecer suas possíveis funcionalidades. É central no estudo sobre a arte rupestre e a paisagem um enquadramento interdisciplinar onde dados obtidos da arqueologia, da bio arqueologia, da etnografia, de informações etnohistóricas, da geologia, da geografia, do paleo-ambiente, dos SIG e da zooarqueologia foram aplicados para investigar os locais de arte rupestre na relação com os seus contextos, para melhor compreender a sua distribuição espacial. Além das variáveis espaciais, este estudo considerou as variáveis morfológicas tanto das pinturas como das gravuras, e determinou seu estado geral de preservação. O estudo foi também estabelecido as fontes e origem geográfica das matérias-primas utilizadas na produção de pinturas na rocha. Estes foram extraídos de três contextos nomeadamente: sequências de sítios arqueológicos, geológicas e por meio de análises insitu de pigmentos de pintura rupestre adequado sites. A ordem cronológica das sequências de números pintados também foi estabelecida

As coleções de dados contextuais para este estudo foram recolhidas através de prospecções sistemáticas e documentação de arte rupestre, nas campanhas de campo de 2014/15 nas quintas de Omandumba Leste e Oeste, nas montanhas Erongo na Namíbia. Aqui, cerca de 60 sítios pintados, contendo 70 painéis de pinturas, foram registados, para além de um sítio com gravuras rupestres, contendo 50 painéis gravados.

Palavras-chave: Namíbia, Erongo Montanhas, Omandumba, Arte Rupestre e Paisagen.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Satellite Map of Namibia indicating geomorphology features.	12
Figure 2.2 Physical map of Erongo region indicating the geographical location of Erongo Mountains	13
Figure 2.3 Detailed topographic Map of Erongo Mountains	14
Figure 2.4 A simplified geological Map of Erongo Mountain	15
Figure 2.5 A geological Map of Erongo Complex	16
Figure 2.6 Typical sceneries around the Erongo Mountains	17
Figure 2.7 Man of Namihia indicating the average annual rainfall	18
Figure 2.8 Fog over Omandumba Farms	10
Figure 2.0 View of Omandumba Farms after good rains	10
Figure 2.10 Pools water sources in Omandumba West farm	20
Figure 2.11 Spring water sources in Ornandumba forma	20
Figure 2.11 Spring water sources in Omandumoa farms	20
Figure 2.12 Map of Namiola indicating the average annual temperature.	21
Figure 2.13 Acadia species contined to riverbeds and valleys landscape	22
Figure 2.14 Commiphora species found in basalt environment	22
Figure 2.15 Cyphostemma currorii on Erongo granites	22
Figure 2.16 Some animal species found in Erongo Mountains today	24
Figure 2.17 Map of Namibia, indicating areas of communal and commercial land	25
Figure 2.18 Illegal small mining activity occurring in Omandumba West Farm	26
Figure 2.19 Illegal campers under rock art sites in farm Ameib of Erongo Mountains	26
Figure 2.20 Topographic Map of Erongo Complex indicating the location of study areas	27
Figure 3.1 An overview of the palaeoclimatic proxies for the Holocene in Central Namib	34
Figure 3.2 The general distribution of known archaeological sites in the Erongo Region	39
Figure 3.3 Map of Namibia indicating the location of MSA sites of the central north-western Erongo region	40
Figure 3.4 The detailed chronological division of the Holocene period of the LSA phases in Central Namibia.	46
Figure 3.5 Topographic Map of the Erongo Mountains indicating the location of MSA and LSA sites	49
Figure 3.6 Etemba 14 excavation plan of 1968 and 1984 of the MSA and LSA stratigraphical Layers	50
Figure 3.7 The excavation plan and stratigraphic summary of Fackelträger	51
Figure 3.8 The excavation plan of the Leonard Cave site from 2009-2015	52
Figure 3.9 The summary of the artefacts from Leonard Cave	52
Figure 3.10 Map of wast control Namibia showing the spatial distribution of pointings and angraving sites	54
Figure 2.11 Themes of Nemibian roak art	55
Figure 2.12 The main motives of animal concentrations in Namikia	55
Figure 5.12 The main mouves of annual representations in Nannola	50
Figure 3.13 Henri Abbe Breuil in Erongo Mountains	58
Figure 3.14 The original figures and traced images of the same site by Henri Breuil	59
Figure 3.16 The traced figure of striped giraffe from the Stripped Giraffe Site	60
Figure 3.17 Drawing of Dr. Ernst Rudolph Scherz	60
Figure 3.18 The artwork at Fackelträger and Etemba 2 in Erongo Mountains	61
Figure 4.1 An example of monochrome, bichrome and polychrome figures in Namibia	66
Figure 4.2 The handprints from Tassili in Algiers	67
Figure 4.3 Different types of engraving media.	68
Figure 4.4 The distribution of hunter-gatherers and I.A rock art traditions in southern Africa.	69
Figure 4.5 The elaborate scenes of the 'White Lady' Shelter in the Brandberg Mountain, Namibia	70
Figure 4.6. An elaborated scene of animals in hunter gathers traditions at Twyfelfontein	70
Figure 4.7 Rock art by the Herders.	72
Figure 4.8 Distribution of Hunter-Gatherers and I. A. rock art traditions in southern Africa	73
Figure 4.9 Iron Age rock paintings from the Limpopo Province. South Africa	73
Figure 4.10 Iron Age Agriculturalists engravings from the floor of the Nuah River in the south of Namihia	74
Figure 4.11 Different types of ochre stones found in Namibia	7/
Figure 4.12 Stopes containing traces of other nigments from Leonard Cave	75
Figure 4.12 Stones containing tracks of ochic pignents from Leopard Cave	70
Figure 4.15 Various styles and techniques in fock pannings	19
Figure 4.14 Different types of engraving techniques in Namiona	00
Figure 4.10 Engraved ocnre pieces from Biombos Cave, Western Cape, South Africa.	82
Figure 4.1 / Arboreal and cloudlike representations in rock paintings sites.	80
Figure 4.18 The Dancing Kudu Panel which shows concentric circles made by herders	88
Figure 4.19 Different landscape locations of Namibian rock art sites.	90
Figure 4.20 The context of rock art from a landscape archaeology approach	97

Figure 4.21 Illustration of documentation from site OWF60a	.98
Figure 5.1 Fackelträger Shelter in Omandumba West Farm: immediately after rainy season in April 2014 1	105
Figure 5.2 Fackelträger Shelter in Omandumba West Farm: summer season in September 20151	105
Figure 5.3 The Rust's Family1	106
Figure 5.4 Equipment Recruiter	109
Figure 5.5 Locations of known rock art sites prior to the systematic survey in OWF.	110
Figure 5.6 Hiking towards the engraving site within local San men from the SLM.	111
Figure 5.7 Hiking to rock paintings and rock engraving sites with Rust's Children1	113
Figure 5.8 Processes involved in the recording of rock art	116
Figure 5.9 panoramic shots of the landscape features around site OWF39	117
Figure 5.10 3D imaging	18
Figure 5.11 Locations of pigments sites the Erongo Mountains	119
Figure 5.12 Leopard Cave/ site OWF42 1	119
Figure 5.13 The site excavation areas and site successive plan of the excavations of L.C.	20
Figure 5.14 The pigmented materials (grinding stores and the pilon) from square P7	20
Figure 5.15 Local context of the rock art sites analysed in November 2016.	21
Figure 5 16 A general view of site OWF39	22
Figure 5.17 Context and environment of the Black Gnu Wall's site	23
Figure 5.18 Elephant Wall /site OWE56	123
Figure 5.19 Black Man Shelter/site OWF05	123
Figure 5.20 Ghost Cave's site	123
Figure 5.20 Onosi Cave 3 she.	124
Figure 5.22 Maga Cloud folder where painting sites images and other site data are stored	125
Figure 5.22 Mega Cloud folder where engraving sites images and other site data are stored.	120
Figure 5.25 Mega Cloud folder where engraving sites images and other site data are stored	120
Figure 5.24 The general distribution of the rock art sites in OEF & OWF at 5kill scale	120
Figure 5.25 The spatial distribution of the Coogle Analytical Spreadsheet of sites data	129
Figure 5.20 Screenshols of the Google Analytical Spreadsheet of sites data	121
Figure 5.27 Omandumba farms fock an Auffoure Database data entry form.	131
Figure 5.26 Image manipulations by means of District Plugin and Adobe Photoshop CS0	132
Figure 5.29 Various ways of tracing engraving infough Adobe Photosnop CS6	133
Figure 5.30 The extractions of red pigment samples at site O w F18	133
Figure 5.31 The μ -DRX and XRF portable laboratories of LAMS.	134
Figure 5.32 Imaging flat and Diffractogram	134
Figure 5.33 Infrared Spectrometer at the laboratory of MNHN/Musee de l'Homme	135
Figure 5.34 Prepared powder from the ochre stone	136
Figure 6.1 Map of the Erongo Mountain with distribution of rock painting sites in Omandumba farms	40
Figure 6.2 Distribution and location of selected rock painting sites in Omandumba Farms	41
Figure 6.3 Paranomic view of site OWF09	144
Figure 6.4 The artworks on the panel at site OWF09	.44
Figure 6.5 The location of artworks on the panel1	46
Figure 6.6 Shows the reconstructed image site OWF121	147
Figure 6.7 Shows the location of the site in the landscape as indicated by pointed arrow	50
Figure 6.8 The image shows the painted boulder of site OWF12 in the landscape1	151
Figure 6.9 Is the original image of the panel indicates the location of figures on the panel 1	52
Figure 6.10 The image on the left shows the location of artworks on the panel 1	153
Figure 6.11 The original image of the panel indicating the location of figures on the panel 1	154
Figure 6.12 Shows sediments and some surface artefacts found in the shelter1	56
Figure 6.13 Show the location of site OWF39 in the landscape1	156
Figure 6.14 Panoramic view of Panel OWF39a at Fackelträger site1	159
Figure 6.15 Shows reconstructed image of Panel OWF39a1	60
Figure 6.16 The image on the left show the shape of Panel OWF39b1	61
Figure 6.17 Present a reconstructed Panel OWF39b1	62
Figure 6.18 Present some of the surface artefacts found in the shelter1	64
Figure 6.19 Present site OWF42/Leopard Cave1	65
Figure 6.20 Shows the interior of Leopard Cave open-air Cave Shelter1	66
Figure 6.21 Shows the location of the artworks on the panel at L.C1	67
Figure 6.22 Shows the panoramic view of the Priest Shelter (red arrow).	170
Figure 6.23 Shows the panoramic view of the Priest Shelter.	171
Figure 6.24 Shows reconstructed image of Panel OWF46a1	172

Figure 6.25 Sh	nows the panoramic view of the Priest Shelter	173
Figure 6.26 Sh	nows reconstructed image of Panel OWF46b	175
Figure 6.27 Sh	nows one of the stone structure clustered between two sites (OWF46 & OWF47)	177
Figure 6.28 Th	he top image shows the panoramic view of the Ostrich Shelter	178
Figure 6.29 Sh	nows reconstructed image of Panel OWF47	179
Figure 6.30 Th	he top image shows the panoramic view of the site OWF50	181
Figure 6.31 Sh	nows the close up image of Tuba Rock/site OWF50	182
Figure 6.32 Sh	nows reconstructed image of Panel OWF47, CLUSTER 1	183
Figure 6.33 Sh	nows reconstructed image of Panel OWF47, CLUSTER 2	185
Figure 6.34 Sh	nows a piece of pottery found below the panel.	186
Figure 6.35 Sh	nows the panoramic view of the site OWF52.	187
Figure 6.36 Sh	nows the location of the site at the bottom of the foothill (red arrow)	187
Figure 6.37 Sh	nows the panoramic view of Panel OWF52a	188
Figure 6.38 Sh	nows reconstructed image of Panel OWF52a	189
Figure 6.39 Sh	nows the panoramic view of Panel OWF52b	190
Figure 6.40 Sh	nows reconstructed image of Panel OWF52b	191
Figure 6.41 Sh	nows a piece of pottery found below the panel.	192
Figure 6.42 Pre	esent the panoramic view of Panel OWF56	193
Figure 6.43 Th	he left image shows the location of the site OWF52 in the landscape	193
Figure 6.44 Sh	hows reconstructed image of Panel OWF56.	194
Figure 6.45 Pre	esent the panoramic view of Panel OEF60	197
Figure 6 46 Sh	hows a panoramic view of the interior of site OEE60	198
Figure 6 47 Is	a panoramic view of the interior of Panel OEF60a	199
Figure 6 48 Sh	hows reconstructed image of Panel OEF60a	200
Figure 6 49 Sh	hows a paporamic view of the interior of Papel OFF60h	201
Figure 6 50 Sh	hows reconstructed image of Panel OFF60b CLUSTER 1	202
Figure 6 51 Sh	hows reconstructed image of Panel OEF60b, CLUSTER 7	202
Figure 6 53 On	mandumha West Farm sites Landscapes	203
Figure 6 54 On	mandumba West Farm site Seal Shelter	200
Figure 6 55 Th	nandumba west Farm she Sear Sheher.	209
Figure 6 56 Th	a Leopard Cave, Giraffe Cave and the Ghost Cave	210
Figure 6 57 Th	the Ecopard Cave, Onlane Cave and the Onlost Cave	212
Figure 6.58 On	mandumba East Site angraving site OFE61	$213 \\ 214$
Figure 6 50 Ba	mandumoa East She engraving she OEF 01	214
Figure 6.60 Dr	eximity of Deals Art Sites to Water Sources in Organdumba East and West Forms	213
Figure 6.60 FIG	oximity of Rock Art Sites to water Sources in Oriandumoa East and west Farms.	210
Figure 6.01 Ty	pes of water sources in the study areas	221
Figure 0.02 Sh	nows the trans system (in red lines) and their proximity to springs	223
Figure 0.03 Sta	acked Area chart of rock art sites (paintings and engravings) in proximity to animal trails	224
Figure 6.64 Sn	lows animal trail leading towards one of the spring (right),	223
Figure 6.65 In	he accessibility analysis of the sites.	226
Figure 6.66 Sh	hows the nature of hiking towards the restricted sites with difficult access	227
Figure 6.6/ Sh	nows the nature accessible sites in Omandumba West Farm that occupies narrow passages	228
Figure 6.68 Sh	nows various accessible sites in Omandumba West Farms	229
Figure 6.70 Par	inels Orientations of rock painting sites in the study areas: Omandumba East and West Farms	230
Figure 6.71 Sh	nows the location of rock painting sites in Omandumba East and West farms.	234
Figure 6.72 Th	he positioning of the rock painting figures onto rock surfaces	237
Figure 6.73 Is t	the histogram of total number of rock painting figures per site.	241
Figure 6.74 Is	the histogram of total number of rock painting figures per Panel	242
Figure 6.75 Va	arious forms of human depictions in diverse scenes and postures.	243
Figure 6.76 Ge	ender representations of anthropomorphic elements in the study	244
Figure 6.77 Sh	nows men in a hunting scene at Crown Boulder/ Site OWF52a and at site OWF30	244
Figure 6.78 Sh	nows scenes of women from site OWF52a, OWF56 and OWF39b.	245
Figure 6.79 Inc	determinate human figures in the repertoire	246
Figure 6.80 Inc	dicates the total % of determinate and indeterminate zoomorphic taxa	247
Figure 6.81 To	op presents the percentage of individual species of each animal species.	248
Figure 6.82 Sh	nows springbok depictions	249
Figure 6.83 Sh	nows verities of painted giraffe depictions	250
Figure 6.84 Sh	nows kudu depictions in the study	251
Figure 6.85 Sh	nows the depiction of Oryx/nyala in the study.	251

Figure 6.86 Shows ostrich and rhinoceros in the study	252
Figure 6.87 Shows varieties of elephant depictions in the study	253
Figure 6.88 Indicates the duiker bucks and "spoors' prints in the study	254
Figure 6.89 Shows various bees and bees' swarms depictions in the study	255
Figure 6.90 Eland's depictions in the study.	256
Figure 6.91 Zebra /Quagga depictions in the study	257
Figure 6.92 Depiction of a warthog and klipspringer in the study.	258
Figure 6.93 Feline and serpent depictions in the study.	258
Figure 6.94 Shows some of the indeterminate zoomorphic depictions in the study areas.	260
Figure 6.95 Therianthropic figures in the study	261
Figure 6.96 Tree representations in the study	262
Figure 6.97 Lineal depictions in the study.	263
Figure 6.98 Indicates the indeterminate designs in the painting repertoire from the same site	264
Figure 6.99 The indeterminate figures in the study	264
Figure 6.100 Present the variables in the Techniques of rock paintings in the study	265
Figure 6.101 A histogram Analysis of the superimposed elements in the study	269
Figure 6.102 Presents a reconstruction of the superimposed elephant by two elands	270
Figure 6.103 Presents detailed superimpositions observed on the entire Panel OEF60a.	271
Figure 6.104 Show a scene of zoomorphic figures superimposed Animal over human at OWF52a	
Figure 6.105 Shows two reconstructed examples of overlapping among anthropomorphs in the study	272
Figure 6.106 Shows reconstructed overlapped human figures on some animal figures scenes	273
Figure 6.107 Shows a tree figure superimposed on a springbok and a giraffe figure at site OWF39b	273
Figure 6.108 Shows the frequencies of colours used in the production of rock paintings.	215
Figure 6.109 Present the original colours of rock paintings in the study.	276
Figure 0.110 Present varieties of threats affecting fock-painting sites	280
Figure 6.111 Present varieties anthropic threats affecting fock-painting sites	281
Figure 6.112 Present the nature of surface archaeological deposit recorded in the study areas	204
Figure 6.115 The distribution of the city from the north	291
Figure 6.114 Top Image. View of the site from the north increasing penals.	292
Figure 6.116 Mani Plkyao drawing on the ground while translating during the interview discussions	295
Figure 6.117 Mr. Kyao / Juky working on his arrows during the interview	290
Figure 6.118 Mr. Kxao /Lukxao and Nlani Rlkxao hiking barefoot towards the engraving site	301
Figure 6.119 Two informants and colleagues entering the engraving site	301
Figure 6.120 Mr. Kxao /Lukxao and Mr. Nlani Rlkxao examining the first panel OEF61/01 at the site	302
Figure 6.121 Mr. Kxao /Lukxao and Mr. Nani Rikxao examining Panel OEF61/08.	303
Figure 6.122 Shows the area where the springboks supposedly overnight.	
Figure 6.123 Mr. N!ani R!kxao (the young informant) inspecting fresh animal spoors.	
Figure 6.124 Some of the fresh antelope spoors identified by Mr. N!ani R!kxao	305
Figure 6.125 Mr. Kxao /Lukxao examining human footprints at Panel OEF61/27.	307
Figure 6.126 Mr. Kxao /Lukxao and Mr. N!ani R!kxao after examining all panels in the site	308
Figure 6.128 Shows the location of Panel OEF61/01	313
Figure 6.129 Show Panel OEF61/03	315
Figure 6.130 Present Panel OEF61/04	317
Figure 6.131 Shows Panel OEF61/08.	319
Figure 6.132 Shows Panel OEF61/14.	321
Figure 6.133 Present Panel OEF61/22.	324
Figure 6.134 Shows Panel OEF61/23.	326
Figure 6.135 Shows Panel OEF61/26	327
Figure 6.136 Shows Panel OEF61/26.	329
Figure 6.137 Shows the location of Panel OEF61/27.	330
Figure 6.138 Shows figures at Panel OEF61/27.	331
Figure 6.139 Is the location of Panel OEF61/30.	332
Figure 6.140 Shows figures at Panel OEF61/30.	334
Figure 6.141 Shows the location of Panel OEF61/33in the landscape	335
Figure 6.142 Shows figures at Panel OEF61/33	336
Figure 6.143 Shows the location of Panel OEF61/34.	337
Figure 6.144 Indicates Panel OEF61/34.	338
Figure 6.145 Shows the location of the Panel OEF61/36.	339

Figure 6.146 Shows figures at Panel OEF61/36.	
Figure 6.147 Indicates the location of Panel OEF61/48 in the landscape.	
Figure 6.148 Is the location of Panel OEF61/49.	
Figure 6.149 Shows figures at Panel OEF61/49.	
Figure 6.150 Is the location of Panel OEF61/50.	
Figure 6.151 Shows figures at Panel OEF61/50.	
Figure 6.152 Shows the spatial distribution of the engraved panels in the site	
Figure 6.153 Shows the location of the engraved panels in the site	
Figure 6.154 Various shapes of engraved boulders.	
Figure 6.155 Base Map indicating panels recorded at three elevations for Site OEF61	
Figure 6.156 Topography Analyses of engraved Panels at Site OWF61 in Omandumba East Farm	
Figure 6.157 Shows the proximity of engraved panels to Springs.	
Figure 6.158 Show a cluster of panels in proximity to the spring near the site entry.	
Figure 6.159 Shows a cluster of panels in proximity to the spring near the site exit.	
Figure 6.160 Current trails system (in red lines) around the engraving site in the Omandumba East Farm	1 357
Figure 6.161 Left: The local San men following fresh animal spoors in the site	
Figure 6.162 Shows various fresh animal spoors in and around the site trail systems	
Figure 6.163 Showsthe total number of accessible and those with restricted access in the site	
Figure 0.104 Snows the local San men accessing with difficulties one Panel OEF01/30	
Figure 6.165 The indicates the accessible location of Panel UEF61/05.	
Figure 6.100 The location of Panel OEF01/34 with restricted access on top of southern stope	
Figure 6.167 Shows the drawing of location of angraved panels and the position of artworks on the page	ala 365
Figure 6.160 Histogram of the artworks placements in their papels at Site OEE61	367
Figure 6 170 Example of papels hosting figures placed on top of their papels	368
Figure 6.170 Example of panels with figures placed in the middle of the panels	368
Figure 6.177 Example of panels with figures placed at the lowest section of the panels	369
Figure 6.173 Shows panels with figures placed at from the top up until the middle of the panels.	370
Figure 6.174 Shows panels with figures placed in the middle to the bottom of the panels.	371
Figure 6.175 Shows panels with figures (human) that occupy the entire panels	
Figure 6.176 Shows panels with figures (animal spoors) that occupy the entire panels.	
Figure 6.177 A histogram of total number of rock engravings figures per panel of Site OEF61	
Figure 6.178 Presents the percentage of all elements recorded at Site OEF61.	
Figure 6.179 Indicates the locations and distribution of human footprints (in red panels) at Site OEF61	
Figure 6.180 Shows various forms of human depictions recorded in Site OEF61	
Figure 6.181 Outlined figures with their cortex inside at Panel OEF61/30 and Panel OEF61/14	
Figure 6.182 Presents some of the complete human footprint with their heels	
Figure 6.183 Presents a human footprint without its heel, recorded at Panel OEF61/33	
Figure 6.184 Some of the panels with only animal figures at Panel OEF61/03 and Panel OEF61/19	
Figure 6.185 Example of panels showing solely animal figures at Panel OEF61/37 and Panel OEF61/41	386
Figure 6.186 Shows the prevalence of spoor species recorded in the site	
Figure 6.187 (A) The duiker buck, (B) duiker buck fresh spoor and (C) engraved duiker buck spoors at I	Panel
OEF61/04	
Figure 6.188 (A) klipspringer, (B) klipspringer traced spoor & (C) engraved klipspringer spoors at OEF	61/16
Eigen (190 (A) and a bal (D) and a bal first area $\mathcal{E}(\mathcal{O})$ are even dominately and a the provest Provide CEC1	1/15 200
Figure 6.189 (A) springbok (B) springbok fresh spoor & (C) engraved springbok spoors at Panel OEF61	1/15 388
Figure 6.190 (A) Kudu (B) kudu Iresh spoor and (C) engraved kudu spoor at Panel OEF61/31	
Figure 6.191 (A) Ofyx (B) Ofyx fiesh spoor and (C) engraved ofyx spoor at panel OEF61/22	1 200
Figure 6.192 (A) mountain Zebra (B) Zebra fiesh spoor and (C) engraved zebra spoor at Panel OEF61/0.	1 309
Figure 6.195 (A) finite (B) finite fresh speer and (C) engraved firstfes speers at Panel OEF61/06	380
Figure 6 195 (A) elephant (B) elephant fresh spoor and (C) engraved elephant spoor at Panel OFE61/25	309
Figure 6.196 Depiction of a giraffe at Panel OEF61/37 and faded oiraffes at Panel OEF61/09	390
Figure 6.197 Depiction of the rhino at Panel OEF61/26 and a rhino in a hicenhalic scene at Panel OEF6	1/39, 391
Figure 6.198 Left, is a depiction of an oryx at Panel OEF61/39 and a springbok at Panel OEF61/07	
Figure 6.199 Depiction of a reptile at Panel OEF61/41 and a baboon handprint at Panel OEF61/24	
Figure 6.200 Depiction of three small peck marks (dots) beneath a spoor at Panel OEF61/02 and OEF61	/27394
Figure 6.201 Image shows some of the indeterminate figures at Panel OEF61/23 and OEF61/08	395
Figure 6.202 Two types of pecking techniques recorded at Panel OEF61/19 and Panel OEF61/11	396

Figure 6.203 An example of figures that have been pecked firstly and then smoothed.	397
Figure 6.204 Two rhino figures achieved through scratching technique.	397
Figure 6.205 The fully engraved artworks (animal spoors) at Panel OEF61/04. All figures at 10cm scale	399
Figure 6.206 Shows a partially engraved animal figure at panel OEF61/19	399
Figure 6.207 Shows panels hosting outlined and the partially in filled with shallow peck marks	400
Figure 6.208 Shows some of the panels hosting outlined figures without in fills	400
Figure 6.209 Shows the panel OEF61/39 displaying overlapping figures.	401
Figure 6.210 Shows the reconstruction of Panel OEF61/39.	402
Figure 6.211 Shows the reconstruction of Panel OEF61/39 if other animals used the Oryx's (black) body	403
Figure 6.212 Fresh graffiti in the form of scratching recorded at Panel OEF61/26	404
Figure 6.213 Shows graffiti in form of inscriptions in the site.	404
Figure 6.214 Presents the potsherd recovered near Panel OEF61/37	405
Figure 6.215 Shows the stratigraphic distribution of the number of archaeological pieces at LC.	410
Figure 6.216 presents various groups of coloured material excavated at Leopard Cave site	411
Figure 6.217 Analysis of the black pigments used to realize the black gnu figure of BGW site	417
Figure 6.218 Analysis of the black pigments used to realize the equids figures	418
Figure 6.219 Analysis of the dark brown anthropomorphic representation of GC site	419
Figure 6.220 XRF in situ results of the white pigments and alteration of GC site	419
Figure 6.221 the result of two distinct red hues at Fackelträgger shelter/ site OWF39b	420
Figure 6.222 Imaging plate of the sample Group 12 O8a Z = 195-200.	421
Figure 6.223 Diffractogram obtained under of Fit2D.	422
Figure 6.224 Diffragramme on powders of the sample group 12 O8a Z = 195-200	422
Figure 7.1 Representation modes in engravings and paintings of Central Namibia	432
Figure 7.2 Eland 's depictions at Crown Boulder / site OWF52a	436
Figure 7.3 A feline depiction at site OEF60a	438
Figure 7.4 Human depiction in trance postures at Ghost Cave/site OEF60.	440
Figure 7.5 Map indicating the location of sites classes according to their functionality profiles	446
Figure 7.6 Site OWF05/Scherz's Fissure with artwork viewed at squatting/sitting position	448
Figure 7.7 Sites OWF45. Indicates the narrow entrance of the rock crevice where the artworks are placed	449
Figure 7.8 Site OWF43. The artworks at the narrow passage of the site with restricted movement	449
Figure 7.9 Site OWF35. Is another site, with restricted movement.	450
Figure 7.10 Site OWF55. The location of the painted area on the surface - with restricted movement	450
Figure 7.11 Site OWF39a shows the group of about 10 people viewing the artworks.	452
Figure 7.12 Site OWF39a shows figures interacting with the rock surface of the same panel	452
Figure 7.13 Site OWF39b shows figures interacting with the rock surface.	453
Figure 7.14 Is another example of 'pubic art' at site OWF12	453
Figure 7.15 Site OWF55. A. Shows painted figure of a dense fleck of bees/ bees' swarms	454
Figure 7.16 Indicate the location beehive on a tree at site OWF52b	455
Figure 7.17 Trees at site OWF39b.	455
Figure 7.18 Shows the location of Panel OEF61/03.	457
Figure 7.19 Shows the 'hidden' location of Panel OEF61/37	457
Figure 7.20 Is example of 'pubic art' at Panel OEF61/14	458
Figure 7.21 Is another example of 'pubic art' at Panel OEF61/04	458

LIST OF TABLES

Table 5.1 Presents rock painting sites analysed in November 2016	121
Table 6.1 The geomorphological settings of the rock painting sites recorded OEF/OWF Farms	206
Table 6.2 Site placement analyses of the rock art sites recorded in the Omandumba East and West Farms	206
Table 6.3 Topography Variables of Omandumba East and West Rock Art Sites	215
Table 6.4 Summary of sites in proximity to water Sources in Omandumba East and West Farms	219
Table 6.5 Rock Art sites in relation to animal trails system and their proximity to springs	222
Table 6.6 The summary of accessible and restricted access paintings sites	226
Table 6.7 Definitions for the paintings locations as illustrated	234
Table 6.8 Visibility Range of rock painting panels according to number of figures	235
Table 6.9 Presents the summary of the total number of elements recorded in Omandumba Farms	242
Table 6.10 Present the variables in the Technique of rock paintings in the study	265
Table 6.11 Shows the number of figures per sum of sites that lie over an existing figures	269
Table 6.12 Is the summary of the current threats affecting the rock art sites in the study areas.	277
Table 6.13 Present the nature of surface archaeological deposit recorded at all the panels in the study areas.	282
Table 6.14 Amount of confident and uncertain identifications	310
Table 6.15 Indicates the locations of the panels in Site OEF61	350
Table 6.16 Summary of the range of panel elevations of Site OEF61	352
Table 6.17 Proximity of rock engraving panels in Site OEF61	354
Table 6.18 Summary of the panel's orientation at Site OEF61	362
Table 6.19 Visibility analysis of engraved panels according to number of figures in Site OEF61	364
Table 6.20 Revised definitions for the engraving locations as illustrated in (Fig. 6.175)	366
Table 6.21 Summary of the placement of the artworks in the panels at Site OEF61	367
Table 6.22 Presents the summary of the total number of elements recorded at Site OEF61	377
Table 6.23 Details the number of human footprints recorded in the Omandumba East farm site OEF61	382
Table 6.24 Summary of individual animal species represented in the engraving repertoire of Site OEF61	385
Table 6.25 Summary of the abstract forms from Site OEF61	393
Table 6.26 Presents the variables in technique analysis of engraved figures recorded at Site OEF61	396
Table 6.27 Summary of the stylistic analysis of the engraved depictions of site OEF61.	398
Table 6.28 Mineral composition present in the samples through (FTIR) analysis	412
Table 6.29 The results obtained through X-ray Powder Diffraction (XRD) analysis.	414
Table 6.30 The results of X-ray Florescence (XRF), after (O. LAPAUZE 2016:66)	416

ABBREVIATIONS

FTIR	Fourier Transforms Infrared Spectroscopy
GSN	Geological Survey of Namibia
LGM	Late Glacial Maximum
LSA	Late Stone Age
MLRN	Ministry of Land and Resettlement in Namibia
MNHN	Museum National D'Histoire Naturelle
MSA	Middle Stone Age
NMN	National Museum of Namibia
NHA	National Heritage Act of Namibia
NHC	National Heritage Council of Namibia
SLM	San Living Museum
OEF	Omandumba East Farm
OWF	Omandumba West farm
UNAM	University of Namibia
UTAD	University of Tras-os Montes and Alto Douro
XRF	X-ray Fluorescence
XRD	X-ray Powder Diffraction

GLOSSARY

Adjacent:	A situation whereby two panels face each other
Anthropomorphs:	Suggestive of figures resembling human form
Element:	One component of a composite figure
Engraving:	See page 68 for definition
Artefact:	An object that has been modified, produced or even just used by
	humans or hominoids, usually but not necessarily portable.
Assemblage:	A group of artefacts archaeologists consider a single analytical unit
Attributes:	A specific variable of rock art, i.e., size, inclination, colour or type
Biochrome:	A pictograph executed in two different colours
Chronology:	The arrangement of past events or manifestations according to their
	temporal
Cluster:	A configuration of rock art elements/figures occurring on the same
	panel together
Complex:	In this thesis, a complex refers to the geological area where a group of
-	rock art sites are in close geographical proximity
Conservation:	The practice of preserving rock art from natural or anthropic
	deterioration by means of specific measures.
Context:	The circumstances in which a particular event occurs, and these may be
	crucial in archaeological interpretations of it.
Dating:	The scientific methods of measuring the age of artefact or rock art
Exfoliation:	A form of geological weathering involving the progressive detachment
	of cutaneous flakes or scales from a rock surfaces
Indeterminate:	Refers to the figures that could not be easily identified and classified on
	account of a lack of identifiable biological features, shape or form
Figure:	A design or pattern painted or engraved on a rock surface by humans
Ochre:	An earthly mineral oxide or hydroxide of iron in red, brown or yellow
	colours; usually, the most surviving pigment of the pictographs
Orientation:	The position of rock art figures or panel/site relative to specific
	referents
Panel:	A panel is a section of a rock that has rock art figures on one side or on
	more than one side of the boulder
Pigment:	A colouring substance used to produce pictograph i.e. rock paintings
Region:	A larger geographical/political administrative unit or a large defined
	area such as the Erongo region where Omandumba Farms are located.
Rivier:	Indicating a dry river
Rock Art:	See definition in the body of the thesis
Rock art area:	In this thesis, the 'area' refers to the geographically defined land
	(private/farm) where the rock art sites are found i.e. Omandumba East
	and West Farms.
Rock Shelter:	A concavity of a rock wall, formed by one or more natural process,
~ ~ ~	most commonly erosion; it is usually wider than deeper
Sediments:	An aggregate of grains or debris disturbed by human
Sequence:	A chronological succession of rock art figures, genres or tradition
Site:	A rock art site could be any painted or engraved rock surfaces i.e. a
	boulder, a panel or several panels defined to belong to the same site.
	Most often the sites are given name by the local place name while those

	without names are given numbers. The rock art site is divided from
	other sites through geographical distance. Often an area is given a site
	name and adjacent rock art is named by the same site name but given
	individual panel numbering. This is common in the large rock art areas.
Superimposition:	An instance where one of the rock art figure having been placed over
	another, earlier figure.
Technique:	The method of execution such as paintings or engraving
Therianthrope:	A biomorph possessing both human and animal features
Typology:	The classification of a series of figures that are thought to belong to a
	single tradition.
Vandalism:	The defacing or destruction of rock art or the impairment of its
	scientific potential by human.
Zoomorph:	An object or figure providing adequate visual information to be
	recognized as resembling an animal form.

1.INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND TO THE STUDY

1.1.BACKGROUND

...One does not fully understand prehistoric rock art sites if one has not fully understand the space around it. From understanding of all small spatial units (the sites), grows the understanding of the entire landscapes as the spaces for life and use resources, that is, the life world...

(Schurtz & Luckmann, 1975, cf. Lennsen-Erz: 2008:34)

Given that it is one of the common forms of expressions among prehistoric peoples, rock art (paintings or engravings) is widespread on every continent, with the exception of Antarctica. Rock art is commonly found in different physical and social and cultural contexts, but in general it retains something of its original configuration. Its spatial distribution, placement and variability within a given landscape are often determined by various factors. These factors include geology, the environment, fauna, demographics and social patterns (MCDONALD 2006:71). Contexts are therefore fundamental in rock art as it is they that consistently define the cultural significance of rock art throughout the world. Contexts reflect on how prehistoric people conceptualized their surroundings, in the sense that space became not only a "place" (on account of the importance attached to it), but because it was also the "world" that was inhabited by the people who had produced that rock art. In reality, the landscape belonged only to the human who resided there. That human was and remains the only true craftsman.

Africa is said to be the continent with the largest concentrations of prehistoric rock art sites and diversified rock art traditions (COULSON & CAMPBELL 2001). The majority of these are principally found in Southern Africa (Ibid 2001). At the present moment, the oldest date for rock art comes from Africa, at Blombos cave, South Africa recovered from archaeological sequence 75,000-100,000 years ago (HENSHILWOOD et al., 2009) while currents studies still indicate that the oldest date came from Apollo 11 cave in Namibia dated between 31, 100 and 32900 cal. (VOGELSANG et al., 2010).

Like elsewhere in the Southern Africa and the world in general, rock art contexts in Namibia varies. Its distribution and concentration is virtually governed by geology or the availability of suitable rock surfaces, as well as faunal distributional or natural resources (food, water, shelter). Its placement in the landscape varies from open-air cave shelters, to ceilings, cliff faces, rock overhangs, pavements, riverbed. In the form of mobilier art, it appears as figures on stone slab and non-rock media. The techniques, content and themes employed in the production of rock art in Namibia has largely been influenced by the geology, geomorphology, the wider environmental context and the belief systems of the huntergatherers, the herders and possibly the Iron Age agriculturalists who are believed to have authored this rock art (VIERECK et al., 1957; BREUIL 1960; SCHERZ, 1970, 1975, 1986; WENDT 1974; WADLEY 1979; LENSSEN-ERZ, 1997,2001; KINAHAN 1990, 1999, 2001A, 2004, 2010, 2011; RICHTER and VOGELSANG, 2008; RICHTER 2002; OUZMAN 2002, 2010; BREUNIG, 2003, 2014; GWASIRA 1998, 2010, 2012 etc.). They have also been influenced, more generally, by southern African rock art (see ANATI 1986; DEACON 1997; HALL & SMITH, 2000; LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1983, 1989, 1990,1996; COULSON & CAMPBELL 2001).

Namibia principal sites of highest concentrations is found in the Dâureb/ Brandberg Mountains that harbours about 1,000 rock art sites containing nearly 50,000 rock paintings and few engravings (LENSSEN-ERZ 2007; GWASIRA 2011) most of which have been published in (PAGER 1989- 2006); followed by those found in the Erongo Mountains and its adjacent areas accounts closely to 5300 figures found at more than 80 rock art sites (BREUIL 1960; SCHERZ 1986; BÖRNER 2013; NANKELA 2016 {current research}) as well as the Namibia's first UNESCO World heritage Site of Twyfelfontein and its adjacent areas with more than 5,100 figures (VIERECK et al., 1957; SCHERZ 1975). While the lowest number of recorded sites are found in the Spitzkoppe Mountain in central Namibia (KINAHAN 1990) and Southern Namibia respectively (WENDT 1976). Hence the country's current heritage database holds an excess of approximately 62,000 individual figures of both paintings and engravings found at more 1200 sites countrywide (NANKELA 2015). Namibian rock arts, several themes, techniques and some content are persistently widespread to indicate a broad geographical and temporal continuity as well as persistence in the belief systems of their authors. Traditionally, there are two categories of rock art: those that are painted or drawn using either the fingers or a brush (these are often referred to as "pictographs" or "paintings");

those that are pecked, incised, scratched, stencilled or printed onto rock surfaces - are commonly referred to as "engravings". These are the terms we will be using in this thesis.

Much of the research on rock art around the world centred on discussions about the 'meaning' of rock art. Several interpretations have been proposed to account for the proliferation of these prehistoric arts. Today, there is some consensus about the nature of rock art. Most believe that prehistoric art has more than one meaning and that the represented images mean something more than what appears to have been depicted. Thus prehistoric art was not just "art for art's sake" or "l'art pour l'art" as it had been suggested in the 19th century (BAHN, 1998). For instance, in southern Africa, decades of extensive rock art research backed by a handful of approaches and interpretations (BLEEK & LLOYD 1911; LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1980-83; CULSON & CAMPBELL 2001; LEWIS-WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1989; SMITH 1995; SMITH & OUZMAN 2002, 2004 etc.) led to the identification of three major rock art traditions, namely, the Stone Age hunter-gatherers - San Foragers, Stone Age herders - Khoekhoen Herders and the Iron Age agriculturalists - Bantu-speaking communities.

These traditions had distinct regional styles and content, production although there was also an overlap between these traditions. For example, the artwork of hunter-gatherers gives us an insight into the symbolic or graphic expressions within this tradition. It also provides us with a deeper cultural meaning and context of rock art. By giving us an understanding the states of consciousness and its role in the shamanism, an idea developed by researchers David Lewis-Williams and Thomas Dowson (LEWIS-WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1988). Furthermore, the authors' neuropsychological (N-P) model suggests that geometric and representational elements in rock art embodied the subjective entoptic phenomena that were drawn or painted. In a state of trance, we have come to see how this accounts for the universality of many rock art elements (LEWIS-WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1988:202; WHITLEY 2000:106, 2011:139). Lewis-Williams and Dowson drew their conclusions from the ethnographic sources to in order to recreate the rituals and beliefs of the San who had produced rock art in the Drakensberg. The shamanistic interpretation by Lewis-Williams and Dowson provides some unparalleled insight into themes within this tradition. The authors had argued that the creation of certain artworks was greatly influenced by the wider perceptions of hunter-gatherers towards their social life, their interactions with non-human animals and rock surfaces. For instance, Lewis-Williams noted that the representation of animals such as the eland functioned as symbols with multiple meanings.

(LEWIS-WILLIAMS & DOWSON 988) proposed a relationship between altered states of consciousness (ASC) and the entoptic geometric images generated by the human nervous and optical system. There are some weaknesses to this theory, namely, the fact that there is little direct link between the ethnography of the 19-20th centuries and rock art, and such ethnographical records were harvested from regions where there is little or no rock art (MAGGS, 1998:13), or the fact that no ethnographical enquiries were made before the gradual disappearance of hunter-gatherers. However, the shamanistic theory and neuropsychological (N-P) model are well accepted in the academic realm "as a formal analytical tool whose purpose is to determine whether a corpus of rock art portrays hallucinatory imagery" (WHITLEY 2011:138). The N-P model is concerned with the origin of the art and not it's meaning (WHITLEY 2011:138). In Namibia, detailed investigations of rock art have similarly made use of this explanation that was used in other parts of southern Africa (LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1982; LEWIS-WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1989). The idea is that Namibian rock art belonged to a regional cognitive tradition (KINAHAN, 2001a & 2005; GWASIRA 2002). This is explainable by the fact that the original authors of this art lived in regions and territories in southern Africa that no longer exist. Therefore, it is very difficult if not impossible, for the non-rock-art-producing audience outside the cultures of its original authors to accurately interpret this art or even understand its true meanings, its cosmologies and the motivation behind its creation.

Rock art studies have increasingly embraced a contextual approach that includes multiple lines of inquiries that incorporates both formal and informal approaches (CHIPPINDALE & TAÇON 1998b). This is done by applying knowledge gained through ethnographical analogies obtained from the descendants of people who had authored that rock art (LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1995; LEWIS-WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1988; WHITLEY 2000, 2011; GILLETTE 2011), by applying landscape approaches of rock art studies where Geographic Information Systems (GIS) and 3-D imaging (WRIGHT et al. 1997:357) are utilized in order to digitize maps and generally provide other graphical representations through manipulation and portrayal of spatial information (ASHMORE & KNAPP 1999; WYLIE 2007), and by applying phenomenological approaches to landscape studies that Tim Ingold referred to as the "dwelling perspective", (INGOLD 1993:456) in which both environment and culture are simultaneously part of the complete embodied experience of dwelling in the world.

Furthermore, studying rock art sites in the context of their landscape help us understands the forager's perception of that landscape (OUZMAN 1998). Ultimately, this helps us to understand the human decisions that led people to create certain figures in particular locations within the landscape (LENSSEN-ERZ 2004). This brings this in line with the idea of a Gestaltung, expressed as the "physical acts which bring about tangible change on a landscape endowed with meaning", as well as other evidence from archaeological, paleoenvironmental, and taphonomical investigations in relations to rock art (WENDT 1974; WADLEY 1979; BREUNIG 2003 cf. RICHTER et al., 2008; KINAHAN 1989, 1990, 2003a; B; RICHTER & VOGELSANG 2008:37; ROBERTS 2010; PLEURDEAU et al., 2012; MVIMI 2013) in order to understand the complexities and fluidity of human origin.

The scientific bearings of contextual archaeology as well as the geological formations that had been chosen as the canvas for rock art in sites allows the identification of rock types (be they engraved or painted) to be distinguished from natural features, and provides a basis for assessing both the current condition and the identification of potential threats to the rock surface (DURÁN 2014). Therefore, within this thesis, we equally expand our understandings and will embrace the landscape contextual approach to rock art in relation to its natural environments. After all, (SCHURTZ & LUCKMANN 1975) had pointed out, to understand prehistoric sites, we need to firstly understand their localities. With the landscape enquiry being the backdrop of this thesis, the study considers the location of sites, their placements on rock surfaces, their mobility patterns, the proximity of natural resources (water sources, shelters and distribution of game), the topographical features investigations of these sites (elevation and so forth). Landscape approaches to rock art research, furthermore, emphasizes the relationship between the choice of figures and the location of these figures in the landscape, the possible intended audience of these figures, the culture of this audience cultural and its integration in the wider patterns of settlement.

The thesis examines 60 recorded rock painting sites (n=60) containing 70 rock painted panels and an additional rock-engraving site (n=1) containing 50 engraved panels. These are located in the Omandumba East Farm (OEF) and Omandumba West Farm (OWF) in Erongo region in the Erongo Mountains. These panels were subjected to qualitative, spatial, statistical, and scientific analyses. My hypothesis that the choice of location of the rock art sites in this cultural landscape was the result of a deliberate choice rather than random actions. To test this hypothesis, I have two main research questions. Following from these questions are general and their specific supporting objective

1.2.Research Questions

- 1. Were rock art sites chosen randomly or was it deliberate actions? Can we detect the emergence of certain patterns of distribution? Can the distribution of the sites, together with other archaeological features, help to identify the functionality of the sites?
- 2. Why was the rock art drawn or painted in specific places or location in the landscape (or why it was not)? Is there a spatial relationship among between the choice of figures and their location in the geographical context?

1.3.Research Objectives

Rock art like any other remnants of the archaeological record is recognised as it occurs in its cultural contexts. I intent to interrogate the landscape approach by providing an alternative way to understand the placement of rock art in the landscape. Furthermore, the thesis will attempt emphasize that, conceivably, rock art is not only a representation of the cosmological and belief systems of hunter-gatherers, herders and/or later farming communities but also reflects the knowledge of the land/territory which was manifested as those 'memoryscapes' in the rocks which reflected the how the cosmological and real worlds of those artists were combined A combination of cultural richness and the scientific potential of the Erongo Mountains, as well as the repeated archaeological investigations in the area over the years, have reinforced the view that the cultural landscape of the Erongo Mountains is indeed of global importance and for that reason required a comprehensive study. This study requires the following research general and specific objectives:

General objectives:

- -. To investigate the spatial distribution of engraved and painted rock art sites in the Omandumba farms;
- -. To develop an empirically based research enquiry method employing data from an interdisciplinary framework (archaeology, bioarchaeology, ethnography or ethno-

historic information, geology, geography, paleoenvironment, GIS and zooarchaeology etc.) to investigate the rock art sites in relations to their contexts.

- -. To establish a chronological framework of human occupation of the rock art sites of the Omandumba farms in relation to the regional heritage archaeology;
- -. To identify issues affecting the conservation and management of the rock art sites of the Omandumba farms and to suggest conservation and management measures to alleviate the problems and monitor the rate of deteriorations
- -. To disseminate the research results through a variety of means academic papers, books, website, public exhibitions etc.;
- -. To encourage the legal proclamation of the rock art sites at the Omandumba farms as National Heritage sites inscribed into the National Heritage Database of all the rock art sites in Namibia and to develop a management and conservation plan for the farms, as they are already open to tourists.

Specific objectives:

- -. To conduct a systematic survey of and document the rock art sites in Omandumba East and West Farms, their contexts, distribution, and their associated archaeological and landscape attributes;
- -. To examine rock art in relation to landscapes, namely, analyse its distribution and placement, and establish their possible functionalities;
- -. To establish the sources of the raw materials and identify the sequences (if any) of painted figures by means of pigment analysis in order to establish the chronology of this rock art;
- -. To establish a chronological framework for the occupation of the rock art sites by means of archaeological data from previous and current archaeological investigations of rock art sites within in the Omandumba farms;
- -. To establish the current state of conservations of the rock art sites to inform discussion of the future conservation and management of the sites.

1.4.Significance of the Study

Much of Namibia's rock art pre-independent and current researches have concentrated predominantly in the Brandberg, Spitzkoppe Mountains and Twyfelfontein World heritage sites of central Namibia where the largest prehistoric rock art sites attributed to hunter gatherers, herders have been recorded. Erongo Mountains' rock arts had received very little attention with only few researchers such as Abbé Breuil (BREUIL 1957, 1960) Ernst Rudolf Scherz (SCHERZ 1986) and few others who have documented few rock-painting sites in some Erongo farms. Hence, it is hoped that this study will establish whether the distribution of Omandumba rock art had a density comparable to other well-researched sites in Central Namibia in order the understand the existing body of knowledge of rock art in Namibia in particular, and the Southern Africa in general. In addition, it is hoped that with this baseline recording of rock art, the Omandumba farms will have potential for declaration into the list of Namibia's National Protected Sites as per the National Heritage Act No. 27 of 2004.

1.5.Thematic Structure of the Thesis

This thesis examines the rock of Omandumba farms by means of a multifaceted contextual approach. Overall, the thesis provides seven chapters as well as an appendix of a recording form that might be applicable to any rock art-recording project. The current **chapter one** introduced the dissertation and highlighted background information about rock art studies across Southern Africa, the globe and Namibia. It also highlights are the research hypothesis, objectives and the significance of the research. **Chapter 2** gives a comprehensive coverage of environmental and geographical contexts of Erongo Mountains in relation to the local geology, geography, climate, flora and fauna as well as the current land use within Erongo Mountains. Furthermore, the second chapter also provides brief information about Omandumba East and West farms.

Chapter 3 considers a contextual overview of the Erongo regional paleoenvironment in which prehistoric people of the Central Namib lived and how they responded to climatic variability and environmental shifts from Late/Pleistocene to Holocene period. The archaeological context addresses the Middle Stone and Late Stone Age periods of human occupations in relation to the general distribution archaeological sites in Namibia, notably those archaeological sites that are globally important. I also consider the chronological

sequence of the Erongo. Finally, the chapter will provides a brief history and development of rock art research in Erongo Mountains, as well as some of the key challenges affecting archaeological research in Erongo and generally Namibia.

Chapter 4 covers the theoretical definitions of rock art, the types of rock and the techniques used to make it, as well as a brief discussion about debate regarding rock art terminology. It further offers a comprehensive understanding of the variety of contexts in which rock art sites are found and used. The last section of this chapter includes discussions about the locations of rock art and where they are found. Here, the chapter draws on theoretical perspectives about the rock art in relation to its contextual landscape. Central to these discussions is how the landscape has been studied in relation to rock art. A multidisciplinary approach has been adopted, where data from archaeology, ethnography and geology are employed to get a better understanding of the relation between rock art and the landscape. **Chapter 5** outlines the methodologies used in the collection of contextual data pertinent to our thesis' objectives, particularly (a) the landscape settings of the sites and (b) the analysis of painted and engraved rock surfaces, the study of the art, its contextualization and their its state of conservation.

Chapter 6 details the results of our analysis of the rock art Omandumba West and East farms. The chapter is divided into three sections. Section A presents the results for rock paintings sites. Here, qualitative and quantitative analysis, spatial, statistical and scientific analysis techniques have been used. The qualitative and quantitative analysis provides a general description of the rock art, notably sites: the landscape attributes; the site morphology and panel content; the frequency of elements frequency and conservation variables. Each of these variables can be broken down into further additional components. For instance, the landscape variables determine the relationship between rock art sites and attributes of pertaining to their physical configurations (elevation and aspect/orientation, accessibility, the proximity to natural resources and trails, the visibility of rock art sites or the visibility of artworks). A spatial density analysis reveals the clustering of rock art sites in each locality, their accessibility, their visibility in and accessibility to wider natural landscape. The site morphology and panel content variables encompass the site's physical and geological settings and its placement in the landscape in the form of open-air cave shelters, boulders, ceilings, cliff faces, rock overhangs and riverbeds. The site/panel content includes techniques used in the productions of the rock art, elements type, pigment colours used and elements represented. I then use the element frequency represented at each panel of each rock art site to evaluate the frequency of these elements. Under the conservation variables, I outline the current state of conservation of the site and its content, and I identify both anthropic and biological threats affecting the rock art sites.

Section B provides analyses of the rock engravings, applying similar enquiry methods used in rock paintings.

Section C offers a scientific analysis of the pigments samples collected from some of the rock painting sites in the Omandumba farms. Here, a wide range of scientific techniques for the characterizing pigments was used, including the use of scanning electron microscopy (SEM), X-ray diffraction (XRD) and the X-ray fluorescence (XRF). Such analyses provide information about the source and the origin of the pigments used in the production of the rock paintings in our study areas.

Chapter 7 presents critical review of the research findings in order to address the research questions and objectives. Discussions include interpreting the findings in form of: chronology of the artworks based on rock art tradition presented in the study i.e. techniques of production, stylist and ethnographic interpretations associated with artworks depictions in the study. I order to understand the distributions of sites in the study, their possible functions and the intensity of painting and engraving activities; discussions about spatial units in order to hypothesize how the landscape was organized and used are also presented. The chapter also provides management recommendations for rock art sites, with special focus on the proclamation of the area as a Namibia heritage area to be protected in terms of the National Heritage Act no 27 of 2007. Thus, I suggest the continuous monitoring; the introduction of conservation efforts and regulation of tourism activities, and ways to combine indigenous perspectives with management strategies.

2.ENVIRONMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC CONTEXT OF ERONGO MOUNTAINS

Namibia's landscapes and geomorphological features have been inherited from a long and complex geological history spanning from 120-135ma when Gondwana began to split from South America and South Africa (GOUDIE & VILES, 2015:27). This period, followed by the intensive tectonic and volcanic activities (100-65ma defined the country's present geomorphology; there are uplifts that occurred as a result of eruption of Etendeka flood basalts and erosion activities resulting in the displayed quantities of boulders, shelters, and caves used by humans during prehistoric times from Middle Pleistocene until the period of rock art production.



SOUTHAFRICA



Today, the country's western and central part, also "the Namib" define the area, stretching from Cape Cross in the Atlantic coastline to 350 km inland. There are distinct volcanic intrusions involving those formed by granite and these include Namibia's highest mountain,

the Brandberg (2,606m), as well as the Erongo Mountains (2,319m and the Spitzkoppe Mountain (1,784m) group (Fig. 2.1). There are the post-Karoo groups of the Etjo sandstones depositions of the Waterberg Plateau, Mount Etjo and Omatako, as well as a series of flat-topped mountains located further in north eastern Namibia on the edge of the Kalahari and some 60 km east of Otjiwarongo (GOUDIE & VILES, 2015:27-30). Various ephemeral rivers such as Kuiseb River, Swakop River and its tributary Khan River, Omaruru River and Ugab River run through the central Namib Desert into the Atlantic Ocean.

2.1.Geographical Context

The Erongo Mountains are geographically located in northwestern Namibia between 21°37'S and 15°40'E. They are found in the Erongo Region (Fig. 2.2 & Fig. 2.3). This prominent semi-circular mountain chain is characterised by mountain ranges, edges and vast plains that rises to some 1000m above the surrounding plains. Its highest peak is the 'Hohenstein' southwest section of the mountains and it attains its maximum altitude of 2319m. The mountain is one of the circular granitic massif landforms that dominate the flat bush-clad plains of the central Namib and it is situated 15km west of the town of Omaruru and it is about 175 km from the capital Windhoek.



Figure 2.2 Physical map of Erongo region showing the geographical location of Erongo Mountains (pointed arrow) in relation to other geographical features (credits: www.maphil.com).
This circular inselberg has a mean diameter of 35-40 km (HUSER 1977; BLUMEL et al., 1979) and stretches 20km west from the towns of Usakos and Karibib and Omaruru in the north while the Atlantic Ocean is about 160km west (Fig. 2.1). There are various routes into the mountains and are bounded by valleys and tributaries of the main Omaruru River, by rock-cut plains and by slopes at the foot of the massif. The mountains are inhabited. Today, almost the entire Erongo is on private farmland and it is part of the Erongo Mountain Nature Reserve (Fig. 2.2). The ephemeral Omaruru River flows past its northern extremities and supports ecosystems with different communities of plants and animals that are common to this part of Namibia. The geography, physiographic features and climate of the Erongo Mountains display dramatic diversity due to the fact that it lies within a transitional zone between the low-lying Namibia Desert and the central highland and the Mopani woodland.



2.3 Detailed **Figure** 1:250,000 topographic **Map of Erongo Mountains** and its mountain peaks, rivers and other physiographic features including farm names within the Erongo Complex, (After, **CAINCROSS & BAHMANN** 2016)

2.2.Geological Context

Situated in the Omaruru Lineament Zone (Fig. 2.4), the Erongo Mountains (also known as Erongoberg or Mount Erongo) are one of the principal dome-shaped inselbergens of the central Namib, this in addition to other Damaraland granitic intrusions and complexes which include Brandberg Mountain and the Spitzkoppe in northwestern Namibia (Fig. 2.4 & 2.5). Geologically, Mount Erongo is the largest Cretaceous Damaran Complex and it dominates the Central Namib. It has attracted extensive research (see CLOOS, 1911, 1919; EMMERMANN et al., 1979; PIRAJNO, 1990; MILLER, 1983; PIRAJNO et al., 2000; TRUMBULL et al., 2000; MIGON & GOUDIE 2000; WIGAND et al., 2003). The origin of this largest composite and bimodal complex can be traced back to the volcanic activity that occurred during and after the break-up of Gondwanaland, ca. 120 -130ma and 65-100ma (WIGAND et al., 2003). It is located near to the southern margin of a belt of Jurassic to Cretaceous alkaline ring complexes, the latter extending from the coast to at least 350 km inland. Today, the Erongo Complex comprises a series of volcanic effusions of basalt and plutonic rocks such as granite (Ibid).



Figure 2.4 A simplified geological Map of Erongo Mountain adapted from MILNER, 1997. The insert indicates the location of Erongo complex in relation to adjacent complexes of Etendeka Group of north western Namibia.



Figure 2.5 A geological Map of Erongo Complex outlining main geological units, ©Geological Survey of Namibia

There are three main morpho-structural units that characterize the complex. The first is the volcanic complex of about 30km in diameter made up of a central caldera structure. It consists of a layered sequence of volcanic rocks that form prominent eroded cliffs and hills rising several meters above the flat surroundings (MIGON & GOUDIE, 2000:17; PIRAJNO 1990). The second unit is the peripheral granite intrusion dispersed around the central massif, which formed as a result of cauldron subsidence.

Following this, the granitic rocks were passively emplaced by the space provided by the subsidence (PIRAJNO 1990). The third unit consists of a prominent semi-circular ring of tholeitic dolerite with 50 km in diameter (WIGAND et al., 2003). The base and the south-eastern part of the Erongo Complex are characterized by a series of flat-lying basaltic lava flows and pyroclastic rocks. These basal volcanic are exposed throughout the entire complex and may originally have had an even wider distribution (PIRAJNO 1990).

2.3.Geomorphological Context

The landscape of the Erongo Complex is characterised by various geomorphological features including diverse granitic boulders, open-air caves, granitic walls, rock overhangs, pediments, weathering pits, as well as extensive rock-cut plains that slope gently from the foot of the hills, ridges, kopjes and larger granitic outcrops (Fig. 2.6) which resulted from geological activities. Their shapes, sizes and heights vary but their surfaces are coated with brown protective crust susceptible to exfoliations and cracking. Most of these landforms are attributed to the period during the splitting of Gondwana (GOUDIE & ECKARDT 1999).

Extensive tracks of boulders of various sizes and shapes are predominant, sporadically distributed within the complex and exposed at the surface to various degrees. Although independent from hillslopes, larger outcrops and kopjes within the complex were formed as a result of weathering or slope failures (MIGON & GOUDIE 2000). Some are found resting on platforms at a high elevation such as kopjes, large hills or rock outcrops. In addition to boulders, open cave shelters are also frequent within this landscape. Some notable open cave shelters within Erongo are found in the big overhangs in the massive granite, i.e., Philip's Cave in Farm Ameib, Paula's Cave in the farm in Okapekaha and Ghost Cave in the farm in Omandumba West places which hosted the prehistoric inhabitants of this area. Most of these have similar morphologies but with different depths, size and heights.



Figure 2.6 Typical sceneries around the Erongo Mountains. View of valleys and kopje from Erongo Wilderness Lodge.Pictures taken in March 2015.

Other common surface features within the Erongo Complex are the rock overhangs, granitic walls and pediments. Overhangs are typically found on smooth rock walls surfaces with concave shapes forming either shelters or shallow caves while pediments are commonly found on grounds of smooth granites with rounded platforms or boulders placed on top. Rock overhang are also some of the common feature in Erongo Complex. Some of them forms cave shelters while others simply form shallow shelters.

2.4.Climate

Erongo Mountains lie on the fringe of Namib Desert. They are within a transitional zone between the semi Namib Desert to the west, the semi-arid savannah to the east, as well as the Central Highland and the Mopani woodland. This area receives between 200-300mm annual rainfalls (Fig. 2.7) during its annual cycles from December to April, while erratic/sporadic rain sometimes occurs in October and November (JACOBSON et al., 1995; MENDELSOHN et al., 2003).



Figure 2.7 Map of Namibia indicating the average annual rainfall, (After, MARAIS et al., 2009:290). Map edited to reflect the location of Erongo in Namibia.



Figure 2.8 Fog over Omandumba Farms, picture taken in June of 2014. It brings important moisture into this area.

Coastal fog also frequently brings in moisture during the winter and summer periods (Fig. 2.8). This is the most important moisture source for the Namib biota (SEELY 1978), but it greatly contributes to rock weathering and mineral breakdown (GOUDIE 1972). Other inflows within the Erongo Complex are in the form of river tributaries from two main ephemeral rivers, the Omaruru North and the Khan River to the south of Erongo Complex connecting the hinterland to the coast. However, these rivers flow seasonally or as a result of flash floods, and for that reason do not retains water throughout the year. Groundwater water supplies are available in form of springs, underground seepages, lake and water holes in Erongo Complex. However, their reliability varies seasonally. Springs found within the basalt riverbed, i.e., in Omandumba East (engraving site), are one of the reliable water source that retains water almost until the next rainy season while those found in proximity to the granite hills or outcrops do not retain water for a long period due to high evaporation because most of them are fed by run-offs from granite and underground seepages (Fig. 2.10 and Fig. 2.11).



Figure 2.9. View of Omandumba Farms after good rains, picture taken in May 2015. View from Christian Shelter, Site OWF30.

The porous condition of the sandy grounds not only limits run-off but accounts for the scarcity of springs and bodies of water in general. Humidity within the Erongo Complex ranges between 40% to 50% during the rainy season and about 10% to 20% during winter months (June-July). Temperatures within Erongo are moderate in comparison with its immediately surrounding areas in the Namib Desert.



Figure 2.10 Omandumba West Farm. Water pool retaining water three month after rainy season. Picture taken in May 2015.



Figure 2.11 Omandumba West Farm. One of the underground seepage feeding the springs. Picture taken in June 2015.

The average annual temperature ranges from 8°C to 22°C in winter and 19°C- 38°C in summer (CAINCROSS & BAHMANN 2016). Day temperature is often very high in this area, but it eventually cools down at night. Wind regime includes prominent southerly and

south-westerly winds during the summer, and north-easterly winds in the winter that sometimes reaches the entire desert surface (see Fig. 2.12).



Figure 2.12 Map of Namibia indicating the average annual temperature. Map credits: ACACIA Project, University of Cologne, 2003).

2.5. Flora and Fauna

The distribution of floral and faunal communities within the Erongo Mountains is determined by rainfall as GIESS (1971:6) point it out. Since Mount Erongo is located within a transitional zone between the Namib Desert and the woodland, the area supports a rich diversity of flora and fauna. The eco-zone influencing the distribution of biotic communities includes the plains with savannah grassland, the granite kopjes and the woodland of the river courses (WADLEY 1979: 24-25). Various plant species including acacia and Euphorbia and Colophospermum (mopane trees) are very common in the semi-desert and savannah transitional steppe landscape such as the Erongo Mountain (GIESS 1971). Cyphostemma currorii, Grewia flavescens and Welwitschia mirabilis are also common.However, commiphora species are more confined to the hilly-slopes of volcanic basalt areas (Fig. 2.14) while species such as the Acacia, Salvadora persica, Tamarix usneoides, Faidherbia albida are found mainly in river courses and their immediate surfaces (Fig. 2.13). Welwitschia mirabilis grows in the gravel plains around the base of the Erongo complex while *Aloe dichotoma, Boscia Albitrunca* is found predominantly on rocky granites kopjes (Fig. 2.15). There is a general absence of ethnographic records on the use of the wide range of plants by indigenous people within the Erongo Mountains.



Figure 2.13 Acacia species confined to riverbeds and valleys landscape, picture taken in May 2015.



Figure 2.14 Commiphora species found in basalt environment, Picture taken in May 2015.



Figure 2.15 Cyphostemma currorii on Erongo granites, Picture taken in May 2015.

The local Ju/'hoasi San community who dwells in Omandumba West San Living Museum indicated the presence of medicinal plants species within Omandumba farms and these include *Acacia rioloba*, *Harpagophytum* locally known as the 'devil's claw', Euphorbia aloes and some plants from the *Ceropegia* genus. Grewia flavescens (sandpaper raisin) and *Searsiatenuinervis* are used for food. Aloe dichotomy (quiver tree) is used as raw material for making quivers, while Acacia erioloba (camel thorn) is widely used for firewood. The three eco-zones responsible for the distribution of the floral community within the Erongo Mountain are equally responsible for the distribution of faunal species, thus influencing hunting and gathering strategies. For instance, the plains vegetated mainly by grassland, Cyperus fulgens and acacia trees support mainly the grazing antelopes species (including oryx/gemsbok and springbok) and the territorial rhinos.

On the other hand, the river courses support mainly kudus, steenbok's klipspringers, dik diks, duickerbucks and giraffes (these latter ones also browse on several fruit trees and shrubs). The rocky hill-slopes largely support klipspringers, mountain zebras and dassies (WADLEY 1979:25). As a result of the increased wildlife conservation programs within the Erongo Mountains, a large number of antelopes such as oryxes, kudus, springboks, klipspringers, dik diks, duikers, steenbok sand the rare black-faced impala are found in this area. In addition, large mammals such rhinos (black and white rhinos) and desert elephants are found in this area. Mountain zebras, giraffes and ostriches, warthogs, leopards also share this landscape (Fig. 2.16). Jackals, Löffelhund (spoon foxes or bat-eared foxes), brown hyenas, baboons, rock hyraxes eagles (black eagles and black-breasted snake eagles) and rock runners are increasingly found in the area.

Smaller animals such as insects, reptiles and rodents also thrive well in this area. These species display a variety of behavioural, morphological and physiological adaptations, which enable them to survive in this environment. The animals must have roomed freely during prehistoric time in this the territory while following perhaps natural features such as rivers (Khan and Omaruru Rivers). Nowadays, most of them are confined in Erongo Mountain Conservation Area and have restricted or controlled seasonal movements.



Figure 2.16 Some of the animal species found in Erongo Mountains today. From top to bottom: Giraffes, antelopes (kudu), a leopard and a rhino found in Omandumba farms and adjacent farm of Ai-Aiba. Bottom two images show other animal species found in Erongo Mountains today. From left are elephants in one of a riverbed of Erongo Mountains and to the right are mountain zebras, all found in the Erongo Conservation Are of Erongo Mountains.

2.6.Current land use system

Today, the entire the Erongo Mountains fall under a zone for commercial farming (Fig. 2.17) that is made up of approximately 30 farms that cover an area of 190 000ha. The arid nature of the landscape means that very little part of the area has agricultural potential. For that reason,

farmers are particularly engaged in extensive pastoral farming, and this is supplemented by the steady growth of tourism activities, and these include wildlife conservation programmes run through the Erongo Mountain Nature Conservancy and cultural heritage sites.

The Erongo Mountains are accessed through the main gravel road D2315 on the northern part of the Mountains from the town of Omaruru town, which connects it to the small village of Tubusis and ultimately to the coastal areas. The central part of the Erongo Mountains can be accessed through the D2315 gravel road. The landowners control access the mountain through these points. Most of the private farms in the Erongo Mountains contain archaeological sites, including two that have been proclaimed as archaeological heritage sites by the National Heritage Act, namely, Phillip Cave on the farm Ameib and Paula's Cave in Okapekaha farm. These sites generally survive solely on the responsibility of individual landowners, this, is because of the severe shortage of heritage specialists both at the National Heritage Council (NHC) and the National Museum of Namibia (NMN).



Figure 2.17 Map of Namibia, indicating areas of communal and commercial land. Source: (MEIJS 2008)

The regular monitoring of these sites is not usually carried out. But it is expected that the sites will receive the attention in 2017 onwards upon completion of the research in Omandumba farms. Equally, landowners are not always aware of the legislation and the mechanism for

protecting these heritage sites. As a rule, they do not always engage the NHC on the appropriate measures to protect and maintain the sites, especially before undertaking sites for tourism-related activities. Most of them are now open for public. Often, some of the sites are unsupervised and as a result, they have suffered from vandalism especially by illegal miners (semi-precious stones mining), trespassers, illegal hikers and unsupervised tourists (Fig 2.18 & Fig. 2.19). Furthermore, should landowners permit mining companies to develop mines on their private farmlands in the near future, the increase in mining exploration in the Erongo Region may also directly or indirectly affect the archaeological heritage in Erongo Mountains. Given the significance of these sites at both local and global level, this will be harmful to Namibia's heritage unless, scientific research is intensified and the entire mountains and its surrounding areas are protected as a National Conservation Area under the National Heritage Act No. 27 of 2004.



Figure 2.18 Minors illegally mining precious stones. The red arrows points to one of the holes found on a granite hill in Omandumba west farm.

Figure 2.19 Illegal miners camped under one of rock art site in Farm Ameib in Erongo Mountain.

2.7.Sites setting: Omandumba East & West Farms

The study areas are two private commercial farms, the Omandumba West Farm (OWF) owned by Mr. Harold Rust, and the Omandumba East Farm (OEF), owned by his young brother Mr. Dithelm Rust. The Omandumba farms are adjacent to each other and occupy a farming area of about 5,244 hectares on the northwest edge of the Erongo Mountains is located 45km west of the town of Omaruru (Fig. 2.20). Today, the Erongo Complex falls under the Erongo Mountain Nature Conservancy, an area that includes 30 farms that cover and areas of 190 000ha. To the northwest of the Omandumba farms lie Anibib Farm (today Ai Aiba Lodge) and Etemba Farm. The Okombahe Reserve is found to the south. In the past, the area was used mainly for livestock farming. Today, the area is used for activities such as wildlife conservations as well as conservation of cultural heritage sites.



Figure 2.20 Topographic Map of Erongo Complex indicating the location of study areas, Omandumba East and West farms. Map Credits: Geological Survey of Namibia.

Historically, the name Omandumba is derived from the Otjiherero language. It means "the place where the bitter bush grows". The cattle by Herero pastoralists used to browse on the bush (foliage) around Omaruru, which turned milk bitter. After the disappearance of the

hunter-gatherers about 1000 years ago (LENSSEN-ERZ 2007; KINAHAN 2011), this area became inhabited by the present day Herero1. The Herero migrated to Namibia during in the 17th and 18th centuries from Central Africa during Bantu Migration and established themselves as herders (GEWALD 1998). In the 19th century, the Herero were displaced during from these areas as a result of a prolonged and war with the German. In the period from 1884-1915, the country which is today Namibia was the German colony 'Deutsch-Sudwestafrika''. Today, two brothers own Omandumba farms, which they acquired at the beginning of the 20tt century. The farms occupy a farming area of about 5,244 hectares and fall under the current Erongo Mountain Nature Conservancy. The two farms are adjacent to each other and mapped by the Geometer Keppel from the Imperial Survey Office in Omaruru in April 1913th (BÖRNER 2013). To their northwest side are the adjacent farms of Anibib (where today settled the Ai-Aiba Lodge) and Etemba. To the south is the Okombahe Reserve.

The physical setting of the Omandumba farms is characterised by hills, outcrops and the plains. This is where archaeological heritage resources are found. The geomorphological settings are found between elevations ranging from 1168m (the lowest point) to 1361m above sea level (the highest point). Generally, the vegetation structure is relatively homogenous in Omandumba farms. It is characterised mainly by dense and sparse woodland of about 2-12m in height, shrubs with heights varying between 0.7-5m and grasses that reaches between 0.2-1m in height. The distribution of the vegetation varies depending on geology (soil composition and erosion, (precipitations and temperature) and other aspects (mountain, river, plains and slopes) of the area. For instance, large acacia trees such as the Vachellia erioloba, the Colophospermum mopane, 'acacia montis-usti' Acacia montis-usti, as well as certain dwarf shrubs such as the 'Artemisia afra and Dianthus namaensis are often confined to river bed (BARNARD 1998) and generally at lower altitudes, usually from an elevation of 1225m-1266m (Fig. 2.13).

Grasses are predominantly found in the plains, at lower and medium altitude, while the Mopani are commonly found along large rivers and in the adjacent wide plains. The plains are further characterized by the deciduous savanna and evergreen nanophyll savanna plant species. Those found within the medium altitude of 1291m – 1482m includes*Acacia hereroensis*, *Tarchonanthus camphoratus*, *shrubland cyphostemma* and *currorii*, while

¹Herero people are Bantu Speaking people who live predominantly in Namibia, Botswana and Angola.

Commiphora species such as *Commiphora glandulosa* and the *Commiphora saxicola*, are confined to volcanic areas where the engraving site is found (see Fig. 2.14). The higher altitude vegetation from 1521m – 1850m in this area is very sparse with comparable plant communities as those found in medium altitudes. There are however, distinct succulents such as the *Aloe dichotoma* and the 'Aloe pillansii, as well as the *Acacia hereroensis* (see Fig. 2.13).

Generally, Omandumba farms have been commercially used for cattle ranching and goat herding. These activities have been expanded to include wildlife conservation, tourism hospitality establishments, i.e., camping (Fig. 2.21) and guest rooms, game drives within the farms, cultural drives to heritage sites, hiking activities and the establishment of the San Living Museum (SLM) since 2008. Here, approximately twelve or more San people (children, young and old men and women) of Ju/'Hoansi originally from Tsumkwe area who dwells and works as seasonal workers at the San Living Museum (SLM), and they camp behind one of a large granitic outcrops in Omandumba West Farm (Fig. 2.22). Here, the San people reenacted their traditional lifestyles through wearing their traditional clothes to visitors to stimulate the daily life of hunter-gatherers by providing visitors with experimental and interactive activities that recreate the culture, history and natural environment. This includes tracking animals, teaching visitors how to shoot arrows, making bows and arrows, bushwalks to rock art sites, plants used and their roles, dancing and singing.

In general, the San people in Namibia and at the SLM usually wear European clothes and use all kinds of modern devices. They only wear their traditional clothes when they re-enacted their traditional life in the Living Museum. During my three years research in Omandumba farms, some of the local San men from the SLM wore their traditional clothes and were directly involved in the research process such as locating the rock art sites, interpreting fresh animal tracks /spoors locating water points, as well as identifying most of the animal tracks recorded found in the engraving site in Omandumba East farm. Like most of the private farmlands the Erongo Mountains, access to archaeological heritage sites in the Omandumba farms is controlled by permission of the owners and by means of guided tours. Which means that most of the rock art sites are relatively well preserved.

However, in the Omandumba West farm, I have recorded an incident where two of the rock art sites have turned into a popular campsite. These are sites OWF17 and OWF18 (Fig. 2.21

above). There are two types of impacts here: damage to the artworks (rock paintings) themselves and damage to the sites or the physical setting of the site. For example the physical damage to rock painting resulted from campers pouring oily liquids or soapy waters onto the rock surface, or from the act of touching and probably rubbing the paintings, be this intentional or unintentionally. An equally challenging concern is the continuous sweeping of the site ground surface as dust accumulates. This leads to the fading of the artworks and eventually to the disappearance of the surface archaeological collections, thereby reducing the scientific value of the site deposits. This is also the reason why, today, some of the local Erongo farmers encourage archaeological research in their farms considering the fact that they too, have legal obligation towards the protection of archaeological heritage.



Figure 2.21 Top and Bottom: Camping sites among granite hills and outcrops within Omandumba West farm. Below image credits: blasdale.com



Figure 2.22 The local Ju/'Hoansi San community at the San Living Museum in Omandumba West farm. Middle images show two local San men who assisted us in locating rock paintings and engravings sites. Bottom images shows San men and women engaged in various activities (left, men skinning animal hides while right a woman teaching a girl how to make bead necklaces. Images credits: Harold Rust.

3.PALAEOENVIRONMENT AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL CONTEXTS

This chapter chronicles the general paleoenvironment contexts in which the prehistoric people of the Central Namib lived and responded to climatic variability and environmental shifts from the Late/Pleistocene to the Holocene period. The archaeological context addresses the Middle Stone and Late Stone Age periods of human occupations, the development of rock art research in Erongo Mountains, as well as challenges posed. This overview is based primarily upon the available and accessible published information.

3.1.SECTION A

3.1.1.Holocene Climate of Central Namib, Erongo Region

There are abundant paleo-climatic archives of the Quaternary period that can be used to reconstruct patterns of climatic variations that prevailed during this period and its impact on the landscape, animals and humans. However, there is very limited evidence of palaeoenvironmental shifts in the Namib Desert. This is the result of inadequate investigation, natural deterioration, limited access to sites or, often, geochronological difficulties associated with establishing Pleistocene and Holocene shifts (TYSON 1986; PARTRIDGE 1997, BRÜMEL et al., 2001; HEINE 1998). This has resulted in difficulties and complications in interpreting palaenvironmental dynamics especially of the Late Pleistocene to Holocene period in the Central Namib Desert. Providentially, archaeological signatures recorded throughout the late Pleistocene to Holocene period provide fundamental records to further understand palaeo-climatic shifts. The limited available literature (HEINE 1998a; 2004; 2005; LANCASTER 2002; BIERMAN et al., 2001; LANCASTER 2002; LAWSON & THOMAS 2002; MENDELSOHN et al., 2002; GERSTENGARBE & WERNER 2004; CHACE et al., 2009) provides evidence of Holocene climatic history based on a palaeoclimatic studies obtained from some of the geoarchives within the Namib Desert (Fig 3.1.).

Earlier and available geoarchives evidence suggested that the Namib Desert had experienced mostly arid conditions throughout its quaternary period as a result of the cold Benguela upwelling zone and its associated atmosphere circulations in the south Atlantic (BIERMAN et al., 2001). As a result, the climate remained relatively unchanged in Namibia during this

period (Ibid 2001). However, slight climatic fluctuations were recorded during the early Holocene period from around 10, 000-8,000 BP in the Central Namib and generally in Namibia where the climate became relatively wetter and colder (LANCASTER 2002; HEINE 2005) as indicated in palaeoclimate geoarchives (Fig. 3.1) collected from fluvial deposits in the Namib Desert. Here, short dry episodes manifested themselves from early Holocene period, around 9,800BP to 8,3000 BP in the central Namib (HEINE 2005:124). Still, researchers investigating climate change in Central Namibia could not explain the possible cause of such fluctuations during this period. It is possible however, that such shifts affected Central Namib's climatic antiquity during this time since Namibia's today's climate is comparable to what it was for the large part of Holocene (HEINE 2005:127).



Figure 3.1 An overview of the palaeoclimatic proxies for the Holocene; evidence from different geoarchives for periods in Namibia. N and 2 represents the Namib and Central Namib areas, (after HEINE 2005:128).

The mid-Holocene was marked by global cooling trend until the Late Holocene (HEINE 2005; MARCOTT et al., 2013). Here, the climate became warmer due to the retreat of Last Glacial Maximum (LGM). Such evidence indicates that there was an increase in rainfall, which, subsequently, results in the increased in groundwater level as river discharges in form

of flash-flood episodes (LAWSON & THOMAS 2002). However, researcher suggests that such trend did not necessarily mean that the desert was less extensive, but vegetation must have partially covered larger areas than today (LAWSON & THOMAS 2002; MARCOTT et al., 2013). Such evidence was supported by faunal analyses and radiocarbon dates from a fossil hyrax from the edge of the northern Namib Desert, which reveals that the late Pleistocene and Holocene vegetation types in the Namib Desert was characterised by *Poacea Cyperaceae* or *Chenopodiaceae* responding on account of a large quantity of rainfall (SCOTT et al., 2009). The archaeological records on the other hand suggest an appearance of archaeological signatures in the central Namib during this period due shifts from colder to long-term warmer climate occurring in the mid-Holocene between 8,500-5,000 BP with a few sites recorded on the edge of Messum, the Erongo mountains and the Mirabib area (see WENDT 1972:14; KORN & MARTIN 1939:19; SANDELOWSKY & VIERECK 1969:12; SANDELOWSKY 1977). However, with the increased in aridity in the central Namib Desert and its adjacent areas from last 5000 BP it affected seasonal climate variations consequently altering local landscape and the mobility patterns of the Namib inhabitants (HEINE 2005).

It is said that the aridity can be attributed to a number of factors including the cold Benguela Current (little rain, lower temperature, expanded subtropical high-pressure cells and reduced austral-summer precipitation due to a northward shift of the Inter Tropical Convergence Zone (HEINE 2005; URREGO et al., 2015). The increase in aridity of the central Namib therefore led to sudden decrease of certain vegetation that had thrived well during early Holocene period (CHASE et al., 2010). The situation was apparently so critical that the Namib barely support vegetation and its inhabitants.

3.1.2.Human response to climatic shifts in Central Namib of Erongo Region

The survival of prehistoric populations in the Central Namib is inextricably and linked to how they responded to climatic and environmental conditions. Although humans do not automatically respond to environmental changes, restriction in basic resources (food, water and shelter) can significantly constrain their choices. This section briefly discusses how human response to climatic and environmental shifts in the central Namib of the Erongo region from Pleistocene to Holocene periods. The existing archaeological evidences suggest that the earliest inhabitants of Central Namib inhabited the Namib plains during the Pleistocene period occupying several rock shelters of the Namib plains and some rock shelters in the Erongo, Brandberg and Messum highlands and the lower !Khuiseb River (KINAHAN 2011:20-21). Yet, the Middle Stone Age (MSA) evidence during Upper Pleistocene remains restricted (KINAHAN 2011; RICHTER 1991; SCHMIDT 2011). Such reductions are often indicative of several factors including environmental challenges, population decline, and abandonment of sites or conservation challenges. It is difficult to pinpoint the exact cause of this during this period given that most of the MSA evidenced of the Central Namib have been recorded in highland areas that likely offered greater and more readily available resources. One would be under the impression that hunter-gatherers would have optimally utilised a wider range of resources and areas within these highlands, thereby increasing the number of archaeological sites. However, it is probable that early MSA climatic conditions of the central Namib presented significant challenges to its prehistoric inhabitants, as it brought unfavourable cold and arid climatic conditions (VOGELSANG & EICHHORN 2011).

The decline of the archaeological signatures has similarly been observed in the early Holocene periods (from around 10,000-8,500BP) in central Namib, with a few sites recorded on the edge of Messum, the Erongo mountains and the Mirabib area (WENDT 1972:14; KORN & MARTIN 1939:19; SANDELOWSKY & VIERECK 1969:12; SANDELOWSKY 1977). The early Holocene climatic regime in this area exhibited variations including an increase in precipitation, aridity and flash flood conditions (LAWSON & THOMAS 2002; BOURKE & SHAW 2003). The period marked the retreat of last glacial maximum (OIS2) (HEINE 2005). Thereby resulting in rising temperatures and a massive influx of fresh water. It's likely that part of the central Namib plains and its main rivers and their tributaries flooded the surrounding areas. Such conditions presumably led to rapid changes in landscapes (flora and fauna), which would require rapid responses by hunter-gatherers.

It is, therefore, possible that such changes disrupted prehistoric hunter-gatherer subsistence patterns thereby compelling them to abandon low-lying areas to more affluent areas (highlands) that offered better refuge (caves and larger rock shelters) and adequate basic resources (food and water) to sustain them which would untimely lead to demographic recovery. Consequently, such conditions increased the prospects hunter-gatherer mobility beyond the Namib plains as changes in mobility their is largely linked to changing environmental conditions and a reduction of critical resources.

From the early to the mid-Holocene period, the Namib witnessed a significant increase in diversity and complexity, evident by the great concentration of Late Stone Age archaeological records in the highlands areas of Brandberg, Spitzkoppe, the Erongo Mountains, and, to some extent, Messum and the adjacent areas (RUDNER 1957; WENDT 1972; SANDELOWSKY 1974; SANDELOWSKY & VIERECK 1969; SCHERZ 1970; JACOBSON 1976; WADLEY 1979; PAGER 1989-2006; ERVERDOSA 1980; RICHTER 1984, 1989, 1991; KINAHAN 1984, 2001a, 1990; BREUNIG 1989a-c, 2003). This corresponds to a significant increase in favourable and stable climatic and environmental conditions in the highlands as the period corresponds to the retreat of last glacial maximum and the beginning of warmer period (HEINE 2005). Palaeoclimatic proxies from pollen analysis of the Namib Desert revealed cooler and wetter conditions, with increased precipitation around this time (CHACE et al., 2009; LANCASTER 2002). This allowed for the migrations and diffusion of people beyond the central Namib.

Since the Namib Desert experienced increased warming and drying throughout mid-Holocene, the intensity of the aridity varied through time and across space on account of topographical and geographical variations. The coastal area and the Namib plains, for instance, might have experienced increased temperature, high evaporation rates, although moister conditions prevailed given their proximity to the Atlantic Ocean. Osteological remains of micro mammalian bones from Mirabib, which dates from the last 6000 years, suggest a more favourable habitat, with moister conditions and more grass cover (BRAIN & BRAIN 1977). Highland areas such as Brandberg and the Erongo Mountains, for instance, receive more rainfall (orographic precipitations) and other moisture (fog and mist) than the surrounding Namib Plains and the Spitzkoppe Mountain given their close proximity to the Atlantic Ocean. This means that the advantageous configurations of these areas afforded even more favourable range of microclimates for human exploitation and habitation. Consequently, hunting and gathering economic activity must have sustained them this period.

The aridity of the Namib Desert intensified towards late Holocene period (KINAHAN 2005; CHASE et al., 2009, 2010). An investigation into the Hungorob ravine in Brandberg revealed intensive and recurring occupations from about 5000 years ago, while sediment analyses

further supports the increasingly arid conditions (KINAHAN 1984, 2001a *cf.* KINAHAN 2005:121). Moreover, detailed palaeoclimatic inquiries into sites in central and northwestern Namib also shown series of rapid aridification events beginning of 3800 BP, which marked a progressive decrease in regional humidity across Southern Africa (CHASE et al., 2010:36-45).

The latter led to the seasonal migration of large game to affluent areas that offered water sources. It was during this period that resources (water and food) became meagre; consequently, sites occupation also becomes localized. For instance, KINAHAN (2005:121) observed that faunal remains from Hungorob revealed that the site occupants' diet consisted mainly of small species including the rock dassie (Procavia capensis), the klipspringer (Oreotragus oreotragus) and red rock rabbit (Pronolagus randensis), this in order to cope with diminished food resources, i.e., large game. He argued that the presence of bone fragments at the Hungorob sites from larger animal species must have been brought as raw materials for artefacts. The increase in hunter-gatherer mobility in the highlands was a response to restricted and scarce resources.

Evidence obtained from the Spitzkoppe Mountain (KINAHAN 1990:7-8) also supports this view. Here, faunal remains from archaeological excavations at the Bushman Shelter show that small animal predominate, and these including include tortoises, mongooses, birds, rodents, ostrich eggshells, as well as hunted animal such as springbok. The aridity of the area must have constrained water resources, forcing large game to migrate. The reduction in hunting strategies led to the production of rock art tradition and the adjustment of stone tool technologies, as well as the exploitation of plants to supplement their diet as revealed by the floral remains. Correspondingly, faunal taxon from the Leopard Cave in Erongo Mountain the predominance of easily captured animals such as birds, reptile species, rock hyrax and ostriches, although bovidae species are also represented (PLEURDEAU et al., 2012). Such evidence therefore indicates systematic changes and probably the demise and untimely collapse of hunter-gatherers economic communities, as evidenced by a decline in archaeological records until +-800 years (RICHTER 1993; BREUNIG 2003).

3.1.3.An overview of the archaeological records in Erongo Region

The Erongo Region is renowned in Namibia for its rich archaeological records (Fig. 3.2). The distribution, although regionally irregular, comprises of the areas with the highest

concentrations in granitic inselbergs of Daureb/Brandberg, Erongo Mountains and the Spitzkoppe mountains. The region's archaeological evidence has been divided into the following chronologies: from the Pleistocene (the Middle Stone Age and Late Stone Phases) to the Iron Age period. Each had its own cultural industries and traditions. There was often an overlap, indicating a broader and high-level geographical continuity between the hunter-gatherers and the herders. Some of the cultural periods are further divided into cultural phases (Fig. 3.4).



Figure 3.2 The general distribution of known archaeological sites in the Erongo Region in relation to other archaeological sites in Namibia. The location of Erongo Mountains is indicated in a blue circle (Edited, after, KINAHAN 2011)

a.Pleistocene Period (400,000–10, 000 years ago)

The earliest evidence of human occupation in the region can be traced back from a significant assemblages of late Pleistocene Period of the Early Middle Stone Age periods (from 400, 000-100,000) discovered in the Namib plains and several rock shelters in the Namib Desert

(Fig. 3.3), and also the lower !Khuiseb River where bone fragments of an extinct elephant and stone tools associated with Acheulean Industry were recorded (KINAHAN 2011:20-21). Other Pleistocene evidences has been those yielded from the Middle Stone Age (MSA) archaeological sequences at Erb Tanks (MCCALL et al., 2011) and Messum 1 E near Brandberg Mountain (VIERECK 1961; SCHERZ 1974; WENDT 1972; RICHTER 1984, 1991). The MSA sites from the Erongo Mountains include those excavated by W.E. Wendt, the Fackelträger E in Omandumba West, farm Etemba14 E, Davib-Ost farm and in the Cymot shelters of Ameib farm (KAHN 1965; SCHERZ 1986; WENDT 1972; RICHTER 1991; SCHMIDT 2011; SANDELOWSKY & VIERECK 1969), including Otjongoro farm by W. Sydow, which remained unpublished (RICHTER 1991). The two excavated Brandberg MSA sequences include Amis 10 and Amis 11, but have provided little information on technological and chrono-cultural issues (BREUNIG 2003: 65-111, 112-140 cf. SCHMIDT 2011). The technological industry of the MSA assemblage at these sites is predominantly made up of hand axes, pointed flakes (pseudo-Levallois points), unretouched flakes, cleavers, blades etc., recovered from various excavated archaeological layers and surface collections attributed to Levallois technology.



Figure 3.3 Map of Namibia indicating the location of MSA sites of the central northwestern Erongo region. The blue dots show excavated sites while surface collections are in red. (Map Credits: RICHTER, 2002:525, modified)

The Pleistocene Epoch of the Early Middle Stone Age in Erongo, and, generally, Namibia corresponds to the development of regional lithic traditions, the appearance of technological innovations, the emergence of the modern species Homo sapiens, as well as the development of their cognitive abilities and strategies. It further provides a global significant evidence for the understanding of human and environmental responses to climatic shifts in the Namib Desert in the Late Stone Age period (SMITH & HESSE 2005). It is a period that has seen increased human activities associated with the expansion of hunter-gatherers in Namibia and, generally, Southern Africa. Other MSA sites are found in southern Namibia, sites such as Bremen 1C and Bremen 2B, Aar 2, Zebra River, Zais and Apollo 11 (WENDT 1972, 1976; VOGELSANG 1996, 1998; JACOBS et al., 2008; VOGELSANG et al., 2010).

Despite frequent surface scatter and distribution of MSA lithics artefacts in the Namib Desert, most of sites are becoming increasingly susceptible to extensive mining explorations, even though archaeological impacts assessments are carried out in the area (KINAHAN 2011). This occurs in combination with the natural deterioration, accessibility to the sites (some are believed to be concentrated in the Namib escarpment zones), inadequate archaeological investigations of MSA assemblages or the scarcity of MSA sequences in some areas. The absence of early human in the Central Namib remains a challenge given the aridity of the area. Furthermore, the extreme shortage of English publications and those that remain unpublished made the Pleistocene component of the archaeological record relatively thin (RICHTER 1991; KINAHAN 2011; SCHMID 2011). There is, therefore, a need for further scientific research of MSA sites in Namibia in order to broaden our knowledge of the variability and diversity of cultural complexes within the MSA to determine local and regional-scale occupation patterns and reconstruct the palaeoenvironmental settings of southern Africa during the Middle Pleistocene.

b.Holocene Period (10,000-1,000) Years

The Holocene period of the Stone Age period in the Erongo Region is one of the most intensely investigated periods (BREUIL 1960; RUDNER 1957; WENDT 1972; SANDELOWSKY 1974; SANDELOWSKY & VIERECK 1969; SCHERZ 1970; JACOBSON 1976; WADLEY 1979; PAGER 1989-2006; ERVERDOSA 1980; RICHTER 1984, 1989, 1991, 2002; RICHTER & VOGELSANG 2008; BREUNIG 1989A-C, 2003; KINAHAN 1984, 2001a, 1990, 2005; LENSSEN-ERZ 2001, 2007; GWASIRA 2008, 2011, 2012; PLEURDEAU et al., 2012; BÖRNER 2013; NANKELA 2013, 2014, 2015; MVIMI

2015) in Namibia primarily due to the great concentration of LSA sites within the central Namib and the commitment of researchers. According to Richer, the Holocene Period in the central Namib is divided into the following cultural phases, each with its own chronology and its associated industry (RICHTER 1990).

c.Late Stone Age: Phase A

Chronologically, the earliest evidence of the Late Stone Age Period occupation in the region dates back from 10,000 to 7,000 BP. This is Phase A according to RICHTER (1991:189), with archaeological assemblages produced from very few sites such as Messum 1E (WENDT 1972:14; KORN & MARTIN 1939:19) near Brandberg, Austerlitz E near Twyfelfontein and Cymot Shelter within Erongo Mountain (WENDT 1972:13; SANDELOWSKY & VIERECK 1969:12; RICHTER 1991:189; BREUNIG 2003:273) and the archao-botanical inventory recovered from the Mirabib Hills Shelter (SANDELOWSKY, 1977).

The inventories associated with Phase I industry recovered from these sequences are relatively small in quantity. Microlithics assemblages predominate, notably with single bifacial retouched points related to hunting equipment such as bows and arrows and numerous ostrich eggshell beads. Limited sites from Phase A indicate a short-term settlement patterns by small group of population, attributed to the transition of Late Pleistocene to Early Holocene period when the climate was still relatively colder. The Early Late Stone Age peoples of the central Namib were hunter-gatherers, characterized by sparse and small population, the exploitation of wild plant and animal resources, seasonal demographic shifts, occupation of rock shelters and the production microlith tools for the preparation of foods.

d.Late Stone Age: Phase B

The spread of the microlithic technology extended to Phase B sites of the Late Stone Age period in the Erongo roughly 7,000 to 5,600 bp (RICHTER 1991:196). Relative dates have been obtained from two Erongo sites, the Cymot shelter (Nieuwoudt) around Erongo Mountain (SANDELOWSKY & VIERECK 1969:12; RICHTER 1991:196) and the 'Girl's School Shelter T6.1 in the Tsiasab ravine of the Brandberg Mountain (RUDNER 1957; RICHTER 1991). Similar to Phase A, artefacts from this Phase reveal a rich and diverse microlithic industry with also high presence of scrapers, supplemented by some worked and un-worked ostrich eggshell beads and the first appearance of a pestle and some bones points.

The resemblances in tool typologies in the choice of preferred raw materials (shale, quartz and crystal), as well as the tools such as micro scrapers, which signifies the spread of microlith tradition and continuous settlement patterns beyond central Namib i.e., from Mirabib Hills in the central Namib to Twyfelfontein area where Zwei Schneider sites with absolute dates were recorded. Phase B marks the beginning of people's mobility from Namib plains to the highlands (the mountain of Brandberg) as a result of a warmer and drier climate at this time and animal migration.

e.Late Stone Age: Phase C1

Various Erongo sites have been recorded in Phase C1, roughly 5,400 – 3,400 BP, with the industry extending to Phase C2 (RICHTER 1991:196-197). Materials documented in this phase comprised of direct assemblages excavated from the sites of Messum 2 (WENDT 1972:15; RICHTER 143-150), associated inventories from Upper Brandberg sites of Rock Fall shelter (KINAHAN1984), Lower Numas Cave as well as Erongo site of Stripped Giraffe shelter (JACKOBSON 1976:207). Phase C1's industry is characterised by a diversity of geometric microlithic artefacts attributed to the Wilton tradition, worked and decorated ostrich eggshell beads, pendants, a pestle and some bone fragments as well as the first appearance ceramic industry. The lithic typologies of this Phase originate from local raw materials of shale, quartz and crystal.

f.Late Stone Age: Phase C2

Phase C2 occurred roughly 5,400 – 2,000 BP, and it was an extension of the previous phase. It marked a rapid increase and concentrations of archaeological sites within Erongo due to increased in population as a result of improved, favourable environmental conditions and climatic period, enabling the survival of the population (VOGELSANG & EICHHORN 2011:37). The period was also marked by the shift of vegetation from open grassland to the development of bush and shrub vegetation as a result of increase moisture. Most of these sites offered sources of water for both people and animals. Dates from central Namib were obtained from the prominent sites of Fackelträger D1-4 and Etemba14D, while those dated in association includes the Stripped Giraffe shelter, the Big Elephant shelter 2 and 1, Cymot shelter, Phillip's Cave, Etemba L2 A (JACKOBSON 1976:207), while the latest absolute radio carbon dates were recorded at the site of Leopard Cave marking the first appearance of

domesticated caprines (fat tailed sheep) and possibly herders in southern Africa (PLEURDEAU et al., 2012).

Various Brandberg sites including Girls School shelter 4, Tiara shelter T2, Lower Numas Cave 7, Amis 10, Amis 11, Umuab B2 (BREUNIG 2003), Rock Fall shelter 3 (KINAHAN 1984) were also dated in association similarly to Geisterhonhle 3 in the central Namib (RICHTER 1991:197), as well as the Riesenhöhle shelter in the Brandberg Mountain (BREUNIG 1989c; RICHTER 2002:529)in this Phase. There were changes in the material industry associated with Phase C2. These include significant technological changes marked by the possible first appearance of rock art tradition (no direct dates yet) corresponding to Mode 1 (RICHTER 2002:528). The majority of rock art sites in the Erongo area dating from this period were occupied first by the hunter-gatherers groups or hunter with sheep sporadically (PLEURDEAU et al., 2012).

g.Late Stone Age: Phase D

These sites with evidence of occupation occurring in Phase D roughly 2,000 – 1,000 BC include those excavated from Etemba 2B Messum 1 AB. Absolute dates where attained while relative dates were recorded at sites of Etemba L1A, Fackelträger C, Big Elephant shelter 3 and most of the Brandberg sites, including Fall Rock shelters (KINAHAN 1984, 1991:198), Eros shelter (VOGEL 1971) and Mirabib Hill shelter (upper layer) (SANDELOWSKY 1977:71). Phase D industry assemblages comprise of extensive microlith artefacts of the LSA dominated by micropoints side scrapers made of local raw materials, namely, quartzite and rock crystal, with the *débitage* production characterized by flakes and chips.

The industry is further marked by the introduction of burned ceramics/potteries, pestles with a variety of pigments used in the production of rock art sites arts with a variety of subjects and the dominance of animal figures in engravings including the rare representations of fat-tailed sheep (RICHTER 2002:528), where certain animals, i.e. giraffes, are painted or engraved with matching spoors/tracks.

h. Late Stone Age: Phase E

Erongo sites such as Fackelträger A, Etemba L1A and the majority of the Upper and lower Brandberg sites such as Fall Rock shelter 10, Girls School shelter A2 and Numas Entrance shelter were registered within the last Phase of the Late Stone Age period, roughly 1,000- 800 years (RICHTER, 1991:198). Period marks a dramatic transition from a hunter-gatherer lifestyle to an increasingly herders way of life. The period designates the abrupt abandonment of rock art tradition *also* Mode 3 and 4 especially in the rock shelters in the areas around Brandberg Mountain (BREUNIG 1989A. 1989B). The rapid decline of sites within this period is attributed to the population decline and unfavourable climatic conditions (SPANGLER 2007:22).

i.Iron Age: Phase F

Iron Age record in the central Namib is relatively recent and is marked by very few sites recorded at top layers in Messum Mountain, Messum 1 1370 \pm 50; Striped Giraffe Shelter A4 370 \pm 40 as well as few sites within upper Brandberg Mountain, also Brandberg Culture such as Hungorob Schlucht series; Orabes Schlucht series Amis Schlucht; Grosse Dom Schlucht as well as lower Brandberg sites including Tsisab Schlucht series. The industry associated with this phase includes archaeological artefacts harvested from either surface or top layers of these above mentioned sites in Erongo including charcoal clumps scraped from surface, roughly packed stone wall, crude stones, stone circles, potteries, iron and smoking pipes (RUDNER 1957; JACOBSON 1976; VOGEL & VISSER 1981:59-63).



Figure 3.4 The detailed chronological division of the Holocene period of the LSA outlining major cultural phases and traditions in the Erongo region of the north Central Namibia. (After, RICHTER 2002:530)

3.2.SECTION B

Following the brief palaenvironmental and archaeological context of Central Namib Desert, Section B provides a synopsis the archaeology of the Erongo Mountains from Middle Stone Age to Late Stone Age period. We will then provide a short history of rock art research in the Erongo Mountains, as well as the challenges facing this research.

3.2.1. An overview of the archaeology of the Middle Stone Age and Late Stone Age of the Erongo Mountains

The Erongo Mountains are one of the key archaeological areas in Erongo cultural landscape with an exceptional archaeological heritage and a high concentration of prehistoric rock art. However, it remains one of the least studied archaeological areas of the Erongo landscape. This is attributed to a number of factors, including the fact that the entire mountain, unlike most sites, is on private land, the fact that there is a lack of archaeological funding and the fact that there is an acute shortage of Namibian archaeology researchers, and the fact that there is less commitment from researchers.

Nonetheless, the earliest archaeological investigations in the Erongo Mountains confirm the existence of human occupations dating back as far as the Middle Stone Age to the Late Stone Age period. The archaeological investigations carried out in the mountains were driven primarily by researchers' attempts to establish a chronological framework between rock art and archaeological deposits in Namibia (WENDT 1972) since archaeological investigations into the Erongo Mountains were relatively scarce at this time. The Erongo Mountains MSA sequences are far less extensive than the LSA assemblages as a result of scarcity of MSA sequences, natural deteriorations, inaccessible but published MSA literatures (often written in foreign languages other than English) and lack of directly dated MSA assemblages (SCHMIDT 2011; KINAHAN 2011).

The chronology of the MSA sequences in the Erongo Mountains was largely determined by the typological identification of the surviving MSA materials, namely, the microlith artefacts, whose dates go beyond the limits of the radiocarbon method (JACOBSET et al., 2008; VOGELSANG et al., 2010). TheMSA industry technology that predominated was that of the microlith, artefacts including scraper-like tools, hand axes, pointed flakes (pseudo-Levallois

points), blades cleavers, blades etc., recovered from various archaeological contexts (excavations and surface collections) attributed to Levallois technology. The Late Stone Age period, on the other hand, is one that displays the richest and diverse industries that record intense human activities. The period saw the emergence of pottery technology, worked bone tools. It is generally believed that most of the rock art in Southern Africa were produced in the LSA period (RICHTER 2002). (See also Fig. 3.4.)

Key MSA and LSA sites in the Erongo Mountains include Etemba 14 in the Etemba farm, Fackelträger and Leopard Cave in Omandumba West farm, Cymot shelter Nieuwoudt, Striped Giraffe shelter, Phillips Cave, Great Elephant Shelter in the Ameib farm as well as Davib-Ost farm (Fig. 3.5).



Figure 3.5 Topographic Map of the Erongo Mountains indicating the location of archaeological investigation into MSA and LSA sites (After, PLEURDEAU 2016:7)

Among the Erongo MSA sites, Etemba (Fig. 3.6) clearly stands out. The site's MSA finds were initially discovered during an extensive survey in the Erongo region by a German surveyor (LEBZELTER 1930) where stone materials labelled as 'Erongo-Kultur' based on typological observations were considered to belong to the 'Blade-Industries' of the MSA (SCHMIDT 2011). The site subsequently became a subject of archaeological investigation firstly by W. E. Wendt in 1968 in his quest to establish the chronological position and archaeological context of rock art (WENDT 1972: 11). Here Wendt recovered MSA lithic artefacts at the base of a rich LSA sequence, as well as two possible heavily fragmented human cranial fragments were identified. Such findings led to the second archaeological investigation by (RICHTER 1991).





Figure 3.6 Etemba 14 excavationplan of 1968 and 1984 (left). (Right) are the MSA and LSA stratigraphical Layers (After, Richter 1991 & Schmidt 2011.

The majority of the yielded MSA artefacts comprised of discoid cores and retouched pieces, Pseudo-Levallois points and Levallois preferential flake whose chaineopératoire was reconstructed by Isabell Schmidt (SCHMIDT 2011), with raw materials (such as dyke rocks and quartzite) originating from in proximity of the site. The site's LSA occupations reveal at least two periods of use, with us having radiocarbon dates from the beginning and the end of the third millennium BP. The oldest 14C Date LSA-use is about 2,130 \pm 120 BP and 210 \pm 100 (WENDT 1972:39).

Perhaps the most extensive MSA assemblages are those excavated from the Fackelträger site in Omandumba West Farm by E.Wendt in 1968, which is said to be one the richest MSA inventory in the northern Namibia to date (RICHTER 1991). Here, more than 26 707 lithic artefacts including a small number of discoid cores, retouched tools and microlith artefacts such as scrappers were recovered. Its MSA layers contained no traces of charcoal, ash bone or ostrich eggshells, but indicated an intensive use of Levallois and retouched artefact forms (WENDT 1972). Such occupation was directed towards activities such as hunting and tool production. The oldest 14C Date LSA-use is about 2,980 \pm 120 while most recent is 2770 \pm 120BP (WENDT 1972:39). In the mid -section of the horizon B of the LSA was a concentration of 360g of hematite, as well as a pigment-stained pestle whose dates were established to be between 3.500BP - 2.000BP and/or from 1,550 BC \pm 50 AD. The rock art figures at the site are, therefore, associated to the LSA period of occupation (Fig. 3.7).



Figure 3.7 On the left is the excavation plan of Fackelträger sections and on the right is a stratigraphic summary of the site (After, RICHTER 1991:40 & 54)

Other key MSA sites in the Erongo Mountains include the site of Cymot Shelter, Stripped Giraffe shelter and Davib-Ost from Ameib farm (Fig. 3.5). Archaeological material from these three shelters were analysed and published by Sandelowsky and Viereck (1969). The MSA materials recovered from these sites consist of implements such as scrappers, flakes, cores, core axes and points made of the locally acquired materials of quartzite. The site's LSA sequences produced artefacts including pestles, potsherds, shells, ostrich eggshells, plant
remains as well as hearths that produced varied radiocarbon dates. For instance, the LSA sequence from Cymot shelter had produced the earliest LSA occupations in the entire Erongo Mountains from sediments that produced charcoal materials that were radiocarbon dated 5740 \pm 110 BP and 3790 \pm 110 BC. These were followed by those obtained from the Stripped Giraffe shelter between 4590 \pm 100BP and 3080 \pm 100 BP, where rock paintings were also found but not recorded

A prominent LSA site in Omandumba West farm is that of Leopard Cave located south of the Fackelträger shelter (Fig. 3.8) The cave shelter was discovered in 2007 and subsequently become a subject of investigations by its principal researcher David Pleurdeau and a handful of researchers from 2009. The site's archaeological layers yielded one of the richest and intensive LSA assemblages. It has more than 4600 archaeological including lithic, ostrich eggshells and small bone fragments, as well as faunal remains (including beads and bone tools) recovered from Layers 4, 5 and 6 (Fig.3.9). The two Caprine teeth dated to 2190 ± 640 BP, 2296-2042 BP and 2270 ± 40 BP (2312-2155 cal. BP) from Layers 5 and 6 are associated with abundance of lithic (not micro lithic tools) and rich wild animal bones. Such remains predate the previously known sheep remains in the southern Africa.



Figure 3.8 Shows the excavation plan of the site from 2009-2015, (After, Pleaurdeau et al., 2012).



Figure 3.9 Is the summary of the artifacts found until 2012 excavations, (After Pleurdea at al., 2012:3-4)

The site's occupation reveals several periods of use dating from the end of fourth millennium BP (PLEURDEAU et al., 2016). Such occupation, according to Pleurdeau, point out to hunting activities particularly (but not only) turned towards small bovids acquisition. Evidence from archaeological remains such as fauna and organic materials (as charcoal or burnt remains) suggests periods of intense human activity, as well as the anthropogenic ashes, which mainly composed the sediments (PLEURDEAU et al., 2012). The rock art figures at the site were never studied but are included in this present study. Pigment transformation and use toolkit has been recovered from layer dated to 3500 BP. The site, nonetheless, provides valuable information on ecological aspects and subsistence patterns of the area.

3.2.2.A brief background of rock art heritage in Central Namib of Erongo Region

Namibia is one of the areas with greatest accumulation of prehistoric rock art sites in Southern Africa (RICHTER 2002; GWASIRA 2007; NANKELA 2015). The distribution and

techniques in the rock art tradition are largely governed by the geology of the country, with the sites of highest concentrations found in the northwestern Central Namib (Fig. 3.10) below.



Figure 3.10 Map of west-central Namibia showing the spatial distribution of paintings and engraving sites, which were authored during the LSA period. The black symbols show the number of sites within grid squares of 25x25 km. Where rock paintings are concerned, E.R. Scherz counted a rock shelter or a group of assembled blocks as one single site. However, with engravings, he understood a ranch, a farm section or a valley as one site. Therefore, the number of individual representations per Grid Square is additionally indicated (open symbols), (After, RICHTER 2002: 52).

These includes areas of the Brandberg Mountain, which has over 50 000 rock art figures recorded at more than 1000 rock art sites (MACCALMAN 1964/65; BREUIL 1959; SCHERZ 1970, 1975, 1986; VIERECK 1967; PAGER 1989-2006; LENSSEN-ERZ 2007; GWASIRA 2011; LENSSEN-ERZ & GWASIRA 2010), the Erongo Mountains, which has with more than 5300 figures recorded at more than 108 rock art sites (BREUIL 1960; WENDT 1972; BÖRNER 2013; NANKELA 2015), as well as those recorded in the Spitzkoppe Mountain (KINAHAN 1990), most of which are registered in the country's heritage database.

Some sites have been proclaimed as national heritage sites, including the entire Brandberg Conservation Area, the site of Bushman Paradise in the Spitzkoppe Mountain, Philips Cave in the Ameib farm and Paula Cave in the Okapekaha farm, both in the Erongo Mountains. The content of the rock art varies within the country as a result of cultural factors, but several themes are widespread to indicate a geographical and temporal continuity of the rock art traditions within hunter-gatherers, herders and possibly agriculturalists belief systems and cosmologies over the period in when rock paintings were created.

Namibia's prehistoric art tradition dates back as far as the MSA period, when several painted slabs displaying a therianthropic figure (human and animal) traits were recovered from a MSA occupations at Apollo 11 Cave, in southern Namibia. These were dated between 31, 100 and 32 900 cal. BP years ago (Vogelsang et al., 2010), making it one of world's oldest paintings, in addition to the paintings discovered from Chauvet Cave in southern France (30,000 to 32,000 BP). Archaeological evidence (BREUNIG 2003; RICHTER 1991) suggests that most of the Namibia's rock art were authored during the Namibian Late Stone framework (LSA phase C2A - F) over the last 6,000 BP (Richter 1991; 2002), (see Fig. 3.4). The country's current heritage database indicates more paintings over engravings sites (see also Fig. 3.5.2), while their themes also differ extensively across the board (Fig.3.11).



Figure 3.11 Themes of Namibian rock art (humans, footprints, handprints, animals, animal spoors/tracks, geometrical signs and trees). (CREDITS: RICHTER 2002:527), modified to reflect current records.

The record indicates that Namibian rock art is largely devoted to human representations especially within the painting. Handprints, footprints, animal spoors/tracks, geometrical signs, as well as themes that reflect landscape features such as cloudlike figures, vegetation, linear and zigzag arrangements of flecks, rain clouds are ancient forms in the rock paintings in Namibia. Following human figures are a variety of animals representations depicted in naturalistic manners with dominant figures such as that of the springbok (*Antidorcas marsupialis*) and the giraffe (*Giraffa Camelopardalis*) being the most common motive according to (SCHERZ 1986; LENSSEN-ERZ 1997), see also Fig. 3.12).

The faunal representations represent compendium of local fauna, as all the depictions are similar to those found in the same landscape in Central Namibia. Paintings were produced in a variety of techniques such as fine line where figures are outlined with a single line or outlined and then filled with lines of the same colour i.e., red, brown, black, white, orange etc., also known as monochrome paintings. There are many figures that are painted in combination of two colour (bichrome) to emphasize the feature of the subject painted, while other figures contain several colours referred to as polychrome to create depth of the painted subject, which in most cases is an animal figure. Engravings are devoted mainly to animal representations of which spoors/tracks are dominant, followed by animal figures and geometrical signs, while human representations in form of footprints and handprints are least represented.



Figure 3.12 The distribution of rock art sites in Namibia, indicating the main motives in animal representations. Credits: SCHMIDT, 2001:25

Like elsewhere in southern Africa, the ethnographic records obtained from the 19th and 20th centuries (BLEEK 1874, 1935b, 1936a; LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1982; LEWIS-WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1989; LEWIS- WILLIAMS 1990) have been successfully used to interpret metaphors and symbols associated with the art of hunter-gatherers, herders and later agriculturalists. Such approaches have also been applied in Namibian rock arts (KINAHAN 2005; SMITH & OUZMAN, 2004; MORRIS, 1988). The rock art belonged to a regional cognitive tradition and religious practice in which the potency of certain animals was harnessed in ritual healing, rainmaking, ceremonials, i.e. initiations and other shamanistic related activities. Other ethnographic evidence has also given more meaning and significance to the artworks of the sites they occupies to enhance the power of a particular places in the landscape i.e. for rainmaking or initiations sites adding intangible values to a particular place (COULSON & CAMPBELL 2011).Therefore, by inferring from this ethnographic information from these sources from the hunter-gatherers and herders in southern it is possible to arrive at a more comprehensive explanations for the great accumulations of prehistoric rock art sites and their apparent occurrences at particular sites within Erongo

cultural landscape given the ecological conditions and increased aridifications of central Namib at the time.

3.2.3. A brief history of rock art research in Erongo Mountains

Rock art research in Namibia is relatively young (see RICHTER AND VOGELSANG 2008; KINAHAN 2011; GWASIRA 1998, 2012) and has developed from the efforts of amateur researchers into a large body of scientific knowledge (GWASIRA 2012). In the Erongo Mountain, rock art research resulted from the efforts and work of individual researchers (BREUIL 1957/1960; KAHN1965; SCHERZ 1986; VIERECK 1962,1967; BÖRNER 2013; NANKELA 2015) who had committed themselves to document Namibia's heritage. The researchers efforts produced to date more than 5300 rock art figures from more than 108 known rock art sites recorded, from the Ameib farm, Anibib (Ai Aiba), Erongorus, Etemba, Ekuta, Okombahe Reserve, Omandumba, and Springbokfontein in the Erongo Mountains. Today, some of the recorded sites (Phillips Cave and Paula Cave) have been declared as Namibia's national heritage sites. However, these are not the only rock art sites in the Erongo Mountains. In fact, a large number of rock art sites have been reported within the entire mountains, but only few have been recorded to date (see NANKELA 2015:1420). Here, Breuil and his team documented firstly a cave shelter "Phillips Cave" in Ameib farm. The results were published in: The rock paintings of southern Africa: Phillip Cave. After this, Breuil documented some sites in Anibib, Omandumba West, and Springbokfontein Farms. These were published in "The rock art of southern Africa: Anibib, Omandumba Farms and Other Erongo Sites". Breuil and his team documented about 40 rock-painting sites containing approximately 3000 figures. Breuil and his team made some selective recording of the sites on these farms, preferring only sites with prominent figures despite these sites being in proximity to each other. Omitting other sites could have been a result of limited time in Erongo and it might have had something to do with his age.

French Prehistorian *Abbé* Henri Breuil (Fig. 3.13) initially documented the rock art of the lower Brandberg Mountain in collaboration of Mary E. Boyle, Dr. E.R Scherz, R. G Strey, as well as two local people whose names were not be mentioned in Breuil publications (BREUIL 1959). Breuil's documentation involved digital photography (black and white) and tracing directly from the rock surfaces with considerable focus using transparency foils - and there are few differences in quality between his tracings and original figures because Breuil

did his work with an invariable exactitude and passion (Fig. 3.14). He predominantly documented the sites that were in proximity to the farmsteads, often easily accessible on foot or by vehicle, leaving many sites that were located a little further from farmsteads and in high altitudes undocumented - and again this might be attributed to his limited time in Erongo.



Figure 3.13 Abbé Henri Breuil in the Erongo Mountains. (Credit: BREUIL 1959:40.)

Not only was Breuil selective about the sites but also the figures at these sites and gave little attention to surface archaeological artefacts found within these sites or the state of conservation of the artworks in general. His research tended to focus on describing the most elaborate and aesthetic aspects of rock art and the direct interpretation of what rock art

figures might represents and also establishes the typological descriptions of the figures according to style or colours.



Figure 3.14 Left are the original figures from one of the sites in Omandumba West Farm taken in 2014 and right are Breuil's traced images of the same site. (Credits: author and Breuil 1959.)

German researcher Walter Kahn (Fig. 3.15) was also one of the earliest researchers who was commissioned to research of the rock art of Etemba 2 14 in Farm Etemba that were later included in the book entitled 'Die Felszeichnungen' auf Farm Etemba in Erongogebirge, published in 1965. His publication however, was not available at the time of writing of this thesis on account of its inaccessibility. sites The Kahn initially documented were complemented further by Scherz in 1986 and subsequently Richter in 1991 documentations.



Figure 3.15 Walter Kahn (After: Namibia Scientific Society.)

In addition to Breuil's team efforts,

other researchers such as Albert

Viereck led archaeological expeditions in the Erongo Mountains in collaborations with H.R MacCalman, A. Elsasser and W. Sydow, first in 1962 and later in 1989 with Beatrice Sandelowsky. Here, the researchers' main research agenda was to conduct archaeological excavations at several rock shelters (mostly probably containing rock-painting figures), including the striped giraffe in Okanguati farm, Cymot shelter in Nieuwoudt, as well as the David Ost shelter in David Ost farm. The researchers had also made visits to several sites in the Erongo including Van Wyk Shelters, Bedding Place and Phillip Cave in Ameib farm. These were later published in a preliminary report of (VIERECK 1964 and later in a supplementary report of 1989). Unlike Breuil whose sole research purpose was only to record the rock art sites in the Erongo, artworks found at these shelters were barely documented with the exception of the stripped giraffe figure (Fig. 3.16).



Figure 3.16 Aboveis a traced figure of a striped giraffe from the Stripped Giraffe Site, credits: (SANDELOWSKY & VIERECK 1989:18).

A German physicist, Dr. Ernst Rudolph Scherz (Fig. 3.17), was not only instrumental in bringing *Abbé* Breuil to visit the 'White Lady of the Brandberg' (SANDELOWSKY 2011: 772), but worked alongside Breuil and other researchers in the Brandberg Mountain and in some of the Erongo sites. Scherz was then encouraged by Breuil to develop a systematic and comprehensive survey of Namibian rock art (RICHTER &VOGELSANG 2008B: 37).



Figure 3.17 Drawing of Dr. Ernst Rudolph Scherz.(After, Scherz 1986:8)

In 1963, Scherz was contracted by the University of Cologne to record all the rock art found in Namibia as part of the Cologne rock art research program of "Felsbilder im sudwestlichen Afrika" funded by the "Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft" (DFG)grant of the Cologne University whose objectives were to develop a systematic inventory of Namibian archaeology (RICHTER &VOGELSANG 2008b: 37; GWASIRA 2011:3). Under this Scherz developedsystematic grant. methods of recording rock art in Namibia including the rock art of Twyfelfontein and Peet Alberts Koppie between 1930-1970s. The worth of discovery made during this periodled to the development of systematic, comprehensive surveys and formaldocumentation of the rock art sites in Namibia. Scherzsurvey methodology involved the use of the GPS to locate rock art sites, the establishment of the site names and numbers as well as recording of the site content gave birth to the empirical traditions of the rock art research in Namibia (see Fig. 3.18 {i and ii}).

At Twyfelfontein for instance, Scherz record 15 small rock art sites hosting about 2500 rock engravings on thesandstone slabs. In 1952, the site of Twyfelfonteinwas declared a National Monument site and in2007 became Namibia's first UNESCO world heritage site as a largest concentrationof rock engravings in Southern Africa. Scherz'sworks at Twyfelfontein were published later on in 1975 in his book entitled "Felsbilder Südwest-Afrika. Teil 11: Die Gravierungen im Nordwesten Südwest,Cologne:Böhlau Verlag". After this, Scherz continued with the surveys and documentation of rocksites in Kunene region where he further recorded between 1,200 -1,500the rock engravings of PeetAlbertKoppie farm near Kamanjabin today's Kunene region, encompassingpredominantly zoomorphicand abstracts figures like circularforms and a star (SCHERZ 1975). The Historical Monuments Commission responsible for the protection of heritage site in Namibia at a time declared thethis site in this farm as Namibia's national monument site in 1967 and the site's information were equally published in Scherz "Felsbilder in Südwest-Afrika. Teil III: Die Gravierungen in Südwest-Afrika ohne den Nordwesten des Landes", Köln/Wien 1975.

The coming of the late 1970s oversees Scherzexpanded beyond Kunene region, to Erongo region in areas such as theBrandbergMountain as well asErongo mountains sites including Omandumba East and West farms, farm Anibib, Ekuta, Otjongoro, Ongwati, Onguti and others incorporated in the Cologne rock art research program "Felsbilder im SüdwestAfrica" funded by the Deschutes Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG), which at a time was also funding the rock art research inSouth Africa by the Fock's family and the archaeological excavations ofNamibian rock art and non rock art sites by W.E. Wendt (RICHTER & VOGELSANG 2008:37). It was during this time between 1968-1970 thatWendt began his work in Namibia to investigate the relationship betweenrock art and the archeological deposits (Wendt 1974).

In Omandumba East and West farm, Scherz recording methodology involved dividing the farms geographically and then a systematic recording of the sites and their figures systematically. For instance, Omandumba West farm was divided into six sections namely: Omandumba West, Grenztol, Korichas, Nord-Tal, Nordstern, Nordwest-Tal and Sud-Tal. Under these geographical locations, Scherz then assign the location number, description of the geographical location, colour of figures found at each site, the file number, layers and a short description of the identity of the figures as well as their state of conservation (see Fig. 3.18{i}) for examples. The same recording procedure was systematically replicated in Omandumba East farm sites and other sites in Namibia that Scherz documented. Like Breuil, Scherz documentation also involved digital photography and direct tracing of figures (colour as well as black and white). Most of them were digitally traced while others were directly traced with considerable focus and high precisions as the current figures at the sites. A large number of these figures are still visible today with slight conservation issues observed at some sites i.e. site OWF52a (see Fig. 3. 18 {ii} image marked 1). However, since I could not get hold of Scherz digital files of the farms, all the sites were documented in the current form by the author (see Chapter 6). Nevertheless, it is important to indicate that Scherz documented more sites in Omandumba farms unlike the previous sites records of Abbé Breuil (BREUIL 1959). His record currently suggests that he documented an approximately of 32 sites with an excess of 836 figures (SCHERZ 1986:253-271). The includes the sites such as Fackelträger, Porters Boulder, Priests Shelter, Die Strauße shelter, Scherz Fissure, Ghost Cave, Speaking kudu, Shwanz, Elephant Wall, Tuba Rock, Stray boulder and Wall, Springbok Shelter and many other sites (most of which do not have local names) but were assigned numbers by (SCHERZ 1986:253-271). All these sites were later published in his 1986 book entitled "Felsbilder in Sudwest-Afrika, Teil III: Die Malereien".

In 2011, a similar rock art research was carried out by a master's student from the Goethe-Universität in Frankfurt, Verena Börner, who conducted a survey and documentation of some rock art sites in the Omandumba farms in order to test and evaluate the applicability of the shamanistic theory on the basis of selected rock painting sites from the Omandumba farms. Her research drew on the metaphors and symbolism associated with the cognitive and beliefs system of the hunter-gatherers of the 20th Century shamanistic theory developed by (DAVID LEWIS WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1989; LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1990). Here, Börner interpreted nine rock painting sites, including Crown Boulder, Christian shelter, Ghost Cave, Priests Shelter, Ostrich Shelter, Scherz Fissure, Monument Wall, The Kudus and the Fackelträger shelter, this out of 44 sites documented.



Figure 3.18 (i)Above are some of the sites systematically documented by Scherz. (A) are some of the north-eastern sites in Omandumba West. 9B0 are sites recorded at southern valley of Omandumba farm particularly site OWF56b and OWF OWF54. (C) Are documented sites in Omandumba East farm. Here are site OEF57 and artworks at OWF60.



Figure 3.18 (ii)Top left is direct tracing of the first cluster at site OWF52A by Scherz (Scherz 1986) while top right is a DStretched image of the same cluster in 2015. Bottom left is another directs tracing of site OWF50 CLUSTER 1 by Scherz 1986 while to the right is a DStretched image of the same panel in 2015.

3.2.4.Rock Art research challenges

The shortage of archaeological research in Erongo Mountains and Namibia in general results from several compounding causes. This section considers three identified principal factors that caused the limited coverage of this extensive and culturally significant archaeological area. The exacerbate causes are: (1) government priorities (2) institutions inabilities and (3) academic landscape of the post-colonial present.

a. Government Education Priorities

Despite decades of extensive archaeological research in Namibia by foreign scientists and few local researchers, the discipline of archaeology heritage continue to relinquish at the bottom of Namibia's national agenda as science and mathematics continue to be emphasized by politicians and curriculum developers. Namibian archaeology researchers (KINAHAN 2009; SANDELOWSKY 2011) have over the years expressed their dissatisfactions and made several appeals against the continuous neglect of the archaeological heritage in the country, but to no avail. The political awareness of archaeological heritage is so low; perhaps it is the lowest of any part of southern African (KINAHAN 2009). Kinahan stressed that this might be attributed to the fact that the current curriculum place more emphasis on the colonial historical period and little attention to the archaeological period.

In fact, the situation in Namibia is so critical that even though the archaeological heritage is an integral part of the school education system, the curriculum covers only the archaeological record in general outline with no appropriate textbooks, few references to Namibia and little understanding of the use of archaeological pedagogies, while the museum exhibitions barely covers the subject. Equally, the University of Namibia (UNAM) has over the years provides only a short introductory module in archaeology and heritage studies as part of the History course. Such course barely meets the needs of the heritage sector nor can it give adequate support in this field to the school education system, hence archaeology students, often very few, are usually required to further train in archaeology in other countries if they are given loans (which the government through the Ministry of High Education is hesitant to fund). The value of archaeological heritage in terms of school and university teaching has therefore not been realized, and, as a result, the economically useful functions of heritage management and academic research have not materialized. This has direct implications for the National Heritage Council of Namibia's ability to effectively carry out this national responsibility of conservations, restoration and management of Namibia's heritage resources. With the newly introduced post-graduate course in Heritage Conservation and Management at UNAM, it is hoped that such course will produce heritage professionals who will be able to bridge the gap in some of the critical heritage areas.

b.Institutions inabilities

Although the National Heritage Council of Namibia (NHC), through its National Heritage Act no 27 of 2004, is entrusted to protect, conserve, manage, and research Namibia's heritage, the institution continues to receive one of the lowest figures in the national budget and, in doing so, is unable to fund and implement management and conservation projects. A research programme exists at the institution, but it is underfunded and understaffed, with employees often overworked. Lack of heritage specialities at the NHC has made it difficult for the institution to participate and contribute towards the heritage related activities. Another challenge is the infectiveness of the legislature responsible for the overall conservation and protection of the heritage resources. Good laws are in place, but are not efficient; due to lack of implementation mechanisms such as operational tools measures for protecting archaeological heritage resources are limited.

c.Academic landscape of the post-colonial present

Thisfactor is related to the academic landscape of the post-colonial present. The increased number of research publications on Namibian archaeology resulted from the efforts and dedications of foreign researchers and very few local scientists (SANDELOWSKY 2011; NANKELA 2015). In most cases, large collections of archaeological materials are often exported for short or longer periods for further scientific studies in the countries of researchers' origin. Consequently, researchers publish the works in foreign languages, resulting in a limited circulation and dissemination of published material. Many of these sources are often not accessible to the Namibian public, academics and heritage institutions that authorised the research. Fortunately, the NHC has made it mandatory for every researcher to publish his or her work in English and furnish number copies of published works.

4.LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter reviews the literature on rock art, as well as the different theoretical perspectives of on the relationship between rock art and the landscape. The review begins with the theoretical definitions of rock art. It then considers the types of rock art, its styles and techniques of productions, its locations in the territory. Using Namibia as an example, we consider general information about rock art in southern Africa. I have also considered ethnographic analogies and the various aspects of dating of rock art. Finally, the chapter reviews those theories that are used to interpret rock art in relation to the landscape where it is found. The emphasis is on the location and distribution of rock art sites within the landscape.

4.1. Definition of Rock Art

There is no body of archaeological material without its own strengths and limitations. Rock art research is inevitably no exceptions to such complexities (Chippindale and Nash 2004:1). The term 'rock art', for instance, is one of the most contested and disputed generic terms in archaeological studies (see for example, CHIPPINDALE & TACON 1999; WHITLEY 2001; NASH 2002; ANATI 2003; CHIPPINDALE & NASH 2004; BOYD 2006; BEDNARIK 2007; ABREU 2012 etc.). The complexities behind this definition stem not only from the fact that the words 'rock' and 'art' are already laden with different meanings, but also on account of the varying morphological forms and contexts of this material culture. The phenomenon of rock art is one of the prominent surviving remnants of the archaeological record in humankind. Rock art is found on every continent except Antarctica.

Despite the difficulties in defining it, researchers had agreed that rock art is far greater than its definition. As Simões de Abreu noted, "the two words have no chronological, aesthetic, artistic, cultural or other connotations. It is a widespread and diverse phenomenon and its origins are in the emerging cognitive and capabilities of the human species (BEDNARIK 2001). Indeed it functions as a "window' for the extraordinary life of our ancestors" (ABREU 2012:31). For that reason, in our thesis, I shall take the term rock art to encompass any artwork performed or carried out on rock surfaces. Renowned rock art researcher Bednarik, whose definition has also been adopted in the IFRAO glossary, defines it as a "[n] on-utilitarian anthropic markings on rock surfaces, made either by an additive process

(pictograms) or by a reductive process (petroglyph)" (WHITLEY 2001:202). However, Whitley has suggested a simpler and more generalized terminology. Rock art is now taken to mean "[a] ny painted, drawn, engraved, incised, scratched, pecked, or carved images on natural rock landscape surfaces" (2001:833).

4.2. Types of Rock Art

Traditionally, rock art has been divided into two main categories depending on the techniques that were used in its productions, namely, paintings and engravings. Paintings are result of substances, usually pigment (organic or inorganic), being applied to onto surfaces such as those found on rocks, bones, woods or tools. It functions as a 'canvas' leaving its traces or marks (WHITLEY 2005: 3-11; ABREU 2012:31). Paintings might be composed of one color (monochrome), it might combine two colours (bichrome), or it might have more than two colours (polychrome) (see Fig. 4.1).



Figure 4.1 An example of monochrome, bichrome and polychrome figures from the Snake Rock Shelter in the Upper Brandberg Mountain

Rock paintings are easily identified on account of the traces of pigment that is left on the rock surfaces. Some paintings are more-or-less naturalistic representations. Today, most of rocks painting elements are divided into two basic design categories that describe their morphological characteristics (FRANCIS 2001). These morphological characteristics can be (1) representational and (2) non-representational. Representational design elements resemble known entities, such as anthropomorphs (human), zoomorphs (animals) and phytomorphs (plants). Non-representational design elements in rock paintings consist of therianthropes (animal-human forms), abstract design elements such as circles and dot patterns. Other types of rock paintings include prints (handprints), beeswax and stencils. They are common in some parts of southern Africa, North Africa and in Australia (Fig. 4.2). Handprints, be they plain or decorated, are made by dipping the palm of the hand in wet pigment and pressing it onto the rock surfaces (WHITLEY 2001; BEDNARIK 1993a). They can be filled with painted patterns after the print has been made.For example, stencils in Australian rock art, are made by mixing dry pigments (such as ochre, clay and charcoal) with water and/or saliva. This is mixed in the mouth and the mixture is spat out onto the surface of the rock to create a negative image or outline of an object or body part (WHITLEY 2001).



Figure 4.2 On the left are handprints from Tassili in Algiers, © UNESCO

The second type of rock art is the rock engraving. This is produced mostly by removing part of the outer rock surface, or by taking away any part of rock surface or by cutting into the rock surface using any kind of pressure tool, i.e., a hard rock or a sharp stone tool such as quartz or chalcedony, to create a color contrast with the underlying rock (DOWSON 1992; ABREU 2012:31). Alternatively, the rock engraving can be made through indirect percussion - using a hammerstone to pound against another rock. However, engravings are

also found on rocks where there is little or no color contrast. This is similar to those that are found on different media that have also been used as a 'canvas', namely, wood, ochre stones, eggshells, shells and bones (Fig. 4.3). Unlike the rock paintings that are easily identified on account of the traces of pigment that have been left of the rock surfaces, some rock engravings are difficult to establish largely as a result of technique used. The artistry of some of these works is a conservation challenge. For instance, non-utilitarian cup-like hollows are the most ubiquitous and varied type of markings. Some markings look as though they have been shaped by nature rather than made by humans.



Figure 4.3 Different types of engraving media. Figure 4.3. Above shows different types of engraving media. (A) Ochre stone, Blombos, South Africa, ©Henshilwood. (B) Shell, Java, Indonesia, ©Lustenhouwer 2014. (C) Ostrich eggshell, Diepkloof, South Africa, ©Tribolo et al., 2013. (D) Boulder, Twyfelfontein, Namibia E) Boulder, Omandumba West, Namibia (F) Boulder, Wit, South Africa, ©Bradshaw foundation.

Often, archaeologists find themselves in predicament when it comes to identifying them. It becomes even more difficult to identify these engravings when they are in proximity to water sources such as rivers or when they are located near thorn bushes that scratch the rock surfaces over time and create parallel lines that often resemble figures. Some engravings are more-or-less naturalistic representations while others give the impression that they were left unfinished, and this has convinced some researchers to suggest that these differences were also differences in artistic ability and that certain artists being more accomplished or practiced than others (KINAHAN 2010). According to Francis (2006), most of rock engraving elements are divided into two basic design categories that describe their morphological characteristics:

(1) representational and (2) non-representational (54). Representational design elements resemble known entities, such as humans and animals. Zoomorphs are animal-like figures, and anthropomorphs are human-like figures. Non-representational design elements, or abstract design elements (circles, dot patterns or lines, even cupules and cup-like indentations) do not resemble known entities.

4.3. Tradition, style and techniques of Productions

In southern Africa, there are three well-known rock art traditions with distinct styles and content. These traditions came about as a result of differences in the cosmology, and the beliefs systems and rituals of the people who made them: San Hunter-Gatherers, Khoekhoen Herders and Iron Age Bantu Agriculturalists (LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1990; DEACON 2002; SMITH & OUZMAN 2004), (Fig. 4.4).



Figure 4.4 The distribution of hunter-gatherers and Iron Age Agriculturalist rock art traditions in southern Africa. (After, MAGGS 1988:18)

There are differences observed in the techniques employed, geographical distribution and themes. These represented a wide range of variations in cross-cultural interactions in the region (LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1983; COULSON & CAMPBELL 2001; SMITH & OUZMAN 2004). The hunter-gatherer tradition, which is said to be the oldest, (COULSON & CAMPBELL 2001; DEACON 2002; SMITH & OUZMAN 2004; THICKERAY 2005) is

widely spread in many southern African countries, especially in Namibia and South Africa, for these are the countries where the largest concentrations of rock art sites.

The artworks (paintings and engravings) within this tradition are primarily figurative in content (Fig. 4.5), with vast majority depicting stylized human representations, with very naturalistic animals (often in groups with clear relation to each other (Fig. 4.6), some landscape illustrations (notably as vegetation, cloudlike or linear, the arrangements of flecks, water, rains), and with therianthrope depictions associated with varieties of rituals, entoptic phenomena and shamanistic activities (LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1989,1990; LEWIS-WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1989; ANATI 1986). Hunter-gatherers tradition persisted in southern Africa until the 19th century, notably is some part of South Africa and Namibia (LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1990; SMITH 1997; LENSSEN-ERZ et al., 2005; KINAHAN 1996, 2005).



Figure 4 .5 One of the elaborate scenes of hunter-gatherers activity at the 'White Lady' Shelter in the Brandberg Mountain, Namibia.

> Figure 4.6 One of the elaborate scenes of animals in huntergatherers rock art tradition at Twyfelfontein, Namibia.

The Khoekhoen were formally known as the 'Khoi' or 'Hottentot'. They were pastoralists and they probably moved into southern Africa between 2000 and 3000 years ago (proto-Khoekhoe migration). They appear to have made rock art (paintings and engravings). However, researchers are still not in agreement on whether the pastoralists contributed anything at all to rock art tradition. The reason for this is that their identity, the original migration route(s) which they took, and their ethno-economic association with the hunter gatherers in southern Africa are still debated (see SANDELOWSKY et al., 1979; DOWSON 1992; VOGEL et al., 1997; BOUSMAN 1998; SADR 2013; SMITH 2008; SPINAGE 2012; SMITH & OUZMAN 2004; PLEURDEAU et al., 2012).

Without going into the debate about their origins, archaeological and climatic evidence suggests that the material cultures of the pastoralists corresponded to the earliest occurrences of pottery and domestic animals, i.e., sheep and goats, and that such transition to herding in Southern Africa took place against the backdrop of a dramatically changing climate, characterized by a shift from arid to humid conditions and a subsequent expansion of vegetation into many regions (which might have promoted their movement into southern Africa (SMITH 2008; SHAW et al., 2003). The rock art tradition most likely to have been done by Khoekhoen pastoralists (SMITH & OUZMAN 2004; OUZMAN 2004) is categorized in three ways. Firstly, their depictions are visually distinctive from those of other traditions, dominated predominantly by non-representational geometric designs such as circles, dots, dots patterns or finger dots, lines, dumbbells and sun like figures, handprints, etc. (Fig. 4.7).



Figure 4.7 Rock art by the herders. On the left are the geometric designs at Twyfelfontein, Namibia. . On the right are human handprints at Eland Bay, South Africa © Heritage Western Cape.

Most of these designs are said to have not been associated with the entopic phenomena that are common in the art traditions of the hunter-gatherers.

Secondly, unlike the rock art sites used by hunter-gatherers, which could occur almost anywhere, the artwork made by the herders was restricted to places close to water sources, and this was attributed by the fact that they had livestock.Thirdly, there were differences in the technique of production. The rock art made by the herders is said to be bolder, less detailed, more schematic, with a smaller range of pigment (paintings), and coarse pecked marks (engravings). This was different from that of the hunter-gatherers whose artworks tended to be finer and with small peck marks. Similarly, their paintings were made by means of larger, finger painted lines and dots. Rock art by the Iron Age Bantu-speaking farmers or agriculturists is by far the uncommon of all three traditions in the region in terms of distribution (see Fig. 4.9 and Fig. 4.10). It is the youngest rock art tradition in southern Africa and so far sightings have been made only in South Africa, Angola, Zambia and Malawi (DEACON 2002; OUZMAN 2010).



Figure 4.8 Distribution of Hunter-Gatherers and Iron Age Agriculturalist rock art traditions in southern Africa (After MAGGS 1988:18

In the Namibian rock art context, very little record of this tradition exist, i.e., those found on the floor of the Nuab River of the Huns Mountain in the south of Namibia (Fig. 4.8). Stylistically, they are easily distinguished from other

traditions both in terms of their colours and forms. With the exceptions of some rock engravings, Iron Age rock art reveals a predominance of painted figures and it has a variety of subject matter, including the depictions of settlement layouts, humans, domesticated animals, wagons, figures, all of them done exclusively in white pigment (Fig. 4.9 & Fig. 4.10).



Figure 4.9 Left and Right, Iron Age Agriculturalists rock paintings from the Limpopo Province, South Africa ©Bass 2000, accessed on: www.wits.ac.za



Figure 4.10 Left and Right, Iron Age Agriculturalists engravings from the floor of the Nuab River of the Huns Mountain in the south of Namibia © TARA/David Coulson

In Namibia, as in most parts of southern Africa, as well as in other parts of the world, the most common substance or pigment used to create paintings was one of the varieties of ochre stones, which may have been red, yellow, black, orange, pink, brown or white ochre (Fig. 4.11).



Figure 4.11 Different types of ochre stones found in Namibia, (After, LENSSEN-ERZ 2011)

Evidence has also shown us that charcoal and other minerals such as haematite, limonite, limestone, calcite or crushed shells, manganese dioxide, calcium carbonate, ostrich eggshell and mica were also used as raw materials in the production of rock paintings (see WHITLEY et al., 1984; BREUNIG et al., 1988; CHALMIN et al., 2003; FOUCAULT et al., 2005; GOMES et al., 2013; LEBON et al., 2014; RIFKIN et al., 2015). Southern African ethnographic evidence suggests that the pigments were mixed with a variety of binders including natural fixatives, i.e., water, ostrich eggshells, blood, egg, fat and plant juices and other substances, before the pigment could be used as a color. However, the exact recipes are not known (LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1983 *cf.* DEACON 2002).

Various objects such as ostrich eggshells, stones with natural depressions, pestles were likely have been used to hold the prepared pigments. Some of these objects barely survive archaeological records. But there are some very rare instances where materials such as pestles and pigmented stones can be recovered from archaeological sequences. This is a case at Leopard Cave/site OWF42 in Omandumba West farm where, the site's excavation yielded *in situ* pigmented grinding stone and pestles artefacts (Fig. 4.12) recovered from Layer (P7) dated between 3200 and 3500 BP (PLEURDEAU et al., 2016). The findings therefore suggest that the mode of preparation were likely to be as a result of crushing followed by a grinding. Such findings make Leopard Cave the only site, in Central Namibia, where paintings are associated with the tools dedicated to the preparation of pigments.

This site is therefore of paramount importance to try to chronologically recontextualise the rock art in relation to archaeological framework in Southern Africa which further promote the importance of documenting rock art in relation to other archaeological contexts. Such findings also provide opportunities from direct dating should the materials contain organic materials albeit in small quantity.



Figure 4.12 Stones containing traces of ochre pigments from Leopard Cave in Omandumba West Farm, (After, LAPAUZE 2016:13).

Various tools such as brushes, feathers, animal hair, sticks, fingers and even hands are said used by the rock art artists as applicators, but these also barely survive the archaeological record because of their fragility in their nature. However, although uncommon in southern Africa, there are instances where pigments were applied or fixed onto rock surfaces without any binder; these are also known as "dry painting" (LEWIS WILLIAM 1983). In this case, the artist (s) directly used a piece of colouring material, such as a piece of ochre or charcoal, to create the figure. Frequently, the result of such a method is quite distinct from that of a mixed pigment stressed (ABREU 2012:81).

In some cases, the geographical origin of raw materials used in the production of rock art can be locally sourced in the same geological and geographical areas where rock art sites are found. This is a case for Omandumba paintings as outlined in Section C of this thesis. There are also instances where such materials could have been acquired from other areas through secondary means such migration and exchange of materials, given that the rock art producers were nomads. This can provides an insight into migration routes, and trade of ochre between different communities across the landscapes.

Even though Namibia has the densest known concentration of rock painting figures in Southern Africa, there is very little scientific studies made in establishing the geographic origin of pigments used in the production of paintings. The only available scientific study for instance (RIFKIN et al., 2016) has however, established through pigment analysis that black pigments derived from manganese and charcoal as main coloured materials used to produce black pigments on Apollo 11 stone plaques while red pigments correspond to processed ocherous shale. And such study is yet to determine whether the coloured materials derived from local geological contexts and outsourced somewhere else as it has been established that the plaques originate from different geological context. It is believed that colouring materials used in the paintings of other well know area such as Brandberg and Twyfelfontein are locally sourced, yet, no scientific studies has been carried or perhaps such evidence is inaccessible at a time of this thesis.

The established rock art traditions in Southern Africa resulted from the differences in the, cosmology, economic systems and belief systems of the hunter-gatherers, herders and agriculturalists. This has been evidenced from the region's ethnographical studies and typological studies of rock arts in form of the content, techniques and spatial distributions of the rock art. While ethnography has provided not only the insights in differentiating these three traditions and the possible meaning of rock art, style, on the other hand has been used by researchers in studying the spatial variation of rock art. Some researchers even believe that 'Without style, we have nothing to talk about' (WHITLEY 1990: 23). But style is also a big challenge. For a start, rock art researchers are not in agreement on what style is. The interpretation of style varies from one research theme to another and the debates on the use of style in rock art and archaeology have been widely chronicled (see CONKEY 1978; CONKEY & HASTORF 1990; HODDER 1978, 1979, 1982; WIESSNER 1982, 1983, 1985; SACKETT 1982, 1985, 1986; GAMBLE 1982; JOCHIM 1983)

In southern Africa for instance, in addition to differences in cosmology, economic systems and belief systems of the rock art producers, style has been used to delimit boundaries of the rock art producers by means of linguistics analyses, cultural and geographic variations (PETERSON 1976: 61; LEWIS 1988: 85) and political terms. However, these stylistic

findings are equally questionable given the fact that two different styles do not necessarily point to different societies. As Ndukuyakhe Ndlovu (NDLOVU 2009) point it out that a society may have more than one style as a result of social class, gender and function among its members. It is also possible that two different social groups might share the same geographic space and therefore, there is a high potential that a particular style may emerge (HODDER 1978). It is therefore difficult to confidently identify rock art producers using style to demarcate social boundaries as style could also result from technical limitations.

Boundaries especially between hunter-gatherers and herders in Southern Africa are still blurred particularly when both material cultures exists in the same geographic landscape such as Erongo. Archaeological evidence at Leopard Cave/site OWF42 suggest has convincingly indicated that there seem to be no match between the painted animal (game) species on the cave walls and the Caprine remains of what appear to be a goat or sheep (domesticated animal) recovered from one of the excavated layer of the site. This argument is supported by other excavation records from other parts of Southern Africa, where the animal bones recovered do not always have directly link painted or engraved animals (See LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1972, 1974; MAZEL 1989; DEACON & DEACON 1999).

In Omandumba however, this phenomenon has only been noted in this context. Such differences might be explained by the possibility of the hunter-gatherers acquiring the domesticated animal from other groups - herders as postulated by Pleaudeau et al., (2012). Nonetheless, based on the established stylistic typology of rock in southern Africa as per (LEWIS- WILLIAM 1983; ANATI 1983 LEAKEY 1983; MASAO 1979; COULSON AND CAMPBELL 2001; SMITH & OUZMAN 2004; EASTWOOD & SMITH 2005; OUZMAN 2004), the stylistic typology of the three traditions has been summarized below:

A. Artworks by Hunter-Gatherers:

- 1. Fine line paintings in red, yellow, brown ochre, or black charcoal, hematite or manganese made by a fine instrument or brush by means of the following techniques:
 - Outline of a figure with a single line
 - Outlined figure with its interior filled with same color or slightly different colour
 - Monochrome figure with colour blocked in

- Bichrome, painted with two block of colours in the same figure
- Polychrome in which three or more colours are used in the same color
- Shaded polychrome whereby several colours blend into each other to create depth and shading.
- Handprints and finger-dots
- B. Artworks by Herders
- Handprints (plain or decorated)
- Monochrome red, black or (yellow rare)
- C. Artworks by Iron Age agriculturalists
- Stylized designs of human, with depictions of domesticated animals, historical objects in monochrome white.

The typology of rock paintings and engravings of hunter-gatherers therefore comprised only of the fineline paintings as summarised above, these have also been illustrated in (Fig. 4.13 & Fig. 4.14) with examples from Namibia and South Africa.



Figure 4.13 Various styles and techniques in rock paintings (A) Outline, no in fill, Omandumba West, Namibia, (B), outlined, filled in with two colour, Brandberg, Namibia (C) Monochrome, Omandumba West, Namibia (D) Polychrome (two colours), Brandberg, Namibia ©TARA/David Coulson (E) Polychrome (two colours), Brandberg, South Africa ©UNESCO

The typology of rock engraving comprises those that have been abraded and polished, pecked (deep or light/shallow), have used a false relief technique, have used a false shading technique, have been incised, scratched, stencilled (Fig. 4.13). The abrading technique also called "polissoir" in French, meaning polished occurs when a rock surface is scratched in continuous motion with a sharp tool or instrument thereby removing rock particles. This is achieved through rubbing or by means of a smoothing motion to create what is called 'flat polishing effect', i.e., the Dancing Kudu, Tywfelfontein in Namibia. In most cases, the engraved figure (s) is rather shallow and not very deep (ABREU 2012:100). This form of engraving technique is one of the uncommon techniques in the antiquity of Namibia engravings but it is found on almost every engraving site but in small quantity.

The pecking technique is one of the predominant engraving techniques in Namibia. It generally involves rock surface being removed using a hammering motion to define the outline, either leaving or removing the rock cortex intact so as to define the subject (ANATI

1976) with a pointed or sharp hammering tools or a mere stone and producing individual peck marks, which vary in depth and size but are often round shaped to form a desired figure (NASH & CHIPPINDALE 2004:111). Furthermore, pecked marks can also be pecked extremely close to each other or even overlapping. This is often referred to as "deep, dense or compact pecking" and when the distance between peck marks is greater than the size of each one, which is called sparse or shallow pecking (ABREU 2012:97).



Figure 4.14 Different types of engraving techniques in Namibia. From Figure 4.14 above, (A) Twyfelfontein, Polishing (B) Peet Albert, Outline-no in filled, (C) Twyfelfontein, Deep Pecked (D) Twyfelfontein, False relief technique (E) Twyfelfontein, shallow pecked (E) Twyfelfontein, false shading technique.

The scratching technique occurs when a rock surface is removed or cut through a nonrepetitive scraping motion, normally in a straight movement, in single or multiple lines together to compose a figure (ABREU 2012:106). Other forms of engravings are the cupules and grooves found in many part of the world (see VAN HOEK 1997; MARK & NEWMAN 1995; ORTIZ DE ZÁRATE 1976; SCHOBINGER 1997; COULSON & CAMPBELL 2001; MCCARTNEY 2004).

Cupules are commonly pecked pits, which form a kind of 'cup' mark on the rock surfaces (boulders, platforms and rock walls). Cupules are often arranged to cover vertical surfaces in orderly, tightly packed rows (BEDNARIK 1993a; TACON & CHIPPINDALE1994) and are often arranged to cover vertical surfaces. In some part of the world, cupules are normally referred to as "pits', 'hollows', 'cup marks' and sometimes 'pot-holes'. Geoglyphs are also

type of engraving formed as a result of piling cobbles and small boulders into a pattern on the ground surface, thereby creating a positive image. Examples include the arrangements in the shape of praus (Indonesia or Macassan fishing vessels) in northeast Arnhem Land.

4.4.Dating Rock Art

Establishing a chronology is one of the vital components in rock art studies, but generally remains difficult to achieve according to K. Butzer (BUTZER et al., 1979). R. Bednarik (BEDNARIK 1996) and P. Tacon & C. Chippindale (TACON & CHIPPINDALE 1998). This is attributed to various factors, including the fact that prehistoric paintings lack organic pigments or binders, which means that there is no basis for the build-up of natural Carbon-14. In some paintings where suitable materials such as limestone, ostrich eggshells (white pigment), chalk or charcoal pigments were involved, radiocarbon dates can be obtained. However, this too, has its own limitations, because of possible organic contaminations (tools used) and because the sample size can only be very small otherwise the painting will be damaged. Rock engravings inherently difficult to perform direct isotopic dating on because they are mostly found in open-air sites and not in the usual archaeological contexts, which means that it is challenging to date the rock engravings artworks are exclusively found in open-air sites.



Figure 4.15 Apollo 11 slabs, Credits: The National Museum of Namibia. There are some instances, still, where both rock paintings and engravings (painted or engraved ochre stones or bones) as well as portable art, can be found within certain stratigraphic layers that are also cultural. In such cases, the artworks can be dated in associations with the archaeological assemblages. Again, when dates are obtained, they do not necessarily produce the actual age of the artworks, but the period in which the artworks was likely abandoned, stressed Goodman Gwasira (GWASIRA 2012). In these cases, it is possible that the artworks could either be older or younger. One classical example of southern Africa's oldest artworks is the 'art mobilier' from Apollo 11 in southern Namibia (Fig. 4.15). These were recovered from the Middle Stone Age assemblages dating 25,000 BP according to (WENDT 1976). It is possible that the artwork could even be older as established by VOGELSANG et al., (2010). New dates from the layer in which the painted slabs were found are between 31, 100 and 32900 BP (Ibid 2010: 202), dates that are supported by OSL data from this layer, which is around 30, 000 BP (GWASIRA 2012:5).

Apart from the Apollo 11 slabs, other stone materials containing traces of pigments recorded in archaeological layers in Namibia. For instance, the several fragments that had been chipped off or were exfoliated from a painting at the rock shelter Amis 10 in the Upper Brandberg (BREUNIG 2003:77), which is dated between 2760 ± 50 years before present (RICHTER & VOGELSAG 2008b: 42). The second example is that of the engraved ochre stones from the Blombos Cave in South Africa. This was recovered from the Middle Stone Age deposits dated between 100,000 and 70, 000 years BP (HENSHILWOOD et al., 2011) as shown in (Fig. 4.16).



Figure 4.16 Engraved ochre pieces from Blombos Cave, Western Cape, South Africa.

Despite difficulties establishing the scientific age of rock art by means of the associating with other datable archaeological deposits, varieties of methods do exist for placing artworks in time. These include relative dating or indirect methods such as assessing the degree of lichens, stylistic typology and superimposition, weathering, patination and inter-site patterning (BUTZER et al., 1979; HYDER 1989; KEYSER 1992; BEDNARIK 1992, 1997, 2002; JONES 1981). However, such dating methods are not without controversy either. (JONES 1981:62) proposed that it is possible to date lichen that had encroached upon rock art, which also meant that the rock art older was than the lichen. This is extremely difficult given the varieties of microenvironments in which rock art sites are found. For instance in Namibia, rock art sites are in open spaces (open-air sites) and in arid environments, and lichens are not really relevant to rock art here. Added to the drawback is the fact that is that recording techniques, i.e., tracings usually result in the removal of the lichen from the rock surfaces.

Chronological classification on the basis of stylistic typologies, superimposition and techniques is still largely applied in many southern African countries including Namibia (BUDZER et al., 1979; ANATI 1986, BREUNIG 1991; DEACON 2002; RICHTER & VOGELSANG 2008). Such analysis suggests that a change in style is a function of time, and that a change in style reflects a change in the material culture and that of an artist or artists. In determining which style is older, some researchers have found it equally difficult to detect elements of superimpositions in rock paintings and more especially in engravings given the fact that figures may have even been separated by minutes or even seconds when they were produced (BEDNARIK 2002). Bednarik argued that aspects to consider when determining which of the figure preceded the other depended on the location, climate and environment and other factors in which rock art sites are found. The alternatives are microscopic studies, but such diagnoses make it is hard to draw strong conclusions and will continue to be elusive (BEDNARIK 2002; 4; BREUNIG 1991:118F).

The aging process of rock surfaces has been considered relevant in establishing the ages of engravings. Patination and the weathering of rock surfaces as Robert Bednarik (BEDNARIK 1992, 1997, 2002) suggest, through micro-erosion analysis can be applied. Bednarik suggests that observations can be made through changes in rock surfaces, such as the loss of mass, e.g., erosion or the result of chemical or physical changes. However, such techniques have been questioned. In the southern African context (see for instance, ANATI 1960, 1961, 1963,

1968, 1996), its validity has been equally restricted on account of variations in climate, topography, surface geometry and chemical environment. Hence, such methodology did not produce sufficient results. Ethnological analysis has also contributed to the reconstruction of the daily life of the inhabitants, their activities, the socio-economic structure, the belief systems, the religious practices and rituals for rain-making, healing and other shamanistic activities, the pattern of symbolism reflected in the artworks, and this is particularly relevant to in most part of southern Africa (BLEEK & LLOYD 1911; VINNICOMBRE 1976; LEE 1979; BARNARD 1992; LEWIS WILLIAMS 1981,1990; LEWIS-WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1989; SMITH 1995,1977; COULSON & CAMPBELL 2001 etc.). It has led to the identification of the three-rock art traditions discussed previously.

4.5.Rock Art and Ethnography

The Southern African region is perhaps one of the areas in the world where there is a wealth of ethnographic evidence that associates the symbolism and belief systems of hunter-gatherers. These were obtained during the 19th and 20th centuries thanks to the pioneers work of Wilhelm Bleek and Lucy Lloyd (BLEEK & LLOYD 1911; see LEWIS-WILLIAMS 2000: 1-41 for a review of the collection) who conducted research among the /Xam-speaking people in the Cape Colony. Their works, together with ethnographical data obtained from the San groups living in the Kalahari (THOMAS 1959, 2006; MARSHALL 1976, 1999; LEE 1979, 1984, 1993; BARNARD 1992; KATZ 1982; BIESELE 1993), provided insight into the meaning and context of rock art. This has consequently been used to deduce many metaphors and symbols in hunter- gatherer rock art in southern Africa, even in countries such as Namibia where no historical records or ethnographic accounts of the San were ever recorded.

The understanding of altered states of consciousness, and its role in shamanism in rock art by David Lewis-Williams and Thomas Dowson (LEWIS- WILLIAMS 1990; LEWIS-WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1989) has also been successfully applied to many examples of hunter-gatherer rock art in southern African (see for example FROBENIUS & DSANGARA 1931; GOODALL 1959; HUFFMAN 1983; MASAO 1979; ANATI 1986; GARLAKE 1995; OUZMAN 1998, 2010; KINANAH 1989,1990, 2005; ZUBIETA 2006; HUBBARD & MABREY 2007).
Today, it is well understood that hunter-gatherer rock art was created as part of the religious practices for rainmaking, ritual healings and other shamanistic activities. These practices for instance, involves altered state of consciousness that enabled healers or shaman or medicine men to access the spirit where gods or powerful being or certain animal were located and their power could be harnessed their supernatural powers for the purposes of ritual healing/cleansing, restoring faith in the community, bringing hope to the people by delivering a successful hunt, initiations, and rain-making. The practice ultimately resulted in the wider distribution of rock art in many southern African regions where there was a broad similarity in cosmology among the hunter-gatherers, with variations observed in the way that shamanistic practices were seen and used and the metaphors that conveyed the in rock art in the region (DEACON 2002).

The ethnographic record among the /Xam San community had also led to an understanding of the dominance of particular animal species in rock art (MARSHALL 1976; LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1981; KATZ 1982; LEE 1984; GUENTHER 1986). Lewis-Williams argued that the animals do not represent so many individuals - natural animals - as they do spirit animals. They represent a broader animating spirit - a supernatural potency - that permeates nature, an immanent realm that shamans attempted to enter through the trance dance and which is depict in the rock art (LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1981). The eland, for example, is said to be associated with certain rituals, i.e., the initiation of boys and girls, and its role in healing and rainmaking activities. It was apparently understood that associating with the eland could bring the shaman closer to the gods and their supernatural powers. In his (or her) trance, the shaman would then feel as though he was transformed into an eland. This might explain the dominance of eland/human figures (therianthropes) in the oldest rock paintings in South Africa (LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1981). In Namibia, for example, the eland is less predominant and is likely to be substituted by the springbok and giraffe (SCHERZ 1986; LENSSEN-ERZ 1997), which imply a regional variation in the ritual significances of certain animals. Other analogies are related to the potency associated with certain animals, i.e., the large and powerful game such as rhino, giraffe, large antelopes and elephants (OUZMAN 2010).

Globally, South African ethnographies had also proved effective in identifying the sources of some of the metaphors found mainly in Palaeolithic rock art in Western Europe (CLOTTES & LEWIS-WILLIAM 1996) and the United States (WHITLEY 2000; SWARTZ 2000; LOUBSER 2006). Considering effectiveness of these analogies, it is very likely that the

methods are widely applicable, particularly in regions with relatively recent rock art and a dearth in ethnographic accounts, such as northern Europe and parts of Asia. Although diverse ethnographic sources are widely available, interpreting and finding the true meanings of rock art is still somewhat tenuous basis for reconstructing the past behaviour and beliefs systems of hunter-gatherers, and that is because hunter-gatherers would have had a different world-view. For example, Ross has argued that in order to understand the context of the rock art by the hunter-gatherers it is vital to comprehend what was fundamental to all hunter-gatherers cultures: their intimate relationship with the land they lived on stressed, M. Ross (ROSS 2001:545-546).

According to Ross, this relationship with the natural land, and the observation and perception of the environment, is observed in rock art. Hunter-gatherers, being nomads in nature, used sophisticated cultural navigational strategies to journey across the landscape. Therefore, it is likely that rock art sites are locations of mythical importance, and that, cosmological structures, wisdom teachings and ritual symbolisms in a specific landscape or site might be revealing the meaning of the rock art of hunter-gatherers. According to him, there is connection between the physical location of the rock art sites in the landscape, the geomorphological variables (caves, rock shelters, walls and ceilings, rock outcrop and cliff faces) and the rock faces. These are thought to be permeable separating realities. "The cracks and features of the rock are incorporated into the rock art as representations of the spiritual belief system", emphasised (ROSS 2001: 547).

Furthermore, there are instances where hunter-gatherers rock art reflects several depictions that have been interpreted as landscape features. Two classical examples in southern Africa are rock paintings from Zimbabwe (see GOODWIN 1946; COOKE 1959, 1969; WILCOX 1963,1984, 142; WALKER 1996, 2009) and Namibia (see MASON 1958, 357–368 and LENSSEN-ERZ 2001, 1996) where phytomorphs (trees), cloudlike figures (Fig. 4.17) and linear arrangements of flecks are seen as representations of vegetation or water which seems to mirror the geographical contexts of these cultural landscapes.



Figure 4.17 Arboreal and cloudlike representations in rock paintings sites. on the left is Omandumba West Farm, and on the right Anibib/ Ai Aiba Farm, both in Erongo, Namibia.

While "oval forms firmly nested together like sausages in a packet" (MAGGS 1998:16-17) were understood to represent boulders on the granite hills. In these instances, researchers seemingly agree that the interpretations of these features are likely to reflect the spatial divisions of territories associated with the nomadic lifestyles of hunter-gatherers (MAGGS 1998). However, in Zimbabwe, the landscape interpretation of the ovals and flecks has been rejected by researcher like Peter Garlake (GARLAKE 1995), who argued that such compositions represented a graphic and spatial dimension of the cosmological world of the hunter-gatherers. Therefore, their compositions signifies different aspects of mystical potency also, metaphorical 'maps' of journeys made by shamans in states of altered consciousness. Therefore, a shaman apparently sees a system within the paintings; hence, the oval composition is the key symbol representing the seat of potency (MAGGS 1998).

The complexities in the ethnographic analogies therefore indicate that the natural landscape evidently was a vital part of the hunter-gatherer art life and that it eventually influenced the spatial composition in rock art traditions and which, consequently, reflects both the physical space and the metaphysical realm in the cosmology of hunter-gatherers. In other instances, ethnographic evidence from some parts of southern Africa, (see COULSON & CAMPBELL 2001) also suggests that certain rock art sites are placed in specific locations in the landscape to enhance the power and significance of a particular place in that landscape, namely, activities associated with rituals, i.e., rain-making and initiations (DEACON 2002). The types of artworks found at some of these sites seemingly represents a variety of activities connected not only to the religious spiritual belief systems and the symbolic expression of the artists

themselves, but also to the rock art, the rock art sites and the territories beyond. Unlike the wealth of ethnographic information in the hunter-gatherers rock art tradition, very little can be said about the ethnography of the herders in relation to their rock art (MAGGS 1998; COULSON & CAMPBELL 2001; DEACON 2002: OUZMAN 2010). This is attributed to the fact that their artworks, i.e., their engravings do not depict their socio-economic activities as a result, there is little direct ethnographic information on the figures and the context in which they were made (MAGGS 1998).

Most of our understanding of them has been reconstructed through circumstantial evidence. For instance, researchers observed this in the Limpopo Valley, where a brief period of interaction between the two groups in the 1st millennium AD (HALL & SMITH 2000). In Namibia, particularly at Twyfelfontein in Namibia, the artworks (engravings) by the herders are recorded juxtaposed with artworks by the hunter-gatherers in form of concentric circles, lineals and dots, (see Fig. 4.18).



Figure 4.18 The 'Dancing Kudu Panel which shows concentric circle juxtaposed to hunter-gathers rock art at Twyfelfontein, Namibia.

Herder's paintings on the other hand, for example, the handprints and dot patterns, are believed to be linked to the desire to mark and display personal and group identity. According

to (OUZMAN 2010), it may also be that these elements are linked or related to initiations rituals and similar rites of passages.

The same thing can be said about the ethnography of rock art made by the Iron Age agriculturists whose distribution is more restricted than that of the hunter-gatherers and herders in the region (BASS 1994; MAGGS 1998; DEACON 2002; SMITH 1995, 1997). Though, little is still known and researched, the dominance of depictions of historical periods, i.e. ox wagons, men carrying guns, homestead plans, modern settlement layouts, domesticated animals such as horses and dogs, may reflect a life changing as a result of encounters with the Europeans who had arrived in southern Africa. In South Africa, many of these sites are found in hilly areas of the Limpopo province (BASS 1994). Destitute Bantu-speaking farmers might have fled to hilly areas for safety as a result of conflicts over land with the white Settlers (Ibid 1994). A similar subject matter is also depicted in the Bantu engravings in southern Namibia. The ethnographic analogies gathered from Tanzania, Zambia and Malawi according to (SMITH 1995, 1997; ANATI 1986) suggests that the series in the 'late white' rock art tradition is attributed to secret male and female initiation practices and rainmaking rituals.

4.6.Location of Rock Art

Rock art is a global phenomenon, and it s found on every continent with the exception of Antarctica (BEDNARIK 1997, 2010). So, how do archaeologists locate rock art sites? As its name suggests, anywhere where one finds a rock, one is likely to find rock art, from high elevations such as mountaintops, hills and outcrops to low elevations such as dry riverbeds or streambeds and pavements (ABREU 2012:109). See the examples in Namibia (Fig. 4.19). Their spatial distribution, placement and variability within landscapes are often determined by various factors including, but not limited to, geology, the artist's choice, the social, cultural and religious patterns and the availability of basic resources (water food and shelter) (see MCDONALD 2006:71; LENSSEN-ERZ 2012).

A rock art site, just like any archaeological site, came about as a result of decisions made by prehistoric people in relation to where they decide to live, ambush or hunt wild animals, gather edible plants, obtain raw material for producing rock art, carry out certain rituals activities and where to bury the dead. The resources on which people depended were inevitably unevenly distributed; this also holds for archaeological sites, which have limited distributions. Despite this complexity, rock art sites are relatively predictable, especially in dry/desert environments such as the Central Namibia, where two determining factor - water and rocks - were ultimately the influencing factors in placing the sites.

This means that it is possible to ascertain areas in the landscape that are likely to have greater or lesser archaeological sites. Primary resources such as water, the availability of food (game), shelter, often determined the concentrations and distribution rock art sites while other needs factors would have been secondary. These include landscape features such as granite highlands and outcrops especially when these could be used to control the movement of game. (Fig. 4.19) provides some of the examples of such areas where rock art sites are found in Namibia.



Figure 4.19 Different landscape locations of Namibian rock art sites. Here, from the mountains areas of Brandberg, Erongo and Spitzkoppe to low elevations areas of Twyfelfontein sandstones, riverbeds and pavements in Outjo.

In rock art, geology is one of the key dynamic influencing the technique of the artwork to be produced, as well as its distribution. In Namibia, rock paintings follow the general granite formations and some other rock type in the country. For these reasons, paintings are found almost exclusively on granite, dolomite, basalt and sandstone rock deposits. Their placement in these geological settings ranges from cliffs faces, caves, rock shelters, open high walls, ceilings, open-air boulders etc. Such rock formations are widely distributed across the landscape. It is possible for an area, i.e., a mountain to have both granite and basalt rock deposits, i.e. Brandberg and Erongo Mountains. In these instances, both paintings and engravings are found in these mountains. It is also rare but not impossible to find both rock engravings and paintings executed on the same geological rock formation at the same site, as

it it's a case at the Twyfelfontein World Heritage site where both genre of artworks co-exists and executed on the sandstone deposits.

In all, the production of a rock art sites involved more than a mere application of pigments to rock surfaces or engraving on rock surfaces. The artists chose a place within the landscape where to place the figures and considered where on that surface the figures would go. They collected the pigments, prepared it them and the rock surfaces, chose the subject and applied the pigments or engraved the surface. Presumably, all these actions took place within the context of the artist's intentions - the artist's goal in mind. Today, it is these places that we are referring to as rock art sites. They vary considerably in size: from a single boulder with few painted or engraved figures to a cluster of boulders, shelters or caves with a high concentration of rock paintings and engravings.

There are many differences of rock art and rock art sites in a given landscape. These variations likely represent an array of activities connected to the artworks, rock art sites and the entire landscape. Physically, there seem to be many reoccurring features (locations) that are repeated too many times in rock art all over the world for it to be just a coincidence. Often, the landmarks are one factor while the shape of the painted or engraved surfaces another. For example, while analysing the function and symbolism in Chumash rock art in southern California, Travis Hudson and Georgia Lee (HUDSON & LEE 1984) identified three categories of power in the Chumash rock art and they were all connected with the land. According to them, "the bond between mythological event and ritual expression indicates that such sacred locations and [landscape] features were recognized by the community as a whole" (HUDSON & LEE 1984: 23). Their findings led them to conclude that shamanic sites were located in 'natural' situations that provided alignments with the summits of sacred and conspicuous features (i.e., mountain tops or valleys) and that these alignments were related to 'natural' events, especially celestial astronomical events.

In Namibia, similar evidence has also been produced whereby certain sites occupy specific locations and were perceived as "special or sacred locations", while others seemingly had no such underpinnings and were simply scattered in the landscape.

For instance, observation suggests that in sites in the upper Brandberg, some in Erongo and those at Twyfelfontein, rock art is associated with ritual and religious significances significance, which means that their distribution and concentration also suggests a centralized

supernatural power (KINAHAN 2001a, 2005, 2010; LENSSEN-ERZ 2004, 2007, 2013). In most cases, the geomorphological features of these sites somehow interact with the rock art, giving the impression that their locations were chosen intentionally. Other observations suggest that the locations of some sites and their concentration came about as a result of ecological crises, most notably in the North-Central Namib Desert. Areas with a high concentration of rock art sites have been considered as meeting places where a variety of social activities took place (KINAHAN 2001a, 2005, 2010; LENSSEN-ERZ 2004, 2007). Such observations indicate that most of the sites were located in proximity to where water and shelters were found readily available. These places were aggregation sites functioning as nodes in the landscape and where a variation in activities resulted in the concentration of rock art at these sites.

The ethnographic records from the Kalahari hunters shows that ritual activities were intensified when resources were strained, a situation which seems likely to be the explanation for the rock art sites in many areas in Namibia (LEE 1979; BARNARD 1992). Others sites have been found in places that suggest that short occupation (LENSSEN-ERZ 2007; KINAHAN 2005), others were located in hunting locales (rivers and streams) where no other archaeological finds have been found or where evidence of occupation has been recorded (GWASIRA 2012; NANKELA 2015). Their relation to other sites (living/occupied) in the same cultural landscape varies. Another aspect for consideration is the accessibility to the sites. Sites that were professed "special or sacred" often occupied high topographical locations, often referred to as 'vantage points', and in many cases, required physical exertions to reach them. In some situations, one is even required to crawl, e.g., those found in cracks and rock crevices in Erongo Mountains (see Chapter 6). The nature of Namibia's terrain, notably, the Brandberg Mountain (see LENSSEN- ERZ 2000), would in many cases permit few people to access the sites. Not only are the sites small, but also because the jagged rocks interrupt the lines of view in doing so making them inaccessible.

4.7.A Landscape Approach: An Archaeological Perspective to Rock Art

Various frameworks have been used by rock art researchers to broaden our knowledge and understanding of one of the most complex yet significant body bodies in the archaeological record - rock art. These frameworks include ethnographic approaches, the shamanistictotemic framework, the neuropsychological model, the hunting approach, the stylistic approach, archaeo-astronomical perspectives and the landscape paradigm. Here, I have employed landscape contexts to evaluate rock art in its natural context.

The landscape approach is one of the archaeologically based perspectives in rock art research to have received much attention over the years (TUAN 1977; BRADLEY 1993, 1997, NASH 2001; 1998; TILLEY 1994, 2004; POTTER 2004; THOMAS 1996; OUZMAN 1998; INGOLD 2000; CHIPPINDALE & NASH 2004). The landscape contexts view rock art in light of what has been presented as the 'macro-landscape' (the location, the environment, the landscape) and the 'micro-landscape' of rock art (the canvas, the micro-topography, the natural features or the background of the rock art) (CHIPPINDALE & NASH 2004:21-22). However, this approach has, over the decades, received its fair share of critics from academics (see BINFORD 1982, 1983; HIRSCH 1995; DUNNELL 1992; BENDER 1993A; OLWIG 1996; ASHMORE and KNAPP 1999; ARSENAULT 2004B; SMITH & BLUNDELL 2004; ASHMORE & BLACKMORE 2008). The challenge it poses has to do with its underlying premises and also with conceptual differences among archaeologists about the uses of the landscape. At first glance, it raises question whether the word 'landscape' still retains its relevance in archaeological practice. Some have argued that the word 'landscape' has moreor-less become a "frosting" as a result of inappropriate borrowing of a singular welldeveloped idea from other disciplines (ANSCHUETZ et al., 2001; PREUCEL & HODDER 1996:32).

Today, many researchers see the ambiguity of the concept as rewarding. It is not only beneficial as a thread that bridges and binds together social sciences disciplines, including geography, cultural anthropology and archaeology (ANSCHUETZ et al., 2001), but also as a tool that to explain humanity's past through its ability to facilitate the recognition and evaluation of the dynamics and the interdependent relationships that people maintained with the physical, social, and cultural dimensions of their environments across space and over time (Ibid 2001:159).

A landscape paradigm is therefore relevant in archaeological inquiry in light of its potential to contribute toward understanding several fundamental problems confronting archaeology today, notably, the need to shift from the investigation of single sites to the study of questions addressing regional change and variation (e.g., BINFORD 1982, 1983; DEETZ 1990). Such

views stress that the landscape contexts in which prehistoric societies lived was a meaningful network that combined both the social, cultural, economic, ritual, and cosmological milieu that they were integrated with natural phenomena. The rock art sites investigated here are fixed in their original physical contexts and these contexts are undeniably vital to enable us to comprehend how people experienced that landscape.

4.7.1.Landscape Definitions

Landscape is one of the complex terms used in various contexts across disciplines, from art, geography and ecology to geology, anthropology and archaeology. Definitions of the landscape unequivocally include an area of land containing a mosaic of elements, including mountains, hills and water bodies like rivers, streams, lakes, seas, living elements such as vegetation, as well as man-made elements comprising of different forms of land use². All these elements represent both spatial and non-spatial patterns of landscape that defines the heterogeneity of the area (TURNER et al., 2001). Given that the landscape functioned as the primary context for human behaviours, it is one of critical area in archaeology to provide morphological and palaeoenvironmental data to reconstruct environmental conditions for prehistoric communities. Oxford Companion to Archaeology defined landscape archaeology in the following terms:

"Landscape Archaeology to be concerned with both the conscious and unconscious shaping of the land: with the processes or organizing space or altering the land for a particular purpose, be it religious, economic, social, political, cultural, or symbolic; with the unintended consequences of land use and alteration; with the role and symbolic content of landscape in its various contexts and its role in the construction of myth and history; and with the enactment and shaping of human behaviour within the landscape".

Indeed, definition emphasizes the relationships between material cultures, people, and the cultural modifications of spaces. Furthermore, the fundamental concepts of landscape in archaeology include the space and place that characterizes human relationship with the total environment (TUAN 1974:4-7). Space is in the physical realm it comprises the environment, the ecology, the topography, and the physiography of geographical locations. According to Ouzman, spaces are "fairly undifferentiated areas which nevertheless provide the general character, texture, and context of a place" (OUZMAN 1998:34). Place defines the specific locations of human activity and infuses these locations with human meaning and action as

²The New Oxford American Dictionary

(TUAN 1974:136; TILLEY 1994:14). Space consequently defines the physical realm, place attributes human significance to these locations. David and Thomas described landscape archaeology as:

"An archaeology of place, not just as defined in a set of physical nodes in space (cf. BINFORD 1982) but in all its lived dimensions: experiential, social, ontological, epistemological, emotional, as place and emplacement concerns social identity, as much as they concern the economic and environmental aspects of life", (DAVID & THOMAS 2008:38)."

In the same context, BARKER at al., (1995) view "Landscape Archaeology" as an archaeological study of the man-environment relations in prehistoric times and of the manman relationships in the context of the environment. Tim Ingold said similar words and defined the landscape as "the world as it is known to those who dwell therein, who inhabit its places and journey along the paths connecting them" (INGOLD 1993:156). Paul Taçon defined the landscape as a function of the human mind, one that involved individual thoughts, choices, and the experience to map or construct modes of reality (TAÇON 2002:122). The mental construct of landscape combines not only visual input (what archaeologists typically privilege), but also the auditory, kinaesthetic, olfactory, and gustatory cues (OUZMAN 1998; TILLEY 1994). Individual perceptions and conceptions, therefore, determine "which elements, places, and spaces are included in particular landscapes" (TAÇON 2002:122). The processes of social participation, such as ritual and ceremonial events, also contribute to the cognitive construction of landscapes (RAINBIRD 2002:101). Landscape therefore produces a *'topophilia'*, or a place of attachments, where bonding occurs between individuals or where there is a collective attachment to a meaningful environments environment (TUAN 1974).

4.7.2.Rock Art and Contexts

The above definitions reflect the shift of landscape from being a mere natural phenomenon to being regarded as culture whereby natural features are cultural features embedded with meanings. Ian Hodder emphasized the significance of the context of prehistoric rock art. Context is "the totality of the relevant environment" (HODDER 2000[1992]: 88) in which human activity occurs.

Just as anthropologists' uses ethnographic data to understand living peoples and societies, archaeologists use the "locations of rock art sites, their associated artefacts, and the nature of the iconography itself" to approach the social roles of prehistoric rock art in the absence of

ethnographic data (WHITLEY 2008:559). In particular, the landscape in which rock art sites exist provides a lasting component of its prehistoric context as they continue to exist in the same locations, thereby maintaining a "unique link with the prehistoric landscape"(BRADLEY 1991:80).

These locations therefore are significant as an interpretative element (CHIPPINDALE & NASH 2004; LAYTON 2001; YOUNG 1982; MANDT 1972, 1978). Archaeologists can, therefore, best study rock figures fixed in landscape through the lens of landscape archaeology (COMSTOCK 2002). Landscapes are fields of meaning comprised by sensorial stimuli, topographical features, and beliefs, with "subtle links between them" (OUZMAN 1998:38).

To understand the context in which rock art was made, used and distributed in the landscape, it is also necessary to consider the daily routines of prehistoric communities since the rock art producers were responsible in defining their foraging territories in the landscape that they exploited (NASH 2000; ZENDENO 2008). They identified significant landscape features, which served as signposts in the landscape (NASH 2000) and also marked their paths, rivers, and resources to claim ownership or ancestral affiliations over specific areas; they even to impose limits on movement through a landscape or on access to a specific area (BRADLEY 2002). Building on the above, I therefore focus not only on the context of the artworks, including their content, traits, culture, ethnographical parallels and any other association relative to its their meaning, but also evaluate "properties of space within which a visual image occurs" (CONKEY 1982:119). I look at the micro landscape, "the spatial dimension which determine a rock art site", as well as the wider terrain of the macro landscape of the rock art such as their sites, locations, their distribution, accessibility, mobility patterns and resource procurement, proximity of natural resources such as water sources, shelters and distribution of game (CHIPPINDALE & NASH 2004:21-22; CONKEY1982: 119).

The landscape model, therefore, reflects the context of the rock art figures in relation to its wider landscape as illustrated in (Fig. 4.20). At the macro-landscape/ topographical level, the model looks at rock art locations in relation their wider landscape such as its associated mountains and rivers. In this case, looking at the general landscape variables that led to the distribution and concentration of both rock painting and engraving sites, includes site placement, aspect/orientation, elevation, proximity to water sources, visibility, and

accessibility of the rock art sites. Such macro-topographical elements do not only dictates to archaeologists how to record the site, measure and count figures and analyse the results but the sites will also say: 'hike here', 'climb there', 'stop here' 'stand there', 'look here'. The micro-landscape or the rock surface can be studied as an element invested with meaning, interlinked with the figures of rock art (LEWIS WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1990).

For this, I attempt to view rock art and topography in an intertwined landscape. The rock, the rock art and the landscape are all linked. Each case of rock art, therefore, indicates the selection of a specific location to be used in a particular way (BRADLEY 2000:79).



Figure 4.20 The context of rock art from a landscape archaeology approach, adapted from (NASH 2002; CONKEY 1982)



Figure 4.21 Illustration from site OWF60a. Rock art elements and rock art sign-space (top left), rock art design-field/rock formation (top right), and rock art microscape, which shows the view from the rock art (bottom). These images demonstrate the landscape archaeology concept that a rock art site not only encompasses the element or panel, but the site also includes the entirety of the relevant context, such as visual features as expressed in Fig. 4.20.

5.RESEARCH METHODS

Chapter five records the research methods employed in the systematic collections and analysis of the data. The methodologies developed were guided by the research objectives, namely, rock art, their state of conservation, the contextualization rock art in relation to landscape, the establishment of the origin of the pigment used in the production of rock art from selected sites and those recovered in the archaeological excavation of the rock art site of Leopard Cave, this in order to establish the chronological framework for this rock art. These were achieved through four field campaigns, carried out between June and July 2014, March-April 2015, September 2015 and November 2016 in Omandumba East and West farms, Erongo Mountains.

The research methodologies involved both informed and formal methods of data collection. Formal methods comprised of (1) an intensive and systematic survey and documentation of the rock art sites; (2) the creation of digital records and a records database; (3) the collection of pigments from suitable rock painting sites for laboratory analyses (4) the archaeological excavation of Leopard Cave in order to contextualize the rock art chronologically (5) the use of Geographical Information Systems (GIS) for landscape contextualization. Informed method included interviewing two local Ju/'Hoansi San men from the San Living Museum about their traditional knowledge of tracking and the identification of animal spoors in the rock-engraving site.

5.1.Formal and informed methods in rock art research

Rock art research involves two primary methods of analysis, namely, formal and informed methods (CHIPPINDALE & TAÇON 1998:6; CHIPPINDALE 2001; CHIPPINDALE & NASH 2004:14; WHITLEY 2005:6). Informed methods also referred to qualitative methods, and these draw mainly from the "insight passed directly or indirectly from those who made or used the rock art" (TAÇON & CHIPPINDALE 1998:6). In this case, it was the ethnographic or ethno-historic insights into rock art through the interpretation of individual rock art elements or sites. Formal methods used quantitative or locational data to interpret the rock art. This is an outsider's tool and it is independent of the insider "the information available is then

restricted to that which is immanent in the figures themselves or which can be discerned from their relation to each other, landscape or by relation to whatever archaeological context is available" (CHIPPINDALE & NASH 2004:14). Both methods fall squarely in the realm of a contextual approach to the study of rock art and where empirical and inferred enquiries are applied to provide explanations for the observed phenomena. Rock art researchers can therefore use these contextual methods independently or concurrently in the collection and analysis of the rock art.

The informed methods rely on ethnographic or ethno-historic data obtained from the traditional knowledge of the contemporary cultures or the descendants of those people who are thought to have produced the rock art (an example would be the San communities in Southern Africa). Through the use of these insider stories, aims at interpreting figures as an insider. This is referred to as *emic* perspective (CHIPPINDALE & NASH 2004:14). Emic enquiries consequently include information about the significance of rock art sites to the descendant groups and the interpretive analogies regarding the symbolic depictions expressed in individual rock art element, and also the area it was placed on the rock surface and in the entire landscape. However, informed methods do not only rely on inside knowledge, but also upon the general observation of the landscape in which the sites are found. Such information functions as a descriptive analysis and is not attestable in a scientific sense (MEIGHAN 1981:83). The goal is to reveal the significance of the contextual relationships between the juxtaposed figures and between the sites in the landscape, while keeping in mind that the ethnographic information, might have been far removed from the original context of that art.

For this thesis, informed method of ethnographic inquiry was employed in terms of the assistance provided by two local members of the Ju/'Hoansi San community from the San Living Museum in Omandumba West Farm. Their contribution was fundamental in the identification of the engraved depictions of animal spoors/tracks in relation to the fresh animal tracks found in the same site. Such analogies are presented in Chapter 6 as an example of a qualitative approach in rock art research. Since the formal methods are quantitative in nature, they are independent of the insider's perspective. They are referred to as *etic* perspective (CHIPPINDALE & NASH 2004:14). Etic (or outside the dataset) focuses on providing information about rock art that is important to scientific researchers. Etic data begins with empirical observation such as the morphology of the rock art, information about the immediate context of the rock art, the distribution of rock art by means of GIS, aspects of

the rock art environment, the origin of the raw materials used in the production of rock art and the attempt to discover patterns of associations (if any) within the data. Patterns identified using formal methods may not necessarily reflect the relationships that would have been important to the creators and users of the rock art, but they enhance our understanding of the significance of rock art within larger contexts.

5.2. Methodologies and data collection

The general research objectives included broadening the existing archaeological knowledge about the Erongo Mountains in order to establish a chronological context of these mountains and that of rock art. The following three sections details research methods and the data collection procedures used in the research for this thesis. Section A details the project design. Section B outlines the fieldwork procedures while Section C gives an account of the analysis techniques.

5.2.1. Section A: research preparation

a.Identifying the Omandumba Farms as Research Areas

The northwestern area of the Central Namib Desert is geographically known to have the greatest concentration of rock art sites in Namibia, notably with areas such as Brandberg, the Spitzkoppe, Twyfelfontein and its adjacent areas. This is thanks to the pioneering rock art research into these sites. As a result, these sites have been proclaimed as National Heritage Sites and currently enjoying the legal protection under the National Heritage Act No. 27 of 2004. With the proclamations of Twyfelfontein as Namibia first UNESCO World Heritage site in 2007, tourism activities in this part of Namibia increased exponentially, as tourism statistics from the National Heritage Council reveals. The activities spread rapidly into other rock art sites in Namibia and sites in Erongo Mountains were no exception to such trend. The only difference is that, very little is known regarding the existing rock art sites in this complex and their current state of conservation including those proclaimed as National Heritage Sites such as Phillip Cave in the Ameib Farm and Paula's Cave in Okapekaha Farm in Erongo Mountains.

Through my work as a rock art archaeologist at the National Heritage Council, it was therefore, of utmost importance to carry out rock art research in Namibia. Barely a year in the office, I had carried out an extensive Condition Assessment of the rock art sites in Central Namibia, beginning with those that have been proclaimed as National Heritage Sites, moving on to those that have not yet been proclaimed as such, but which are receiving a high influx of tourists, especially in the Erongo Mountains. The Condition Assessment Index indicates the higher vulnerability rate of the rock art sites in Omandumba Farms just like other sites in Erongo because of high number of tourism activities on the farms.

Since Erongo has received less scientific study of the rock art sites unlike Brandberg, Spitzkoppe Mountains and Twyfelfontein site, my initial goal was then to establish whether the spatial distribution of Omandumba rock art had a density comparable to that of other well-researched sites. The magnitude and the scale of Omandumba sites led me to rather systematically document these sites in order complement the on-going archaeological investigation of Omandumba sites by the French investigators from the Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle. It is therefore hoped that tis study will get the areas proclaimed as as per National Heritage Act no 27. Of 2004 and subsequently develop both conservation and management plans.

b.Timescale and Personnel

The initial 2012 Condition Assessment Survey and studies indicted that there were 40 rock art sites in both Omandumba farms (NANKELA 2002; BÖRNER 2013). In order to determine the appropriate timeframe for the project, I had considered a number of aspects, including the geographical areas to be covered, the number of sites, the nature of the access the area in terms of the topography of the sites (and permission from the farms owners since the sites falls under private land), the climate and the seasons, and the key personnel that would be needed to carry out the project. For this, it was important to form collaboration with a number of key institutions and personnel in Namibia namely: the University of Namibia, the National Museum of Namibia, the National Heritage Council, the Geological Survey of Namibia and the Ministry of Lands and Resettlement of Namibia in addition to international institution specifically the Museum National d'Histoire Naturelle. The National Heritage Council was instrumental in providing logistics services for the projects, namely, the Heritage Research Permits, fieldwork vehicles, drivers, camping equipment and all primary rock art recording equipment. The National Museum of Namibia provided us with a technical assistance of Mrs. Fousy Shinana-Kambombo who is a professional photographer and archaeology field technician. Two University of Namibia students Maria Mwatondange and Tuuda Haitula from the archaeology unit also participated in the survey and documentation of the rock art sites, as well as in the archaeological excavations of Leopard Cave in 2014 and 2015.

At the same time, I have also been supported by two local Ju/'Hoansi San men Mr. Kxao /Lukxao, an 80-year-old San man and Mr. N!ani R!kxao, a 45 year-old San man, both originally from Tsumkwe but currently dwells and works as guides at the San Living Museum in Omandumba West Farm for some times now. They were instrumental in locating a number of rock art sites, as well as identifying animal tracks/spoors and some depictions of animal figures within rock art. As mentioned before, the research was also carried out in collaboration with the international research team from the Museum National d'Histoire Naturelle de Paris, namely, with the principal investigator Dr. David Pleurdeau and his colleagues Dr. Florent Detroit, a paleoanthropologist and Dr. Matthieu Lebon, a pigment specialist as well as Guilhem Mauran – a doctorate student as well as Océane Lapauze, master student who studied the pigment materials from collected at Leopard Cave and other Erongo sites. It was this multidisciplinary team that carried out the archaeological excavations at Leopard Cave. They have been doing their scientific investigation of the rock art site of Leopard Cave from 2008 sporadically to date. Their research objective included the broadening of the archaeological knowledge of Erongo in order to establish a chronological context for the Erongo Mountains.

These periods were significant in order to investigate and observe how the landscape and climate had changed in the study areas. For instance, in Namibia, the period between June and July is considered winter season, March and April is the rainy season while September to November is the summer season (Fig. 5.1 & Fig. 5.2). During these periods, I then investigated the comportment of the natural environment in terms of available water sources such as springs, pools, ponds and rivers, the time when animals make use of these water points in both seasons, the presence and absence of various faunal species found in the environment today in relation to those depicted in rock art, vegetation covers especially near the painted and engraved sites, accessibility and visibility of rock art sites, sites popularly visited by the tourists, the behaviours and number of tourists at the sites as well as tourism in the peak and off-peak seasons.

It was also during these periods that I had observed how the local San people from the LM guide tourists, observed both social and economic activities of the Living Museum and how

they are interacting with the environment today. I had various discussions with them with regards to the nature of their job, how they came to Omandumba and how they understand rock art heritage in Omandumba and generally in Namibia. Data obtained from these discussions are not necessarily discussed in details in this thesis but were collected for heritage education planning of rock art sites for the National Heritage Council of Namibia.



Figure 5.1 Fackelträger Shelter in Omandumba West Farm immediately after rainy season in April 2014



Figure 5.2 Fackelträger Shelter in Omandumba West Farm during summer season in September 2015. Two contrasting images of vegetation cover taken in different seasons from the same angle of the Fackelträger Shelter in Omandumba West Farm. They demonstrate the changes in the landscape immediately after rainy season in April 2014 and summer season in September 2015.

c.Accessing research areas

Having already established a relationship with the Omandumba Farms owners, during the assessment of the conditions of the rock art sites in November of 2012, I was able to obtain permission to carry out rock art research on the farms. Throughout all the field campaigns in the last five years, Mr. Harald Rust and his family (Fig. 5.3) supported us enormously and made our stay very comfortable. They provided us with free accommodation at their campsites. When we ran out of drinking and washing water, they provided us. When wood for cooking was hard to find, they provided it for us. Since there is no electricity in this part of Namibia, the Rust family were also kind enough to allow us to charge our camera batteries in their house. The family was also instrumental in assisting us to locate most of the rock art sites. Their generosity and support throughout the project is truly immeasurable.



Figure 5.3 The Rust's Family. Records Search. The above image shows the Rust family. To the right are the Rust children assisting in locating some of the rock art sites, while at the bottom is Mr. Harald Rust also showing us some of the rock art sites in the Omandumba East and West farms. Photo credits: Harald Rust, FousyShinana-Kambombo, and the author.

The initial research strategy was designed and devoted to specifically understand the rock art sites of Omandumba farms in order to place them within the context of other rock art sites in the Central Namib Desert and within the chronology of the Erongo cultural landscape. To do this, it was imperative to systematically review the published archaeological research on rock art in the Erongo Mountains, especially in the Omandumba farms, and methodologies used in the documentations of these sites by earlier researchers (BREUIL 1957, 1960; SCHERZ 1986; BÖRNER 2013). After accessing the available literatures and the Heritage Database of the National Heritage Council of Namibia, I combined the data and in order to establish which sites were previously studied, and those that had been missed out on and also to chronologically contextualize all of them. Given the insufficient information on the sites which had previously been studied, especially in the Omandumba farms, the goal was to carryout carry out a complete systematic survey and recording of all the rock art sites, including those that have been previously studied, those known about but which had never been recorded, and new sites.

d.Standardized survey and recoding forms

Rock sites presented in this study were documented following a standard field methods developed and used at the Archaeology Department of the National Heritage Council of Namibia (NHC). The standardization of field practice is vital in ensuring that the rock art sites, their content and setting, are documented in accordance with the norms of the internal database of the National Heritage Register of the NHC and in such a way that it will allow for the common storage and retrieval of data from sites that are found in the same region, this in order to ensure that data can be compared to sites from other regions in Namibia. The existing standardized form was amended to integrate the current research frameworks of the thesis (see Appendix 1).

The standardized rock art recording form comprised of three sections. The first segment is administration in nature and includes information such as the project name, the region, the site owner, the site name, GPS locations, altitude and maps used. Section A of the form addresses the landscape context of the rock art area in terms of geology, geomorphology, ecology, climate, and the nature of accessibility (private or public land). The second section is more site specific, providing detailed information about the context of the individual site in terms of the site name (local name), the established panel number, GPS locations, site elevations, the rock formation type, type of surface (vertical, horizontal or sloped), its

orientation, its dimensions, some brief observations about its location in the landscape (i.e., spatial distribution, vegetation cover, as well as descriptive content of the site in in terms of the number art figures, superimposition, themes, past documentation history, its current state of conservation and the site's associated archaeology). The third section in the recording form consist of the photography form where all individual images of each sites were recorded and numbered in accordance with the site number and the established panel ID

e.Equipment Recruiters

The equipment used (Fig. 5.4) in both the survey, documentation of the rock art sites and the archaeological excavations during the field campaigns comprised of vehicles and camping equipment. The recording equipment included maps (a topographical 1:40 000 map and geological map of 1:50 000 scale from the Ministry of Land, as well the Geological Surveys of Namibia), three Garmin handheld GPS, two digital cameras (Cannon EOS D3100) and their tripods, a reflector, a black blanket for photography, measuring tapes of various measuring meters, notebooks, pencils and pens (from the National Heritage Council), IFRAO scales that I'd acquired from ITM rock art laboratory in Macao, Portugal, survey and recording forms and other paperwork's.





Figure 5.4 Various equipment recruiter used in the systematic documentation of rock art in the study.

f.Before the commencement of the field campaigns

Before fieldwork was started, we host numerous meetings with all the participants in the fieldwork, i.e. the archaeology students from the University of Namibia, field technician from the National Museum of Namibia, as well as the excavation team, to discuss details of the fieldwork plan and procedures, and to provide guidance for the research team, i.e., using the new rock art survey and recording forms, maps, excavation procedures, the used of the field equipment, some lectures with information on to rock art research in Namibia, as well as briefings on health-related aspects and emergencies. We also had the students' consent letters from their parents giving permission for their participation in the field.

5.2.2.Section B: data collection

a.Mapping

Field investigations began by locating the previously recorded and unrecorded sites (BREUIL 1961; SCHERZ 1986 *cf*.RICHTER 1991; NANKELA 2012; BORNER 2013 and NHC DATABASE) in the Omandumba West and East farms. Since some of the GPS locations of these sites were known, they were plotted on a topographic map of the Omandumba West Farm (Fig. 5.5) that was then used.



Figure 5.5 A Topographical Map of known locations of rock art sites (in orange) prior to the systematic survey in OWF and OEF farm. Map credits: the Geological Survey of Namibia.

b.Field Transect

Once we verified the existence of these sites, we proceeded to record the sites in the rock art survey form. Immediately after that, we selected two sites as candidates to test out our new survey and recording forms (Appendix 1). Each site contained less than a dozen rock art elements, a number I felt we could handle for testing the new forms in a reasonable time frame. We then made a day trip to the farm to make a final assessment of how many sites we could inventory in one week's time given the detailed survey and recording form. After that, we began a systematic survey of other rock art within the boundaries of the Omandumba farms, which meant inspecting almost every outcrop, hill, kopje, riverbeds and isolated boulder within the farms. Occasionally, our team consisted of three to five members.

The surveys, both in winter and in summer, were quite difficult because of the extreme temperatures, walking in rugged terrains and the dense vegetation with some dangerous wildlife. I drove as close as possible to the rock art sites. From where I parked, we had to hike

anywhere from a few meters to 2 kilometers to reach the rock art sites (Fig. 5.6). The survey lasted for the entire duration of the first field campaign between June and July 2014. The GPS data were uploaded into a private Google Maps and QGIS to provide a broad view of site locations and the possible associations, this in order to study the s spatial distribution of the sites in the landscape and the site contexts.



Figure 5.6 Hiking towards the engraving site within local San men from the SLM.

While hiking to the rock art sites, we paid attention to the landscape, taking notes and photographs along the way. We did this in order to become familiar with the study areas throughout the field campaigns. We paid particularly close attention to the water sources. The availability of water in this semi-arid environment is intermittent and often unpredictable, and an understanding of this must have been important to the rock art artists. We noted the locations of the contemporary animal trails, springs, pools and river tributaries, and their distances from the rock art sites. We had already taken note of the types of wildlife in the study areas and in the Erongo Mountains in general. We always dialogued with the local San men, who on several occasions assisted us in locating the sites. Throughout the hiking trips to the sites, we often talked about topics such as their knowledge about the tracking of animals, how to navigate the entire landscape, where to find in the territory resources such as water and wild fruits, how act when one encountered a snake or a dangerous animal such as rhino or leopards, which are quite common in this territory. Such conversations were enriching and I become comfortable and familiar with the landscape.

In addition to the above, it was also during this period that we established the nature of the access to the sites and their visibility in the landscape. Most of the sites were accessible without difficulty as most of them were located at the foot of slopes with imposing features. Others proved more difficult to access, often requiring us to crawl on smooth granites to reach them. Very few of the rock art sites whose panels are about sixty meters long are visible from a great distance. Others consisted of a small, single figure, and could not really be seen until one was standing directly in front of the rock face. Other artwork was so lightly scratched onto the rock surfaces that it was only visible at certain times of day. This variability in the visibility of the sites reflects one aspect of its accessibility.

Some sites were so hidden that they require a good deal of searching, even if when one had been to them before. When we finally arrived at a site, I familiarized myself with the site, its settings, its view, its immediate vicinity, as well as its proximity to every landscape feature and surface artefacts. I often walked around, looking at the figures from every angle of the rock surfaces, establishing the best position for photography or movement around the site. We also tried to determine if the way we had approached the site was the only way, or if there are other ways of arriving at the site. After we spent some time exploring the area, we started to record the site. We began by marking its location in the GPS and then register it in the survey and recording forms. We then recorded the site photographically, capturing the site from various perspectives and distances, but also the surrounding area, and the views from the site. We always photographed the view looking out from the site, to help remember the site's location in the landscape. After that, we prepared and set up the recording equipment (black blanket for shade, reflector, cameras, survey/recording forms) and spent approximately an hour filling out the site survey and recording forms.

Most of the time, it was challenge to photograph both paintings and engravings during the day because of the intense glare of the sun exposure, even though we had the equipment. For that reason, it was either early in the morning or late afternoons that we located and recorded the sites. Sometimes the situations would not allow for the return to some sites, this was the case especially with sites known to be habited consecutively by rhinoceros and leopards. So, we eventually just recorded the sites during prospections. Beyond this, the only other difficulties we faced involved cuts and bruises, the extreme heat combined with the physical exhaustion from hiking. We often ran for shade under a tree or rock shelters and refilled our water bottles before we hiked back to the place where the car was parked. There were two serious incidences encountered during the April 2015 and November 2016 field campaigns. One was the encounter with a black mamba at the rock-engraving site in 2015, fortunately, no one was injured and we ultimately abandoned the site that season. The second incidence occurred when one of our French colleagues Guilhem Mauran³ was utterly attacked by a rhino, fortunately, the rhino was dehorned and no physical injuries were experienced.



Figure 5.7 Above image shows researchers hiking to rock painting sites in Omandumba farms with Rust's Children while bottom image shows researcher locating rock engraving panels with San people.

³Doctorant, Ingénieur ESPCI Paris, Musée de l'Homme, HNHP - Histoire Naturelle de l'Homme Préhistorique (UMR 7194)

Once we had established the number of rock art sites and organized the surveyed data obtained from the first fieldwork, the subsequent goal was to record all the sites using the rock art recording and photometry forms. We were guided by the research objectives while following the model for recording techniques by Hipolito Collado (COLLADO 2006: 116-117 *cf.* COLLADO 2014:142-143). Each site form included the following information.

- Landscape variable of the sites: vegetation, proximity to water sources and trails, nature of access, location, orientation, visibility and elevation.
- Site attributes: Number of panels present, GPS location, site type and proximity to its neighbouring sites.
- Panel attributes: Panel ID, dimensions, orientation and surface, state of conservation, number of clusters, number of figures and typology of elements.
 - Technical data: technique of rock art figures, indication of superimpositions/ overlapping.
 - Surface archaeological collections: general observations about the surface archaeological artefacts present at the site/panel. All these activities are indicated in (Fig. 5.8).

Rock art stations: Omandumba West Farm (OWF) and Omandumba East Farm (OEF). Each study area holds its own different number of rock-art references. For instance, OWF contains only rock painting sites, referenced from 01 to 56 (OWF01-OWF56). Such reference numbers indicate the number of rock painting sites that were recorded within this particular farm. OEF included two reference stations, namely, OEF57-OEF60 representing the number of rock painting sites found within that farm as well as site OEF61, OEF6101-OEF50 which reflects the number of rock engraving panels recorded within the same farm.

It is possible that a rock-painting site could contain two or more panels. In most cases, they would have different aspects such as orientation, visibility in the landscape, accessibility, geomorphology (shelter, cave etc.), degree of exposure to anthropic, biological and natural factors, quantity of artworks, or clusters of artworks. In such case, the panel would be assigned a Panel ID. There are panels with local names while others do not have such names. In both cases, they were designated panel numbers. Thus each panel would bear the site number and its attributes Panel ID. For example site OWF04a represented Omandumba West Farm, Site 04, Panel (a). In case of the engraving site, since the site was classified as OEF61, its panels were already defined by their numbers, i.e., OEF61-01, if a panel contained two aspects, I used clusters to distinguish them for instance OEF6101 cluster 1 which translated to

OEF6101CL1. In light of the boundary of the farms, I acknowledge that both sites shared the same geographical location and cultural landscape. Their spatial distributions were defined as one cultural landscape in this area although references would be different since they were found in two farms.



Figure 5.8 Processes involved in the recording of rock art. On the top left are the landscape variables and site attributes and the nature of access to the panel. Bottom images show the recording of the panel attributes, clusters of figures, individual figures and the panel's surface archaeological collections. Illustrations from: Site Name: OWF53, Local Name: Bees Swarm, Panel Number: OWF53b.

c.Photography Documentation

Photography in rock art research is one of the primary means of recording rock art (Fig. 5.8). Unlike other archaeological artefacts, rock art cannot be excavated, labelled, bagged and transported back to the laboratory for analysis. In this sense, photographs function as artificial maps as they provide a single fixed perspective of an item of rock art in its landscape – a perspective, which was consciously chosen by the photographer. Like maps, the photographs taken during this study have several important uses. Firstly, they provide a partial record of the rock art and its visual context.

The use of a Cannon EOS D3100 digital camera permitted the rapid and accurate recording of a large number of images from various perspectives and angles. Following recommendations of David Whitley (WHITLEY 2011), close-up shots of individual rock art elements with/without the standard IFRAO colour card and damage were taken, as well as context shots capturing the rock and its physical settings. Given the extreme glare of the sun in Namibia, the visibility of both paintings and engravings were greatly affected by light and different weather conditions, which made the act of locating and recording them quite challenging especially given the fact that all photographs were taken during day time only but at different times, which allowed for recording figures when they were most visible. No photographs were taken at night given the nature of the study area. It was simply not safe at night. Several panoramic shots of the panels and sites were taken with their surrounding landscape (Fig. 5.9).



Figure 5.9 panoramic shots of the landscape features around site OWF39, also the Fackelträger shelter.

This was particularly important because some researchers believe that inter-visibility (seeing one place from another) between sites may have been important to prehistoric societies and may have influenced the location of sites. However, since most of the figures appear in clusters, there was no need to take a panoramic shot for each individual panel. In addition to panoramas the panoramic views, various images of the surrounding landscape of the sites were taken and stitched together to create the panorama. This was done using for instance Adobe Photoshop CS6 application. All the images were recorded in the Photography Recording Form used in the field as a guide, especially given the fact that photographs were taken during different visit to the sites. The photography form is included in Appendix 1.

d.Stereo photogrammetry also 3D

Stereo photogrammetry was another invaluable technique used in recording some of the rock art sites. The figures were used in creating three-dimensional models from two-dimensional photographs. Here, the topography of the rock, its surface texture, as well as the figures, was photographed to produce the 3D images. Dr. Florent Detroit was instrumental in doing the 3D imaging of the selected sites (Fig. 5.10). However, only some sites were photographed in 3D. This was attributed by a number of factors including the sun exposure, site settings and time.



Figure 5.10 Dr. Florent Detroit photographing one of the engraved panels for 3D imaging as shown on the right.

e.Contexts of Pigment collection and analysis

A number of pigment samples were extracted from three different contexts (Fig. 5.11) in the study. Firstly, there were those collected ochre stones collected from /Ga'aseb ravine of the Brandberg Mountain and Burnt Mountain south east of Twyfelfontein World Heritage Site. The collection of these pigments sources came as a result of unsuccessful attempts to potentially locate original sources of pigments (hematite and ochre stones), following surveys in Omandumba farms in 2014. The second contexts of the pigments samples were those

recovered from the cleared alteration walls of site OWF42/Leopard Cave walls (Fig. 5.12). The clearances of the excavation of square P7 in 2015 has also led to the discoverer of small areas at the lower section of the cave wall with concentration of pigments deposits similar to those found at the top of the upper limit of the sediment before the excavation. Pigments were then collected from this area for analysis.





Figure 5.12 Leopard Cave/ site OWF42A: The general view of Leopard Cave. B, Panorama of the Western Wall © Mathieu Lebon. Rectangles locate the different area analysed: i correspond to the red giraffe (C), ii to the red animals covered by a black alteration layer (D and E). C: The red giraffe, D: The back-legs of a red animalistic representation largely covered by a black alteration phase. E: DStretch treatment of the previous picture improving the reading of the still visible parts. F: General view of the red flat tints discovered above and inside archaeological layers. The arrows point at the two different locations analysed, (After, Mauran 2016).

In addition to the pigment collected from cave wall, there were also significant archaeological materials recovered from the excavated square P7 and levels in the areas O7, O8 (Fig. 5.13) of the site were the significant concentration of crude stones stained with pigments (Fig. 14) and numerous artefacts related to their preparation (pestle and grinding stones - with traces of cupules of impacts. It is likely that these stained pigmented stones were used as modes of pigment preparation through compilation crushing and thereafter by a grinding.

As a result, such discovery made Leopard Cave the only site, within the entire region and Namibia in general to have *in situ* materials directly linked to not only the productions of rock paintings but whereby its materials are associated with the tools dedicated to the preparation of pigments found in Layer (P7) dated between 3200 and 3500 BP (PLEURDEAU et al., 2016). This site is therefore of paramount importance in the contextualisation of rock art in associations with archaeological evidences to enable us to better understand the distribution of these pigments, their possible links with the human occupations and correspondence between the composition of the surface pigments recovered from the cave walls as well as their mineralogical nature.



Figure 5.13 The site excavation areas and site successive plan of the excavations in the site since 2007, credits (PLEURDEAU 2016).



Figure 5.14 The pigmented materials (grinding stones and the pilon) from square P7, after (PLEURDEAU et al., 2015).

The third context deals with *in situ* XRF analyses of 8 rock-painting sites from Erongo Mountains. These includes four (5) sites from the Omandumba West Farm, namely:

OWF25/Blackman Shelter, OWF39b, OWF41, OWF42/Leopard Cave and OWF 56/Elephant Wall, as well as one (1) site from Omandumba East, site OEF60. All these sites lies between 1 to 12km of each other within the study. The figures are all painted in monochrome (red and black). Samples locations were recorded photographically. The other two sites are not form Omandumba farm; one of them, the "Rain Cloud" is from farm Ai Aiba just opposite Omandumba while Tubusis lies south west of Omandumba. The following (Table 5.1) sums up the different sites analysed and the reasons that lead us to study them. The sites are then localized in their local context among some of the known rock art sites, (Fig. 5.15). For the purpose of this thesis, only sites from our study areas will receive attention.

Table 5.1 Presentsrock-painting sites analyzed in November 2016

Sites	Code	Site No	Reasons of interest
Leopard Cave	LC	OWF42	Archaeological
Fackelträgger	Ftg	OWF39b	Archaeological, diversity of red hues
Black Gnu Wall	BGW	OWF2016	Black representation
Elephant Wall	EW	OWF56	Black representation
Black Man Shelter	BMS	OWF25	Black representation
Ghost Cave	GC	OEF60b	Diversity of colours, black representation
Rain Cloud	RC	ANIB1	Diversity of colours, diversity of red hues
Tubusis	Tbs	TBS1	Diversity of colours, black representation



Figure 5.15 Local context of the rock art sites analysed in November 2016, (After, MAURAN 2016). The blue dots indicate the sites analysed with in situ XRF, the red ones stand for known rock art sites not analysed in November 2016.
At Fackelträgger site (Fig. 5.16), the in situ analyses focused on three locations of three figures of panel: dark purple wings, insert D and E, a light red animal, and insert B and C, of a dark red giraffe, insert F D, B and d F as shown in the insert images of the same figure in location A. Here, all the figures are hues of red, going from light red to dark purple, (B, D and F). The study only focused on.



The different rectangles locate the three figures analysed: red: the black wings (5.D and E), white: the light red animal (B and C), and black: the red-purple giraffe (Fig.5 F). B: The light red figure. C: DStretch image of the previous photo easing the reading of the light red representation. D: The dark wings. E: DStretch image of the previous picture, no improvement could be achieved on the wings, but treatments improved the red figures. F: The red-purple giraffe

The Black Gnu Wall's site (BGW) was discovered near LC during field survey in November 2016 in Omandumba West, inside the corridor between the 3 Elephants Camp and Leopard Cave. The drought extensively affected the vegetation surrounding the site, allowing its discovery and analysis as shown in (Fig. 5.17). The presence of black figures led to the in situanalyses at that time. The two main figures of the site were analyses: a black gnu and a red feline, insert figures B and C.

5.16



Figure 5.17 Context and environment of the Black Gnu Wall's site, In Figure 5.17, the panel hosting the paintings are located just to the vertical of the upper boulders. B: Colour enhanced picture of the panel with the two main figures of the site: the black gnu above the red feline. C: DStretch image of the previous photo revealing the presence of other black paintings (in white) and red figures (red/purple).

At Elephant Wall/site OWF56, the presence of black paintings (of the elands) was also of main interest as shown in the insert images B and C.



Figure 5.18 Elephant Wall /site OWF56.A: Context and environment of the site, the rectangle locates the panel analysed. B: The panel studied during the fieldwork 2016: the red elephant and the two black animals. C: DStretch image of the previous photo improving the reading of the black (in black) and red figures (red).The analysis at the Black Man Shelter (BMS) in Omandumba West near Anibib, also presents some paintings made of black and red pigments, unfortunately most of them cannot be analysed easily. Therefore, only the black man figure was analysed, insert B and C.



Figure 5.19 Black Man Shelter/site owf25. A: View of the site. The white rectangle locates the figure analysed. The other figures of the site are located on the ceiling; traces of them can be seen in the upper right corner of the picture. B: The panel studied during the fieldwork 2016: the black anthropomorphic figure. C: DStretch image of the previous photo improving the reading of the figure (black).

Ghost Cave (GC) is a shelter in Omandumba East. It hosts 2 panels next one to another, Figures 5.20 (B and E). One is composed of various red animals and black figures, insert B-D, the other one is made of several white paintings (ostriches and "ghosts"), numerous red animals (giraffes), some black anthropomorphic representations and some dark red anthropomorphic figures, insert 9.E-J. For both panels, the various paintings are covering each other and suffered sundry alterations. The analyses carried out on the site focused on the nature of the diverse pigments used to realise the paintings of the site. On the first panel, the one having only red and black representations, three distinct figures were analysed: one black, only the upper head of a giraffe is clearly visible, insert C-D, and two different hues of red of two different animals: an elephant and a springbok. On the second panel, as the diversity of the colours used is more important, more analyses were carried out. In total, six figures were analysed: three whites – the ostrich and the two "ghosts", insert G –, one black – an anthropomorphic with a bow, insert H – and two dark purple-red anthropomorphic figures, insert I-J. The large spread of white alteration over the red figures of this panel, made the analyses of the red paintings of fewer interest than those of the previous panel, insert E.



Figure 5.20 Ghost Cave's site. A, general view of the site, the arrow points the cave's location © Mathieu Lebon. B: The panel 1 during its in situ XRF analysis. C: Detailed view of the area o. D: DStretch treatment of the previous picture improving the reading of the various faded red and black representations. The arrows point at the black figures analysed. E: General view of the panel 2. The rectangles locate the different analysed: the black rectangle locates the white figures (insert G), the red rectangle corresponds to the black anthropomorphic representations, and the white one locates the dark brown figures, © Matthieu Lebon. F: Red enhancer DStretch treatment of the previous picture with the different areas located. G: The white representation. O: the ostrich. Gh1 and Gh2: the ghost figures © Mathieu Lebon. H: the black anthropomorphic figure. I: The dark brown anthropomorphic representations (Db1 and Db2). J: General enhancer DStretch treatment improving the visibility and reading of the figures.

f.Ethnography/ Ethno-historic Enquiries

The two local Ju/'Hoansi San men (Fig. 5.21) working as tour guides at the San Living Museum on the Omandumba West Farm were extremely supportive. They were the main source of ethnographic information in that they provided us with a basic understandings of animal tracks/spoors at the engraving site / Site OEF61. To them, knowledge of animals and their behaviour is the initial step in tracking them and ultimately in the hunting them. They emphasized that tracking is more than just following the spoor. Throughout the conversations, they pointed to the need to identify elements that may have been left in the environment by an animal. These elements could also be behavioural signs, such as scratches on trees or scattered leaves or, more obviously, dung, hair or other tangible remains. This allows them to accurately predict the whereabouts of the animal or to avoid dangerous encounters with predators (LIEBENBERG 1990).

Therefore, trackers use the signs left by animals in order to make sense of their environment. These conversations with the informants were recorded on video. I also took some notes and photographs along the way. The ethnographic analogies are presented in Section B, Part A of Chapter 6.



Figure 5.21 With me are local San informants at the rock engraving/ site OEF61 during interviews and figures identification session sat the site.

5.2.3. Section C: Data management and Analysis

a.Image processing and file management

In order to ensure that all images were accurately associated with their corresponding site database record, it was important that they were well managed when downloaded from the cameras to the computer. After each field campaign, I collected all images and stored them on various locations such as external hard drives, NHC database and cloud storages such as Cloud and Mega (Fig. 5.22 & Fig. 5.23).

Consistent conventions for file naming and folder structures ensured that images would be easily identifiable and could be readily associated with the correct database records. Backup copies were also regularly stored in separate locations. Images that required processing such as stitching to create Panoramas or 3D were treated on the application of Adobe Photoshop and photogrammetry software.



Figure 5.22 Mega Cloud folders where painting sites images and other site data are stored.



Figure 5.23 Mega Cloud folder where engraving sites images and other site data are stored.

b.Spatial analysis and maps

Spatial analysis is an important analytical tool that considers not only the iconographical representations of the rock art but also the physical properties of the sites, namely, where they are located and how they might have been seen (WHITLEY 2011). For this, all the GPS data were uploaded into a private Google Earth and then connected to the QGIS (Fig. 5. 26) and the database. It provided a broad overview of the site locations, their associations to the landscape variables as shown in (Fig. 5.24. & Fig. 25). Spatial analysis therefore investigated the landscape variables of the rock art sites such as in terms of site placement (1) elevation (2) proximity to water sources (3) proximity to trails (4) accessibility (5) aspect/orientation (6) and their visibility in the landscape (7).



Figure 5.24 The general distribution of the rock art sites in OEF & OWF at 5km scale. Map credits: Google Maps & QGIS.



Figure 5.25 The spatial distribution of the rock art sites in OEF & OWF at 1km scale. Map credits: Google Maps & QGIS.

c.Site data record

The sites inventory data were archived in both the National Heritage Council Database as well on Google Analytics spread sheet (Fig. 5.26), which allows for an easy and quick query of the data and creates custom calculations of the data. Information from Google Spread sheet automatically feeds the database on QGIS, which makes it easier to request specific information on the sites. This was quite useful given the amount of sites recorded and the amount of information collected. Each site within this spread sheet was organized according to their study areas.

data	Edit View locat	Format Data	Tools Add.oos Helo	All changes o	aund in Drive										Comments	Share
		.0 .00 123 -	Calibri - 11	B I A				Σ.								\$
Areald	1				_	and the state										
1	A B	С	D	E	F	۵	н	1	J	к	L	м	N	0	Р	
Areald	SiteId	New Site No	PanelName	Panelid	GpsCoordonnates	LongDegres	LongMinutes	LongSeconds	LatDegres	LatMinutes	LatSeconds	DegreDecimalL	DegreDecimalL	Elevation	Panel Orientation	Visibili
OWF	OWF01	OWF01	The Last Boulder	OWF01	E15 35 55.64/S21 30 27.87	1	5 35	55.64		21	0 27.83	7 15.598789	-21.507742	1169		45
OWF	OWF02	OWF02	OWF02	OWF02	E15 35 53.96/S21 30 30.01	1	5 35	53.96		21	10 30.01	15.598322	-21.508336	1168		315
OWF	OWF03	OWF03	OWF03	OWF03	E15 35 40.08/S21 30 36.63	1	5 35	40.08		21 3	0 36.63	15.594467	-21.510175	1206		135
OWF	OWF04	OWF04a	The Bergsteiger Wall	OWF04a	E15 35 40.21/S21 30 36.41	1	5 35	40.21		21	0 36.41	15.594503	-21.510114	1206		135
OWF	OWF04	OWF04b	The Bergsteiger Wall	OWF04b	E15 35 40.28/S21 30 36.4	1	5 35	40.28		21	10 36.40	15.594522	-21.510111	1206		135
OWF	OWF04	OWF04c	The Bergsteiger Wall	OWF04c	E15°35'40.55/S21°30'36.48	1	5 35							1206		135
OWF	OWF05	OWF05	Scherz Fissure	OWF05	E15 35 37.57/S21 30 34.3	1	5 35	37.57		21	0 34.30	15.593769	-21.509528	1203		315
OWF	OWF06	OWF06	OWF06	OWF06	E15 35 37.46/S21 30 34.46	1	5 35	37.46		21	0 34,46	5 15.593739	-21.509572	1204		270
OWF	OWF07	OWF07	Speaking Kudu	OWF07	E15 35 36.58/S21 30 34.4	1	5 35	36.58		21	0 34.40	15.593494	-21.509556	1203		45
OWF	OWF07	OWF08	OWF08	OWF08	E15 35 7.86/S21 30 46.27	1	5 35	7.86		21	46.23	7 15.585517	-21.512853	1215		135
OWF	OWF09	OWF09	Porter Boulder	OWF09	E15 35 6/S21 30 49.23	1	5 35	6.00		21 3	49.23	15.585000	-21.513675	1204		135
OWF	OWF10	OWF10	OWF10	OWF10	E15*34'57.34*E/S21*30'52.58	1	5 34	56.45		21 3	49.27	7 15.582347	-21.513686	1205		90
OWF	OWF11	OWF11	Strey Wall	OWF11	E15 34 51.1/S21 30 51.9	1	5 34	51.10		21 3	0 51.90	15.580861	-21.514417	1207		270
OWF	OWF12	OWF12	Strey Boulder	OWF12	E15 34 50.53/S21 30 52.04	1	5 34	50.53		21 3	10 52.04	15.580703	-21.514456	1209		180
OWF	OWF13	OWF13	OWF13	OWF13	E15 34 53.43/S21 30 54.6	1	5 34	53.43		21 3	0 54.60	15.581508	-21.515167	1197		180
OWF	OWF14	OWF14	OWF14	OWF14	E15*34'57.34/S21*30'52.58	1	5 34			21	10			1210		90
OWF	OWF15	OWF15	San Living Museum	OWF15	E15 35 3.61/S21 30 59.72	1	5 35	3.61		21 3	0 59.72	15.584336	-21.516589	1191		247
OWF	OWF16	OWF16	Fire Area	OWF16	E15 34 57.79/S21 31 4.23	1	5 34	57.79		21 3	4.23	15.582719	-21.517842	1188		225
OWF	OWF17	OWF17	Shower Area	OWF17	E15 34 58.37/S21 31 3.8	1	5 34	58.37		21 3	1 3.80	15.582881	-21.517722	1191		45
OWF	OWF18	OWF18	OWF18	OWF18	E15 34 52.06/S21 31 3.6	1	5 34	52.06		21 3	1 3.60	15.581128	-21.517667	1185		45
OWF	OWF19	OWF19	OWF19	OWF19	E15 34 50.81/S21 31 3.01	1	5 34	50.81		21 3	1 3.01	15.580781	-21.517503	1185		270
OWF	OWF20	OWF20	OWF20	OWF20	E15 34 51.81/S21 31 3.17	1	5 34	51.81		21 3	3.17	7 15.581058	-21.517547	1185		90
OWF	OWF21	OWF21	Helmut Large Boulder	OWF21	E15 33 37.4/S21 31 27.8	1	5 33	37.40		21 3	1 27.80	15.560389	-21.524389	1210		90
OWF	OWF22	OWF22	OWF22	OWF22	E15 33 37.7/S21 31 28.2	1	5 33	37.70		21 3	1 28.20	15.560472	-21.524500	1213		112
OWF	OWF23	OWF23	OWF23	OWF23	E15 33 29.36/S21 31 43.11	1	5 33	29.36		21 1	43.11	15.558156	-21.528642	1198		180
OWF	OWF24	OWF24	OWF24	OWF24	E15 33 27.83/S21 31 45.13	1	5 33	27.83		21	45.13	15.557731	-21.529203	1189		90
OWF	OWF25	OWF25	The blackman Shelter	OWF25	E15 33 24.29/S21 31 36.18	1	5 33	24.29		21 3	1 36.18	15.556747	-21.526717	1219		180
OWF	OWF26	OWF26a	Elephant Boulder	OWF26a	E15 33 22.82/S21 31 35.77	1	5 33	22.82		21	1 35.77	7 15.556339	-21.526603	1219		45
OWF	OWF26	OWF26b	Giraffe Cave	OWF26b	E15 33 22.25/S21 31 35.59	1	5 33	22.25		21	1 35.59	15.556181	-21.526553	1219		180
OWF	OWF27	OWF27	OWF27	OWF27	E15 33 23.89/S21 31 29.85	1	5 33	23.89		21	1 29.85	5 15.556636	-21.524958	1272		180
OWF	OWF28	OWF28	OWF28	OWF28	E15 33 24.1/S21 31 49.93	1	5 33	24.10		21	49.93	15.556694	-21.530536	1275		270
OWF	OWF29	OWF29	OWF29	OWF29	E15 33 23.73/S21 31 50.04	1	5 33	23.73		21	1 50.04	15.556592	-21.530567	1288		270
OWF	OWF30	OWF30a	Christian Shelter	OWF30a	E15 33 3.58/S21 31 57.2	1	5 31	3.58		21	1 57.20	15 550994	-21.532556	1233		225



Figure 5.26 Top and Bottom are the screenshots of the Google Analytical Spreadsheet where information was stored and analysed.

d.Database Attribute

After digitizing the data and compiling it into a Google Analytics Spreadsheet, a record PostgreSQL database (Fig. 5.27) was then created, which was automatically fed by QGIS and data from Google Analytical Spreadsheet. It was created to extract specific rock art attributes and also to query statistical information about the sites. The attribute database is organized in data tables and comprises six variable categories: themes (1), element types (2), manufacture technique (3), panel and element count (4), types of artwork (5) and pigment used (6).

The location determined the site/panel placement in the landscape on boulders, rock shelters, granitic walls, caves, ledges/sills, ceilings and riverbeds. The themes element identified the presence of anthropomorphic, zoomorphic, phytomorphic figures, spoors, objects, as well as indeterminate and abstract forms. Techniques of production identified the presence of painted elements and engravings that were pecked, scratched, polished or abraded. Pictograph type detailed if the paintings were monochrome or polychrome. Paint colour determined if the paint fell according to one of the basic colour categories, namely, red, brown, white, black or orange. Panel and element count quantified the rock art at each site/panel. In total, the database had 62 variables for each rock art site. Appendix B provides a template of the database entry form.



Figure 5.27 Omandumba farms rock art Attribute Database data entry form. The entry form has not being filled in.

e.Digital tracing of rock art figures

Digital image processing is one of the common techniques within the reach of researchers. In rock art research, available techniques used to extract information by computer manipulation of images includes, but are not limited to, the applications of ImageJ 64 (Image Processing and Analysis in Java), also known as DStretch Plugin developed by Jan Harman, as well as the Adobe Photoshop CS6 applications used to enhancing of rock art.

These applications permit processing procedures such as selective contrast enhancement tools, and studying the detailed figures and multiple images in superimpositions. Such applications provide a non-destructive method of recording and analysing rock art. In the research for this thesis, I have used the ImageJ64 plugin to manipulate colours and enhance faded images or improve the clarity of colours (Fig. 5.28 {left} and Adobe Photoshop CS6 applications {right}) in the analysis of both painting and engravings so as to facilitate further understanding and interpretation of the depicted figures (Fig. 5.29). Since the study located many painting sites, only 15/60 rock paintings sites were digitally traced, while all the 50 rock-engraving panels from site OEF61 were digitally traced by means of Photoshop software. The geology of the worked surfaces and the artwork techniques influenced the tracing techniques used.



Figure 5.28 Image manipulations by means of DStretch Plugin. (A) The original image while (B) is a DStretched image using LDS color at 12.5 scale. Right image shows various means of tracing of painted figures through Adobe Photoshop CS6

Conservation ethical considerations were applied during the pigment extractions from the five selected and suitable sites. This is, to ensure minimal damage to the visual integrity of the figures and possible future complications arising from the studies undertaken at each site.

Hence, the extraction was carried out by a pigment specialist, Dr. Matthieu Lebon⁴ while following the code of ethics and guidelines for practice of American Institute for Conservation⁵. For this, only minimum required microscopic pigment samples were removed from the figures through small scrapings technique using tungsten tools such as the sterilized scalpel blades and its handle. However, it was challenging to extract the pigments samples because almost all the painted layers are too thin hence only one sample per figure (per site) was obtained. The pigment residues – between1mg to 2mg were collected for analysis. Microscopic samples locations were photographically recorded as shown in (Fig. 5.30), while a visual colour notation was made. To protect the visual integrity of the figures, very limited sample from a limited area of a figure was removed which can barely be seen by a naked aye.



Figure 5.29 Various ways of tracing engraving through Adobe Photoshop CS6

The choices of pigment samples colours (black, red, white,) were of particular importance in order to establish their mineralogical and chemical compositions. The samples were then accurately stored in suitable and unused laboratory containers, properly labelled, bagged and exported for analyses. Although the quantities are usually very small, it is hoped that they will certainly provide some valuable information.

⁴Maître de conférences, UMR 7194 CNRS - Histoire Naturelle de l'Homme Préhistorique, Département de Préhistoire du Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle, Equipe "Archives sédimentaires et matériaux de la Préhistoire

⁵<u>https://www.nps.gov/training/tel/guides/hps1022_aic_code_of_ethics</u>



Figure 5.30 Shows various locations where pigment samples have been extracted from the painted figures at some od the selected sites. Photo by: (M. Lebon, 2015)

The Archaeological Laboratory Molecular and Structural (LAMS) from the University of Paris VI, under the direction of Philippe Walter carried out the entire noninvasively on nonprepared samples through the use of the X-ray Fluorescence (XRF) and the DRX spectrometer (Fig. 5.31). Such instruments permit the realization of analyses *in-situ* or directly on the sample and are therefore non-invasive. The instrument was equipped with an X-ray source monochromatic (Raie K- α of copper at E = 8.04 keV, divergence, 2.5 x 4 mmrad 20% FWHM, 170 million photons per second on the sample, the size of the lower probe to 180µm FWHM) who just focus on the sample hence this allowed the precise focusing of a beam into a preferred area of each sample (LAPAUZE 2016).



Figure 5.31 Left and right are the μ-DRX and XRF portable laboratories of LAMS, credits: M. Bondetti, cf. LAPAUZE 2016:47-48)

The acquisition of the data from the diffraction DRX and XRF devices as shown above are then processed using the software Fit2D in order to convert them into Diffractogram analyzable under the software Diffract Eva (Bruker) as shown in (Fig. 5.32).



Figure 5.32 Imaging flat and Diffractogram, after: (LAPAUZE 2016:49)

Mineral characterization of the samples where carried out through the Infrared Spectrometry carried out on a vertex spectrometer 70 Bruker (Fig. 5.33) at the (Caractérisation et Datation des Archéomatériaux et des Archives Sédimentaires du Musée de l'Homme) of the Museum

National d'Histoire Naturelle. The device has a wide range of spectral middle infrared to distant (MIR-fir) between 4000 and 100 cm-1, a resolution of 4cm-1 and an acquisition of 128 scans with a scanning speed of 5 kHz.



Figure 5.33 Infrared Spectrometer at the laboratory of MNHN/Musée de l'Homme, (After LAPAUZE 2016).

According to (LAPAUZE 2016), the Infrared Spectrometer measures the vibrational absorbance of the molecular groupings constituted in a sample through the infrared radiation. The equipment then allows the acquisition of oxides characterization from medium to distant infrared on wafer scale grapheme. She further stressed that the Infrared spectroscopy analysis can be conducted in the non-invasive manner however, this is only possible when surface characterizes the sample is confined within the nature of the underlying materials. In the case of pigments from Leopard Cave, site OWF42; they present a 51 irregular surface, which makes it difficult to analyse through non-invasive method. Hence, homogeneous powders were opted instead (Fig. 5.34 left). The powders were then analysed through the X-ray diffraction of the Département Histoire de la Terre du MNHN through the Bruker D2 Phaser (Fig. 5.34 right).

The diffracted rays have then been recorded by a detector, which converted the photons in digital images. The acquisitions have been conducted between the angles of 3 to $65^{\circ} 2\theta$, with a not of $0.02^{\circ} 2\theta$ All 0.2 seconds, about a dozen minutes per sample. Moreover, since the

most of the samples are iron oxides, a discriminatory filter of this element has been used for the purpose of not saturating in iron our acquisitions (Ibid, 2016).



Figure 5.34 Left image shows the prepared powder from the ochre stone. A) Powder in the container. B) The powder and label of the sample while C) is a sample. The right image shows the apparatus for the DRX, after (LAPAUZE 2016:51-52.

The results of the pigment analysis of rock paintings within the study are presented in Chapter 6, section C.

5.3.Ethical considerations

Permission to carry out this research was authorised by the National Heritage Council, under Heritage Research Permit Number 23/2014, while consent to carry out in the Omandumba farms was approved by the farm owner Mr. Harald Rust, as well as from the local San men from Omandumba San Living Museum. The local San men approved the use of all the photographs taken during the fieldworks. They opted to wear their traditional attires in order to contextualise their authentic tradition in interpreting their ancestral heritage.

6.RESEARCH RESULTS

This chapter presents the results of the rock art inventory and data analysis at the Omandumba East and West Farms. The chapter is divided into three sections. Section A presents the results of rock painting sites carried out on Omandumba East and West farms. Section B presents the results of the engraving site in Omandumba East. The scientific analyses of the pigment from three contexts (archaeological, geological and paintings) in Omandumba, Brandberg and Burnt Mountain near Twyfelfontein world Heritage Site are presented in Section C.

6.1.SECTION A: ROCK PAINTINGS

This section provides the general descriptions, spatial and statistical analyses, as well as Rock Art morphological variables of rock painting sites in the Omandumba East and West farms. The general description provides basic descriptive data of 11 out of a total of 60 rock arts sites. However, such description covers all the sites in the study. It includes the site name, the panel number, GPS locations, site elevation the type of surface (vertical, horizontal or sloped), its orientations; it also includes the overall state of preservation of the rock art station and the figures; finally, it includes its dimensions, some brief observations about its location in the landscape, i.e., spatial distribution, vegetation cover, nearest water points and its neighbouring rock art sites. The graphical descriptive content of the site in form of the number art figures, its superimposition (if any), its themes, its history, its current state of conservation, as well as the site's associated archaeology have also be provided.

The spatial and statistical analyses focuses on landscape attributes such as the geomorphological settings of the rock art site, the proximity to water sources, accessibility, location and visibility of the rock art sites, orientations as well as the placement of the artwork on the rock art surfaces. Rock art morphological variables present the prevalence of rock paintings in the areas under study, the analyses rock art elements and typology, technique of productions, superimpositions, element counts, and surface archaeological artefacts present at the site/panel, as well as conservation aspects of the sites. However, even though only 16 sites are presented here, all the sites (61) general descriptions were analysed and provided.

6.1.1.Spatial organization of the study areas: Omandumba West and East Farms

The areas under study are two private commercial farms, the Omandumba West Farm (OWF) and Omandumba East Farm (OEF). A systematic documentation of rock art sites in the Omandumba East and West farms recorded a total of 61 rock art sites, which comprise of 60 rock-painting sites and a single engraving site. The rock-engraving site has 50 rock engraving panels, which are all central part of this study. Of the 61 recorded rock art sites, 2 rock art painting sites (OWF29 and OWF48) found at Omandumba West did not contain any rock painting figures because the artworks are completely faded and show only very few traces of pigments, retrieved through the application of DStretch. Nevertheless, the range of these two sites contained an unspecified low quantity of surface collections in form of Late Stone Age lithic artefacts, grey to brown sediments, as well as some charcoal evidence.

The survey cover areas of rock painting sites previously known and documented by some researchers such as (BREUIL et al., 1960; SCHERZ 1986; RICHTER 1991; BÖRNER 2013), as well as series of new rock art sites (paintings and engravings) that were known but unrecorded from previous research activities on the farms.

6.1.2. Spatial distribution of Rock Art Sites

Omandumba West Farm recorded a total of 56 rock-painting sites, comprising of a total of 1,637 individual rock art elements found on 64 panels. Omandumba East Farm (OEF) recorded 4 rock paintings sites containing approximately 167 artworks found on 6 panels, which brings the total of recorded painting sites in both areas to 60 and about 69 panels that contain of at least 1798 paintings. The spatial distribution of rock painting sites generally follows the natural geological formations of the area, which is formed by mountain ranges, hills, outcrops, kopjes and isolated boulders (Fig. 6.1) as well as water sources.



Legend: Painting sites OEF Engraving sites OEF Painting sites OWF Springs Pools/Ponds P

Figure 6.1 a Topographical map of Omandumba farms indicating the distribution of rock art sites. Credits Google Maps.

6.1.3.Selected Rock Art Sites

All the 60 rock-painting sites were recorded, documented and analysed. Basic descriptive data is also provided for each site. Because of the high density and volume of the information collected, I have selected 11 rock-painting sites among the 60 to represent the sites that have been studied (Fig. 6.2). However, both landscape and morphological variables of all the sites are presented in the analyses of all the sites. The selected sites are the prominent ones with most information; they are thus considered more representative of all painting sites since in terms of their distribution, placement, geomorphological types, and proximity to water sources across the landscape.

Of the selected 11 rock painting sites, 10 are from Omandumba West Farm (OWF09-OWF56) since the majority of recorded rocks painting sites were recorded on that farm. They comprise of Porters Boulder (OWF 09), Strey Boulder, (OWF 12) Christian Shelter (OWF 30), Fackelträger Shelter (OWF 39), Leopard Cave (OWF 42), Priests Shelter (OWF 46), Ostrich Shelter (OWF 47), Tuba Rock (OWF 50), Crown Boulder (OWF 50) and Elephant

Wall (OWF 56). Those from Omandumba East Farm comprise of site OEF60 also known as the Ghost Cave (Fig. 6.2) below.



Figure 6.2 Distribution and location of selected rock painting sites in Omandumba West: (09) Porters Boulder, (12) Strey Boulder, (30) Christian Shelter, (39) Fackelträger Shelter, (42) Leopard Cave, (46) Priests Shelter, (47) Ostrich Shelter, (50) Tuba Rock, (52) Crown Boulder, (56) Elephant Wall and (60) Ghost Cave ©Google Earth.



"To understand one's world, you have to live it", Kxao /Lukxao Fackelträger Site, Omandumba West Farm. Photo: Harald Rust

6.1.4.Part A: General Description of the Rock Painting Sites

The following part provides the general description of the 11 selected sites. These includes the site name, the panel number, GPS locations, site elevation the type of surface (vertical, horizontal or sloped), its orientations; it also includes the overall state of preservation of the rock art station and the figures; finally, it includes its dimensions, some brief observations about its location in the landscape, i.e., spatial distribution, vegetation cover, nearest water points and its neighbouring rock art sites. The graphical descriptive content of the site in form of the number art figures, its superimposition (if any), its themes, its history, its current state of conservation, as well as the site's associated archaeology.

a.OWF09

SITE ID:OWF09Local name:Porters BoulderGPS Location:E15° 35 6/S21° 30 49.23

a.O.Site Description

Porter's Boulder or site OWF09 is one of the most visited sites in the Omandumba West Farm. A short walk from the San Living Museum access the site. The site itself has access to three eco-zones; the plains vegetated by perennial grasses, low and sparse bush, dry river courses and rocky hill-slopes. Geomorphologically, this oval shaped, brown-coated, coarse-grained boulder rest on top at the north most hilltop of Omandumba West farm (Fig. 6.3). Dr. Ernest Scherz discovered the site in 1947 during the same visit of *Abbé* Breuil in the farm.





Figure 6.3 The top image shows a panoramic view of site OWF09 as indicated in a red pointed arrow. The bottom image indicates the location of figures on the Panel.

The site stands at an elevation of 1204m. The

artworks on the boulder are placed in the middle and bottom of the painted panel measuring between 1m long and 3m high while the artworks are restricted to 3m visibilities. The site is

close to a cluster of four sites within 5 minutes reach further north of it. All the figures at the site been fully painted in red monochrome with no evidence of superimposition.



Figure 6.4 Top image is a DStretched Panel OWF09. An insert imageshows the artworks on the panel while the bottom image shows digitally traced figures at site OWF09 on Adobe Photoshop.

The artworks are exposed by the sun throughout the day as the panel is oriented 110°East. Here, a total of 31 rock-painting figures were recorded, most of which are physically faded. Most of them were only visible through DStretch application.

Perhaps this was the reason why Breuil recorded only 7 figures initially and made no mention of others. Among the recorded figures, there are a total of 25 human figures with varying sizes between 7cmx4cm and 5cmx5cm. The figures comprised of various group of 6 very detailed men arranged in a row carrying what appears to be secured bundles or netlike baskets on their heads (Fig. 6.4). They are also depicted walking westwards. The rest of 19 figures depicting mainly male figures are placed immediately beneath a headless springbok figure. They are shown in predominantly in hunting scenes carrying hunting equipment, mainly long sticks, bow and arrows while others are depicted walking westwards with clear relation with each other.

In addition to human figures, the panels had also registered about 2 headless animal figures. One of these is a springbok measuring 8cmx6cm while the second one is headless kudu located beneath of all figures measuring 9cmx7cm with a human figure standing on top of it. About 4 indeterminate figures were also recorded in the inventory. All of them are poorly preserved, and coated with dust. This might be attributed by the frequent visitors and fact that the site in close proximity to the pathway leading to other sites in this locality. Other concerns at the site include extreme sun exposure and run-offs from past rains as well as human impacts in form of possible touch of artworks by some visitors.

a.1.Associated Archaeology

No single surface collection was recorded at the site. And if there were surface collection, it possible that they were likely displaced or pick up by visitors.

b.OWF12

SITE ID:OWF12Local Name:Strey BoulderGPS Location:E15° 35 36.59 /S21° 30 34.4

b.1.Site Description

Stray Boulder is also referred to as the "Fundstelle Monument" in some of the literature. It is adjacent to Stray Wall (previous site). There is a narrow passage separating the two sites (Fig. 6.5). Geomorphologically, it is a single standing pinnacle of about three meters high formed by several smaller boulders completed by a fungal capstone (BORNER 2013:104-105). It is found on a crest of a little saddle, which cuts the hill across.



Figure 6.5 The image on the left shows the site and the location of artworks on the panel while the right image shows the original panel w figures at site OWF12.

The site is the last reference site of the well known 'bush walk organized by the local San Living Museum of the farm, this before descending down the hill. This coarse-to-smooth-grained granitic boulder stands at 1209m above sea level and it is oriented at 290°W. It is visible from about 15m as a result of its elevated rounded mushroom-shaped crest of a small saddle that cuts the hill across a rocky spur, which overlooks the Anibib farm to the west and Omandumba West to the north. Mr. Strey discovered the site at the same time as the previous site. The site was then recorded by Abbé Breuil, BREUIL (1960), who described accessing and recording the artworks "impossible without a ladder" (BREUIL 1960:7) on account of the geomorphological nature of the boulder. The artworks at the site were executed on a smooth granitic large sill or ledge measuring 4m long and 0.8m high (Fig 6.1.3).



Figure 6.6 Shows the reconstructed image site OWF12. The top image has been DStretched at LDS 15cm scale and then Photoshoped while the bottom image have also been traced on Photoshop application. Two phases of superimpositions are shown. The 1st phase are images in red and the 2nd phase are figures in brown colour.

There are two clusters at the panel. The first one, which contains prominent paintings, is located on the sill/ledge at the top of the boulder, while the second cluster is located on another ledge beneath the first one, separated from the first one by a large crevice. Most of the paintings at the site are well preserved because they were painted in deep red and the fact that the mushroom-shaped crest is resistant to weathering activities such as rain and, to some extent, from the sun. There is a big tree immediately in front of the site. It is the same height as the boulder, hence obscuring the site from a far distance. Fortunately, it does not come into contact with the ledge containing the artworks. Two phases of overlapping of figures have been recorded (Fig. 6.6) at the bottom cluster where two figures have been superimposed on other elements. Almost all figures are simply adjacent to each other, shown in a two scene with clear relation to each other.

Here, about 18 rock paintings figures most of which are painted in red monochrome have been recorded. One particular prominent figure identified by BREUIL (1960:7) as a *Nyala tragelaphus* was painted in bichrome (red and white). White pigment is one of the uncommon pigments in rock paintings of Omandumba, and here it was used in combination with deep red colour to distinguish features from the bodies of animals, such as the figure found in the first cluster *Nyala tragelaphus*. The artworks are visible from a distance of 3m. They are a small measuring between 8cmx6cm and 5cmx3cm respectively. Among the recorded artworks, human forms accounts for 10 figures. We suspect that there could be more human figures on this panel especially on the second cluster but they are badly faded and could not be read properly even through the D-stretch technique.

In the first cluster, most of the artworks are surprisingly well preserved; even those painted in white pigment remains well preserved despite the exposed position of the crest to the sun and other weather-related actions. About 4 human figures found in the first cluster. Two male hunters are painted in a deep red monochrome. They have decorated hairstyles, a slender and thin backline, thick thighs and legs from waistline that appear to be decorated. They hold bows and arrows walk north towards the edge of the sill following the Nyalaand another headless four-legged antelope, which we suspect, could be a springbok figure, this based on its morphology and size which is similar to general pattern of the springbok in the study. The other two human figures in this cluster are painted in a very weak red pigment and are very faded. They are not visible to the naked eye, but can be discerned through DStretch. They are flanked by the Nyala figure, as well as deep red painted figures facing south, the opposite direction, also bearing weapons. The rest of the human figures are found beneath the second cluster. Most of these figures are faded. However, we were able to identify and record a noticeable larger human figure, which was painted in outline using a dark brown pigment. This was located on top of the animal figures (giraffe and kudu) and depicted seated with its

legs apart. It had long hair with a hairstyle. Others are depicted walking steadily, following a headless oryx facing north.

Animal figures are the second most dominant figures in the panel and they account for 4 items in the inventory. They are also fully painted in red pigment and are facing west. The single giraffe measures 17cmx8cm and is flanked by two other animals. A headless kudu and the unidentified figure of a large antelope with its mid-section to the back painted only. The giraffe is shown with its four legs, which gives a sense of movement towards north. It is also very stylized, detailed and represented in a lateral perspective. It has highly naturalistic features such as its well-defined elongated narrow neck, a head and its curved backline and its exaggerated hairy tail that reaches the ground. Following the giraffe is a single headless kudu similarly painted in deep red monochrome with its stripes emphasized either with deep red or brown pigment. It is located slightly above the giraffe's lower back and there is a human figure emerging north from it but there is no contact between these two figures.

The animal appears to be standing still and its back line and other anatomic features are well defined. There are two springbok figures 2, one of which one is headless and is located in front of the nyala while the other is located in the second cluster behind other figures. The indeterminate category accounts for three figures. All these figures are located in the second cluster on the panel immediately beneath the giraffe. The second indeterminate figure is that of an antelope figure which has a few basic anatomical parts (legs, tail, lower back) that qualify it to be included in the animal category but which lack the diagnostic features required to determine the exact species. According to Tilman Lenssen-Erz (LENSSEN-ERZ 2001: 285, 2004:145-46, 2008:37-47) this site fits the profile of Class A sites which were likely to function as landmark or waymark sites, located along the natural travel routes or near remarkable feature along such routes. This is reinforced by the fact that the site is uninhabited, its located near conspicuous landscape features such as passages or saddles in the mountain with few human traces like rock art and artefacts.

b.2.Associated Archaeology

No surface collections.

c.OWF30

SITE ID:OWF30Local name:Christian ShelterNumber of Panels:2GPS Coordinates:E15° 33 3.58/S21° 31 57.2

c.1.Site Description

This site stands at an elevation of 1233m on top of a prominent steep slope or kopje. It is locally known as Christian Shelter. Christian Rust, the eldest son of the farm owner Mr. Harold Rust, discovered the site back in 2007 and this how it got its name. The site itself is located not so far from Omandumba West farmhouse, as well as the principal road (D2315) leading out of the Erongo Conservation area towards Tubusis village. Geomorphologically, it is a huge yellowish and fractured granitic boulder standing vertically just below one of the biggest Erongo massif kopje overlooking and providing one of the best views of the valleys, small outcrops and hills in Omandumba West farm (Fig. 6.7).



Figure 6.7 Shows the location of the site in the landscape as indicated by pointed arrow.

Accessibility to the site is rather challenging due to the steepness of the kopje. It is slightly easier from the lower edge of the kopje near the main road and ascending the smooth and somehow slippery granites surfaces until the highest steep slope where a sharp descent is required on reaching the site. There is a relatively small cave-like shaped area bounded by granites leaning against each other, providing ample space for a living area. The site contains two panels separated by a huge fracture in the middle of the boulder that broke and split into two, but it is stable with a plant growing towards the site of the second panel, its leaves and branches brushing onto the painted surface.



Figure 6.8 The image shows the painted boulder of site OWF12 in the landscape. The boulder is sitting on top of a kopje with restricted movements around it.

The current state of conservation is moderately good to very poor due to the high degrees of run-off as some sections of the panels are covered by a white and grey wash mark that partially obscures figures resulting from a mixture of dassies' urine and perhaps bird droppings on top of the boulder that could have been washed down by rain run-off. Other natural factors such as sun exposure, wind, exfoliation, dust accumulation, silica depositions, and vegetation growing near the painted surface have also been recorded. Some figures are faded while some show only few blobs of pigments as a result of exfoliation. The scattered traces of pigment demonstrate that there were a number of paintings on the panel's surface of the shelter. However, not all the figures have been completely obliterate as many figures are still identified and recorded. These panels contain nearly three clusters within a distance of 1-6m away from each other and contain a variety of painted artworks.

Artworks found at the first panel are in a good condition while those at the second panel are badly weathered by run-off erosion, as well as some weathering processes; hence, some artworks appear faded or washed away. Others, especially those painted in deep red, are in a good condition. Superimposition is evident at the panel; however, all figures are painted in the same color making it difficult to establish older figures from younger figures particularly at the second cluster. The site contains an excess of 79 recorded rock paintings of varying subject matter and scenes that are spread out horizontally at two panels measuring between 12cmx9cm, 11cmx10cm, 10cmx8cm, 8cmx6cm, 7cmx5cm, 5cmx4cm, 4cmx4cm, 3cmx3cm, 2cmx2cm and 2cmx1cm I sizes respectively.

c.1.1.Panel OWF30a

The first panel is oriented at 225°SW overlooking and overlooks the wide-open landscape. It also serves as a direct access to the open area in the valley and the artworks are visible at less than 3m distance range. The panel is 1.5m long and above 10m high. The first cluster contains 19 recognisable artworks executed at the bottom of the panel. These figures are in good conditions however, run-offs has created wash zone on the left side of the panel obscuring some figures –about 10 of them, most of which were severely damaged and are not visible on DStretch application. There is only evidence of red stains of pigment. Other concerns at the panel are the sun exposure as well as some vegetation growing right side of the panel. The panel exposed to the sun throughout the day hence it was only possible to document it late afternoon.



Figure 6.9 Is the original image of the panel indicates the location of figures on the panel. Image at 10cm scale.



Figure 6.10 The image on the left shows the location of artworks on the panel while the mage on the left shows some of the traced figures of panel OWF30a. Two Phases of overlapping exists. The earlier (phase 1) figures are painted in red color and were succeeded by brown figures (2nd phase). The insert image has been Photoshoped.

Here, anthropomorphic figures account for 2 human figures. The figures have been juxtapositioned among the herds of different springboks with one human figure overlapped by springbok hind legs, (see Fig. 6.10).

Human figures are depicted walking, bearing no weapons while facing northwards. One of human appears to extend his arm on other human in front. Zoomorph corpus account for 16 figures at the panel. Thirteen of these are springboks facing each other that are likely to be resting while others appear to be slightly alarmed. Some of the springboks are depicted standing while others are sitting with their legs crossed facing each other (east and west). In addition to the springboks, a kudu is also depicted at the scene; possibly a female one located slightly top left of the springbok's figures. There is also a zebra or Quagga "Eguus quagga guagag" figures located on top of the springbok herds facing south. There is also an animal, probably a rhino (its physical morphology) located lower right bottom on top of springbok figure. The animal is quite strange. Its head is missing and there is a small thin wiggly line on top of its hump. The last category is that of indeterminate group. Most of these figures are poorly persevered and we counted about 10 elements, located at the wash zone, but are barely recognisable. Among them is one indeterminate figure just beneath the main cluster of figures.







Figure 6.11 Top left image shows the original image of the panel indicating the location of figures on the panel. Bottom image is the DStretched image of the panel. While the bottom image shows the traced panel with only visible figures at the panel. Three Phases of overlapping exists. The earlier (phase 1) figures are painted in red color, succeeded by brown figures (2nd phase) while all orange figures are appearing in (3rd phase). The insert image has been DStretched at LDS 15cm scale.

The second panel located right side of the previous panel and immediately after a large fracture and some vegetation. The panel is oriented towards 134°SE while the figures are mostly facing east and few to the west. The panel is measuring 2m long and 10m high. The panel contains approximately 51 artworks, however the majority of these are partially faded. The artworks are executed at the bottom of the panel with less than 5cm space before the ground.

They are painted in red monochrome with some figures superimposed on each other and visible only from 2m ranges. However, those that have been superimposed are very difficult to deconstruct due to their poor state of conservation. Among the dominant figures at the panel are the 31 human figures, which consist mainly of male figures that have similar depictions, and scenes to those found at other sites. They are painted walking, in isolation, in pairs or groups bearing bows, arrows and sticks and to some extent quiver bags. Some are painted running, perhaps hunting, as they are following herds of animals. Among human figures, women only account for 3 figures and are depicted holding sticks and some are holding children in their hands. A total of 11 recognizable animal figures have been recorded at the panel, including small and large antelopes, mainly kudus that account for 2. There are also 2 springboks and 1 duiker buck. In addition, 1 quagga, 1 rhinos, 1 bee swarm, 3 bees have been recorded. Indeterminate animal figures account for 6 figures that appears to be faded as well as 4 completely indeterminate figures.

c.2.Associated Archaeology

Among the surface collection recorded in and surrounding the site included fragments of potteries, ostrich eggshells, a grinding stone, a pestle, hearths sediment and lithic artefacts of basalt and quartz origin from the Late Stone Age periods (Fig. 6.12). These artefacts are not in large quantity, hence the sites was likely used as a short-term living.



Figure 6.12 Shows sediments and some surface artefacts found in the shelter. The top image shows some stone tools with disturbed site sediments while the bottom image shows some fragments of potteries, debris from stone tools productions ans a pestle with brown pigments.
d.OWF39

SITE ID:OWF39Number of Panels:2Local Name:Fackelträger also 'Torchbearer Shelter'GPS Coordinates:E15° 33 3.61/S21° 33 27.86

d.1.Site Description

The well-known Fackelträger shelter is one of the prominent archaeological sites in Omandumba West Farm and it is located on the northwestern edge of the Erongo Mountains. It is found in a rocky outcrop (Fig. 6.13). 'Fackelträger' in the German language, means the 'Torchbearer' as a result of a prominent eponymous scene of nine women carrying torch-like objects (BREUIL et al., 1960:35). The site lies about 3.68 km southeast of Omandumba farmhouse and approximately 4 km south east of the main gravel road D2315 that run through Omandumba farms. The site is one of the most visited rock art sites in Omandumba West farm and is reached by driving on a small-established farm road from Omandumba West farmstead - by guided tours only. The shelter is located approximately 60m from Hoardabis River, one of the dry river tributaries of Omandumba West and about 12 feet from the bottom of the hill while the farm nearest the road is about 40m down.



Figure 6.13 Shows the location of Fackelträger site in the landscape. View from the northern side (site entry)

Various animal trails found in the vicinity of the site are found within 50m from the site. To the north of the site are the extensive grassy valleys fringing the escarpment with various outcrop intrusions, hill slopes, some semi-oval-shaped mountains with its foothills with extensive scatter of granitic boulders, some flood plain and flat valleys, while to the south east is another flat valley and a tangle of summits of hilly formations that form part of north western edges of the Erongo Mountain ranges. Accessibility to the site necessitates slight ascent on smooth granite rocks from the bottom of the hill. The shelter is sited on a large oval-shaped granite boulder at an altitude of 1235 m above the sea level and measures 12m wide, 3m deep and about 15m long and this is where most of the artworks are concentrated. The site comprises of two principal panels (OWF39a and OWF39b) located on this oval shaped boulder but giving different aspects and morphology.

Historically, the site was firstly documented by *Abbé* Breuil and his colleagues Ernst Scherz and Mary Boyle who focused mainly on rock paintings, resulting in their paperback publication titled "Anibib and Omandumba and other Erongo sites" of 1960. A systematic documentation of the site was carried out later by Dr. E.R. Scherz, (SCHERZ 1986) who recorded about 146 artworks comprised of 82 human figures (predominantly of men as evidenced by the hunting equipment they carry, and few women figures), as well as 86 animal representations including antelopes (the springboks were dominant and account for 64 individuals) about 9 giraffes, 3 ostriches and 10 indeterminable animal figures. Archaeologically, the site was excavated by Dr. W. E. Wendt in 1972 (WENDT 1972:10) as part of the "German Research Foundation" (Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, DFG project "Petroglyphs in South-western Africa" from 1968 whose work research objective was to establish a chronological position and archaeological context of rock art in the Erongo Mountains. Wendt's work in Erongo was later published by professor Jürgen Richter in a 1991 book entitled "Studien zur Urgeschichte Namibia's Afrika Praehistorica 3, Köln 1991".

Today, the site's overall rock art repertoire contain an excess of 202 total, recorded rock painting figures at both panels with the overwhelming majority displaying representations of animal figures that account for 90 and 76 human figures (both men and women) engaged in social activities, while the indeterminate category account for 36 figures and comprises of some animals and few human figures showing only few body parts because they are faded, some dots, ovals, circles resembling shoe soles in small dotted lines, lineal and objects with a visual resemblance of grass or torches.

d.1.1.Panel Id: OWF39a

The first panel OWF39a stands at 1235m, oriented 65° NE and measures about 7m long and 5m high. It serves as the face of this large boulder that forms the immediate focus of attention upon entering the shelter (Fig. 6.14). It is a light yellow coarse-grained boulder covered with brown crust. Underneath the boulder is a small liveable hollow/shelter with an opening measuring 4.1m long 3m high making it hospitable for human occupation.



Figure 6.14 Panoramic view of Panel OWF39a at Fackelträger site. View from the northern side (site entry) of the site. Picture taken in dry season (November 2016).

The panel contains a total of 34 rock-painting figures located mostly on the right side of the panel while occupying the middle part of the panel immediately above the entrance of the shelter facing 92°East. Of the 34 painted monochrome figures, 26 of these are painted in red while a total 8 have been painted in brown pigments (Fig 6.15).

However, only 27 out of 34 artworks are visible, the rest of other figures are partially exfoliated while some are only showing few blobs of paint. All the artworks at this panel are visible in less than 2m ranges and comprises of 15 anthropomorphic figures depicting mainly hunters in full bodies bearing their hunting weapons such as bows and arrows. These anthropomorphic representations are depicted in groups and are following herds of some animals. Such a scene reflects a life style of hunters in the hunter-gatherers society. Furthermore, human figures measure between 20cmx5cm, 20cmx4cm and 10cmx10.3cm respectively. About 11 recognizable figures have overlapped over each other, as shown in (Fig. 6.15).



Figure 6.15 Above shows a DStretch image of the panel. The bottom image shows reconstructed image of Panel OWF39a. On the left is the original figure while on the right image shows the location of figures on the panel. Below image is a traced panel with only visible figures at the panel. All figures at 10cm scale. The earlier (phase 1) figures are painted in red, brown figures are succeeding red figures (2nd phase) while only one figure in orange appear to be in the (3rd phase) as it has been superimposed on two figures. Stylistically, figures in 1st and 2nd phase share the same morphology but the springbok figure in the 3rd layer has its one ear outlined.

Apart from human figures, a total of 12 zoomorphic figures were recorded at the panel. Among the recorded zoomorphs are 4 headless oryxes measuring between 20cmx20cm to 7cmx8cm painted in red monochrome, 6 springboks and 2 indeterminate animal figures. Furthermore, the site contains extensive scatters of surface artefacts such as traces of burnt charcoal, brownish-grey hearths and soft ashy sediments, stone tools from basalt rocks and clear quartz (large cores and small flakes), pieces of pottery, ostrich eggshells fragments, some animal bones (probably recent) and a pestle without pigment stains. Such extensive surface collections and past excavation at the shelter indicated the extensive use of the site for habitation which fits in with other neighbouring sites from Leopard Cave, Etemba, Great Elephant shelter, Phillip Cave and, generally, the Erongo archaeological context. Some rock paintings at the panel shelter appear to be generally in a good condition while those located slightly below the panel faded and washed away to the point that even if they are detected by D-Stretch application, they could not be read. However, anthropic activities affecting the site and artwork are in a form of soil trampling, possible touching of artworks. Natural factors affecting the state artwork include extreme sun exposure, run-offs from rains and dassies' excreta as observed on the panel.

d.1.2.Panel Id: OWF39b

Located immediately at the rear from the previous panel is the second panel OWF39b facing 135° south east of the same boulder (Fig. 6.16). The panel stands at 1236 m above sea level. Accessibility to the panel is through a narrow passage flanked by a panel and an opposite boulder nearly leaning on the boulder that contains artwork. The panel contains similar geological features as observed at the panel OWF39a. This prominent panel measures 4.0m long and 2.03m high. Small and medium boulders that limit the movements of people characterize the panel's surface. Towards south, beneath the panel is large opening with strong evidence of human occupation, in form of sediments.



Figure 6.16 The image on the left show the shape of Panel OWF39b while the image at the bottom is the panoramic view of the panel.

The artworks at the panel are visible from a distance of less than 15m. The panel proves to be challenging to document because its topography is limited at the bottom by a cleft of the rock in front of the boulder. Here, a total number 169 of rock painting figures that spreads horizontally on the boulder have been recorded. They occupy the bottom and middle of the panel. The figures are oriented towards 250° SW and the painted surface stretches between 8m horizontally and 3m vertically from the bottom to where the artwork ends on top. All the artworks are painted in monochrome with few outlined while some of them are superimposed on each other but in the same color. About 120 figures are in painted red (mostly human and many antelopes) while 49 have been painted in brown colour – mainly giraffes, a tree and some other animal most of which have overlapped red figures.

Furthermore, of the 169 painted figures recorded at the panel, about 77 of these are anthropomorphs that are spread across the panel, found in different scenes and engaged in various activities. For instance, men, mostly hunters who account for 63 are depicted bearing hunting weapons in a form of bow, arrows, quivers and sticks and are shown following herds

of, for instance, springboks and ostriches while others are moving toward the south where all figures are facing. Women figures make up 14 in the repertoire. They are found at the top of the painted figures forming eponymous scene (Fig. 6.17).



Figure 6.17 Top image shows the DStretched photo of the entire panel. The bottom image presents a reconstructed Panel OWF39b. The earlier (phase 1) figures are painted in purple color which have been succeeded by orange figures (2nd phase) while all red figures are appearing in (3rd phase) as they have been superimposed all figures. All figures at 10cm scale.

They are shown standing and holding what Scherz has identified as torchers while information from the local San people from the Omandumba Living Museum suggests that they are likely harvesting grass for the construction of thatched rooms, or for making bags and mats, an activity that is mostly performed by women. Others are depicted pregnant, i.e. a pregnant woman standing slightly left on top of the *Aloe Dchotoma* tree on the panel while others are found at the bottom of the panel following a headless springbok.

Zoomorphs depictions at this panel account for 80 figures visible only from 15 m where a variety of animal figures such as a fully painted jackal in front of a large giraffe, about 9 giraffes that have been painted in three different styles: some are naturalistically depicted, some have their headlines and backlines only shown while the last one has its headline and neckline only depicted.

One of the giraffe is following a herd of springbok moving to towards left with its head and back shown only, two extremely large giraffe measuring 56cmx44cm standing majestically with its back next to a tree and another smaller giraffe slightly beneath the same tree measuring 40cmx7cm and another one found with its lower back superimposed at the lower bottom of "Aloe Dichotoma" tree while other three giraffes are found below the panel flanked by human figures, 1 wildebeest, about 4 outlined ostriches with slender legs with their necks and head clearly shown in front of the large giraffes and some fully depicted springboks which account for 60 in the repertoire who are shown moving calmly from the right of the panel to the left followed by human figures with a whip. A landscape feature in form of a phytomorphic figure depicting what appears to be an *Aloe Dichotoma* measuring 10.5cm long and 3.5cm width part of this panel record. A large giraffe has overlapped its lower part; hence, I could not establish whether it had roots or not. The figure is flanked by two large giraffes below facing opposite directions, one human figure (a pregnant woman) found at the top left and a headless springbok found at top right all facing left. The figure is of the dominant visual features at the panel in addition to two massive giraffes. Indeterminate figures accounting for 12 figures in the form of a faded and worn-out animal and human figures showing only few body parts, some fully filled dots, ovals, circles resembling shoes soles in small dotted lines, lineal and objects with visual resemblance of grass or torches. These figures are equally found across the panel and among scenes of identifiable features.

d.2. Associated Archaeology

Dr. W. E. Wendt excavated the site in 1972 (WENDT 1972:10) where fine, soft and ashy archaeological deposit in a form of spoils of heaps and sieves are still visible today. Wendt's research objectives were to establish a chronological position and archaeological context of

rock art generally in the Erongo Mountains. Here, was created in the B-section where an excavation trench of size 22 m^2 to a maximum of 165cm in depth was laid out immediately below the lower rock paintings (Fig. 3.7), which must have been used as a living space as indicated even today by the presence of surface collections in form of pieces of haematite stones, charcoal, lithic artefacts, disturbed grey soft ashy sediments at the site (Fig. 6.18). The site's high quantity of paintings with strong emphasis on women, its location in the landscape and direct access to immediate surrounding with good visibility of the landscape suggests that the sites was likely used as an aggregate camp.



Figure 6.18 Present some of the surface artefacts found in the shelter. In this photo are some stone tools, bones remains, pottery fragments and charcoal.

e.OWF42

SITE ID:OWF42Local name:Leopard CaveGPS Coordinates:E15° 33 17.67 /S21° 34 22

e.1.Site Description

Standing at an elevation of 1256m is Site and it's accessed by driving on the well-established farm road from nearby the Omandumba West farmstead or nearby rock art sites such as the Seal Shelter. The site commands a great view in the landscape, it is visible from more than 30m distances from its surrounding area even though small thorny bushes and trees flanked it. The site lies at the bottom of an imposing cretaceous granite massif overlooking the southernmost hill complex of the Erongo Mountains that marks the limit of Omandumba West Farm (Fig. 6.19).



Figure 6.19 Present site OWF42/Leopard Cave. View from the western side of the site.

This shallow cave shelter is found in a coarse-grained spheroidal red granite boulder with predominant brown protective crust that has been flaked off as a result of large-scale exfoliation revealing a smooth hard reddish color beneath its surface despite the fact that granite is comparatively resistant to weathering. The site has another immediate site Mathieu Boulder, which is found in 1-minute walk east of this site. Today, various animals are seen in the vicinity of the site and its immediate surroundings. These include but are not limited to

birds, tortoises, rodents, rock dassies, baboons, some small antelopes as well as the leopard that was occasionally seen in the site, from which the site got its name.



Figure 6.20 Left image shows the interior of Leopard Cave open-air Cave Shelter. The excavation area is shown in the middle. The bottom image indicates the location of figures (pointed arrow).

The boulder appears to be stable on the ground and is flanked by other detached boulders of various shapes and sizes forming picturesque pedestals of the imposing massif behind it. Like most of the sites in the Omandumba farms, this site has also direct access to the immediate terrains and other natural infrastructures (resources), i.e., the nearest water point, a non-perennial river (500m), an excellent view of the surrounding landscape and animals that roam in it, as well as access to raw materials (basalt deposits) for stone tool production as the site configurations and settings was suitable for human habitation. The site is located at strategic location that requires knowledge of this area in a form of trails systems that navigate through difficult terrains, the knowledge of game trails, hunting strategies, procurement of wild food around this area and knowing the location of water sources. This rock shelter is slightly larger compared to other cave shelters in the Omandumba farms (Fig.620). It is with a dimension of about $50m^2 7$ meters side of which about half of it is covered by granite boulders.



Figure 6.21 Shows the location of the artworks on the panel. All original imaged are painted in red monochrome No superimpositions of elements have been recorded at the panel. Therefore, all the figures falls under the same phase, which is the earlier (Phase 1).

It has a concave entrance forming an overhang with a diameter of 7m while it is oriented at 180°S. Some part of its ceiling is covered with a shiny, thin coating layer of brown to dark marks probably caused by fire while edges of the overhang have some white patches caused by water seepages. It is evident that rainwater flows over in the ceiling creating some wash zone flows weathering the cave shelter even more obscuring the site content. Besides being archaeologically disturbed today (2016), the cave floor contains soft and fine grey to ashy deposits and traces of small animal bones probably brought in by predators. Paintings spread on 2.6m long surface and 7m high overhang. This key archaeological site in Omandumba West host's approximately16 rock paintings concentrated west of the cave shelter at the bottom (Fig. 6.21)

They are visible only from 1m distances as they mostly very small and in very poor state of conservation. This resulted from various contributing factors including anthropogenic actions - extreme dust from past and present site's excavations as well as by animals that shelter in the cave. This, in combination with the natural factors such as run-offs has ensured that paintings remained obscured and difficult to identify even on DStretch application. The fact that the paintings are painted in red pigment – one of the poorly preserved colour in the corpus meant that their current state of conservation is inevitably poor. Today, few blobs and traces of pigments are visible at some places of wall that proved that there were once a number of paintings but are now completely faded. Those that are recognisable comprised of game, human figures and some unidentified figures most of which have been monochromically – fully painted in red. No elements of superimposition have been recorded yet. However, among the 12-recorded figures recorded, 4 are anthropomorphs representations, whose identities were difficult to establish. Zoomorphs figures account for 4 recognizable figures. They include, a headless giraffe, an unidentified antelope, a duiker buck and a fully painted giraffe head. The category of indeterminate figures comprised of 4 elements adjacent to other figures, whose identity could not be determined s they do not containing any diagnostic features.

e.2.Associated Archaeology

The extensive scientific investigation of the site from 2007 and subsequently periodically until 2016 led to diverse stratigraphic sequences containing a succession of human occupation layers from Later Stone Age site assemblages. Among the artefacts recovered is a wide range of stone and bone tools and ornamental elements, ceramics in combination with

highly fragmented bones of wild animals. Amid fauna corpus, are caprice (sheep or goat) bones and teeth of the oldest remains of domestic animals in the entire southern African region, dated about 2300 years ago (Pleurdeau et al., 2012). Other notable discovery at the sites were the fragmented human bones associated with burial practices "cremation" dating from about 6000 years BP (Pleurdeau 2014). These elements document burial practices of pre-pastoralists in the region, which are still largely unknown. Perhaps the most important finds directly related to the production of rock paintings are the *in situ* pigmented grinding stone and pestles artefacts (see Fig. 4.3.8 or Fig. .2.2.10: and Fig. 5.2.2.11) in Layer (P7) in association of materials dating between 3200 and 3500 BP (PLEURDEAU 2016). Such findings are currently (at a time of writing this thesis) under various analysis including pigment analysis as well as possible dating should they contain organic materials. In addition to the recovered *in situ* pigmented artefacts, the clearance of excavation of the square P7 in 2015 has revealed the presence of a deposit of pigment similar to those present to the top of the upper limit of the sediment before the excavation (see Fig. 5.14). These are also undergoing scientific study.

The sites physical morphology (large cave shelter with a lot of space) as well as its location in the landscape (with useful natural infrastructure nearby e.g. basalt rocks for - stone tools production, rivers as well as direct access to immediate surrounding with good visibility of the landscape made it ideal for long –term stay site.

f.OWF46

SITE ID:OWF46Local name:Priests ShelterNumber of panels:2GPS Coordinates:E15° 32 48.66/S21° 34 45.44

f.1.Site Description

Rising at 1301m above other plains is site OWF9, one of the southernmost sites locally known as the Priest shelter. The site is situated on a last prominent topographical and geographical rocky ridge located on the northern granitic hill of the Erongo Mountains marking the limit of Omandumba West farm on the path leading to the Posten Korichas ridge and the southern most hills of Omandumba farmstead (Fig. 6.22) below.



Figure 6.22 Shows the panoramic view of the Priest Shelter (red arrow). The boulder hosting the site leans on the Ostrich shelter boulder.

The site overlooks the northern sites of Leopard Cave shelter located at the bottom of a cretaceous granite massif to the north, as well as its eastern site of OWF45, which is found on a relatively large round boulder on a small outcrop. Its nearest water points are approximately 10m in the form of a deep large pool northeast of the site and 300m from the river south of the site. The site's landscape is surrounded by a series of relatively tightly enclosed flat plateau with various boulders where the other two sites adjacent to each other. Access to the site is challenging requiring an odious climbing on steep hills as the site is located on top of a plateau.

f.1.1.Panel Id: OWF46a also the Rhino Panel

The Rhino Panel is the first panel reached when entering the sites. It stands at 1300m elevations. Its painted surface has a dimension of about 3.4m long and 2.5m high and it is oriented towards 102° E. The panel is unfortunately exposed to the sun throughout the day g and this position made recording very challenging. Since its painted surface is equally

yellowish, most of the artworks, especially those painted in faded red could barely be seen (Fig.6.23). Those that were recorded are visible from a range of less than 3m.



Figure 6.23 Shows the panoramic view of the Priest Shelter. The extension of panel OWF46a towards north (right) of the panel

The panel's repertoire contains 30 figures spread around a 1.2m horizontally layer of the sloping boulder. Most of the figures are monochromically painted in red with few painted in deep red, while a few have been outlined. Here, we have also recorded few elements that have been superimposed on other elements. Anthropomorphic figures dominate and account for 21 artwork. They are, however, in a poor state of conservation with many faded while others are only visible through the DStretch application. They comprise mainly of 19 hunter distinguished mostly by their physical morphology and equipments they carry. They all appear to be in a migration scene, and are carrying some large and many unidentified objects facing left, south of the panel where other panels are found. While only 2 female figures were recorded in the human repertoire.

Zoomorphs figures account for 3 figures at the panel depicting 2 rhinoceros have been superimposed over with numerous faded human figures as well as 1 unidentified small antelope. Both rhino depictions are in brown pigment. They are well detailed and seldom have their magnificent U-shaped horns, prominent ears, tails tips, while their bodies are well proportioned and naturalistic and a clear duplication of the living ones. They have been produced in two techniques of execution, mainly partially outline and fully painted. Furthermore, they are both characterized by their pronounced hump, and they appear to be walking and steadily with their heads up as if they have been alarmed and both have concave backs. Their front horns are much larger and longer than the inner horns and have been represented and executed in two different styles: the larger and entirely outlined one is measuring 22.5cmx10cm in size, located in front of the fully painted one.



Figure 6.24 The top image shows a DStretched image of the panel. The bottom image shows reconstructed image of Panel OWF46a. Top left is the original image of the painted panel while the image on the right shows the locations of traced figures on the panel. Below image is a traced panel.

It is fully outlined in brown pigment and presented with a bulky body and short legs while its ears and front legs have been outlined first and then filled in with paint. It is depicted walking following a large group of people with several other weakly painted human figures in red beneath it - probably (older human figures) where the animal has been superimposed on. Moreover, only two of its legs (frontal and hind) are shown, while its nose and eyes have been omitted possibly because the figures have been painted in a perspective view. A second rhino is located immediately behind the first one, measuring 16cmx8cm in size. The figure has been fully painted, outlined first and then its body was filled in with brown paint. It is slightly smaller than the first one, but with a very pronounced concaved back, prominent shoulder hump and a very well defined stomach lining (Fig.6.24). This rhino appear to be very alarmed and depicted walking steadily, following the one ahead of it with its upper body elevated. Its two frontal thick legs have also been shown while only one of its hind legs is shown. Although they have been well executed. I could not establish their identities of the rhino - black or white rhinos because their physical morphology is quite similar. However, it is possible that, the use of two panting techniques by the painter was intended to distinguish between a white and black rhino – no evidence for this.

Even though the presence of two different painted rhinos on the same panel is quite unusual in the rock painting of Namibia, their presence at the site was not particularly surprising given the fact that the rhinoceros plays a role of the crucial cultural significance in the huntergatherer rock art tradition of southern Africa. It is regarded as one of the rainmaking animals (OUZMAN 1996; HOLLMANN & LEWIS-WILLIAMS 2006). Besides, the site occupies one of the powerful position in landscape, therefore, its position in the landscape, the location of other rock art sites in the same locality, the type of artworks found, as well as other associated archaeology, suggests that the site's function might have probably been a ceremonial place. Furthermore, being the only animal species presented at the panel, its presence here must have also suggested it might have thrived well and in abundance especially in this locality as it is well vegetated with the presence of water points. Today, they are still roaming in this area, although under difference contexts.

The last category is that of the indeterminate figures 6. As had been observed at previous sites, figures in this group at this panel include some forms like circles and those with basic anatomical features such as legs, body that form part of the zoomorphic group but lack

sufficient vital diagnostic features while others are simply too faded to be identified completely.

f.1.2.Panel Id: OWF46b also the "Priests Shelter"

Located immediately real of the previous panel boulder is the Priests Shelter, also OWF46b, which stands at an elevation of 1301m. The "Priests shelter" (Fig. 6.25) is oriented towards 180°S and is facing the well know "Strauße" or the Ostrich shelter. The Panel got its name from three prominent human figures wearing robes with a visual resemblance of dresses worn today by priests.



Figure 6.25 Shows the panoramic view of the Priest Shelter. The extension of panel OWF46a towards north (right) of the panel.

The shelter is formed as a result of three large boulders leaning against each other and meeting at the top to create a rather narrow small shelter capable of sheltering few people and it is in front is some vegetation. However, there were very few recorded surface collections in the form of lithic artefacts made from basalt rocks similar to the Late Stone Age assemblages found in most of the rock art sites, but there is no indication that the site was occupied. The painted panel measures 2m long and 1.2m high while the artworks are facing west following the boulder's movement. However, the panel shape is convex bulging outward making it difficult to photograph the entire panel with all its figures.

The space between the boulders and the roof of the boulders is constrained and confined, a condition that made it difficult to photograph and document the site; it was an arduous procedure as the opposite boulder is equally bulging from behind limiting the movements. There are two indeterminate figures that have been overlapped by human figures and a stick (a cane – being hold by a human figure) recorded at the panel. These have been painted originally in faded red and therefore in the 1st phase.



Figure 6.26 Top image shows a DStretched image of the Panel. The bottom image shows reconstructed image of Panel OWF46b. Top left is the original image of the panel. The figure in the middle shows a DStretched image of the panel while the image on the right shows the locations of traced figures on the panel. Below image is a traced panel.

The movement of the artworks at both panels follows the natural morphology of the rock surface. Hence, they are seen interacting with the natural surface of the rock. In total, the panel repertoire registered only17 figures (Fig. 6.26), visible from 2m ranges. All figures can only be seen while standing. They have all been fully painted in red monochrome, with one (human) outlined and partially in-filled with paint. Almost all the figures at the panel, especially the human figures, are sloping down into a crevice which they are walking towards, giving an impression that they are crossing either a natural barrier in a terrain or are of a supernatural character such as a crossing point into the spirit world, but other possible explanations could be considered. Anthropomorphic figures account for 6 figures. They are well preserved owing to absence of sunlight throughout the day as well as their position they occupy on the pane.

Among anthropomorphs are three human (also priests) figures measuring between 41cmx9cm and 14cmx9cm in sizes. The most prominent human figure at the panel and one of the principal human figures in our study areas is that of the well-known "Priest" measuring 41cmx09cm – painted in red monochrome and located slightly at the bottom of other figures while facing west. This human figure is well detailed and even more naturalistic than most of other human representations in the study. It is depicted bearing an object – seemingly a torch or calabash like object on the right hand with other hand is not clearly visible. The larger human representations stand out more clearly because of their size and their state of conservation. The other two "priests" measures between 32cmx8cm and 28cmx6cm in sizes and are equally well detailed, and wearing some kind of long dresses similar to modern day priest clothes. The first priest figure (top left) is shown with its head down and is depicted without legs while the last one (right bottom) is shown holding what is likely to be a cane – walking stick, which is being reached by another human figure in front. The last two human figures are juxtapositioned right next to the prominent priest figure while superimposed on a large, stretched unidentified figure. They are likely to be men, and one of them is shown bearing a bow while the other with his arm starched straight.

Verena Börner (BÖRNER 2013) who studied the site's artworks in relation to shamanistic perspective found the artworks rather challenging to interpret. She, however, gave a general description of the site morphology corresponding to our initial observations of the site and its surroundings, the secluded position it occupies in the landscape, the type of artworks and the virtual absence of other surface collection like ceramic artefacts and sediment with the

exception of some few stone tools and two stone structures (that look like possible graves), which indicate that the site was indeed not of a living character rather than a possible ceremonial. Börner is of the opinion that the presence of these three possible figures, including the prominent 'priest' figure must be significant, not only to the painter, but also because its powerful chosen location. Clothed representations of human figures such as these found at this site are undoubtedly some of the uncommon figures in of Namibian rock art. The site repertoire also contains 10 indeterminate figures most of are placed adjacent to human figures. Among them is a large stretched sheet like object superimposed by human figures. The other indeterminate figures are according to the local San men - chunks of meat, which could represent haunches of large antelopes or giraffes. These types of figures are among some of the common artworks in painting figures in Omandumba and they are found almost at sites where people are found carrying objects while travelling or migrating.

f.2.Associated Archaeology

Just immediately in front of the Priests shelter and Ostrich shelter (site OWF47) are two small large stone structures giving impression that they could be graves. This assumption was supported by the fact that even the site settings, its topography and the type of artworks and its surrounding scape looked like a ceremonial place. For this reason, two test excavations in two stone structures were carried out by David Pleudeau and his French team back in 2007, but did not recover any human remains, nor did they recover any other archaeological materials. The main research question was to find out whether the structures constituted a burial ground, this is given the fact that there are few prehistoric burials in archaeological excavations in Namibia (see SANDELOWSKY 2004; MORRIS 2008).



Figure 6.27 Shows one of the stone structure clustered between two sites (OWF46 & OWF47)

g.OWF47

SITE ID:OWF47Local name:'Die Strauße" or Ostrich ShelterGPS Coordinates:E15° 32 48.85/S21° 34 45.46

g.1.Site description

The Ostrich shelter is found immediately south of the previous two other panels (Priests and Rhino panels) of site OWF46 (Fig. 6.28). The site stands at 1301m. Geomorphologically, the site has been formed as a result of a massive woolsack block resting on low elongated blocks and an underlying rock structures creating a narrow gap of low ceiling of about 1m opening whose surface has been coated with a whitish natural mineral efflorescence where the artworks are mounted in the ceiling. The site is only visible from 10m distances in the landscape as its surroundings are covered with shrubs.



Figure 6.28 The top image shows the panoramic view of the Ostrich Shelter. The red arrow indicates the gap opening of the site where the artworks are mounted on the ceiling. The bottom image shows the up close image of the site. The two images were taken at two different seasons.

Due to the narrowness of the gap opening and the extreme restraining posture, accessing the artwork compels a carefully manoeuvre and crawling through that narrow opening. This opening faces 90° east while the figures are oriented to the same direction giving the impression that they are emerging from the rock similar to those scenes associated with supernatural world observed for instance at site OWF5c. The artworks at this site are some of the few artworks in our study area that are well preserved. They are only visible upon viewing them on the ceiling from less than 1m ranges. Like the previous site OWF46, Verena Börner equivalently documented this site in 2013. No elements of superimposition were recorded at the site. Here, only 6 rock-painting figures were recorded. They have all been painted in brown monochrome, with one giraffe head outlined with a single line. Almost the figures are facing the interior of the shelter with an exception of a human figure. Among the figures is 1 human figure depicted running seemingly out of the rock. BÖRNE (2013:111) described it a 'running humanoid' figure on top of an ostrich facing the opposite direction from the where the ostrich is facing. In addition, about 2 zoomorphs in a form of two ostriches with their necks stretched out. Zoomorphs depictions account for 3 figures, comprising of 2 fully painted ostriches and 1 outlined giraffe head. In addition, 2 indeterminate figures have also been recorded adjacent to the animal figures.



Figure 6.29 Shows reconstructed image of Panel OWF47. Top left is the original image of the panel. The image to the right shows a DStretched image of the panel while the bottom image is a traced panel.

The site's artwork have been painted in the ceiling of a rock crevice, even more rarely placed in a position that is inaccessible, not easily visible, in a surrounding that similarly contains the other unusual site (the Priests shelter) and equally unusual stone structures accumulates clustered in front of two sites. It is likely that the site's content was for private view. Verena Börner (BÖRNER 2013:111) who documented the site and its content interpreted the artworks and the site as sanctuary of ritual space where ceremonial activities might have been performed. She further stressed that their anthropic figures, as well as its unusual location of the paintings, put them in a context, which must be outside the profane area. The fact that the sites in these localities are isolated from the usual natural infrastructure, with unusual depictions supports the hypothesis that these sites were likely to be hermitage places.

g.2. Associated Archaeology:

No surface archaeological collection.

h.OWF50

SITE ID:OWF50Local Name:Tuba RockGPS Coordinates:E15° 31 55.25/S21° 34 50.019

h.1.Site Description

Located on one of a higher elevation of 1310m is Site OWF50 locally known as Tuba Rock. It lies at the foot of a southern granite hill slope with its top covered extensively by compacted and loose boulders (Fig. 6.30 & 6.31). The site overlooks the ravine and valleys and its adjacent to a cluster of additional five sites (OWF51-0WF55). The boulder hosting the artworks must have broken from the hilltop coming to rest at the bottom of the slope where a fair extensive scatters of many boulders forms a picturesque pedestal of boulders with various sizes. The site is oriented toward 315° NW with an excellent view of the flat plains overlooking a large open valley.





Figure 6.30 The top image shows the panoramic view of the site OWF50. The red arrow indicates the location of the site. The bottom image shows the up close image of the site. The two images were taken at two different seasons

It is a yellowish smooth boulder resting on the ground showing evidence of weathering where a dark crust has been peeled off exposing a hard lighter color beneath it. Access to the sites is by driving in the valleys in the well-established farm road from Omandumba Farmstead, the direction of the southern-most campsites in Omandumba West farm. The site is then reached by walking directly to the boulder because it's adjacent to the road. The panel surface containing the artwork measures 3m high and 3.5m long.

It hosts about 46 rock painting figures painted mainly in brown and few in red pigment. Elements of superimposition of figure at this panel are eminent. However, it is quite difficult to establish which of the superimposed figures overlap or precedes the other especially among figures painted in the same colour with the same paint consistency. The artworks at this panel are presented in a generalized horizontal plane. The majority are placed at the extreme bottom of the panel while few occupies the middle of panel. Two clusters of figures exist, each with a concentrated number of artworks (Fig. 6.33 and Fig. 6.34). The first cluster contains only 8 figures while majority of figures are found in the first cluster located at the extreme bottom left of the panel nearly touching the ground where their visibility is reduced to 1m ranges while the second cluster consists 8 figures located at the middle right of the panel with a noticeable giraffe seen from a distance of less than 15m ranges.



Figure 6.31 Shows the close up image of Tuba Rock/site OWF50. The two clusters are located at the extreme left (bottom – cluster 2) and towards right (cluster 1 as shown by pointed arrows).

Out of the total number of 46-recorded figures, about 22 are anthropomorphs depicting mainly hunters and few women in possession of what appear to be Tuba instruments – from

where the site got its name. They are very detailed and shown in different postures such as standing on top of most probably logs and trees with their arms stretched out while others appears to be dancing and walking on the ground. Among the 22 anthropomorphs recorded, a total 18 are men, as attested by their physical morphology with characteristics such as being taller and slender with flat bellies, small buttocks, broad shoulders and to some extend with their erect penises.

A total of 4 women figures were also identified at the panel. They are similarly shown carrying short sticks – tuba instruments in their mouth and distinguished hairstyles. Thick thighs, large buttocks and bellies defines women with some shown holding children They are mostly depicted standing, walking, dancing while some are kneeled down.



Figure 6.32 Shows reconstructed image of Panel OWF50, CLUSTER 1. Top left is the original image of the panel. The image to the right shows a DStretched image of the panel at YLD 15cm scale. The bottom image is a traced panel. Here, two phases of superimpositions are clearly shown. The 1st phase in red and the 2nd phase are in brown colour.

Animal figures are the least represented, accounting for 11 in total. Among those represented includes 5 naturalistic painted giraffes with dimensions of 16cmx12cm, 14cmx11cm, 11cmx10cm, 9cmx8cm and 9cmx7cm respectively. The larger giraffe is superimposed on

two trees emerging from its neckline and headline as well as two human figures one standing on top of its neck while the other seemingly walking on its backline. Three are fully painted in brown monochrome while the other two, are outlined in red showing only the headline, neckline and their backline. In addition, we have also recorded about 3 kudus, where two are found in the main cluster located at the bottom of the panel painted in brown flanked by trees and human figures. The first kudu measuring 12cmx3cm, located on the extreme left appears to be superimposed on treetop while the second one measuring 8cmx3cm is found in eroded brown pigments. The last recorded kudu measuring 5cmx3cm is positioned among the second cluster. There are also some landscape compositions showing trees and possibly logs.

A total of 6 tree figures measuring between 13cmx1cm, 12cmxcm, 10cmx1cm and 9cmx1cm have been recorded. About five of these are spread around at the bottom of the panel, adjacent to but do not contact each other. Several figures appear to be superimposed on them but we cannot establish which figures overlap or precede the other as they are painted with the same color. Furthermore, the trees have well-defined stalks, growing slightly wider towards the top with small parallel strokes possibly branches with a couple of human figures standing, dancing and even walking on top of them while others are not well defined. Two of the trees are found in the mix of other figures slightly above those found at extreme bottom also with human figures standing on them.





Figure 6.33 Top shows a DStretched image of the entire Panel. The bottom images shows reconstructed image of Panel OWF50, CLUSTER 2. Top left is the original image of the panel. The image to the right shows a DStretched image of the panel at LDS 15cm scale. The bottom image is a traced panel. Here, three phases of superimpositions are shown. The 1st phase in red and the 2nd phase are figures in brown colour and the 3rd phase are outlined animal figures in orange.

The category of indeterminate elements account for 10 figures at the panel. Similar to those recorded at other sites, most of the indeterminate form in poor syte state of conservation. Most of them are partially exfoliated while some do not have any recognisable shapes. These artworks are juxtapositioned among other figures without contacts. Generally, most of the artworks are in well preserved, however, the panel's position on the ground made them more susceptible to both human and natural induced factors such as dust coating from road and diggings from animals.

h.2.Associated Archaeology

Only a single small fragment of pottery (Fig. 6.35) was discovered at the bottom of the panel. This particular fragment appears to be slightly burned on one side and measures about 3cmx4cm. However, it is possible that if there were other surface artefacts, they might have been reburied due to sand accumulations beneath the panel or worse picked up by visitors –as it is one of the most visited sites in the farm. The site's likely to function as casual ritual sites as per (LENSSEN-ERZ 2001: 285) classification of sites. This assumption is supported by the fact that the site has significantly more paintings, its not habitable, because of low intensity of usage (with very limited surface artefacts) other than paintings. It is therefore, possible that the artworks depicted at the site may have serve as hot spot for communications.



Figure 6.34 Shows a piece of pottery found below the panel.

i.OWF52

SITE ID:OWF52Number of panels:2Local names:Crown and Bee swarm BoulderGPS Coordinates:E15° 31 54.45/S21° 34 50.1

i.1.Site Description

OWF52 is located immediately in front of site OWF51 and 12 meters - west of Tuba Rock (Fig 6.1.31). The boulder lies perpendicular to the ground and is located at a foothill of the mountain range where various boulders of different sizes rests on the ground - like the previous sites (Fig. 6.36). The site also has an immediate access to the terrains, especially from the nearby river, about (200m east).



Figure 6.35 Shows the panoramic view of the site OWF52. The red arrow indicates the location of the site.

This large granitic boulder is coarse-grained structure predominantly of pinkish and yellowish color with a hard smooth surface that appears slightly weathered with exfoliation observed on the boulder. Such weathering patterns are a general nature of granite expanding and fracturing. There is vegetation growing near the site especially far right while its topography is limited due to the presence of a small boulder in front of it. During dry season, the boulder is clearly visible from a distance of 1km but shortly after rain, the boulder is not



clearly visible as vegetation and grass cover fairly obscures its visibility (see Fig. 6.37).

Figure 6.36 Shows the location of the site at the bottom of the foothill (red arrow). The picture was taken immediately after rainy season.

The site contains two panels, namely the 'Crown Panel also OWF52a panel and Bee swarm panel or OWF52b panel. The Crown panel is the prominent panel and serves as the first entry panel while the Bee swarm panel is located immediately behind Crown panel and accessed through a narrow passage where various paintings including that of swarms of bees are mounted. The site was initially documented by *Abbé* Breuil and his team (BREUIL 1960) and named it the "Crown Boulder" a name derived from a prominent crown like figure clearly visible at the centre of the prominent panel. While Bee swarm panel got its name from a 'wave like fleck of bees' structure made of small brushstrokes. The state of conservation of the artworks at both panels varies from good to poor.

i.1.1.Panel Id: OW52a:

Locally "Crown Boulder" stands at 1310m, measuring between 10.5 high and 1.9m long. The painted surface measures between 1.2m long and 0.3m high only. The panel is oriented at 90° East while the figures are facing 180° south with the artworks clustered at the bottom of the panel towards west (Fig. 6.38).



Figure 6.37 The top image shows the panoramic view of Panel OWF52a while the bottom image shows a DStretched image of the first cluster of figures at the Panel.

The artworks at this panel are visible from less than 15m ranges. Here, animal figures are predominant and are painted in full bodies in reddish pigment. Here, about 65 rock-painting figures have been recorded. These artworks spread horizontally and occupying mostly the middle and bottom of the panel. Most of the artworks are in a good state of conservation at this panel but some have been completely while some are partially washed off by rains run-offs. Superimposed figures are quite many at the panel with brown figures superimposed on red figures. Almost all the figures at this site are fully painted in monochrome (red or brown), while some animals have been outlined.





Figure 6.38 Shows reconstructed image of Panel OWF52a. The top images have been stitched together and DStretched at LDS 15cm scale. The bottom image shows the traced figures at the panel. Here, three phases of superimpositions are shown. The 1st phase in red and the 2nd phase are figures in brown colour and the 3rd phase are outlined animal figures in orange.

Anthropomorphic figures are the most dominant form of figures at this panel and accounts for 41. Most of them are so small, slender and thin measuring between 5cmx2cm, 4cmx2cm, 3cmx2cm and 2cmx1cm respectively (Fig. 6.39). About 36 of the total recorded, have been identified as male figures depicting mainly hunters. They are, portrayed in singly, pairs and groups of four or more mainly walking and carrying their usual hunting implements i.e. bow and arrows, possibly spears, sticks and quivers that are very detailed. They are shown hunting, running, carrying unidentified objects while following different herds of animals.

Furthermore, some of them have been observed seated closely behind the animals while one strange figure of a long, thin and slender man carrying unidentified object with visual resemblance of a torch is seen standing straight behind an outline figure of a buffalo probably carrying its baby inserting that particular object in its body from its tail. The remaining 5 figures have been identified as women depicted in a scenes with men walking in groups.

Zoomorphs depictions account to 13 figures comprising of 6 giraffes measuring between 57cmx40.5cm, 40.6cmx20.4cm, 21.2cmx15cm, 14cmx10cm, 12cmx9cm and 10cmx9cm. On the larger giraffe, fully painted in brown monochrome, there are three human figures superimposed on it (on its feet and beneath its neck) and one outlined probably a springbok back also at its feet. The second giraffe, fully painted in monochrome red, is located immediately above the 'Crown' figure with its neck stretched horizontally while the second giraffe has its backline and neckline outlined while its lower body and headline is fully painted in brown with few lineal figures superimposed on it. Other giraffes only have their backline and headline shown in profile while other remaining giraffes are also fully painted in brown color but one is headless.

In addition to giraffes, an outlined eland have also been recorded measuring 12cmx8cm found immediately below the crown figure in front of a giraffe and flanked by an Oryx, 2 springboks, one headless and one fully painted measuring between 10cmx6cm and 5cmx4cm, an outlined eland measuring 14cmx6cm, 1 oryx measuring 9cmx4cm, 1 kudu measuring 7cmx6cm and 1 feline possibly a leopard measuring 7cmx5cm. Apart from identified figures, abstract figures in a form of linear figures superimposed mainly on animal and human figures as well as a crown like figure measuring 18cmx6cm and accounts for 5 elements have also been recorded. The category of indeterminate contains a number of 6 figures on the panel. The artworks at this panel range from good to poor state of conservation. Overall, the boulder is susceptible to erosion as a result of rain run-offs.

i.1.2.Panel Id: OWF52b

Panel OWF4b or the Bee swarm is located immediately behind 240° southwestern side of the Crown panel on the same boulder (Fig.6.39). The panel dimension 10.3m long and 6.14m high. It is accessed through interior walls of a narrow passageway flanked by a boulder adjacent to the boulder where the artworks have been mounted.



Figure 6.39 Top image is a panoramic view of Panel OWF52b while the bottom image shows the DStretched image of the first two clusters of figures at the site.

The panel stands at 1312m and comprise of three clusters of figures depicting 23 figures (Fig. 6.40). The artworks are visible greater than 15m range.

About 11 are very small anthropomorphs measuring between 3cmx2cm and 2cmx1cm depicting mainly hunters without weapons. Six of the depicted male figures are found in the first cluster and appears to be running away from the flecks of bees at the bottom of the swarms that seems to be pursuing them. The seventh running hunter is seen below the running men also facing the entrance of the panel to the left while the eighth men is seen inside the swarms immediately above a phytomorphic figure, likely to be an *Aloe Dichotoma*. While three are found at the second and third clusters following the surface of the boulder to the south where another swarm of bees flanked bees flying on top of two human figures on the wall.

Here, about 8 zoomorphic figures have been recorded. They are depicting an outlined giraffe located above the first bee swarm on the first cluster shown only with its headline and backline measuring 4cmx0.1cm. There are also dense concentrations of short paint strokes,
more of less the same in length juxtapositioned near human figures depicting what appears to be swarms of small insects, possibly flecks of bees. The flecks are arranged in a semi circular sweep.



Figure 6.40 Shows reconstructed image of Panel OWF52B. Three images at the site have been stitched together. Figures have been DStretched at LDS & LRE 15cm scale.

The swarm in the first cluster is measuring 45.8cmx 8.7cm while the second one in the third cluster measuring approximately 21cmx18cm with approximately 4 bees with wings juxtapositioned immediately on top of the swarm. What was surprising at this panel is the fact that just immediately right of the panel is a honeybee colony mounted on the adjacent rock. Here, all the artworks are painted exclusively in brown monochrome. One well-executed phytamorphic figure is found in the first cluster most probably an *Aloe Dichotoma* measuring 6.5cmx0.01cm surrounded by some older faded strokes that appear to be overlapped by the strokes. The category of indeterminate comprised of 6 figures. This group of figures are poorly preserved and do not have any diagnostic features that enables their identification.

i.2.Associated Archaeology

The only surface collection found and recorded at the panel was a pottery fragment.



Figure 6.41 Shows a piece of pottery found below the panel.

j.OWF56

SITE ID:OWF56Local name:Elephant WallGPS Coordinates:E15° 31 50.59/S21° 34 24.33

j.1.Site Description

The last site in Omandumba West farm in this study is the Elephant Wall also site OWF56. It's the westernmost of all sites in Omandumba Farms. It is an enormous, yellowish and uninterrupted expanse of a smooth granitic wall that lies vertically while facing 30° North (Fig. 6.42). It stands at an elevation of 1317m. Its painted surface measures approximately 30m long and about 15 high. The Elephant Wallis among those documented by *Abbé* Breuil in 1960s, (BREUIL 1960). The granite wall is visible from as far as 1km but the artworks are only visible from about 3m range.



Figure 6.42 Present the panoramic view of Panel OWF56

This open-air site is one of the most easily accessible sites in the Omandumba Farms. It is accessed by walking directly to the site from the farm road from Omandumba farmstead leading to the far western campsite slightly south of this very same wall. From a distance, the wall is surrounded by tall dry grass and thorny vegetation in a form of shrubs and medium acacia trees and some blue-leaved corkwood (*commiphora glaucescens*) that cover its northern face. Commonly evergreen white truck shepherd tree also' *boscia albitrunca*' is growing onto the granite wall of the site (Fig. 6.43)



below:

Figure 6.43 The left image shows the location of the site in the landscape (red arrow). View from north west of the site. The tight picture shows the shepherd tree growing onto the painted Wall. All pictures were taken after rainy season.

The figures scatter in the middle of the wall reachable by an average height and are facing 112° towards east where many rock art sites are to be found. Being slightly at a high altitude, the site provides an excellent view of kopjes, summits and hills surrounding the western valleys of the Erongo Mountains. Due to the presence of superimposition of figures in some pigment samples no greater than 20g were collected for mineral characterization by means of X-ray diffraction (XRD) and micro-Raman spectroscopy to determine the source of minerals used in the pigments at the site (see Fig. 5.18). The site's repertoire contains 51 figures recorded at four clusters with 11m apart (Fig. 6.45). Paintings on this wall are executed mainly in red, brown monochrome. They occupy several positions on the panel. Those in the first cluster are found at the extreme lower bottom of the panel, the second cluster are located in the middle towards bottom while those in the third cluster are found in the middle of the panel.



Figure 6.44 Shows reconstructed image of Panel OWF56. The top two images represents 2 clusters of figures, and they have all been DStretched at LDS 15cm scale. The bottom image shows the traced figures at the panel. Here, three phases of superimpositions are shown. The 1st phase in red and the 2nd phase are figures in brown & black colours and the 3rd phase are outlined animal figures in orange.

Among the recorded artworks, anthropomorphs are dominant. Some occur in singly while others are shown in pairs of what is likely to be intimate interactions while others are in groups. Anthropomorphs depictions accounts for 20 figures, with majority of the figures predominant of males 18 shown in different postures i.e. hunting scenes bearing their hunting tools. Women only account for 2 figures in the anthropomorphic repertoires. They are distinguished by their hairstyles, body shape, and breasts and are shown with swollen bellies/ pregnant while following their male partners. These two figures are placed about 4 meters away from each other and follow the same direction. Superimposition among human figures at this site has not been recorded at all. Figures are just adjacent to each other without any contact.

Zoomorphs depictions account for 20 figures in the repertoire. They comprised of 8 springboks painted in full bodies and red monochrome in different clusters on the panel with more or less the same sizes between 7cmx4cm, 6cmx4cm and 5cmx4cm. Giraffe's number account for 2 in the study. All two of them are adjacent to each other but are 1m apart from each other. Their bodies have been outlined showing only their outlined heads, ears and neckline features. The elephant figures account for 3 measuring between 40cmx35cm and 30cmx23cm.

The figures are fully painted in deep red monochrome while two bichrome elands (in black) are superimposed on the large elephant. The smaller one has been followed by a larger one painted in red monochrome is located slightly below showing only its back features while the mid-section and frontal features are not painted. It is on this figure that a few pigment powder granulation sampleswere collected for mineral analysis. It is important to stress that very insignificant damage was done to the figure that it is even difficult to detect with a naked or untrained eye. In addition to the elephant figures, we have also recorded a total of 4 elands measuring 8cmx6cm. Two of these have been superimposed on one larger elephant while 2 springboks in a different cluster have overlapped the remaining 2. They are all painted in black monochrome but showing only their legs, head lines ad necklines. Moreover, was recorded measuring 8cmx6cm located 3m from the elephant cluster, a kudu 1 measuring 6cmx5cm found the extreme left of the panel, a springbok below the elephants and elands as well as 1 unidentifiable animal figures. The last category is that of indeterminate figures that account for 8 at the panel.

j.2.State of conservation

Overall, the majority of the artworks are in good state of conservation with exception of a few figures painted in red. Furthermore, the painted surface appears to be weathered, as white acid rains that run from top to bottom evidently washed its surface as run-off stains creating white lines that run across the panel is eminent.

The site is also prone to strong wind, which might be responsible for the loss of some small flakes that form part of the figure leaving the artwork disfigured. Such flakes might otherwise have held onto the rock face for a longer time but was knocked off by the process that started by the fluctuations of temperatures experienced in this part of Namibia. Furthermore, vegetation is also of a concern at the site, as it rubs onto rock surface containing the artwork. There is a charcoal graffiti westwards towards possibly by the visitors from the campsite southwest of the site.

j.3.Associated Archaeology

No surface collection.

k.OEF60

Panel ID:OEF60Local Name:Ghost CaveNumber of panels:2GPS Location:E15°36'46.12/S 21°30'14.05

k.1.Site Description

The 'Ghost Cave' shelter is one of the mega sites in this study (see Fig. 5.20 and Fig. 6.45). It is found in Omandumba East farm. It is overhang in massive granite with two panels separated by a vertical crevice space in 4-5 meters of each other (BÖRNE 2013). It has a dimension of 45m long, up to 9m deep while the height of the overhang at the cave entrance exceeds 5m. It has developed along slightly convex-upward sheeting joining where the artworks at the first panel have been mounted on the ceiling. The site is found in a shallow cave located at the bottom of a prominent topographic scarp composed of a series of mountain rangers and extensive rock-cut plain at the foot slope.

The Ghost Cave site is accessed through driving in the well-established farm road through the flat valley in Omandumba East farmstead. Shallow meerkat colonies, some shrubs as well as grassland cover the site's surrounding. The site commands a good visibility of the immediate flat terrains and a chain of mountain range found on the northwestern side. Immediately south of this mountain range is the Omaruru River located north of the Mountain. This massive rock formation that hosts the cave sits stable on the ground while its western side is gently inclined on a rocky ridge. Geomorphologically, the cave shelter is not suitable for human habitation, (see Fig. 6.46) below.



Figure 6.45 Present the panoramic view of site OEF60. The red arrow indicates the location of the site in the landscape.

The site comprised of two panels, panel OEF60a and OEF60b that have been separated by a vertical crevice with different settings (Fig. 6.47). The current preservation conditions of the

artworks at the site range from very good to very poor. Those found in the ceiling of panel OEF60a well preserved.



Figure 6.46 Shows a panoramic view of the interior of site OEF60. To the left is Panel OEF60a while to the right is Panel OEF60b

This is attributed to the pigment used, their location (ceiling) with the cave shelter and the absence of insolation. Concerns at this panel is in a form of a thin coating layer of brown to black marks in the ceiling of the cave shelter obscuring some rock painting figures while making others difficult to detect especially those painted in black pigment. Past rain run-offs through natural cracks and joints flowing over in the ceiling of the cave shelter as well as at the edges of the overhang have left some white patches on the rock surfaces creating some wash zone flows. The artworks at the second panel are in a poor condition due to the fact that the artworks are painted mainly in white, light red and black pigment while the surface of the painted rock has developed layers of lime overlying the frieze in large parts, hence the artworks condition is moderate to very poor. Overall, the site contains an excess of 84 rock painting figures fully painted figures in black, brown, red and orange monochrome with some figures partially outlined to distinguish features of the particular subject. Almost all the figures are adjacent, juxtaposition to each other with elements of superimpositions observed especially at the first panel.

k.1.1.Panel OEF60a

The first panel, Panel OEF60a, stands at 1264m elevations while facing 20° towards North, overlooking a chain of mountain ranges to the north. The panel contains a total of 26 artworks found on the cave ceiling (Fig. 6.48) of about 2m long and 6m high. They have been painted in brown, black, and orange and in red monochrome. Most of them are in good state of conservation. The figures are adjacent to each other without contact while others have been superimposed over and by other figures in red and brown that allows identification of the painted subject.



Figure 6.47 Top image is a panoramic view of the interior of Panel OEF60a to the left while the bottom image shows a DStretched photo of the same panel. View from the north west side of the site. Images at 10cm scale.

The zoomorphic figures predominate with 25 depictions (Fig. 6.49). Among them are 4 elephants painted in pale red, with the large one measuring 81cmx30cm, the medium one 70cmx34cm while the two smaller ones are measures between 36xmx10cm and 30cmx19cm. These figures are placed at the bottom of other painted artworks. They are shown in a lateral view giving a sense of movement. The large ones are moving westwards while the younger ones are facing the opposite direction. Furthermore, other animals such as giraffes, kudu, and possibly a warthog and springbok figures have been superimposed on the elephants.

In addition, a lion 1 measuring 22cmx18cm was also recorded. It has been placed on top of all other animals near the largest giraffe to the right. Like the elephants, the lion has also been painted in great details and embodies its living counterpart. It is depicted with its fringe and

bushy hair that encircles its head while following a kudu. It has been painted fully in deep red monochrome, with its hind legs superimposed by an outlined neckline of a giraffe.



Figure 6.48 Shows reconstructed image of Panel OEF60a The top three images represents 2 clusters of figures, and they have all been DStretched at LDS 15cm scale. The bottom image shows the traced figures at the panel. Here, three phases of superimpositions are shown. The 1st phase in red and the 2nd phase are figures in brown colour and the 3rd phase are outlined animal figures in orange.

Other notable faunal species at the panel includes 4 giraffes measuring 80cmx22cm, 61cmx0cm and 26cmx6cm in size. They are painted only in two different styles - the fully painted monochromically and outlined with heads and some legs partly in filled with paint. The zoomorphs' repertoire also contains 1 warthog measuring 28cmx12cm superimposed over the second largest elephant and depicted facing westwards. In addition, a quagga or zebra have also been recorded, located above the giraffes whose head is seen bowed down in a submissive posture. All these animals are shown in movements. The kudu series accounts for 2 at the panel depicting hornless kudus.

Human representations account for only 1 figure measuring 9cmx4cm. It is located at the lower bottom of the larger giraffe painted in full brown monochrome and appear to be a man carrying a quiver bag. He is depicted walking towards animal herds. The indeterminate

category account for 1 animal figure located immediately beneath the second larger elephant and in front of the well-executed small elephant that does not show its biological identification as it lacks its anatomical reference.

k.1.2.Panel OEF60b

The second panel at the site, panel OEF60b is located 3m west of the previous panel (Fig. 6.49). It stands at 1266m while oriented 45° northwards. It measures 2.3m long and 3m high. PanelOEF60b comprised of two clusters, one located on the wall of the cave shelter while the second cluster is a small darkish horizontal boulder located beneath the cave wall. The panel's artworks are visible from 3m distances.



Figure 6.49 Shows a panoramic view of the interior of Panel OEF60b. View from northwestern side of the panel.

In total, the panel consists of 58 figures (Fig. 6.51 & Fig. 6.52), of which 51 were recorded at the first cluster and 7 figures at the second cluster. All figures have been painted in black, red and in white monochrome and bichrome (red and white). Their state of conservation range from moderate to poorly preserve as a result of the developed layer of lime calcite and well as mud-wasp nests covering a larger part of the panel where the artworks are mounted. Most of the depictions are naturalistic drawn, following the horizontal rock morphology. Similarly to the previous panel, most of the figures here are adjacent to each other with three layers of superimpositions. White pigment was collected at one of the human figure for pigment analysis in 2016. Anthropomorphic representations at the panel (both clusters) are predominant and accounts for 28 figures in total. All anthropomorphs appear to be menbearing hunting weapons and sticks. The male figures are depicted carrying hunting weapons.



Figure 6.50 Shows reconstructed image of Panel OEF60b, CLUSTER 1. The top three images have been stitched and DStretched at LDS 15cm scale. The bottom image shows some of the traced figures at the panel. Here, three phases of superimpositions are shown. The 1st phase in red and the 2nd phase are figures in brown colour and the 3rd phase.

The two prominent human figures at the panel are those of lager men, both very bulky with thin waist, thick upper bodies and thick legs. One is being depicted walking carrying a long stick. He is being followed by a giraffe painted solely in white pigment and other herds of different animals while he is following a superimposed bichrome ostrich painted in red and white while the other one is shown walking steadily on top of two red large giraffes following the same direction (east) where most of the figures are oriented. Other human figures at the panel are relatively small depicted in singly, in pairs while the rest are found in groups of four to five bearing weapons.



Figure 6.51 Shows reconstructed image of Panel OEF60b, CLUSTER 2. The Image top left is the original while to the right has been DStretched at LDS 20 cm scale.

Other figures that have been grouped into human category are those regarded as "Ghost figures" from where the site got its name. This type of figures, although rare, are not only found in the Erongo complex but other several sites in the Erongo cultural landscape such as in the Klein Spitzkoppe mountain where they have been recorded also in white pigment. On this panel, the ghost figures are painted exclusively in white and have physical morphology mimicking human traits such as their round or oval heads, neckline and shoulders. They are quite large and measures between 26cmx10cm, 19cmx21cm and 17cmx18cm in sizes. The rest of the anthropomorphs representations are those found on the loose horizontal boulder beneath the cave shelter below the break line are relatively small measuring between 7cmx4cm, 5cmx4cm and 4cmx3cm in size and are all painted in black pigment whose activities could not been determined due to poor conservation status of the artworks. The

zoomorphic assemblage of the panel contains 18 representations with larger animals measuring between 40cmx36cm, 38.6cmx28cm, 36cmx30cm, 26cmx23cm, 24cmx20cm, 20cmx18cm and smaller one between 23cmx20cm, 19cmx19, 18cmx16 and 10cmx12cm in sizes. The faunal taxa at this panel are relatively easy to identify. This is attributed to the remarkable degree of naturalism and clear pigment used. They are painted mostly in white, red and brown monochrome as well as one ostrich figure in bichrome (red and white).

Among the recorded animals at the panel, are 5 giraffes, executed in the same style-fully painted. They are located at the bottom of all other animal figures beneath the cave wall. One of the white giraffe has been superimposed by human figure - a woman painted in red monochrome. While four large naturalistic giraffes painted in red pigment are shown following the white giraffe. In addition to giraffes, the panel assemblage also contains 9 kudus, of which 2 have been identified as kudu bulls seen trotting westwards (as opposed to east -where most of the animal figures are oriented). Just as they are found in the landscape, they are also shown in groups of three and more while the kudu bulls appear to be isolated, in a herd of other animal figures. White paint has been used in combination with brownish color to distinguish feature of an ostrich. Here, the white color has been utilized to emphasize the ostrich's head; neckline, backline as well as its legs while the brown color complemented the animal 'body. The last faunal figures recorded at the panel consist of 2 springbok figures painted fully in brown monochrome. The indeterminate category accounts for 14 figures, which lack any biological as a result of poor conservation.

k.2.Associated Archaeology

No surface collection.



Omandumba West farm valley. View from Porters Boulders and Wall sites.

6.1.5.Part B: Spatial Analyses of Landscape Attributes

The following spatial analysis investigates the landscape variables of the rock art sites. It consists of 8 landscape variables: sites placement (1), elevation (2), proximity to water sources (3), proximity to trails (4), accessibility (5) aspect/orientation (6) visibilities of the rock art sites in the landscape and (7) the positioning of rock painted figures onto rock surfaces.

a. Site Placement

The following two tables (Table 6.1 & 6.2) provide an overview of the geomorphological settings in which rock painting and engravings were found in our study area. As indicated, the rock art sites are widely distributed across this cultural landscape and found in two different geological settings: granite and basalt. These influenced the two techniques of artworks production, paintings and engravings. Paintings are mounted primarily on boulders, cliff faces, granitic walls, caves, ledge/sill and ceilings of rock shelters. Such geomorphological features are widely distributed across this cultural landscape, from; kopjes, hills, rock outcrops and isolated boulders in flat valleys. Engravings are found predominantly a riverbed.

Type of sites	OEF (n=5)	%	OWF (n=56)	%	SUM (n=61)	Total%
Boulders	1	20	43	76%	44	72%
Shelters	0	0%	5	9%	5	8%
Walls	1	20	4	7%	5	8%
Caves	1	20	2	4%	3	5%
Ledges/Sills	1	20	2	4%	3	5%
Riverbed	1	20	0	0%	1	2%

Table 6.1 The geomorphological settings of the rock painting sites recorded in Omandumba East and West Farms.





The sites placement analysis reveals the majority of rock art been executed on various boulders, with 72% found in different settings in the study areas, (Table 6.1 & Table 6.2). A total of 5 sites representing 8% occur most frequently in rock shelters, while four sites accounting 8% are those found granitic walls. Additionally, sites found in caves and ledge/sill account for 5% each while only one representing 2% sites has been recorded in the riverbed in the study areas. The geomorphological setting and location of these sites are discussed in details below.

b.Painted boulders

As indicated, sites occurring on boulders are the most frequent in the study accounting 72% of the total sites. The painted boulders are widely distributed across this cultural landscape. These light brown coarse-grained boulders vary considerably in sizes and shape. Some are impeccably rounded while others have much more complex morphologies, but both have brown protective crust susceptible to exfoliation. In the study areas, the majority of painted boulders are found at two topographical locations: firstly, those that rests at the foot of the rock outcrops, kopje and hills below1198m contour, (see for example: Tuba Rock/site OWF50 and Crown Boulder/site OWF52 Fig.6.53 below) and many others sites.



Figure 6.53 Omandumba West Farm Landscapes. On the left are painted boulders at the bottom of a hill: Tuba, Crown, Site OWF51, OWF53 and OWF55. On the right painted boulders in an isolated rock outcrop: Site OWF18, OWF19 and OWF20.

Those occurring completely independent in the landscape away from any imposing dimensions are often easily accessible and have immediate access to the landscape and resources such as water sources. Visibility of the sites largely influenced by vegetation covers, their geomorphological formation, size and the location they occupy in the landscape. Boulders hosting these sites are very stable but often exposed at the surface to various degrees of increment weather conditions and other biological threats that continue to alter

their surfaces. This, in combination with the natural color of the granites as well as the use of the earth color pigments makes rock paintings more challenging to identify.

Secondly, painted boulders located primarily on top of the imposing dimensions i.e. the upper part of large outcrops, hills, kopje and mountain ranges over 1258m contours. Often, these sites are barely visible from the foot of their imposing features but command a great view of the wider landscape from their topographical locations. Accessibility to these sites often necessitated climbing, sometimes painstakingly crawling while in some cases it's obvious that the artists as well as the audiences had to stretch in difficult positions to reach the sites i.e. OWF44 and OWF45 (Fig. 6.54) below.



Figure 6.54 Omandumba West Farm Landscapes. The left image is the northern Hill of site OWF44 view from Leopard Cave. The right image is the Kopje complex of site OWF45 near Priests Shelter.

Some of these granitic boulders are ordinary looking while others gives an impression that they were chosen due to their topographic settings in the landscape. They rise above Erongo flat valleys as landmarks on their own and are visible from a considerable distances but surprisingly; very few of these make suitable living areas. This might be attributed by the fact that the boulders provides little shelter and many of them are located far away (approximately 1Km) away from water points in form of rivers and springs. The seasonal pools found in between rock crevices of these sites only contain water shortly after rainy season and becomes dry immediately due to high rate of evaporations and the fact that these pools are often very shallow.

Most of these sites have limited spaces to manoeuvre around them, which often restrains recording and documentation process. While some required a ladder or climb on top of granitic crests to record the artworks, and in most cases such positions becomes a most arduous procedure.

c.Painted rock shelters

The second groups of artworks are those recorded in rock shelters, accounting for 8% of the sites in the study areas, some of which provide option for habitations. They comprised of five rock shelters all, found in Omandumba West farm: OWF49/Seal Shelter, OWF42/Fackelträger, OWF30/Christian shelter, OWF46/Priests Shelter, OWF47/Ostrich shelter and OWF25/Blackman shelters. The geomorphology formation of these shelters differs: firstly, there are those that are formed when two or more granitic boulders lean against each other to form a small living area or as a result of boulder parting from the parent rock to form an overhang like shelter i.e. Christian, Priests and Seal, Ostrich and Blackman shelters which represents 98%. Secondly, those with hollow cave like opening at the base of the granite rocks, for instance the Fackelträger Shelter, which represents only 2% of 8% the total rock shelter in the study (Fig. 6.55) below.



Figure 6.55 Omandumba West Farm Left: Seal Shelter, Right: Northern View of Fackelträger Shelter.

They are also widely distributed in various locations across the landscape, from those located at the foot of imposing landmarks below 1100m to those located on high topographical features above 1200m above sea level. However, although their placement varies, their common attribute is their proximity to water sources in form of river, springs and other natural pools such as ponds. Of all of the five rock shelters in the study, three of them: Fackelträger, Christian, Priests and Ostrich rock shelters are located on top of outcrop, Kopje and Hill while Blackman & Seal shelters rests at the foot of the different hills. Rock shelters located predominantly on top of large prominent hills, kopje and outcrops have excellent visual impressions of the Omandumba West landscapes.

These sites conveniently occupy vantage points, viewing the larger landscape. Due to their topographical locations, it is possible that the whole landscape was kept under surveillance and allowed hunters to observe the movements of both people and animals and also to spot

animal movements. However, among them only Fackelträger, Christian and the Blackman Shelters show a solid evidence of human occupations in form unspecified quantity of Late Stone Age surface collections.

Not all the rock shelters located on higher topographical locations in the study area were inhabited. Some of them are too small, characterized by steep floors and with no record of surface archaeological collections. These include the Priests and Ostrich Shelters. The concealed nature and inaccessibility of these rock shelters suggests that they may have not be open for every visitor as they are secluded. It is therefore possible that they may have served as 'sacred locations' where activities associated with ritual and religious significances may have been performed.

Rock shelters located at the bottom of imposing granitic dimensions e.g. Seal and Blackman shelter as well as or those found in small outcrop like the Fackelträger shelter may have served as seasonal habitation sites. It is highly possible that these sites were regularly used and revisited seasonally as some archaeological evidence i.e. at Fackelträger indicated sequences of occupations (VIERECK, 1967; WENDT 1972; RICHTER 1991). They also have direct access to natural resources.

d.Painted Granite Walls

Eight percent (8%) of painting sites were recorded on large granitic walls. Four of the recorded granite Walls are found in Omandumba West such as: the prominent Elephant Wall, Strey/Monument Wall, Hidden Wall and Die Bergsteiger Wall while the fifth granitic wall was recorded in Omandumba East Farm, site OEF57, (Fig. 6.56).



Figure 6.56 Left: is the Elephant Wall in OWF while Right is Site OEF57 in OEF.

These massive smooth imposing large granitic walls are virtually free standing and hosts many disconnected clusters of paintings. Most of the walls are 30 to 80m long and are easily

accessible on foot but are not found in proximity to water sources. Furthermore, the sites appear to have been uninhabited because there is no evidence of human occupation in form of surface archaeological collections other than rock paintings. This is possible because the walls do not shelter. The walls are exposed to the sun throughout the day, with the exception of those oriented southerly i.e. Site OEF57 and Die Bergsteiger Wall/site OWF04. The state conservation of most of artworks at these sites is surprisingly good, especially those placed in the middle on the wall owing to the very compact nature of the granite, which has tendency not to scale easily. However, there are clusters of paintings especially those (on the same Wall) located in at the extreme bottom of these walls that are poorly preserved. And in most cases, this is attributed by a number of factor including, vegetation growing onto lower section of the painted wall surfaces, dust accumulations from animals as well as animal scratching their bodies onto the painted surfaces i.e. Die Bergsteiger Wall/OWF04 and Site OEF57.

e.Painted Caves

In the painting repertoire, a total number of three shallow or open-air caves representing 5% of total recorded sites were recorded (Fig. 6.57). Two of these are open-air caves i.e. site OWF42/Leopard Cave in Omandumba West farm and OEF60/ Ghost Cave in Omandumba East. The last cave is the Giraffe Cave found in Omandumba West. Leopard and Ghost caves have similar geomorphological formations. Both Caves are concave overhangs with granite boulders subsequently covering half of them with other several huge rocks beneath them measuring about 50m2 and 70m2 long and up to up to 6m deep while their entrances are wider than 5m to 18m.

The Giraffe Cave on the other hand is a small cave with a small opening and a on a large boulder. The Cave is very low and is filled with sediments deposits. Unlike the artworks of Leopard and Ghost Caves that are executed the interiors of the caves, those at Giraffe Cave are executed on its exterior wall immediately above the cave entrance. The Caves are easily accessible of them are located at foot of large slopes. However, accessing the inside of the Giraffe caves necessitate crawling and bending, as it has a low roof. Ghost Cave is inhabitable, but richly in rock painting sites. Giraffe Cave sedimentations prove to be worthy of investigations.



Figure 6.57 Image on the top left shows the Leopard Cave. The right image shows the Giraffe Cave while the bottom image represents the Ghost cave.

f.Painted Rock Ledges/sills

Rock painting sites executed on rock ledges/sills accounts for 5% in the repertoire. These comprised of those found in Omandumba West such as Strey Boulder and the Bergsteiger Wall and Site OEF58b in Omandumba East farm, found protruding on the rock ledge/sill, along a narrow horizontal smooth granite surfaces projecting from a wall of a boulders surfaces of 15 to 2m long (Fig. 6.58). For instance, Strey Boulder site is located on top of north most granitic hill. Geomorphological, it's a single standing boulder/ cliff face with a dome shape of about three meters high formed by several smaller boulders and completed by a fungal capstone. Bergsteiger Wall on the other hand is a horizontal ledge found on massive granite Wall of about 30m long resting on the ground while Site OEF55b, is a massive boulder resting on top of another layer of granite beneath it in one of the rock outcrop in Omandumba East farm.



Figure 6.58 Top left image shows the painted ledge of Strey boulder; to the right is the Bergsteiger Wall while the bottom image shows the site OEF55b.

Both sites are easily accessible by foot. However, documenting them was rather challenging. For instance, at Strey boulder, we were required to use of a ladder as climbing proved not effective due to the smooth nature of the granite while at site OWF04b, climbing and crawling on the ledge platform of the large granitic wall was inevitable.

g.Engraved riverbed

The last categories of artworks are those in the riverbed, the engraving site OEF61 located in Omandumba East farm where a total of 50 rock engravings panels were recorded and account for 2%. The engraved basalt panels are distributed along the north and eastern axis of a

riverbed that covers an area of approximately 600 meters. Both axis consisting of basal flow features flank, a narrow low elevation riverbed flanked by sun baked large masses of boulders with a thin layer of reddish iron oxide that have been pecked and abraded to reveal the lighter rock beneath it (Fig. 6.59). The boulders generally differ in dimensions and shapes (with large one between 2 to 2.5m and 50 to 150 cm). Panels appear like large masses of boulders that might have been rolled down from the vertical walls coming to rest at the foot of the walls and in the riverbed Most of these panels appear physically stable with hard surfaces but responsive to erosion or weathering elements. However, it is evident that some of the engraved panels become submerged during rainy season as we observed rainwater stains on some of the boulders and rock crevice. The entire site's analysis is presented further in Section B.



Figure 6.59 Omandumba East Site OEF61 also the Engraving Sit in Omandumba East Farm after good rain. Image credits: Harald Rust.

h.Elevation

Another important landscape attribute taken into consideration was the topography of the rock art sites This was relevant in order to evaluate associations (if any) of rock art sites at various topographic elevations and their proximity to what (LENSSEN-ERZ 2001:51) termed, 'basic needs' or natural resources i.e. water, food and shelter. To determine the

frequencies of sites and their artworks at each topographical level, the elevation analysis used 30m and divided it into five levels (see Fig. 6.60 and Table 6.3).



Figure 6.60 Base Map showing sites at various topographical levels in the study areas. Map Credits: Google Maps.



All rock-painting sites in study areas occur between1168-1361 meters elevations. The majorities, 21 sites representing (34%) of all rock art sites are found between 1198-1228m above sea level. These sites are primarily found at the foot of the hills and outcrops and most of them have neighbouring sites. Example of sites found at this topographical location includes site OWF15, OWF19, OWF49, OWF52 among others. The majority of the sites are

boulders (20), hence not habitable while only one shelter (OWF49) show evidence of human habitation. These sites have direct access to wider landscape, and are easily accessed on foot. Most of them are found in proximity to natural resources – for instance, site (OWF49, OWF35, OWF34, OWF33) are extremely located in proximity to water point in form of a spring as well as game trails. In general, these sites hosts approximately between 5-12 artworks each site, and the artworks have high visibility ratio beyond 15m ranges. In addition to these sites, are the sites occurring between1228-1258 meters topography. They comprised of 20 sites representing 33%. Data obtained from the elevations analysis of these sites hosts about 2-15 figures on average. Examples of such sites are the OWF01, OWF02, OWF11, OWF12, OWF53, and OWF56. These sites are not suitable for human habitation as they are all hosted on boulders and walls.

The third groups of rock art sites are those recorded at the lowest topographical level between 1168-1198 meters above sea level, corresponding to 16 sites representing 26%. Example of these sites are site OWF42, OWF04, OWF06, OWF07 and OWF13. Like the previous category, some of these sites are equally not habitable as they are found mainly on boulders and ledges with no prospect of shelters. However, there are some that serves as short-term living spaces, as they contain few human traces. It is possible that they might have served as overnight stations for hunters. Examples of such sites are site OWF25, OWF27, OWF28, OWF29 and OWF32. According to Tilman Lenssen-Erz (LENSSEN-EZ 2004:145-46) classification of sites, sites under this category falls under class B. No rock art sites were recorded between 1258-1288 meters elevation but the last group of rock painting sites are those occurring between above 1288 – 1318 meters consisting of 3 sites corresponding the 5% of the total sites. These sites contain about 300 artworks. Examples of sites under this category are the site OWF30, OWF46 and OWF47. Only one of these sites (OWF30) is habitable with significant more painting.

It is however, not found near natural infrastructures such as water. While the game trails around this site have also been found quite far fro it. Under (LENSSEN-ERZ 2004) classification, it also falls under class B while the other two sites falls under class F. The last category is that of engraving site representing 2% of sites found between 1318-1361 meters elevation. The elevation analysis of the engraving site is found in Section B.

i.Proximity to Water Sources

The proximity to water sources analysis evaluates the general distribution of rock art sites and their immediacy to the three types of water sources identified in the study areas namely: (1) rivers, (2) springs and (3) ponds/pools (Fig. 6.61 & Fig. 6.62) also (see also Chapter 2. {2.4}, for definitions of these water bodies). The analyses were important in order to understand whether water sources might have influenced the choice in the location of rock art sites. For this, calculations were made of distance in meters from rock art sites to bodies of water using QGIS. To achieve this, the distance calculations are given in 100 meters intervals, thus subdivided into six categories (Table 6.4).



Figure 6.61 Proximity of Rock Art Sites to Water Sources in Omandumba East and West Farms. The insert map of Central Namibia indicates the location of Erongo Mountains as well as the Omaruru River (that feeds water sources in Omandumba Farms) flowing into the Atlantic Ocean. Map Credits: Google Maps.

Proximity Variables (m)	No. Of Rock Art Sites (n=61)	Rock Art Sites %
Proximity to Rivers		
0-100	30	49%
101-200	11	18%
201-300	7	11%
301-400	5	8%
401-500	4	7%
501-1km	0	0%
>1.1km	4	7%
Proximity to Springs		
0-100	7	11%
101-200	4	7%
201-300	4	7%
301-400	10	16%
401-500	10	16%
501-1km	20	33%
>1.1km	6	10%
Proximity to Ponds		
0-100	б	10%
101-200	1	2%
201-300	2	3%
301-400	2	3%
401-500	7	11%
501-1km	12	20%
>1.1km	31	1%

Table 6.4 Summary of sites in proximity to water Sources in Omandumba East and West Farms

The results indicate that all the rock art sites 61 in the study areas occur in proximity to various water sources at various distances. (Table 6.4) details the results queries for the sites in relation to water sources. The analysis indicates the majority of the sites (49%) are those 100m from the rivers. Examples of such sites are all the sites between1168- 1361 meters elevations and those found between 1198-1228m topography (see topography analysis).

These sites have direct access to wider landscape, game trails and are easily accessed on foot. The majority of these sites are hosted predominantly on boulders that do not shelter, but with few human traces like rock art and artefacts. These are same sites that are 100m very closer to springs but quite far off (beyond 1km) from ponds/pools. This is because, ponds are only found principally on hilltop / up slopes where very few isolated sites are found.

The 200m searches yielded 18% sites in proximity to rivers, but only 7% of these are located near springs. However theses sites corresponds to 1km representing 20% of the sites located from the ponds. Again, this is because the majority of these sites are located in locations occurring between1198-1228m and 1228-1258 meters topography, which is found either in the valleys or behind outcrops, yet not so far from water points. These sites are not suitable for human habitation as they are all hosted on boulders and walls. Most of these sites equally have neighbouring sites located in less than 4-10 minutes reach. However, the majority of these sites have low quantity of surface artefacts often between (0 and 5) and with average number of rock painting figures between (1-26).

Database search for sites located between 300m and 400 indicates 15% sites in proximity to rivers, 32% closer to springs and only 6% nearer ponds. Topographically, these sites are located largely found towards 1198m and 1258m topographical locations. The density of sites under these topographical location corresponds to sites that are found mostly in rock shelters, a cave shelter and some sites with strong evidence of human habitation as indicated by either high concentration of rock paintings and high surface archaeological collections or sites with high paintings and medium quantity of surface artefacts. Examples of such sites are OWF11, OWF15, OWF19, OW20, OWF21, OWF25, OWF30, OWF39, OWF42, and OWF49 among others. Based on human evidence found these sites, it is likely that these some of the sites may have served as short-term living sites, long-term living sites and one aggregate camp (OWF39/ Fackelträger Shelter and site OWF49/Seal Shelter). Like the previous sites, they too have direct access to immediate surrounding, offers good visibility of the landscape and are not so far from natural resources. The database search for sites located from 1km beyond become account for 7% in proximity to rivers and 10% from springs. From the sites analysis, these are among the sites that are found within 100m from water ponds/pools. Topographically, all these sites are predominantly found on high elevations between 1288-1361. Examples of such sites are OWF43, OWF44, OWF45, OWF46, OWF47 and OEF61 O at the foot of slopes and hills i.e. OWFS sites located proximity to riviers, in 500 meters

reach are mostly those hosted in boulders and rock shelters i.e. located at the bottom of hills, kopje and in rock outcrops. Most of these sites equally have neighbouring sites (but extremely few) located between 1-3 minutes reach. However, the majority of these sites have low quantity of surface artefacts often between (0 and 5) and with average number of rock painting figures between (1-10) which suggests that they might have not been occupied as supported by their geomorphology. These sites are secluded, often hidden and their orientations makes them difficult to receive light, hence their visibility is reduced, just like their artworks' visibility.



Figure 6.62 Water sources in the study areas. Top left is a water pool (photo taken after rain season). Top right is a permanent spring (photo taken during dry season). Bottom is one of river flowing after rain season. Top left and bottom images taken in November 2012.

h.Proximity to Animal Trails

Proximity to animal trails is another landscape analysis investigated in this study. The current trail systems indicate movement patterns of animals across the landscape. The trails were studied immediately after rainy seasons (when surface water – rivers, springs and ponds/ pools is available) almost at every catchment area as well as during dry seasons when water points are extremely limited. This was important in order to comprehend animal travel movements through the landscape. What the study discovered was the fact that as water points increases throughout Erongo Mountains during and immediately after rainy seasons, animal movements are limited, and this is attributed by the fact that water is readily available where animal lives hence little movements. But the situation change straightaway when water points become scarce. The trail systems become reactivated as animals travel movements' increases. In Omandumba farms, such trails follow natural travel routes –riviers, all the way to where permanent water (springs) is found (see Fig 6.63 & Table 6.5).

Therefore, the likelihood of such trails system to have been used by both animals and prehistoric people to access resources (food and water) in dry region like Central Namib where water sources are available in limited supply is high. Although I evaluate spatial relationships to modern animal trails in the study areas, it is possible that some these trails undoubtedly follows existing paths established by the animal movements during prehistoric period given the fact that "Namibia's climate has been rather similar to what it is today (HEINE 2005:127) and no significant changes in infrastructures (water sources) in the landscape have been observed. However, Iacknowledge that these trails may have changed given the fact that today, the area is fenced; consequently there are restrictions in animal movements in Erongo.To obtain the data for this analysis, calculations were made of distance in meters from rock art sites to animal trails using QGIS. To achieve this, the distance calculations are given in 100 meters intervals, thus subdivided into six categories (Table 6.5) below to provide quantitative data.

Proximity Variables to Trails (m)	No. Of Rock Art sites (n=61)	% Of Rock Art Sites
0-100	32	53%
101-200	8	13%
201-300	4	7%
201-500	7	11%
501-1km	6	10%
>1.1km	4	5%

Table 6.5 Rock Art sites in relation to animal trails system (in red lines) and their proximity to springs (blue ovals)



Figure 6.63 Presentsani mal trails system (in red lines) their and proximity to springs (blue ovals) in Omandumba East and West farms.



Figure 6.64 Stacked Area chart of rock art sites (paintings and engravings) in proximity to animal trails. (Left axis indicates the number of sites while bottom axis shows the distances of sites from trails).

The trails analysis shown in Figure 6.64 above indicates that the majority (53%) of rock art sites located near modern trails lie in 100 meters and these sites are located at the foot of the of imposing features (hills, kopje and outcrops) and have direct access to the valleys. Such sites have neighbouring site most of which are within 5-10 minutes reach. The majority of these sites are with few human traces in form of surface artefacts and rock paintings. Geomorphologically, these sites do not seems to be suitable for habitation due to the fact that they do not shelter. The fact that they are located along the natural travel routes suggests that they might have served as transportation conduit, temporary resting places where hunters would wait for animals at the permanent water points and ambush them or what Tilman Lenssen- Erz (LENSSEN-ERZ 2004:145-46) term as 'waymark sites', under class A category. It is therefore possible that they are deliberately placed in proximity to trails as navigational strategies across the landscape to signal availability of food and water resources for traveling hunter-gatherers.

Moreover, about 8 (13%) rock art sites lie in 200 meters to modern trails, 4 (7%) were found within 3000m, 7 sites representing (11%) within 500m and 6 sites accounting (10%) were recoded within 1km reach from animal trails. Like sites in the previous category, the majority of these sites are slightly larger, with medium to high intensity of usage (many paintings and high surface collections), which suggests long-term site occupations. Furthermore, one of their advantages of these sites is the fact that they also have direct access to wider landscape

and other natural resources. They also have complex paintings most of which are highly visible within 15m ranges. Examples of such sites are OWF30, OWF39, OWF42, OWF50, and OWF52 among others. The last category of rock art sites are those occurring far from animal trails beyond 1.1km representing (5%) of sites. These sites are those located on top of the outcrops, hills and kopje, most of which do not have direct access to basic resources natural infrastructures but providing panoramic view of wider stretch of the landscape. The fact that they are secluded and located



Figure 6.65 Left is an animal trail leading towards one of the spring (right), which holds water during dry season, pictures taken in summer of 2015 in the Omandumba West Farm. Behind the spring are rock art sites.

i.Position and Accessibility of rock art sites

Another important landscape variable that this thesis investigated is the accessibility of the rock art sites in landscape. This was vital in order to understand how the landscape was organized, perceived and accessed by the prehistoric people the given their widely distribution and various locations they occupy in the landscape. Moreover, the researchers also wanted to know whether the variations of sites represent arrays of activities connected to the sites and their artworks in the landscape.

For this, we attempt to apply Richard Bradley (BRADLEY 1997) criteria while analysing the locations and content of Neolithic rock art of Atlantic of Western Europe. (BRADLEY 1997:6) distinguished between accessible and inaccessible to rock art sites. Accessible sites are defined by their communicative locations and position of rock art sites in the landscape i.e. proximity to natural resources (i.e. water, food and water), trails and also by the complex designs and compositions of figures in the landscape. Inaccessible sites are defined on the basis of their inaccessible locations in the landscape. Such sites are often having difficult access sometimes secluded and placed away (mostly on high topographical locations) from

other sites while their artworks equally enhance the intangible aspects of the sites. In order to achieve this, we categorized the sites according to the locations they occupy in the landscape on the basis of following: vantage points (1), narrow passages (2), terrace (3), rock outcrop (exposed) (4) and entrance to valley (5) as illustrated in (Table 6.6).

Position of site in the landscape	No. Of Sites (n=60)	% Of sites	Accessible/Restricted
Hill top (isolated, secluded)	5	8%	Restricted Access
Narrow Passage	7	12%	Accessible
Terrace (make or form (sloping land) into a number of level flat areas resembling a series of steps).	2	3%	Accessible
Rock outcrop (exposed)	14	23%	Accessible
Entrance to valleys/ Foot of imposing features/ Vantage Points	32	54%	Accessible

Table 6.6 The summary of accessible and restricted access to rock paintings sites in the landscape in relation to the position they occupy in the landscape.

The accessibility analysis indicated that only five sites attaining 20% ratio among all sites have restricted access. Accessing these sites is virtually challenging and some times necessitates strenuous hiking from the bottom of the hill and crawling on smooth granitic rocks (Fig. 6.65) to reach the sites. Given the odious nature of reaching them, it's likely that these sites were not regularly used or visited. The absence to very few traces of surface archaeological materials and sites' morphology suggests that the sites were not inhabited.

However, at Priests & Ostrich shelters, two small and large stone structures accumulate clustered near the sites were excavated by David Pleurdeau and his French team back in 2007 finds out weather the structures constitutes a burial ground but the structures did not recover any form of archaeological materials. In addition to their difficult access, characteristics of these sites also include the fact that they are isolated on high topographical location (above 1257m elevation), away off from the usual natural infrastructures (water and food) and far from the threshold of where everyday activities might have occurred. The sites are also with unusual depictions (of both human and animal figures associated with ritual activities (see Chapter 7).

Moreover, they also occupy vantage points – in sense that they provides panoramic view of wider stretch of the landscape and do not have direct access to basic resources. Examples of these sites include site OWF44, OWF45, OWF46, OWF47, OEF60 (see Fig.6.52; Fig. 6.53 as
well as Fig. 6.54) Artworks at the sites are placed at placed on locations such as ceilings ceiling of a cave or shelter also slanting ceiling down to about 50 cm above the ground of rock crevices and on boulders with restricted movements around.

This unique geographical location combined with the site settings and the type of artworks gives an impression that the sites serve as 'sacred location' where of activities associated with ritual and religious significances were performed hence their concentration is an indicative of a centralized of supernatural powers as its observed in many hunter gatherers landscapes in Southern Africa (see COULSON & CAMPBELL 2001 for illustrations). The topographical locations of these sites likely enhanced the power and significance of the sites in the landscape hence their placements landscape may have been a deliberate choice rather than a random act. Although these sites are located at impressive locations, they provide awkward viewing positions, through bending, squatting and sometimes laying on the ground and their visibility ratio is restricted to 1m ranges.



Figure 6.66 Shows the nature of hiking towards the restricted sites with difficult access in Omandumba West Farm. With me in these photos are my colleagues, Fousy Shinana and Maria Mwatondange.

The accessibility analysis had also indicates that 92% of all the sites in the study areas are accessible. These include sites that were recorded in locations such as narrow passages, which account for 7 sites representing 12% in the study. Sites under this category are found mainly in rock outcrops and the foot of hills and near conspicuous landscape features such as passages or saddles in the mountain with few human traces like rock art and artefacts. The artworks at these sites are positioned at narrow passage where either vertical walls or granitite boulders are separated by narrow passages between 1-3.5m wide. Examples of such site OWF04, OWF06, OWF10, OWF18, OWF52, and OWF42 and site OWF53 (Fig. 6.67). These sites are easily accessible through hiking. The composition of figures at these sites varies and the majority of the artworks depicted at the sites show people moving in small or large groups bearing hunting equipments and long sticks. Other than rock art, these sites has few to zero

human traces in form of surface artefacts. But, if there were surface artefacts it is highly feasible that such artefacts would have been displaced through erosion actions (water or wind), or by animals or people.



Figure 6.67 Shows the nature accessible sites in Omandumba West Farm that occupies narrow passages. Image A, on the left is that of site OWF52b/ Beeswarm while image B on the right is site OWFF53, just immediately behind Tuba Rock.

Only two sites in the study were recorded on a terrace representing 3% and that is the Strey Wall/OWF11 and Strey Boulder/OWF12. The terrace hosting the boulder is quite steep but its slope is gradually descending down. The site is easily accessible but its artworks are positioned on an unreachable location that requires climbing or a use of a ladder (see Fig 6.66 left). It's likely that the site was not used regularly due to its rock formation and absence of surface archaeological materials but if there were surface artefacts, they might have been transported by erosion. Sites located on exposed rock outcrops (isolated rock outcrops) account for 23% and are equally accessible and have direct access to wider landscape and natural resources (see Fig.6.68 bottom). Some of sites under this description show evidence of occupations in form of various surface archaeological collections and are in proximity to water and trail within reasonable distances.

Similarly, are majority of those located at the foot of imposing features (Fig. 6.67 top) in the study areas that account for 37 sites representing 54% of the corpus. These sites are strewn over large expanses of fairly flat rocks at lower elevation, making them undoubtedly accessible. The sites act as entrance to the valleys and have direct access to wider landscape. They are located generally proximity to water sources in form of riviers and springs, near the trails and few of these show a strong evidence of site occupations i.e. Leopard Cave, Crown Boulder, Tuba Rock, OWF13, 27,OWF08, OWF15, OWF16, OWF17, OWF19, OWF20, OWF21 etc.



Figure 6.68 Shows various accessible sites. A, is the cluster of 5 sites (OWF50-OWF55 at the foot of a hill. Image B shows cluster of 3 sites (OWF19-OWF21) in a rock outcrop in the middle of the valley. All these sites have immediate access

j.Aspects/Orientation of Painted Sites

The cardinal orientations of the rock art sites in the study were also examined in relation to their location. This was important to establish whether such aspect may have been one of the influencing factors in the choice of sites locations in landscape. My observation of the sites' aspects was that the directional aspect of a site determined angle from which the audience access the sites, and view the artworks on the panels while the geomorphology of the rock dictate how the artworks can be viewed. For this analysis, I have therefore considered the following attributes namely: panels orientations and their geomorphological formations in order to understanding painters' selections of sites and generally how they interact with the

environment. Such evaluation did not produce significant statistical values between the two variables. However, it demonstrates that the direction in which rock art site or panel faces relate to the use of the rock art site and panel in the landscape. To determine the aspects of Omandumba rock art sites, I recorded the directional facings of all individual panels in the landscape in relation to the four cardinal directions. For this, the analysis produces some statistical values (Table. 6.68). It comprised of four Groups: A from 0° to 90° (north), B from 90° to 180° (east), C from 180° to 270° (south) and D from 270° to 360° (west).



Figure 6.70 Panels Orientations of rock painting sites in the study areas: Omandumba East and West Farms

The orientation analysis above indicated a general tendency to orientate the sites/panels easterly in the landscape. The results indicate that painted panels oriented in Group B are prevalent and account for 61% of the corpus. Sites hosting these panels have the following characteristics: They tend to get more sun than others (however, they were only recorded in the late afternoon), and this explains why they are highly visible, but their artworks are slightly fading as a result of sun exposure and the majority have been painted on boulders. Their artworks are also highly visible from a great distance, especially during summer when vegetation is no concerns. The majority of sites hosting these panels are located in open landscape with direct access to natural resources and wider landscape.

Among these sites, there are those with two panels and usually, the first panel is oriented easterly (frequently the entry panel to the site) while the second panel is either found on the rear or back of the site (see Fig. 6.66 (A & B) of site OWF52b and OWF55- with different orientations. Its therefore possible that such sites were chosen deliberately to serve different functions for the painters. I have also observed that the geomorphology and climatic features of the Erongo area. Both Omandumba farms are located north most edge of Erongo Massif, and this is where the whole river system (Omaruru River) and its tributaries are flowing from. This meant a continuous availability of food and especially water resources. Hence, Erongo could have an ideal base biotope, used all year round unlike other rock art areas in Central Namibia such as Brandberg and Twyfelfontein - north of Erongo, where scarcity of water and grazing (animals) is more prominent as a evidenced the differences in biotope (RICHTER 1991). Hence, in the mobility patterns of both animals and Hunter-gatherers population, Erongo - particularly the northern edge, geographically where Omandumba farms lies was likely to be starting points for migratory movements of people and animals in order to take advantage of temporarily available resources. This may explains the distribution of rock art sites along these riviers, slopes and hills of Easterly aspects as shown in (Fig. 6.68). Suppose that hunter-gatherers migrations where prepared in the morning (to avoid heat exhaustions during long treks), it is possible that the painters may have chosen rocks with this orientation as an important navigational strategies to signal availability of water and other resources to other groups coming into in this area because these locations were likely to be areas where groups would aggregate - for a range of activities within a variety of social and economic contexts.

In order to understand positioning in details, I had applied two motives towards the easterly orientation applied by Batarda Fernandes (FERNANDES 2010: 1-20) while analysing slope orientation of rock art sites of the Côa Valley in Portugal. Fernandes suggests that an easterly and southerly orientation of the slopes might be a result of a geomorphologic and environment constraints and a cultural factor. A geomorphological motivation is based on the fact that the majority of the sites especially those found on boulders have various degree of surface exposures. The perfectly isolated rounded boulders are usually fully exposed by a variety of weathering processes, including sun and rains, making them susceptible to flaking, splitting and ultimately exfoliation.

In relation to our sites, this may explain why the majority of artworks at the panels are in a poor state of conservation and the fact that they were only possible to record either early in the morning before sun rise and very late afternoon when the sun set. However, it is likely that differences in weathering processes have resulted in the disappearance of some artworks (i.e. white and orange) from other aspects of the panels while boulders or rock shelters that are found in association with others are partially exposed hence artwork are visible from easterly aspect. The choice of pigments, coupled by the natural color of granite surfaces might have also played a role. For instance, if other pigment specifically white and light yellow were used at these panels, they might have faded completely given the fact that white and orange pigments were not recorded at most of the panels hosted at boulders. White pigment by physical necessity is coarser than other colours, and therefore prone to erosion, since if the pigment grains become smaller than they do not reflect the light fully and therefore the human eye would perceive the material as transparent. Today, the most preserved pigments among the painted artworks are the brown and red, which subsequently last longer than other pigments of artwork in the farms. A cultural motivation could be that the artworks are meant to be seen/viewed throughout the day since during late afternoon, the sun exposure is reduced hence their visibility ration become reduced as well. However, although this is based on current observation, it is possible that when colours were fresh, this may not have been a case.

The easterly aspects sites in Group B were followed by those found in Group A, with panels generally corresponding to northerly aspect 21%. Features that define these sites are: that the panels also receive the sun but only at certain time of the day (usually in the midday or late afternoon) hence they are slightly warmer. However, these sites are windier than others and this may explains why they were not preferred as habitation sites. Like most of the sites in Group A, panels with sites under this category are similarly found predominantly on granitic walls, ledges/sills and some boulders, in open landscape. In the study areas, these sites are not placed in close proximity to each other unlike those in Group A. They also tend to be a distance from natural resources such as water. Examples of these sites are: OWF07, OWF12, OWF17 and OWF56 among others.

Group C (southerly) panels accounts for 11% while Group D (westerly) represents only 7% of the painted panels. Following are some of the characteristics that define the sites since they share so many similarities: The sites receive very little to no sun, which explains why they are often colder. They are also often hidden, frequently found in rock crevices or fissures, shelters

and cave shelters - whose artworks are small, very detailed and can only be seen at close range, usually in squatting and sitting positions. Where artworks are larger, the sites geomorphology would equally dictate how person view the artworks through laying on the back or kneeling down prudently to avoid bumping the head on rock above the site. Few of these sites show strong evidence of habitation (i.e. at Leopard Cave/OWF42, Fackelträger shelter/OWF39b, Christian Shelter/OWF30 and Blackman shelter/OWF25). While the majority of these sites were not habited (i.e. Site OWF40; OWF05/Scherz's Fissure; OWF35; OWF43; OWF45, OWF46b;OWF47; Site OWF55 including others). They are also located away from natural resources since they are predominantly located either on high topographical locations (with difficult access) or lower elevations with direct access to wider landscape.

k.Visibility and Location of the rock art sites and their artworks

Another important landscape variable that was studied in Omandumba areas is the visibility and location analysis of the rock art sites and their artwork. It examines the optical ranges from which painting sites and their artworks are viewed in the landscape. Such analysis is important in order to understand at which distances the sites and their artworks were seen in the landscape and also to establish the use of the sites for 'private and public', evidence can be found through the physical aspects of the sites and their visibility ranges especially from water sources, trails and access routes in the landscape (WHITLEY 2011). For this, I applied a model developed and used by Tilman Lenssen-Erz while analysing the rock painting sites of Brandberg Mountain (LENSSEN-ERZ 2004:138-140). Just as Lenssen-Erz's analysed, the visibility analysis of the rock painting sites and locations of the artworks of the painted sites in Omandumba farms have also been illustrated in (Fig. 6.71) and have been defined in (Table 6.7 and 6.8).

Subsequently, I then categorized the visibility ratio into four main classes according to the number of sites: up to 1m optical range to 3 m, up to 15 m and greater than 15 m ranges as obtained from the field research. For this analysis, I have taken into account the visibility obstructions caused by vegetation cover, seasonality and other ground realities.



Figure 6.71 Shows the location of rock painting sites in Omandumba East and West farms. Original pencil drawings of boulders by (John Muir Laws- accessed on http://johnmuirlaws.com/).

Painting Location	Definition
1	On a perpendicular boulder without overhand
2	On a back of a boulder a boulder where painting location 1 is already occupied
3	Close to the ground on the real or the lowest section of a slanting ceiling of boulder, less than 60 cm
4	At the lip above a boulder or shelter
5	On a ceiling of a cave or shelter also slanting ceiling down to about 50 cm above the ground
6	On a perpendicular forehead of a rock above a boulder or a cave
7	Outside a shelter 'around the corner', the shelter being not visible from this spot
8	On the side wall inside a shelter, clearly no relation to the outside
9	In a ceiling of a rock crevice with an opening of less than 1m
10	On a sill/ledge outside and above a boulder or shelter
11	On several boulders scattered over the site area

 Table 6.7 Definitions for the paintings locations as illustrated in (Fig. 6.69), (After LENSSEN-ERZ 1989, cf.

 LENSSEN-ERZ 2004:138)

Visibility range	No. Of Panels	% Of Panels	Sum of Figures	% of Figures
(m)	(n =70)		(n=1798)	
1m	10	15%	436	24%
3m	19	26%	759	42%
15<	29	42%	381	21%
15>	12	17%	222	13%

I then assessed the number of panels and the sum of figures seen at different visibility ranges as shown in (Table 2.8) below:

Table 6.8 Visibility Range of rock painting panels according to number of figures.

The database search of the visibility analysis (Table 6.8) indicates that only 10 panels representing 15% containing 436 rock-painting figures are visible from 1m optical ranges. Such artworks are found on diverse panels occupying high topographical locations as well as few sites at low elevations. It is the same sites that are primarily secluded, isolated off and in concealed locations away from natural resources with to some extend difficult access. The majority of these are the faced southerly and westerly orientations. Examples of sites hosting the panels are (i.e. OWF12, OWF25, OWF45, OWF46/Ostrich Shelter/ OWF05 also Scherz Fissure, OWF55 and OEF57) in the landscape. Such sites do not serve as entrance sites to other sites in the landscape and the paintings are placed in these locations: 8 and 9, 10 (Fig. 6.7.1 and Table 6.7) for the meaning of such locations. With our study areas, examples of such sites with low visibility ration are: OWF4c, OWF14, OWF42 also Leopard Cave, OWF43, OWF54, OEF58, and OEF59 just to mention but few). According to (KECHAGIA 1995, 1996 cf. LENSSEN- ERZ 2004:140), sites viewed under 1m optical ranges can be classified as 'very private' mode of presentation where by they can only be viewed by one person at a time (Ibid, 2004:140). Most of the artworks at these panels are extremely small, very detailed and the majority were only retrieved through the application of DStretch application.

The visibility analysis of up to 3 m ranges account 18 (26%) panels containing the highest number of artworks 759 (42) viewed at that distances. Panels under this category are found in rock art sites located 2, 4, 5 and 7 (Fig. 6.71 & Table 6.7) for the definitions. Similar to previous sites, rock art sites hosting these panels also occupies several locations in the landscape. And many are placed largely on boulders, Wall and in rock shelters located slightly away (200m) from natural resources. Example of such sites in the study areas

includes Site OWF09/Porters Boulder, OWF10, OWF11, OWF12, OWF26a, OWF37, OWF48, OWF56/Elephant Wall and OEF58 and many others). These sites are also falling under 'private view' in sense that that are also small. However, unlike those found in restricted sites, sites hosting these panels can be viewed by more than two people at the site, often when someone is standing and squatting directly in front of them.

The third category is that of panels found up to 15 m distance ranges. They are the most dominant panels in the study, but with the third lowest most quantity of artworks. Here, 29 (42%) panels containing and excess of 381 (21%) rock painting figures were recorded. Paintings found at these panels under this category are also hosted on different panels/sites located in various locations in the landscape such as 1, 2, 5, 7, 8, 10 with few recorded at 11. Sites hosting these panels are quite spacious and provide ample room to manoeuvre around the sites. It's therefore possible that the artwork were viewed by large gathering of people. They can therefore be classified as 'public art', according to the binary classification by (KECHAGIA 1995, 1996 cf. LENSSEN- ERZ 2004:140), because they can be seen from a considerable distance. The same apply to those viewed at greater than 15 m ranges. They account for 12 (17%) of panels having 222 of (13%) sum of rock painting figures. Such artworks are found on panels hosted sites located at for instance location 1, 11 and to some extent location 2. Example of such panels in our study areas are the OWF39/Fackelträger shelter, OWF 52a, OEF57, OWF11 also Strey Wall and OWF46a. Some of these sites under this category provide have ample space for human habitation. However, there were instances where a panel hosts various clusters of figures and these clusters have varied visibility ranges. Such figures were incorporated in the sum of figures seen in such ranges i.e. those recorded at the Elephant Wall OWF56.

I.Placement of artworks on the rock surfaces

The Placement analysis investigated the exact placing of figures on the rock surfaces. This is because such placement largely influences the visibilities ranges of the artworks on the rock surfaces and generally in the landscape. As it is indicated in the visibility analysis, the majority of the artworks are viewed at less than 3m optical ranges, this was possible because the figures are often very small and the majority are placed close to the ground or the lowest section of a rock and ceilings and generally viewable when one is in squatting, laying on a back or sitting directly in front of the rock face. The analysis below demonstrates the position that painters preferred to place artworks.



The Position of Rock Painting Figures on the rock surfaces

Figure 6.72 The positioning of the rock painting figures onto rock surfaces

As anticipated, the result of the placement analysis (Fig. 6.72) indicates that 44% of the artworks are placed at the bottom and lowest section of the rock surfaces (see fig. 6.2.8.2 for all illustrations - as an example). These are the same sites that have the lowest visibility between 1-3 m optical ranges in distance including those that are found on ceilings. These are followed by the artwork positioned in the middle of the rock surface, accounting to 27%, most of which are beyond 3m visibility ranges. Painted figures that is placed on top of the rock surfaces account for 7% in the repertoire. These are the sites that generally found on the ledges/sills and those found primarily at the lip above a boulder, shelter and cave shelter. The visibility range of these figures range is commonly in 15m ranges. Such panels account for 14.1% in the repertoire.

The sites under this category are found predominantly on large horizontal Walls and on several boulders scattered in the landscape. Artworks positioned on the ceilings of a cave or shelter also slanting ceiling down to about 50 cm above the ground accounts for 5.6% while those that occupies the entire panels i.e. Crown Boulder also Site OWF52a account for 1.4% in the repertoire.

m.Summary of landscape Analyses

The spatial and statistical analyses of the rock art of the Omandumba East and West farms indicates that sites generally follow the natural geological and formation of the area. The general pattern of placement of the sites indicates that the majority of the artworks are hosted primarily on boulders, followed by those in rock shelters, granitic walls, caves, ledges, and ceilings as well as in Riverbed. Such sites are widely distributed across the landscape and occupy various locations in the landscape. The majority of the rock paintings sites are found at an elevation below 1318m mainly in the valley and few areas at high elevation while the rock engraving sites are occurring below 1361 meters above sea level. A high number of rock art sites lay in close proximity to non-perennial water sources such as rivers with all rock art sites found within less than a 1 km.

All the rock art sites also found in proximity to springs within 3km reach while the majorities are located far from natural pools while very few sites are found in proximity to water pools. This is because very few sites are located on top of the imposing features. Moreover, the rock painting sites faces predominantly eastern wards than any other direction. The majority of the sites were accessible without difficulties as they are located at the bottom of the imposing features while others prove to have restricted access. The majority of sites only visible within 1-3m ranges and the artworks at the sites can only be seen while one is either in a squatting, sitting or standing position directly in front of the rock face.

The variability in the visibility of the sites is generally influenced by a number of factors. These includes the size of the artworks (small or larger), the geomorphological setting (shape of the rock) of the site and its orientation in the landscape, surface color (colour of painted rock), the pigment color (artwork color), the locations of the site it occupies in the landscape, vegetation cover around the sites (seasonality) as well as the present conservation status of the painted surfaces etc. The analysis had also established that the size of the panel does not necessarily determine the quantity of the figures at the panel. There are instances where panels have room for many figures but only few are found, just as some panels are very small but the density of the figure is quite high, which suggests that the panels and their sites were chosen deliberately in as much as what the artist (s) chose what to depict and what not to and how many to place on each rock surfaces. Although inconclusive at this stage, it is possible that these landscape variables were influencing factors, although not necessarily the decisive factors to place the artworks on these surfaces.



"Its not just art, its more than that" Aixibs !Goe, 2015.

6.1.6.Part C: Rock Art Morphological Variables

Rock Art morphological variables present the total number of rock painting figures of site, analyses rock art elements and their typology, technique of productions, superimpositions/ overlapping, element counts, and surface archaeological artefacts present at the site/panel as well as conservation aspects of the sites.

a.Number of painted figures per site and panel

The dataset for rock paintings in Omandumba West Farm recorded a total of 56 rock-painting sites, comprising of 1637 individual rock art elements found on 64 panels while the systematic survey in Omandumba East Farm recorded 4 rock paintings sites containing a total of 161 artworks found on 5 panels which brings to the total of recorded painting sites in both areas to 60 and about 69 panels that hold an excess of 1798 paintings in total. Information on the number of figures per site and panel were obtained.

The first analysis in the morphological variables established the number of rock painting figures per site. The analysis reveals a wide range of figures per site from zero to a maximum 203 with the average number of figures per site standing at 30.4 as illustrated in the histogram (Fig. 6.73) below.





Figure 6.73 Shows the histogram of total number of rock painting figures per site in Omandumba East and West farms.

The second analysis in this category recognized the number of rock painted figures per panel. The results indicate the average number of figures per panel accounting at 26.05 with maximum values of 169 figures to a minimum number of 0 figures per panel (Fig. 6.74).



Figure 6.74 Present a histogram of total number of rock painting figures per Panel in Omandumba East and West farms.

b.Paintings prevalence in the study areas

The painting repertoire reflected in (Table 6.9) indicated at total of 1798-recorded painted figures. The category of zoomorphic representations is predominant and comprised a total of 893 individual elements representing 49.7% of the total elements. Following zoomorphism taxa is the anthropomorphic representations accounting for 509 representing 28.3%. The category of indeterminate accounts for 20.4% followed by the least category of abstract 0.9%, while the phytomorphic representations accounts for 0.9%. The last category is that of therianthropic figures, which accounts for 0,2%. Each category of the elements is presented below in details.

	Omandumba East		Omandumba West		Total	
Elements	Quantity	%	Quantity	%	Freq.	2%
Anthropomorphs	56	34%	453	27.6%	509	28.3%
Zoomorphs	62	35%	831	50.7%	893	49.7%
Therianthropes	2	1.2%	1	3%	3	0.20%
Phytomorphs	0	0	10	1.4%	10	0.5%
Abstract: Lineal, Dots & Circles	1	6%	15	2.3%	16	0.9%
Indeterminate	40	23.8%	327	15.4%	367	20.4%
TOTAL	161	100%	1637	100%	1798	100%

Table 6.9 Presents the summary of the total number of elements recorded in Omandumba Farms.

c.Morphology and Style of painted elements

c.1.Anthropomorphic Representations

In the painting repertoire, anthropic depiction are the second most dominant class of elements accounting 509 figures representing 28.3%. Among them, are those considered as generic human representations, i.e. those that contain only certain part of the human body such as head, legs and missing other recognizable features. Human figures vary in sizes and shapes with smallest measuring between 2.5cmx5cm to a larger one of about 105cm in size. In general, human figures often narrative, found in many scenes most of which seems to have been drawn upon social, economic and metaphoric content linked to everyday experiences(Fig. 6.75).



Figure 6.75 Various forms of human depictions in diverse scenes and postures. Top left, scene from the 'Priests' shelter/Site OWF 46, top right is a scene from 'Site OWF09, below is scene from Site OWF18.

Such depictions are very detailed, with individuals usually shown either in singly, pairs, in small groups consisting of four to ten or larger groups of individuals from eleven to over 40. Such depictions are engaged in social activities such as in hunting scenes, copulations scenes, dancing or in certain postures such as running, standing, sitting walking (Fig. 6.75) below shows some examples.

c.1.1.Gender Representations

Human record further indicates that men generally outnumbered women as reflected in (Fig. 6.76) below. The analyses indicate 67% of the total anthropomorphism account for men while women represent only 25.5% of the total. The least category is that of indeterminate human figures that account for 7.5%.



Figure 6.76 Gender representations of anthropomorphic elements in the study.

Men seldom-muscular features and frequently shown bearing weapons such as bow and arrows, quivers, large bags, containers and occasionally sticks. Furthermore, male figures are also depicted carrying what appear to be carouses or nets like objects in great details including what is likely to be folds of meat chunks around their arms (see Fig. 6.75 {top right} and Fig. 6.77). Male figures were recorded at almost every painting site in the study. Their representations range from 1 to more than 15 on average.



Figure 6.77 Left image shows men in a hunting scene at Crown Boulder/ Site OWF52a while the right image shows hunters bearing their hunting equipment at site OWF30.

Women on the other hand, form a small section of the bigger scope in the repertoire of human figures as oppose to their male counterparts. Thick thighs, large buttocks and bellies usually distinguish their bodies. Furthermore, they are frequently depicted walking and following their male counterpart part, either in pairs or smaller groups.

The majority of them are shown pregnant, carrying, sticks or holding hands with other women. In most of the scenes, women are shown in a variety of postures such as standing, walking, dancing, running, and sitting and in groups forming circle whereas some are depicted in copulation scenes. Other female figures are portrayed in bent postures and in scenes that have direct association with food procurement (see Fig. 6.78 bottom). The majority of sites hosting women figure are mainly walls, boulders and one shelter i.e. (OWF39b).





Figure 6.78 Top left image shows a scene of pregnant women with men carrying hunting weapons, figures from site OWF52a. Top right is another scene of a pregnant woman following a man with erect penis, scene from Site OWF56. Bottom is the eponymous scene from site OWF39b /Fackelträger Shelter showing women in motion.

Gender and identities of the human figures were determined based on physical morphology of the figures i.e. men's bodies are generally slender with flat bellies, small buttocks and broad shoulders. In most cases they are distinguishable by the objects they caries such as bows and arrows, quivers, bags and sticks and sometimes their genital organ i.e. erected penises. Features accentuate women physiques includes depictions of pregnancies, breasts, headdress while some are completed with clothes (skirts).

c.1.2.Indeterminate anthropomorphism

The indeterminate human forms comprised of all the depictions that can be identified as unambiguously human by their physical appearance, regardless of interpretations and whose gender is not indicated. Some figures of this typology are no longer complete due to poor preservation hence showing only few body parts while some appear complete but their physical morphology are not natural by proportion i.e. those portrayed in bend posturesbearing extremely slender limbs, elongated arms that bent backwards clearly not natural by proportion with their arms stretched out (Fig. 6.79 left) as well as those referred to as 'ghosts' bearing long and oval heads, unnatural protracted body while their shoulder area emanate the arms (Fig 6.79 right) below.



Figure 6.79 Are some of the indeterminate human figures in the repertoire. Left are the superimposed elongated human forms at Site OWF11 while right are some human forms (in white) also 'Ghosts' at Ghost Cave/Site OEF60b (see Site OEF60 for full description of the site and artworks).

c.2.Zoomorphic Depictions

The faunal taxa account for 893 depictions representing (49.7%) of the painting repertoire and making it the most dominant figures. The analyses revealed a wide range of individual animal species from as little as one to a maximum of 578 with the average figures of 33.07. The determinate category account for 315 (35.3%) figures (see Fig.6.80) includes only the figures that could be clearly identified as an animal, regardless of the species represented and the execution in technique used in the representation. This general category has been, in turn, subdivided into several groups based on the identification of the species represented.

The faunal taxon has a remarkable degree of naturalism with animals possessing unequivocal visual resemblance of the local faunal species found in the same environment today. Some species have been painted almost in repetitive styles, which makes it simpler identify them. Almost all the figures are painted in monochrome and very few polychrome figures. In the zoomorphic taxa, there is also a generic subtype of indeterminate with 578 depictions representing (64.7%) as seen in (Fig. 6.80). This group includes all animal figures that have the basic anatomical parts (head, torso and limbs) to include them in the zoomorphs depictions category but whose biological identifications were not possible due to lack of anatomical references caused by figures appearing either unfinished or as a result of conservation challenge.



Figure 6.80 Indicates the total % of determinate and indeterminate zoomorphic taxa in the study.





The analyses above indicate varieties of animal species, with springbok being the most dominant (39.4%) followed by the giraffe 25%. Following in springboks and giraffes in

quantity are kudus (5.7%), which is surprisingly high given their lowest representations in Namibia's rock art antiquity. Oryx depictions are also plenty, accounting (5.1%) in the repertoire, while ostrich, rhinos and zebra/quagga account for (2.9%) each. Elephant and bees account for (2.5%) in the study. Bees and bees' swarms are equally some of the least represented depictions in Namibia, and in the study, they account for (1.6% & 1.4%). Another unusual depictions in the Namibian rock painting antiquity are the antelope spoors, which accounts for (2.2%) in the study. Spoors in painting antiquity are extraordinary uncommon in Namibia hence, those recorded in Omandumba are likely to be the only existing record to date. Depictions of warthog account for (1.6%), while, klipspringer and duickerbuck figures represents (1%) and 2.2% in the study. The lowest record shows wildebeest, felines and snakes figures stands at (0.5%) each, while jackal repertoire recorded only (0.2%).Following the aforementioned criteria, (Fig. 6.79), below presents the variations of species recorded in the inventory beginning with the identified individual animal species.

c.2.1.Springboks (124)

The dominance of springbok in the study comes as no surprise; after all they are most depicted animal species in the painting antiquity of Namibia (LENSSEN-ERZ 1997). In Omandumba sites, springbok is widely distributed, found almost at every painted site. They are rarely depicted in singly but always-in small or larger groups of their own herds. They are rarely superimposed on other depictions. As with most of the animals, the springbok depictions in the study varies but are always portrayed in a naturalistic manners, miming their living counterparts. However, at some sites, they are depicted headless and in some instances, their behavioural characteristics are also shown in figures. They are often depicted in motion, in herds (Fig. 6.82) while others are shown in static posture without any specific activity.



Figure 6.82 Shows springbok depictions. Left are springboks moving calmly towards left at OWF39b also Fackelträger Shelter while right are springboks in static posture without any specific activity at Site Christian Shelter also Site OWF30a.

c.2.2.Giraffes (78)

Giraffe is the second most quantitative species of animals in the zoomorphic taxa. Depictions of giraffe are quite common in the painting antiquity of Namibia (SCHERZ 1986). Giraffe have been identified as kind of a replacement of eland in the Southern African Rock Art (LEWIS-WILLIAMS; CHALLIS 2011) and is regarded as one of the as rain animals (OUZMAN 2010). Like the springbok, the giraffe is also found in many painted sites. Their depictions ranges from as little as one to six at most sites. The manner in which the giraffe are painted differs forms other animals and four identifiable styles (Fig. 6.83).Fully painted type: the most frequent type of the series includes depictions where the animal has been fully painted in monochrome (in brown, white and red pigments). Here the animal is very detailed, a clear duplications of its living counterpart where the artist (s) has exceeded a simple linear reference of the animal.

The artists may also incorporate the natural background of the rock surface complete the animal figure without pigment in fill to highlight certain part of the animal. In this case, the animal seen interacted not only with natural features in the rock surface but also with the rest of figures on that panel.

- Outlined: this type consists of fully outlined body of the animal whereby only its headline, neckline and backline were fully painted.
- Reduced giraffe: Where only the headline, neckline and backline are visible (in outline or in filled with paint). Here, the artists seemingly painted only the 'distinguishable marks'. It is likely that those seemingly very reduced giraffe had bodies painted but faded.
- Pattern giraffe: a partially painted or fully painted giraffe in their distinctive spotted patterns. These figures are very limited in the study and recorded at two sites (bottom figure).



Figure 6.83 Shows verities of painted giraffe depictions. Top left is a giraffe from site OWF56. Top middle is a patterned giraffe at OWF16 while the top right image is from site OWF52b. The bottom image shows fully painted giraffes from site OWF39b/ Fackelträger Shelter.

c.2.3.Kudus (18) and Oryx (16)

The great kudu is surprisingly the third most depicted animal figure in the animal repertoire. These depictions are also widely distributed and rarely placed more than two at the same site. Like most of the animals, they are all fully painted in red monochrome and often juxtaposition to very few human figures. Females are often depicted hornless with elaborate ears while males are shown with their long straight or wiggly horns (Fig. 6.84). In the study,kudu depictions are some of the very well preserved figures as they are often placed in in unlike those placed at the bottom or edges of panels.



Figure 6.84 left is a female kudu at Site OWF07 while right is a male kudu at Site OWF06.

Depictions of oryx/gemsbok on the other hand are also documented at several sites in the study areas. They are frequently depicted in various scenes, most commonly among other animal figures. The majorities are painted in monochrome (red) pigment with an exception of that at site OWF12 (Fig. 6.85) in polychrome (red and white). Here, the artist used white paint to distinguish features of animal body such as its head and legs. The oryx here is shown being followed by two males- hunters bearing weapons while following another headless four-legged antelope, likely a springbok.



Figure 6.85 Shows the depiction of an Oryx in polychrome at site OWF12. The figure is described by (BREUIL 1960) as Nyala. This is cryptic since the nyala does not occur in Namibia naturally. Its region of distribution lies in south-eastern Africa in more humid biotopes. It is possible that some framers may have introduced some Nyala to Namibia, but we can reasonably exclude them from the prehistoric fauna of the region.

c.2.4.Ostrich (9) and Rhino (9)

A number of Ostriches were also recorded at various sites. They are often juxtaposition next to each other and (without superimposition) with other figures on the same panel while fully painted in red monochrome. Among this record, there is one exception of one recorded at site OEF60b also Ghost Cave (Fig. 6.86 left) have been painted exclusively in white pigment (while its belly has not been in filled with paint) and have been superimposed on a springbok figure painted in red monochrome. Rhinoceros have also equally recorded in many painting sites often, one at a site, with an exception of those two painted at site OWF46a also 'Priest Shelter'. Like many other animals, rhinos have painted at least in two styles, outline and fully painted (Fig. 6.86 right). The fully painted rhino has been outlined first then in filled with paint. They are also subjected to superimposition at many sites including those seen in the following (Fig. 6.86 bottom) below.



Figure 6.86 left shows the superimposed white ostrich partially painted at Site OEF60b. The right image shows two types of rhinoceros in outline and fully painted at site OWF46a.

c.2.5.Elephant (8)

Elephant record is also high in the repertoire. They have been so far recorded at five sites with the study most of which are widely scattered across the landscape. Three have been painted on the same panel at site OEF60a (two small one and two larger one). Some of the elephant figures have been a subjected to superimpositions. However, they have all been painted in red monochrome. Those recorded at site OWF26a and OWF50 have been outlined first and then in-filled with the same paint. They are depicted in various postures such as foraging, trumpeting and standing. The sites where they elephants have been recorded have significant complex figures but these sites are located away from natural resources. These mega fauna are painted with a high degree of naturalism since all of their physical morphologies are clearly shown. In his studies in the Brandberg, (LENSSEN-ERZ 2001) have also noted many

superimpositions among the elephant figures, which also apply in Omandumba farms (Fig. 6.87) at site OEF60a. This indicates that they are likely to be the earliest artworks.



Figure 6.87 Shows varieties of elephant depictions in the study. The top images show depictions of four elephants at site OWF60a. The bottom left image shows an elephant drawn with its trunk raised, a behaviour often adopted when trumpeting or foraging. Figure recorded at site OWF50. The bottom right image shows another elephant figure at site Elephant Boulder/site OW26a.

c.2.6.Duiker buck (7) and Antelope Spoors (7)

Duiker bucks are some of the infrequent antelope species in the painting antiquity in Namibia. In the study, these small antelope species have been recorded at seven random sites mostly in Omandumba West farm. The have been painted predominantly in red monochrome (Fig. 6.88 top) and normally placed adjacent to other antelope species. No superimposition of this animal has been recorded so far in the study. Most of them appear to be in bad state of conservation. Animal spoors in rock paintings of Namibia are one of the infrequent depictions. But in Omandumba West paintings records, I have recorded a total of 7 antelopes spoors found at Site OWF08 juxtaposition with matching animal specie - springboks and oryx/gemsbok (Fig. 6.88 right). The spoors have rounded top and directed side by side upwards on the panel. Even though these 'spoors' are not depicted in sequential rows as animal produces them on the ground, they share similar traits like some of those depicted at the engraving site in Omandumba East farm (site OEF61). If they are really spoors, such representation is a rarity occurrence in the antiquity of the Namibian rock paintings unlike the high records in the engraving antiquity.



Figure 6.88 Left image shows one of a duiker buck at Site OWF21 while the right image shows antelope "spoors' prints juxtaposition to springboks and oryx figures at site OWF08.

c.2.7.Bees (5) and Bees Swarms (4)

A surprisingly high number of bees and bee swarms have been recorded in Omandumba West farm in the immediate distance to each other. Bees' depictions are painted in details with their well-shaped torsos and wings clearly shown. Some of the bees have been juxtaposition next to the bee swarms (Fig. 6.89) while some have been placed adjacent to trees and human figures. Furthermore, these depictions are placed at sites where wild bees' nests are found in the immediate site's surroundings. For instance at site OWF54, bees' nests are located on the granite cavity of same boulder containing the bee swam while at site OWF52b, bee nests are found on the tree leaning on the painted boulder. All the bees and bees' swarms are painted in red and brown monochrome.

The bees' swarms have a zigzag or wavelike pattern and are made of little brushstrokes/ dots or tiny red crosses that defines the swarms' patterns. With the exception of site OWF30, all other bees' depictions are found in secluded sites with no evidence of human habitation. They are also some of the well-preserved artworks in the study.



Figure 6.89 Shows various bees and bees' swarms depictions in the study. The top two images show bees' and bees' swarms at site OWF52b. The bottom image shows ta wave –like structure of bees' swarms at site OWF54 while the bottom right image shows three depictions of bees at site OWF30.

c.2.8.Eland (6), Zebra/quagga (9) and Wildebeest (2)

Eland figures in the faunal repertoire account for 6 depictions in the study. These large antelopes are some of the least represented bovid in the study. These depictions have been recorded only at two sites in Omandumba West farm, namely site OWF52 and OWF56. These sites are secluded, with no evidence of habitations as attested by lack of surface artefacts. All eland depictions have also been superposed – 2 on one elephants and 2 by the springbok's figures both of which have been painted exclusively in black monochrome while partially drawn (Fig. 6.90 top images) at site OWF56. The other two elands' depictions were recorded at the third cluster immediately beneath the previous elands at site OWF52a (Fig. 6.90 bottom). Here, these depictions are painted in brown and pale red colour.

The male bull (in brown) has been superimposed on a small partially outlined eland just immediately on top of it with a feline figure in its mouth. This eland figure has been outline with strong emphasis on its neckline and interior of its hind legs. All these depictions are well preserved.



Figure 6.90 Top right & left images shows eland's depictions in black monochrome superimposed on and by other animal figures at site OWF56. The bottom image shows an outlined eland in red monochrome at site OWF52a.

Zebra/quagga figures on the other hand are also some of the well-preserved figures in the study. Quagga were particularly difficult to identify because of their similarly to zebras. These equids figures were only recorded at four sites, at OWF30, OWF33, OWF40 and OEF60. What was surprising about them is the fact that all these depictions are recurrently placed on top of other animal figures (see Fig. 6.91 top {arrow} & Fig. 6.87 top). All of them are fully painted in red monochrome and no differences were made to show the distinguishing striped markings but were drawn naturalistically. Wildebeest's depictions have also been painted in the similar styles as eland depictions. Having their bodies either fully outlined with single line or partially outline while their hooves and the interior of its neckline has been reemphasized with paint (Fig. 6.91). Like the eland, the wildebeest have all been

superimposed on other figures (human/animals) most of which are painted in pale red. However, they are exclusively found in rock shelters i.e. at OWF49 and OWF25.



Figure 6.91 The image to the left shows a zebra figure on top of the springboks depictions at Christian Shelter, site OWF30a while the right figure is that of an outlined figure of a wildebeest at Site OWF49 also Seal Shelter.

c.2.9.Warthog (5), Klipspringer (3) and Jackal (1)

Other animal depictions whose distributions are in limited quantity includes warthogs mainly found at four sites, fully painted in red monochrome, as shown in (Fig. 6.92 left), quagga all of which have been fully painted in brown and placed particularly on top of other figures are observed among zebras. One small jackal recorded at Site OWF39b. Most of these animal figures are painted with particular details and degree of naturalism for example, having their mouths, ears, horns, tails, legs, sometimes even their sexual organs clearly shown.



Figure 6.92 Left image shows a depiction of a warthog, partially exfoliated from Site OWF41. The middle image shows a klipspringer figure at site OWF31. The right image shows an identified by the local San men as a jackal figure at OWF39b.

c.2.10.Felines (2) and Snake (2)

Two feline figures mostly likely lions were also recorded at two sites, Site OWF52a and OEF60a in the study. At Crown boulder, the feline is shown immediately beneath an eland mouth (see Fig. 6.90) where else at Ghost Cave, a lion species is not easily identifiable

because of the animal being depicted as standing behind a treelike plant, hiding it's forepart (Fig. 6.93 left).



Figure 6.93 Left, is a depiction of a lion at Site OEF60a, right, is a depiction a snake with two bodies and one head from Site OWF49.

The felines are fully painted in red with elongated bodies, bent backline and slightly curved tail. Their paws are not clearly shown but their legs are well finished. Two large snakes have been recorded both in Omandumba West farm, at Site OWF45 and at Site OWF49. The snakes are quite strange in a sense that they have painted in complete two different styles. The one at Site OWF45 has been painted in outline without in fill. Its head is clearly shown, but it is fairly long with winding body having three springboks inside at the end of its tail that seems to emerge from it. It was particularly difficult to photograph because it's placed between a small crack. The second snake at Site OWF49 has two bodies but with one head. It has been fully painted with its body in filled with red monochrome paint.

c.2.11.Indeterminate Zoomorphism (578)

The majority of figures in this category have basic inferences (head, torso and limbs) to incorporate them in the taxonomically class of indeterminate zoomorphic category, but lack the anatomical diagnostic features required to establish their identities. Some of these figures are complete; still their identity could not be established. Most of them were once complete figures but have faded as a result of various deteriorations dynamics i.e. natural and human induced actions. In some cases, dust generated by human and animals obscure figures while organic acids secreted by rainwater, animal (rock dassies) urines and other growths had also slowly altered the surface of the rock, which then becomes weathered and making it difficult to identify the figures. Where else, other figures were severely obscured by wasps with only certain parts of them are exposed while some have been partially exfoliated.

There are also many instances where figures are so heavily superimposed with the same pigment that it became challenging to establish the identity of the animal. Some figures are in excellent condition but their identity could not be firmly established. This is a case with a zoomorphic depiction of what likely to be animal skin hides in outline at site OWF41 (Fig. 6.94 {bottom right}). The figures are seemingly skinned animal with their hind legs wide spread apart and stretched to dry. (Fig. 6.94) below presents some of the said examples from various sites in the study.



Figure 6.94 Shows some of the indeterminate zoomorphic depictions in the study areas. Top left is one of the indeterminate figure showing most likely two animal figures at Site OWF30. Top right is one of a small animal partially exfoliated at Site

c.3. Therianthropic Representations (3)

About three depictions of therianthropes (part-human and part animal figures) were recorded in the painting repertoire. Two were recorded in OEF Site OEF 59 also "Die Kudu Boulder" while one in OWF47 also "Ostrich Shelter (Fig.6.93). The first two therianthropes have been placed on top of another. They are shown with long legs, long tails, in a crawling posture and with physical traits as described by (BÖRNER 2013:103) similar to that of a kudu i.e. elaborated broad ears with the exception of their tails (Fig.6.95 left). The figure at the bottom appears to be holding a bundle of three or more sticks or probably arrows as one of the sticks has a sharp pointy end. Immediately in front of the beneath therianthrope is an outlined figure of kudu (probably a female kudu as it hornless with swollen tummy) whose head is intertwined with the therianthrope. The third last therianthrope is a running human figure with elephant characteristics, namely trunk, large round ears, and large clumpy feet recorded at the 'Ostrich Shelter' (Fig. 6.95 right). A similar reference is found in Twyfelfontein, where an ostrich was engraved on the ceiling of a narrow fissure of the palms (KINAHAN 2010:45).



Figure 6.95 Left are two Kudutherianthropen figures at "Die Kudu' Boulder. Right, is the Ostrich figure next to an elephant therianthrope. All DStretched images in middle are at 10 LDS scale.

c.4. Phytomorphs Depictions (10)

Arboreal depictions in Southern African rock art are some of the least represented depictions unlike their animal and human counterpart (MGUNI 2009). In Namibia, very few record of them have been reported scattered at few sites in the Brandberg Namibia, according to (MASON 1958, 357–368; LENSSEN-ERZ 2001, 1996), which account for ca. 0.15% of figures. In the painting repertoire, I have recorded approximately 10 (1.4%) tree depictions representing a specie of what appear to be quiver tree⁶ (Aloe Dichotoma) found at three rock

⁶ The Quiver tree also "Choje" in San language; is a is an over dwarf shrubs distinct member of succulent plant of aloes indigenous to Southern Africa and particularly endemic in Namib desert, also found in Omandumba Farms trees were given their common name quiver in the 17th century when San people of Southern Africa were seen to fashioning quivers for the production of strings, quiver container and carve their arrow from the soft, pulpy branches of this tree.

sites with Omandumba West farm Fackelträger/ OWF39b, Tuba Rock/ OWF50 and Bees' Swarms Boulder/OWF52b) see (Fig. 6.94).

It is possible that the depicted is indeed that of a quiver tree, which is still found in the same terrains today as (DEACON & LANCASTER 1988; MIGOŃ & GOUDIE 2000) stressed that the environment reasonably remained unchanged in Namibia throughout Holocene period. The phytomorphic figures have been painted in red and brown monochrome. They are shown with their branches but without tree roots. Those recorded at Tuba Rock have also been juxtaposition near logs. Eight of these depictions have subjected to superimpositions; more especially they are juxtaposition ironically close to the giraffe's figures. The inclusion of such subject matter occupies a unique position in hunter-gatherer given the importance of the Quiver trees.





Figure 6.96 Top image shows various tree and tree logs' depictions at Tuba Rock/site OWF50. The bottom Image to the left shows a small tree at site OWF52b, the middle image present the largest tree depiction at Fackelträger Shelter/site OWF39b while on the right is another tree depiction from Site OEF60a. All images have been DStretched at 10 LDS scales.

c.5.Abstract: Lineal, Circles& Dots Depictions (16)

Abstract representations accounted for 2.3% in the record. They include series of common abstract elements in rock art paintings including outlined lineal straight, simple, double, curved, irregular) and dots and circles designs (Fig. 6.97). These depictions are widely distributed and have been recorded at many sites. Some are with contexts while many without contextual knowledge proved challenging to decipher what they might represent although their deliberate placement and arrangement have meanings.



Figure 6.97 Left image indicates a lineal depiction at site OWF39b while the right are some circles & dots depictions found at site OWF56. All DStretched images at 10 LDS scale.
c.6.Indeterminate Elements (367)

The taxonomically class of indeterminate or unidentifiable group of rock paintings figures accounts for 20.4%, which is the third most representations in the painting repertoire. The indeterminate category comprises of figures that have limited or lack diagnostic features such as anatomical inferences, required to define them according to other categories, as their forms do not depict any form of recognizable design or shape (Fig. 6.98).

Most of these figures suffered as a result of several deteriorations. In some cases, dust generated by human and animals obscure figures while organic acids secreted by rainwater, animal (rock dassies) urines and other growths had also slowly altered the surface of the rock, which then becomes weathered. In addition, some of the painted rock surfaces of some shelters are fully exfoliated and has largely flaked off hence, showing a few blobs of pigments thus classified into indeterminate category while at some sites, paintings are partially covered by wasps.



Figure 6.98 The top left image indicates the indeterminate design from the 'Crown Boulder' OWF 52b. The middle image shows the well-known 'Crown' from the Crown Boulder/site OWF52b. The third image shows another indeterminate outline figure in shape of 'shoe sole' from site OWF39b while the last image to the right is another indeterminate design from the 'Crown Boulder'. All DStretched images at 10 LDS scale.

d. Techniques of painted artworks

In the painting repertoire, only varieties of fine line techniques have been applied in the production of rock paintings in the study. These include those that have been outlined with a single line, outlined figure with its interior partially and fully filled with same colour, monochrome figure with colour (black, red, brown and orange blocked in as well as bichrome figures that have been painted with two block of colours in the same figure as shown in (Table 6.10 and Fig. 6.99).

Technique Employed	Sum of Figures (n=1798)	% Of Figures 100
Monochrome: (black, brown, orange & white)	1303	72.5%
Outlined: Single line without infill	24	1.3%
Outlined: Single line & partially infilled	438	24.4%
Outlined: Single line & fully infilled	25	1.4%
Bichrome: (red & white, brown & black)	8	0.4%

Table 6.10 Present the variables in the Technique of rock paintings in the study.



Figure 6.99 Present the variables in the Technique of rock paintings in the study.

The techniques analysis indicates that the majority of the rock paintings, about 1306 (72.5%) have been painted fully in monochrome (red, brown, black and white pigment). About 438 (24.4%), are those that have been outlined in monochrome (mainly in red, brown pigments and very few white).

Artworks under this category have been outlined with the figure's interior partially filled with same color while those that have been outlined first and the fully filled with paint accounts for 25 representing (1.4%). The paintings that have been outlined with a single line without any in fill account for 24 (1.3%) in the repertoire, followed lastly by those painted in bichrome 8 (0.4%) mostly a combination of brown and red and brown and white. No polychrome elements have been recorded in the entire painting repertoire so far. Following the technique analysis above, (Fig. 6.100) below present examples of various fine line techniques applied in the study.







Figure 6.100 Various fine line technique artworks. (A) Left is an outline with no infill from site OEF58, right: an outlined and partially in-filled animal figure at Site OWF49. (B) Images an outline and partially in-filled human figure at site OWF25 & OWF46b. (C) Figures that have been outlined and fully in-filled with same paint. Figures from site OWF01. (D) Are bichrome figures from left OWF43 (rhino -brown & black), middle OWF05 (human - red & brown), right, OWF12 (Oryx - brown & white). Monochrome depictions (see image display C).

e.Superimpositions

Elements of superimpositions in the Namibian rock painting antiquity are quite common. These varies from paintings overlapping other paintings with (different or same colours) or instances where paintings overlays engravings. The most common superimpositions cases are of human over human figures or animals over other animals or vice versa. In the study areas, I have also recorded a large number of superimpositions of elements, representing 38.1% of the total rock paintings repertoire. These were recorded at various rock-painting site widely distributed across this landscape. Most of the overlapped artworks are often badly deteriorated (especially those painted in red) and few figures that survive superimpositions are in good state of preservations (i.e. black and deep red, white and brown or brown over brown). Establish overlapping and identifying the sequences among these paintings and analysing them is difficult. Most of these figures have to be treated through the application of DStretch first. It is therefore apparent that there could be more elements than those presented in this thesis.

My observations of the superimpositions in the study areas indicate that a greater extent of superimposition is not driven by the absence of paintable surfaces or lack of space on the painted panels. As a matter of fact, most of the superimposed elements occur on expanse of highly suitable panels most of which are unused but with room available. This strongly supports a case for premeditated intent to carefully positioning figures on other figures. It is likely that this was achieved by same artist or added later by different artists.

It is possible that large sites - especially habitable one i.e. OWF30, OWF39 and OWF41 with many and larger figures (offering high visibility) attract more superimposition than those with fewer and smaller figures (often with low visibility) as it have been observed at smaller sites. However, it becomes challenging to ascertain whether the superimpositions occurred immediately after the overdrawn figure was created (especially those painted in the same color) or not. If not, it is possible that the older figure had deteriorated to the extent that the later artists did not really notice it when choosing a canvas (especially those painted in light oranges or red). Nonetheless, all the decipherable superimpositions recorded in the study areas were quantitatively analysed as reflected in (Table 6.11& Figure 6.101).

Elements	Sum of Figures (n=685)	% Of Figures	Sum of Sites (n=46)	% of Sites
Zoomorphisms	359	52.4%	17	37%
Anthropomorphisms	208	30.4%	13	28.3%
Phytomorphs	6	0.9%	2	4.3%
Indeterminate	112	16.4%	14	30.4%

Table 6.11 Shows the number of figures per sum of sites that lie over an existing figure (s). In total there are 685 paintings superimposed over existing figures – about 38.1% of the total.



Figure 6.101 A histogram Analysis of the superimposed elements per total number of sites in the study areas.

The analysis presented in (Table 6.11) & Fig. 6.101) above shows the proportion of overlying figures in the study. The high proportions of superimposition have been recorded amongst the zoomorphic figures 52.4% recorded from at least 17 sites. The majority of the zoomorphs depictions subjected to superimpositions are zoomorphs as either the over- or underlying other zoomorphs 86%. Zoomorphs over anthropomorphs account for 12% while very few have been superimposed on other elements 2%.

The placement is rather intentional at this specific panel than a random act. The reoccurring feature among the zoomorphs superimpositions is the fact that the artists appear to have respect for the earlier artists because they ensure that the original figure remains clearly identifiable from a succeeding figure (s). This is only achievable where different pigment

colours have been used. When one color is used, it becomes impossible to establish which image overlaps which figures (see Fig. 6.102 & Fig 6.103 for illustrations). In order to establish the sequence of figures within the overlapping's five colours were used to distinguish possible three phases of superimpositions. These include figures that have been painted in red, brown, black, orange and those in white. Furthermore, zoomorphs figures such as elephants are likely to be among the oldest figures for they have remarkably been subjected to superimpositions in the study while other animals. Therefore, such animals stylistically fall under layer 1 like giraffes, rhino, ostriches, eland and wildebeests are likely younger as they have been superimposed on various figures at many sites (Fig. 6.102 & Fig. 6.103). Stylistic analysis also indicates that these are the most outlined figures.





Figure 6.102 Presents a reconstruction of the superimposed elephant by two elands. The use of two colours led to establishing the overlaying figures, technique, style and scene. The site comprised of two phases only. Figures in red paint are older than those painted in black paint. Deconstructed figures at the bottom are at 15 cm scale. The DStretched image in middle is at 12.5 LDS scale.

Since zoomorphs constitute the most commonly encountered figures linked in superimpositions; the high incidence of this particular linkage provides visual support for the postulations of intensifications of ritual activities designed to increase the supply of game animals especially during dry seasons when food supply becomes scarce.



Figure 6.103 Present detailed superimpositions observed on the entire Panel OEF60a. Here, all the elephants have been overlapped by various animal figures (particularly giraffes and springboks). The superimposition of the figures also made it possible to establish the techniques used, styles of figures and also the stratigraphy of the animals. Figures in the 1st phase are painted exclusively red paint, followed by those painted in brown, the 2nd phase and lastly the 3rd phase wherein figures have been painted in pale orange. The DStretched image in middle is at 12.5 LDS scale.





Figure 6.104 Top and bottom images show a scene of zoomorphic figures superimposed over human and vice versa at Site/Panel OWF52a. Here, three phases of superimpositions where established. In this scenario, red figures are the earliest depictions followed by the in brown while the orange figures are the later depictions at the panel. The DStretched image in middle is at 12.5 LDS scale.

3

Overlapping among the anthropomorphs constitute 30.4%, recorded among 13 sites. Anthropomorphs overlapped over by other anthropomorphs depictions are less frequent in the study accounting 10%. Most of them are painted in the same color. Therefore, establishing which image overlay which prove to be difficult especially when the paint is consistent and figures are matching stylistically. Superimposition among human figures painted in different colours made it easier to deconstruct, as the colours used do not have the same consistency. Figure 6.105 below illustrates two examples in the study from site OWF04a and OEF57:

(A)



Figure 6.105 Shows two reconstructed examples of overlapping among anthropomorphs in the study. Image on the left depicts superimposed humans at site OWFO4 while the image on the right shows overlapped human/animal figures at site OEF57.

Anthropomorphs figures that have been superimposed either on or by animals and other elements account for 90%. When a different color is used and the figures in good state of conservations, establishing overlapping among the figures also becomes possible in this case, (Fig.6.106) below.



Figure 6.106 Shows reconstructed overlapped human figures on some animal figures scene recorded at site OWF26a. In this case, human figures are in the third phase. All figures at 10cm scale. The DStretched image in middle is at 12.5 LDS scale.

Arboreal depictions that have been subjected to superimpositions accounts for 0.9% occurring at two sites namely OWF39b and OWF50. These depictions have been superimposed on earlier animal figures (Fig. 6.107) and some human figures (painted in red). In all instances giraffes figures has superimposed on the tree figures. Therefore, stylistic analyses indicates that they likely older than animals painted in brown colour or giraffe in particular



Figure 6.107 Shows reconstructed tree figure superimposed on a springbok figure and overlapped by a giraffe figure at site OWF39b. In this scenario, the tree figures falls under the 2nd phase. All figures at 10cm scale. The DStretched image in middle is at 15 LDS scale.

Indeterminate designs subject of superimposition are also many 16.4% recorded at 14 sites in the study. The majority of these forms fall under layer 1, based on their colour and their juxtaposition to layer 2 figures.

e.1.Painting Sequence

Establish the time difference between painting episodes is one of the most arduous and challenging process. Renowned rock art scholar David Whitley, (WHITLEY 2005: 55) has also admitted that such differences may be separated by few minutes, it may be the same day, same year or thousands of years apart. Whitely even went further to suggests that superimposition sequences may not primarily be a function of age but what is clear is that one

episode was painted after another. Therefore, superimposition may not necessary reflect time depth only but also a cultural associations where over-painting describes relationships between figures or colours used.

Based on the analyses of superimpositions of paintings in the study, at least three painting episodes are detectable on some of the scenes of the panels. Elephant's figures appear to be some of the earliest figures, falling under phase 1. At site OWF56 for instance, (Fig. 6.102) elephant has been subjected to superimpositions by two partially drawn elands in black; hence the black colour falls in the 2nd phase as it overlays the first phase similarly at site OEF60a, all elephants figures have been superimposed over by other fully painted animal figures in brown that falls under the 2nd phase as well as one outlined giraffe figure which falls under the 3rd phase (see Fig. 6.103). Some human figures painted in pale red are also falling under the 1st phase as they have been subjected to superimpositions. See examples from OWF52a and OEF57. In the same first phase, are also some of the fully painted headless springboks and some indeterminate figures (Fig. 6.105). Outlined and fully painted giraffes and other fully painted animals in brown monochrome at site OWF52a (Fig. 6.107) is even harder to establish. It is possible that outlined animal figures such as the giraffe and wildebeest might be of later stage but stylistically their morphology is similar to the outlined kudu partially superimposed by the wildebeest. Therefore, establish such sequence becomes impossible.

Three sequences of overlapping's has been observed at one of a scene at site OWF26a (see Fig. 6.106). Here, earlier figures range from 1-5 including fully painted rhino override by a fully painted giraffe in the 2^{nd} phase. All the other figures superimposed on this scene appear to be late figures hence in the 3^{rd} phase. Another complex superimposition situation is observed at of the prominent scene of site OWF39b where an arboreal figure (phase 2) has been superimposed on a headless springbok and some indeterminate figures (possibly phase 1). The original image of the fully painted giraffes and the tree have the same consistency of paint, however, it is evident that the tree is painted earlier than the giraffes hence the giraffes are included in the 3^{rd} phase.

As demonstrated in all the detailed figures under superimposition, it is possible to construct the stratigraphic layers of overlapping. However, determining the times possible that these artworks have been created in isolated episodes since both of the painting techniques and styles differs with earlier figures like the elephants to be fully painted while younger figures like the giraffes appear to be outlined with single line or partially outlined. This is further collaborated by the Brandberg analysis of the giraffe's rock paintings and engravings by Jürgen Richter (RICHTER 2008a) who suggests that the outlined giraffe without in-fill is younger belonging to Mode 3 representations. In his studies in the Brandberg Tilman Lenssen-Erz (LENSSEN-ERZ 2001) has also indicated that elephant are likely to be among the oldest motifs as they were subjected to superimpositions.

f.Pigment

Various pigment colours have been used in the production of rock painting (Fig. 6.109). The color of the artwork in most cases influences the visibility of the artwork. (Fig. 6.108) below present the frequency analysis of pigment color used in the rock paintings in the study areas.



Figure 6.108 Shows the frequencies of colours used in the production of rock paintings.



Figure 6.109 Present the original colours of rock paintings in the study. (A-B) shades of brown, (C) represent orange, (D) are black and (E) are red while white.

The pigment analyses above indicate that varieties of red paint (deep and shallow) have been predominantly used and account for 808 (44.9%) artworks in the study areas. However, the majority of the artworks painted especially in shallow red are in very bad state of conservation. This, in combinations with the color of the rock surfaces and other biological and chemical deteriorations has attributed even more to the fading of the figures; hence most of these figures fall under the indeterminate category. Most of these figures are visible through DStretch application. Following red paint is the varieties of brown pigment, which account for 717 (39.9%). Artwork painted in brown is the most well preserved artwork. The majority of animal figures have been painted using reddish and brownish colours.

Shades of orange account 246 representing (13.7%) of figures while white color account for 14(0.8%). Figures painted in white are uncommon although they are among the most interesting artworks. The majority of them are fully painted in white monochrome. There are however, few instances where white paint has been used in combination with reddish or brownish colours to distinguish features of animal bodies. Painted figures in black account for 13 in the study, representing (0.7%) as shown (Figure Fig. 6.100). This color is quite rare in the repertoire and was recorded at four sites in the study areas. The majority of the anthropomorphic figures and many animals including elephants, zebra, quagga, bees and bees' swarm, snakes, kudu, felines and springboks while elands were painted exclusively in black and red. Giraffes, oryxes, ostriches, wildebeests, warthogs, some rhinos have been painted in brown hence are some of the well-preserved animal figures in the study. The paintings in orange or reddish yellow were less visible and common among springboks. Almost all figures in the indeterminate category are those painted in the variations of red colours (red, light red and orange/reddish yellow).

g. Conservation Variables of Rock Paintings

The conservation analysis evaluates variables relative to the current condition and the potential threat to the rock paintings and engravings in the study areas. This was crucial as a sound conservation management practice in order to make recommendations for the appropriate conservation methods for the sites. This assessment provides baseline data, which allow future monitoring of decay or damage to the rock art. It also identifies sites that require immediate protective measures. The assessment looks at many aspects of conditions including deterioration triggered from anthropic impacts, animal impacts, biological threats, and chemical/physical processes. The analyses evaluated both rock painting and engraving sites and are presented together in the following (Table 6.12).

Types of Impacts	Number of Cases (max 61)	%of Variables
Anthropic Impacts (Human Impacts)		
Graffiti (carved)	3	8.8%
Graffiti (Painted)	1	2.9%
Chips and Scratches	1	2.9%
Construction near site (camp site)	7	20.6%
Mining and Quarrying	3	8.8%
Dust	20	58.8%
Burned Areas (camp areas)	1	2.9%
Animal Impacts		
Droppings (game/stock) of animals Waste beneath the panel	27	37.5%
Wear (Rubbing)	9	12.5%
Wasps	3	5.6%
Chips and Scratches by animals	2	2.8%
Animal blood or droppings on the art wall	28	38.9%
Diggings	2	2.8%
Biological Impacts		
Vegetation (roots, branches)	6	4.7%
Grass Turf/Patches waste	4	3.1%
Erosion (Water run-off)	59	46.1%
Sun Exposure	59	46.1%
Physical and chemical Threats		
Planar (scaling/flacking)	39	23.9%
Undercutting (beneath the panel)	2	1.2%
Scaling & flaking (future break-off)	4	2.5%
Differential erosion (water flow onto rock surfaces)	61	37.4%
Exfoliation	60	35.5%

Table 6.12 Present the summary of the current threats affecting the rock art sites (paintings and engraving sites) in the study areas.

The analyses indicate that the main causes of deterioration in rock paintings are biological and physical and chemical threats. Rock paintings are remarkably fragile to sun exposure which has ultimately resulted in the exfoliation of rock surfaces which greatly contributes to the fading of the rock painting figures. Those that were not affected by the sun exposure include artworks recorded in caves only (i.e. Leopard Cave and Ghost Cave). The sun exposure has affected more exclusively painting sites in rock shelters, boulders, sill and ledges and on granitic wall. However, their exposure levels differs seasonality. The severe cases of exfoliations were greatly noted at every rock-painting site (Fig. 6.108 -4th figure). The rate at which the rock paintings are deteriorating is still unknown given the fact that few that were recorded by *Abbé* Breuil in 1950s (BREUIL 1960) where mainly traced and those that were photographed are in black white images which prove to be difficult to determine the change. However, this would require further research (Fig. 6.110).

Run-off from rainwater erosion has also greatly affected the painted surface creating whitish patches 'wash zones' that cover most sections of painted surface that partially obscures the rock paintings (Fig. 6.110). Other water related concerns at most sites including those in caves in form of thin coating layer of brown to dark marks in the ceiling of the sites obscuring some rock painting figures while making others difficult to detect especially those painted in black pigment. It's possible that the run-offs that flow into some sites contains dassies secretions in form of urines and faeces resulting in the deposition of black patches at some areas of the ceiling in sites. Most of the artworks painted in white pigment are specifically in poor condition due to the fact that their painted surfaces has developed layers of lime overlying the artworks in large parts.

Animal impacts at the rock art sites also take their toll. Game droppings have been observed at about 27 sites in the study. This comes as a result of animal using sites as temporary resting places (proving shades at certain part of the day) and on in doing so animal scratches their bodies onto painted surfaces and sometimes digs beneath the painted rock. There are some cases where surface artefacts at some sites have been trampled on and dislocated by animals as a result of persistent use of these sites. Some paintings been obscured by the activity of birds, secretions (urines - especially from rock dassies) and certain insects such as termites and mud wasps that build nests on painted rock walls. In some areas of the rock surface there are dark brown marks that I identify as dassies (*Procavia Capensis*) urine, that run from the top of the panel to the bottom that creates grey wash mark during rainy season. Such marks

appears to be inactive during summer and does not completely obliterate the figures, dassies urine and bird droppings are however active threats. Plants, too, have affected the rock art sites. There were instances where plant roots have expanded rock fissures, which ultimately led to the splitting/breaking off the boulders hosting the rock art. At some sites, tree braches where recorded brushing onto painted rock surfaces which ultimately deteriorate artworks.

Human impacts (Fig. 6.111) are generally minimal with the study areas. This is because the farms are privately owned and access to rock art sites requires permission from farms owners. There is however few cases of unauthorized visits to the farms by illegal miners who query precious minerals in the Erongo Mountains. They have caused damage to some rock art sites in form of erecting fires in some painted rock shelters. At the rock-engraving site, graffiti in form of scratching on panels (with and without rock art) have been recorded as tourists scratched their initials and also attempts to engrave some animal figures. At the San living Museum, numerous fresh painted artworks superimposed on older paintings on the large boulder that hosts the SLM. Several constructions near and in the rock art sites especially in Omandumba West farm have been record. Here, this construction includes the establishments of campsites and their amenities. Such establishments directly impact about 7 sites.

The type of impacts visible at the camping sites may be divided into damage to the paintings themselves and damage to the site, or physical setting of the paintings. Damage to the paintings in the form of graffiti such as charcoal, pouring of oily and soapy liquids as well as dusts accumulate from constant trampling of the sites grounds. Furthermore, the continuous sweeping of the site ground surface raises dust that accumulates onto painted surfaces which contributes to the obscure the artworks and ultimately the disappearance of the figures. Sweeping also reduces sensitive surface archaeological collections hence reducing the sites scientific value of the site deposits.

Other human impacts include creations of paths and farm roads in close extreme proximity to rock art sites. The artworks that are positions at the bottom of the sites suffer greatly as a result (site OWF50, OWF52). Dust accumulates from current and previous archaeological excavations at some sites for instance at site OWF39 and OWF42 have also contributed to the deteriorations of some artworks at these sites.



Figure 6.110 Present varieties of threats affecting rock-painting sites emanating from natural, biological, physical and chemical threats. Top left, run-off from rainwater that created whitish patches 'wash zones' that cover most sections of painted surface at Site OWF01.Top right, vegetation covers and scratches onto painted rock surface. Middle left, wasp nests and layers of lime overlying the artworks at Site OWF08 while middle right is massive exfoliations that have completely damages some of artworks, creating blobs of pigments as observed at Site OWF32a. Bottom image shows the effect of dassies secretions on painted rocks and it's surrounding at Site OWF55.



Figure 6.111 Present varieties anthropic threats affecting rock-painting sites. Top left, new paintings overlapping old artworks at Site OWF15. Middle, a rock art site turned into a camping site at OWF16. The image shows the shower area. Bottom left image shows the impact of illegal mining near a rock art site 90WF 46a &b). Bottom middle – scratched graffiti at the rock-engraving site while bottom rights are some charcoal graffiti at Site OWF56.

h.Surface Archaeological Materials

In addition to rock art figures as surface archaeological records, examining the nature of other surface archaeological collections present at each site or panel was equally important in order

to determine the possible functions of the sites as well as establishing sites archaeological potential for further investigations. For this, I have ranked the number of surface collections found at each site/panel (based on the type of surface collection recorded at each site) and categorized them into three: X - representing low quantity materials (from 1-10), XX-moderate quantity (from 10-20) and XX – high quantity (greater than 21 <). These were then linked to the type of site in the study as illustrated in (Table 6.13) below.

Туре	Quantity (X, XX, XXX)	No. Of Sites (n=61)	Type of Sites
1) Beads	Х	1	Shelter
2) Ceramic/Pottery	Х	6	Shelters (2), Caves (2), Boulders (4)
3) Charcoal	XX	5	Shelters
4) Hematite	Х	2	Shelter (1) & Boulder (1)
5) Heath/Sediments	Х	8	Shelters (4) & Caves (2) & Boulder (3)
6) Lithic	XX	18	Shelters (5), Caves (2), Boulders (10)
7) Pestle	Х	1	Shelter
8) Ostrich Eggshells fragments	XX	7	Shelters (6) and Cave (1)
9) None (Sites with no surface artefacts)	0	13	Boulders
10) Stone structures	Х	2	Shelters (1)

Table 6.13 Present the nature of surface archaeological deposit recorded at all the panels in the study areas.

The results presented in Table 6.13 above indicate that among the low density of surface collections include the ostrich egg beads and pestles recorded mainly at (Site OWF39a/ Fackelträger). The presence of such materials came as a result of post-depositional situation resulting from the site's previous excavations (see site description). Beads and the pestles where recorded in spoils of sieves deposits where other surface collections like charcoal, hematite stone, pottery fragments, some lithic (gridding stones and many debris from stone tool productions) see (Fig. 6.112 A, B and E) were recorded. Similarly, hematite distributions were equally limited, recorded only at two sites (OWF39 and OWF01) while very few fragments of ostrich eggshells were also recorded at limited sites. Two small and large stone structures/arrangements clustered and centred around two sites; OWF46/Priests shelter and OWF47/Ostrich Shelter were recorded in the study (Fig. 6.110 F).

The initial assumption was they could serves as burial grounds. For this reason, two test excavations in two stone structures were carried out by the Leopard Cave principal

investigators; David Pleudeau and Florent Detroit back in 2009 but did not recover any human remains nor any other form of archaeological materials

The limited number of sites with sediments/ hearths deposits in the study areas is an indication that there are only six sites (site OWF21/Helmut boulder, OWF25/Blackman Shelter, OWF26b/Giraffe Cave, OWF30/Christian shelter, OWF42/Leopard Cave, OWF49/Seal Shelter and OWF39/ Fackelträger shelter) that have potential for further archaeological investigations in the entire study areas.

However, some of the sites are and had received archaeological attention already (OWF42/Leopard Cave and OWF39). There were instances where some e boulders (i.e. site OWF21/Helmut boulder) had registered sediments (Fig. 6.101 E) and a number of other surface archaeological deposits (i.e. lithic, charcoal and few pottery fragments) but the site's sediments where heavily disturbed by the animals that rests beneath and immediately on the real of the panel where boulders form a very small shelter like site. However, one would argue still that the site has potential for further research. Moreover, a site like OWF25/Blackman shelter has equally potential but due to erosion (from rainy waters) most of its surface collections has been dislocate and re-deposited near the site while most of it must have been carried away by the river course just in front of the site.

Sites with moderate density of surface collections included those with lithic and charcoal deposits. Lithic materials (mainly from basalt) are amongst the most widespread surfaces archaeological material registered from 48 panels in the study. However, such materials ranges between 5 to above 15 on average and it are likely that very few of these sites were production sites as there is residue evidence of lithic productions (i.e. at Site OWF41). While other sites show evidence of possible re-depositional of some lithic artefacts into their current locations due to lack of knapping debris. With the basalt being available resource in the area, the threshold for discarding such materials might have been high. While evidence of fire in form of charcoal deposits are only limited to shelter sites, where traces of habitations where recorded.



Figure 6.112 Present the nature of surface archaeological deposit recorded at all the panels in the study areas. (A) Various lithic and small pottery fragments artefacts from shelters and caves (B) Charcoal deposits from shelters (C) large pottery fragment from a boulder (Site OWF38), (D) pestle with brown pigment from Site OWF30, (E) typical hearth sediments from boulders (Site OWF21) while (F) stone structure from (Site OWF46 and OWF47).

Sites registered the majority the surface collections recorded in (Table 6.13) where mainly registered in all rock shelters (OWF25, OWF30, OWF39 and Cave shelters (OWF42 and OWF26b). These sites functioned as habitation areas either as short to medium living spaces by a smaller groups of people (due to limited spaces in the sites). Recent archaeological excavations i.e. at site OWF39 and OWF42) suggests various site's occupations at different periods. The high quantity of lithic debris for instance recorded immediately in front of the site OWF42/Leopard Cave suggests that stone tools production likely occurred there or lithic artefacts might have discarded there resulting in the re-deposition of such materials.

Sites that registered very limited surface collections - mainly lithic materials and very few pottery fragments are the boulders. The majority of these sites are located at the bottom of the imposing features, more especially in proximity to water source such as springs. Theses sites likely serves as hunting locale where animals where ambushed and hunted. The geomorphology of the sites are typically hunting blind where hunters where able to either sit or squat in as they waited for game come by water points. While others sites in this category (located slightly above the low elevations) might have acted as surveillance sites, where animals might have been under constant watch. While sites with few surface collections but located on high topography namely the OWF46/Priests shelter and OWF47/Ostrich Shelter are likely to be ritual spaces as the site settings, the type of artworks and its surrounding scape are indicative of a ceremonial sites.

There were several sites with no record of surface collections where recorded at 13 sites all of which were boulders hosting rock art figures. All these sites do not provide any space for human habitation due to their geomorphological formations. Their location in the landscape indicates that they might have acted as corridors (i.e., temporary resting places or transportation conduit for hunters as they are favourable for resources procurement.

i.Summary of morphological Analyses

The overall records for rock art Omandumba farms contains a total of 60 rock paintings sites containing 69 panels comprising of 1798 individual rock art elements. Through the morphological analyses, all the figures were classified and quantified at each panel in an effort to understand their density and diversity. The number of figures per site ranges from a zero to a maximum number of 203 with the average number of figures per panel standing at 30.4 while the average number of figures per panel account for 26.05 with a maximum values of 169 figures to a minimum number of 0 figures per panel. The highest density of figures therefore (50 - 169) figures per panel was recorded at few sites accounting 15% of the sites. Medium density panels (10-49 figures) were more common within the site representing only 72% while lowest number of figures per panel (0-9) was recorded at 13% of the panel in the site.

The rock paintings comprise six categories of figures, altogether representing a total of 1798 individual elements. The highest frequency of 49.7% was recorded among the zoomorphs depictions. This category includes all the figures that could be clearly identified as an animal. However, among the zoomorphs taxa, only 35.3%, about 315 elements could be determined. Unidentified zoomorphs were lumped together into the indeterminate zoomorphs with 578 depictions representing 64.7%. This group includes all animal figures that have the basic parts (torso and limbs) to include them in the zoomorphs depictions category but whose biological identifications could not be established due to lack of anatomical references. Anthropomorphic depictions are second most dominant class of elements accounting 509 figures representing 28.3%. Men have outnumbered women with 67% while women represent only 25.5% of the total. Human figures, which account for 7.5%. The key determinant factors among human figures were the physical morphology and distinguished objects carried.

Therianthropes representations of human with animal's features accounts only 0.2% in the study and these were recorded at three sites only. Figures depicting tree-like representations are some of the few frequency, accounting to 0.15% recorded at three sites in the entire study. Another less frequently represented category was recorded among the abstract forms 2.3%. The abstract signs including outlined lineal, circles and small dots most of which have been juxtaposition to some figures mainly dominate the abstract arts. Figures that could not be easily determined were lumped together under the category 'indeterminate' and are the third

most represented accounting 25.4% of the total elements. The indeterminate category consists of figures that completely lack definite and diagnostic features.

The techniques analysis suggests that all painted artworks have ben achieved through five types of fine line technique. About 72.5% have been fully painted in monochrome (either red, brown, black or white pigment) while those that have been outlined in monochrome with their interior partially in-filled with same color are the second most dominant figures accounting 24.4%. Figures that have been outlined first with their interior fully filled with the same paint accounts for 1.4% in the study. Those that have been outlined with a single line without any in -ill account for 1.3% followed lastly by those painted in bichrome 0.4%, (frequently a combination of brown and red and brown and white. No polychrome elements have been recorded in the entire painting repertoire so far

Elements of superimpositions are more frequent in the study. The highest proportion of overlying figures in the study has been recorded amongst the zoomorphic figures with 52.4%. Zoomorphs over or underlying other zoomorphs is the majority representing 86%. Zoomorphs over anthropomorphs account for 12% while the low frequency are zoomorphs superimposed on other elements 2%. Overlapping among the anthropomorphs comprise 30.4%. Anthropomorphs over or under anthropomorphs are less frequent, with only 10% while anthropomorphs over or under animals and other figures account for 90%. A low frequency of arboreal depictions has also been subjected to superimpositions in the study with 0.9%. Depictions in this category have been overlapped mainly by animal figures particularly the giraffe (fully painted ones) while few have overlap human figures. Superimpositions among the indeterminate forms account for 16.4% in the study. These depictions are superimposed mainly by animal figures and some human depictions.

Various pigments have been used in the production of rock painting figures. Red paint has the highest frequency of 44.9% in the study. However, the majority of figures painted in red were only visible through DStretch application hence most of them in a poor state of conservation. In addition to red, diversities of brown pigment were equally used and account for 39.9%. The majority of figures painted in brown are the most well preserved artworks in the study. Figures painted exclusively in monochrome oranges account for 13.7% while those painted in white color account for 0.8% in the study. The majority of them are fully painted in white monochrome where else, some are painted in bichromes. The lowest frequency of figures are those painted figures in black with 0.7%) and all these figures are painted in monochrome.

With regards to the current condition of the artworks in the study, the conservation analyses indicates the biological, physical and chemical threats as the main causes of deterioration in rock paintings. Sun exposure, exfoliations, rain run-offs, animal secretions in form of urine, wasps and vegetation are among those factors that has obscured and accelerated the rate of deteriorations of the artworks. Threats emanating from human activities are mostly minimal with the study areas. However, tourism related activities within the farms has caused a number of damage to the artworks and their sites in form of graffiti from chalking and scratching, continuous sweeping of camping sites grounds, farm roads in proximity to rock art sites, turning rock art sites into camping areas and pouring of oily liquids onto boulders containing artworks. Such impacts caused damage to the paintings themselves and physical setting of the sites hence reducing the sites scientific values. Other human related impacts to some sites have been exacerbated by small illegal mining activities such as quarrying precious stones near rock art sites and erecting fires in rock shelters containing rock art especially in Omandumba West farm.

A number of surface archaeological materials in small and large quantities were recorded mostly in rock shelters, caves and some boulders. Among the surfaces collections are beads, charcoal, ostrich eggshells and pottery fragments, hearth sediments, pestle and lithic materials. The assessment of this variable was of utmost importance in order to establish archaeological potential of sites for further investigations. However, only 8 out of 60 rock paintings sites were considered worthy of future archaeological studies. The surface artefacts are of Late Stone Period however, these were not scientifically analysed therefore, at this stage they could not be direct associated with the rock art since it is not established whether such artefact is from the same cultural authors

6.2.SECTION B: ROCK ENGRAVING

This section consists of four parts. Part A provides the results of the ethnographic/ethnohistoric interviews with two local Ju/'Hoan San men, Mr. Kxao /Lukxao, an 80-year-old San man and Mr. N!ani R!kxao, a 45-year-old San men (both from the San Living Museum). The objectives of the interviews was to understands their ancestral knowledge involved in tracking and consequently in the identification of animal tracks/ spoors in the rock-engraving sites. This was important since local San are still involved in tracking practice.

Part B provides the general descriptions, and spatial and statistical analyses of the rock engravings. The general description provides basic descriptive data of the 16/50 engraved panels. It includes the site name, panel number, GPS locations, site elevations, the type of surface (vertical, horizontal or sloped), their orientations; the overall state of preservation of the rock-art station and the figures; its dimensions, some brief observations about its location in the landscape, i.e., spatial distribution, vegetation cover, nearest water points and its neighbouring rock art sites. I have provided data giving a graphic and descriptive content of the site in form of the number art figures and their superimposition (if any), themes, their history, their current state of conservation, as well as the site's associated archaeology.

Part C focuses on the spatial analysis of landscape attributes such as the geomorphological settings of the panels, proximity to water sources, accessibility, the location and visibility of the panels, their orientations, as well as the placement of the artwork on the rock art surfaces. Part D presents the morphological variables of the rock engraving panels recorded in Omandumba East farm. Rock art morphological variables include the prevalence of rock engravings in the study area; the analyses rock art elements and typology, techniques of production, superimpositions/overlapping (if any), element counts, and surface archaeological artefacts present at the site/panel, as well as conservation aspects of panels.

6.2.1. Spatial distribution of rock Engraving site

The engraving site is geographically located between E15°38'53 and S21°30'54 southeast of Omandumba East Farm (Fig. 6.113). The site is located in a riverbed whose terrain is covered by series of Karoo basalt deposit of basal volcanic rocks; they have thickness of approximately 2-30m in this part of the Erongo complex in Omandumba East Farm The rock compositions range from tholeiitic, fine-grained basalt and basaltic andesite-to-andesite,

considerably altered and commonly amygdaloidal, with vesicles filled with calcite and chalcedon (PIRAJNO 1990). This small outcrop of Karoo basalt deposit forms an intensive escapement in an area of approximately 700m. The engravings are confined to a 400m area where about 420 artwork elements have been systematically recorded. Here, the engraved basalt panels are distributed along the site's two axis (north and south) in a riverbed that covers an area of approximately 1km (Fig. 6.114). The altitude varies between 1334m on the southern slope of the site and 1361m on the northern axis.



Figure 6.113 Present the distribution of the engraved panels at Site OEF61 in the Omandumba East Farm, map credits: ©Google Earth Both axes consists of basal flow features flank, a narrow low elevation river rimmed by sunbaked large mass of boulders with a thin layer of reddish iron oxide (possibly desert varnish coating/patina) that has been pecked and abraded to reveal the lighter rock beneath it (Fig. 6.114). The engravings are executed on some these hard smooth dark and brown and reddish basalt boulders on vertical walls (upper slope), on boulders resting at the bottom of the slope and on those found in the river course. The boulders generally differ in dimension and shape (with large one measuring between 2m high and 5m long while smaller one range from 50cm long and 150cm high. These large masses of basalt boulders appear to have been broken off the top of the slope/ridge, rolled down and came to rest at the foot of the slope and, subsequently, on the river course. Most of them appear to be physically stable with hard surfaces, but are responsive to erosion or weathering elements.



Figure 6.114 Top Images show the view of the site from the north with the dry riverbed flowing through between the slopes. Bottom Image: Shows various boulders on the uppermost slope and broad areas beneath the slope with a high density of engraved panels.

It is evident that some of the engraved panels become submerged during the rainy season as we observed rainwater stains on some of the boulders and rock crevices suggesting that the artworks might have been produced in the dry season. Currently, there is no archaeological evidence linking the engravings by association due to absence of surface archaeological collections. If there were, it is possible that the river must have carried them away as there is also no evidence suggesting the possible habitation of the site because of its geomorphological settings.

6.2.2.Selection of engraved panels

The engraved rock surfaces at the site accounts for 50 rock-engraving panels that were recorded and analysed as shown in (Fig. 6.113). The general descriptive data for each panel is shown in appendix 4. About 16 rock-engraving panels were selected among the 50 to represent the overall sites studied as shown in (Fig. 6.115). The 16 panels were selected based on the number of factors: state of conservation, exposure to public visitation, their location, symbolic expressions of the artwork, technique of engraving, placement onto rock surfaces, quantity of the art, superimpositions/overlapping, visibility and accessibility. Consideration was also paid to its proximity to permanent water sources and other clusters of engraved



panels. All the panels are thus considered for the analysis.

Figure 6.115 Distribution and location of selected 16 rock engraving panels (in red) at sites OEF61: OEF61 01, OEF61 03,OEF61 04, OEF61 08, OEF61 14, OEF61 22, OEF61 23, OEF61 26, OEF61 27, OEF61 30, OEF61 33, OEF61 34, OEF61 36, OEF61 39, OEF61 48, OEF61 49 and OEF



"Animal spoors speak the language that only hunters would understand" Kxao /Lukxao (80 Years Old, 03rd April 2015, Omandumba East Farm)

6.2.3.Part A: Interviews with local San men

Part A provides the results of the ethnographic/ethno-historic interviews with two local Ju/'Hoan San men, Mr. Kxao /Lukxao, an 80-year-old San man and Mr. N!ani R!kxao, a 45 year-old San man, both originally from the Tsumkwe settlement in Otjozondjupa region, eastern Namibia. The informant's dwells and works as guides in Omandumba San Living Museum for consecutive years now. They are the descendants of hunter-gatherers who are thought to have produced the rock art in southern Africa and tracking of game animal is among one of their main activity in Tsumkwe. The interviews took place at their Living Museum and on the journeys to and from the rock-engraving site. They were conducted between the 03rd - 04 April 2015. The results of discussions are presented in two thematic parts. The first part provides detailed information about their ancestral knowledge of tracking animals. This is important in order to understand how they identify animal spoors. The second part details their knowledge of game animals aided them in establishing the identity of animal spoors at the engraving site.

a.Traditional knowledge of tracking of animal spoors

The San people's knowledge to interpret animal spoor and human footprints is cultivated over a lifetime experiences – from one generation to another. Therefore, the main objectives of this interview were to establish the identity of the engraved animal spoors and also to ascertain whether the selection of animals in the rock art reflect their visibility in the landscape today. Such data would then point to record of either changing or similar climatic conditions of Erongo faunal habitats. The comparison of the engraved spoors were made with the fresh animal tracks found particularly at water points (springs) within the site as well as fresh spoors from animal trails leading into the site.

When asked about the origin art of tracking skill in early time, Mr. Kxao /Lukxao - the older San man, who sat quietly next to Mr. N!ani R!kxao while staring at the rock outcrop immediately behind him replied that "the tracking must have developed out of necessity, the need for survival, providing our ancestors not only with food, clothing but also with spiritual relationship with the earth". The elderly men explained that it is likely that the scarcity of food must have encouraged their ancestors to observe subtle clues left by animals, insects, and even the wind. Through translation, the elderly man pointed: "I think that our ancestors took tracking far beyond than survival demanded". He continued to emphasize that, through oral traditions, their ancestors turned tracking into an art…" The hunters took pride in their exceptional tracking abilities…however, the Namibian challenging terrains must made life difficult for them".

I subsequently asked the Mr. Kxao /Lukxao to mention a skill set of tracking art, to which he replied: "tracking is a process, it commands patient, team efforts... the hunter needs shelter, water, fire, food and a very strong sense of personal intuition". The older man continued to stress that getting familiar with the non- human neighbours is driven by an open-ended desire for a relationship. The two informants informed me that they learned to track animal spoors from their parents and other elderly men in their settlements. "It's a time consuming activity that require patience' and whose skills are acquired from an early age", explained Mr. Kxao /Lukxao (the older San man through translation by the younger informant Mr. N!ani R!kxao). The basic skill that hunters need to have according to our informants is personal intuition. The elder, and skilled tracker, Mr. Kxao /Lukxaoexplained the sense of personal intuition. He explained that "listening and understanding a blend of all the other senses helps a tracker to build a more powerful intuitive sense". He stressed that these includes wider information –

about the landscape, the wind, the smell of air and plants, the sun, the trees and plants movements; information about the sounds of birds and other animals; visual impressions ranging from the colours of the sky to dampness and dryness of the soil, which all help determine the whereabouts of the animals.

Mr. Kxao /Lukxao, through an interpreter, further emphasised that, in addition to personal intuition, he *needed* to have knowledge and understanding of the territory and its available resources such as food and water in various seasons. "*The trackers need to know the grounds, they need to sense the air, dust and the bare open ground because at some points, he will crawl on his belly when required*" said N!ani R!kxao



Figure 6.116 N!ani R!kxao drawing on the ground while translating during the interview discussions. This took place on the 3rd April 2015, at 15:34pm. The informants wore their traditional attires throughout the interviews.

After a short pause, the elder man Mr. Kxao /Lukxao continued to stress that time spent in the wilderness can teach a person to hear the languages of the animals, plants and ultimately understanding the environment. The elder man emphasized that "*if you listen carefully, nature communicate through many channels, often in discretions… and to understand it, it is important to enter any territory with an open mind, and child-like curiosity*". Although he seems old, he *pointed* it out that he still tracks around his village. To reach a proficient level of communication with nature, the older man said, "*Trackers must still his mind, spend time*

alone in nature, and openly accept guidance from the landscape". Mr. Kxao /Lukxao then asked to be excused for few seconds, he then stood up and walked towards the small hut where he picked up his quiver bag and stated working and sharpening one of his arrow while we continue with the discussions.



Figure 6.117 Is Mr. Kxao /Lukx working on his arrows during the interview.

Water being the principal factor, the hunter must take into consideration the types of water sources available and found in that particular area. These include springs, water holes, oases and rivers, plants roots with rich water, as well as animal trails that connect them into the environment. "They also need to have knowledge of the habits of their prey and their migration patterns to enable them to predict their movements and knowledge of time for animal uses the water points to trap or ambush them", stressed Mr. Kxao /Lukxao, further emphasized adding that "tracking relies heavily on team effort in order to maximize success as it could last for days or even months...the degree of skills required from every tracker include patients, the ability to recognize, identify and interpret the content of animal spoors, i.e., the animal identity, gender, size, possible age and its health condition". However, since hunting is no longer a frequent practice among the San communities in Tsumkwe, due to the fact that most San children are sent to school, often in boarding schools, young people had less time to learn and practice the tracking and hunting skills.

Mr. Kxao /Lukxao then gushed about his hunting trips during his early age how tracking and hunting was almost a dream of every young San men man. He face immediately changed when he narrated with disappointments how hunting is no longer allowed in the modern world. "*Hunting activities has been relatively infrequent these years*", said Mr. Kxao /Lukxao with a weary face. He shifted his eyes to the children playing a little further away and said: "Nowadays, most young San men - school dropouts' experiments hunting with bow and arrow and spears, but on small animals like small antelopes, i.e., duiker buck and klipspringers as well as other small animals like squirrels and bird within the Ju/'Hoansi and Nyae Nyae Conservancy in the Kalahari desert". The elder San man further talked about how the tracking and hunting has been lost for decades now. I then asked him to explain the intangibility in the art of tracking. While continuing working on his spear, he looked down and appeared to be in deep thoughts and replied:

"Tracking is not just about following the animals, it has something profoundly spiritual to offer. The trackers engages deeply with the ecological niche because human are not the only animal that track. Other animals do too...they have a strong sense of smell that can detect other animals from far and can discern scents left behind by other animals. Like other predictors, trackers can also receive alarms from far, allowing them to be aware of the prowling ground predators". For trackers, these abilities border on the spiritual gods yet they are completely natural".

He then stressed that these set of intuitive qualities are less understood by the younger generation today. In a conversation with Mr. N!ani R!kxao, the young informant, who translated, said: *Nowadays, sometimes we track leopards, big antelopes and rhinos here in farms on foot to locate them so we know they are safer from potential poachers. It is really easy, and it becomes easy when you know the animal habitats and its footprints'' beaming Mr. N!ani R!kxao. He continues to point it out that, knowing animal, its sounds and spoors is very important. I <i>then* shifted our discussions to the skills needed in identifying fresh animal spoors. This was necessary in order to understand how the local San men will be able to establish the identity of the engraved animal spoors at the site. For this, the first argument that the local San men stressed was the need to understand and establish the various habitat types of different animals in the environment, as well as establishing the movement activities of the animals, i.e., which animals are active in a day or at night.

The informants further stressed that knowing the animals, their natural habitats and their movements is very important regardless of the conditions in which the animal spoors will be found. The younger San interpreter pointed it out that there are various dynamics that can
influences the quality of the spoor and these and these include the type of ground/ terrain, vegetation cover, wind and rain built up, the presence of other animals prints, age of the spoors, age and pace of the animal, i.e., running, walking or standing etc. When questioned about how he identified fresh animal spoors, Mr. Kxao /Lukxao said:

"For me to identify the spoors, I have to know the animal identity and its behaviours, how it moves, whether it's healthy or sick, running, sitting or walking, where its likely to be, its scent (both faeces and urine)". The older informant continues to elucidate that he can also tell the age of the animal..."

Usually smaller animals have smaller prints, their spoors tent to be shallower unlike the larger animals, their pace also tent to be shorter, and often in juxtaposition to a larger print, then I can even know the gender of such animal." I then asked the older informant what kind of animal species he could identify and was familiar with, to which he replied contentedly: *"Various antelopes such as (springbok, eland, kudu, klipspringer and duiker bucks) as well as elephant, rhino, giraffe, zebra, snake prints, and even leopard and lion"*. He stressed that knowing the print is to know the animal droppings and their scents, as well, which he explained always adjacent to its spoor prints.

On the identification of human footprints, N!ani R!kxao gave an example: "I can identify human footprints of an individual person, and however, in order to do this, I have to be familiar with that person's prints. I will then be able to tell that a footprint belongs to someone I know or not". He stressed that the skill used in identifying spoors are similar to that used in human footprints. He then pointed out that he would not be able to identify a stranger's prints until he had studied it carefully for some time. When asked if they are able to distinguish between men and women footprints, the elderly man replied "It depends on the quality of the footprint, in case of women, they tend to have smaller, shorter and narrower feet with high arch and a shallow first toe, as oppose to men who have longer, more robust and very broader foot in shape and size". He then continued to emphasize, "Both size and shape of every person's feet differ in so many ways. For instance, people with a slender body are most likely to have slender feet, while those who are larger and short are most likely to have slender feet, while those who are larger and short are most likely to have slender feet, while those who are larger and short are most likely to have slender feet.".

He elaborated further "Other particular foot characters, i.e., its arch, lateral side, the toes and the ball of the foot are also unique in every person when they walk hence it can be used to identify his/her prints even in difficult environments". When asked about the possibility of distinguishing adult footprints from those of children, both informants found this question amusing. They replied that "often the physical morphology in terms of size and shape will tell, the placement of the children/infant footprints are always juxtaposition with an adult print and are rarely found in isolation".

The discussions of the human footprints concluded the first part of the interview as it was getting late.

b.Identifying animal spoors at the site

The previous discussion at the San Living Museum led us to the journey through Omandumba farms and up hiking the hills, slopes and crossing the riverbed to reach the goal – the rock art site. As we hiked towards the site, we once again began our discussions about the subject of tracking, hunting and rock art in general and paid particular attention to the landscape, taking notes and photographs along the way as the informants explains various landscape features, i.e., water sources, animal trails, vegetation cover in different seasons and largely, the movement of animals in this terrains. The older informant, Mr. Kxao /Lukxao talked about how a typical visitor goes to this site to look at the art, and pay very little attention to its surroundings. They had to decide, among other things, not only where to navigate, where to look for resources, but also where to place the rock art and where to view it. He emphasized that they might not be able to identify every single figure at the site; they could only inform us what he they knew.

Hiking for about 15 minutes, the temperature gradually began to pick up again and the heat began to take toll on us as we continued to hike. However, as we walk towards the engraving site, the older San man warned us to speak low since he seems to have sensed animal movements in the direction of the site. He warned that animals often use the site in the morning and late afternoon to drink water from the two springs. We then walked in silence as close as possible to the San informants who carried their bows and arrow for protection. As we descended into the riverbed, we noticed couple of kudus and springboks running towards the northern slope of the site; they must have heard our movements. When we finally arrived at the site, the informants began to inspect the site for other animals and climbed on top of both site slopes to see if they could spot any animal or potential predators around the site.



Figure 6.118 In front of me are the two informants Mr. Kxao /Lukxao and N!ani R!kxao hiking barefoot towards the engraving site. Photo credits: Fousy Shinana.



Figure 6.119 In front are the two informants Mr. Kxao /Lukxao and N!ani R!kxao, as well as my colleagues, Mrs. Fousy Shinana and Maria Mwatondange entering the engraving site.

After inspecting the site, we subsequently began with practical discussions and examinations of the engraved animal spoors and human footprints, identifying the fresh animal spoors that were found in the muddy grounds at two water points, as well as the faeces and urine of the animals found in the site. After a careful and thorough investigation of the depicted engraved animal spoors, the informants thereafter recognized and identified some of the engraved spoors and were quick to point out that those that they recognized those mirrored the compendium of local fauna found in the same environment today such as rhino, giraffes, Oryx, elephants, springbok and duiker bucks. Some were compatible with the fresh spoors found near two springs at the site. During these examinations, we took field notes, photographs and video recordings of the informants identifying the spoors.



Figure 6.120 Seen here are two informants Mr. Kxao /Lukxao and Mr. N!ani R!kxao examining the first panel OEF61/01 at the site.

The informants were intrigued by the fact that there were fewer engraved boulders than unengraved boulder surfaces, and made the assumption that it was likely that only a small group of people might have used the site. As they continue to identify the rock art content, our informants came to Panel OEF61/08 and were intrigued by one particular figure on the panel with visual resemblance of a bird, which they could not identify. Speaking through the interpreter, the older San man, Mr. Kxao /Lukxao tried to explain what the figure look like. *"It looks like tree, but it has two legs and a body that resemble an ostrich...I am sorry but I don't know what it is...but I can tell you the spoors next to it"*. He informed us that he didn't know and caution that I write exactly as he interpreted it. He continues to point it out that *"the unknown must be written a such, unknown"*.



Figure 6.121 Mr. Kxao /Lukxao and Mr. N!ani R!kxao examining Panel OEF61/08.

It was interesting to observe that when the informants were studying the fresh spoors found at two water points (springs), it evoked thoughts of tracking immediately as they began to follow the animal spoors out of the site and, following their trails, they were able to predict the direction and whereabouts of the animals. After a while, the elderly man started to investigate several sets of footprints in a particular spot and evidence of spoor trampling, urine and faeces found near one prominent Panel OEF61/04 and suggested that the animals usually sleep at that spot. "*Some of the droppings are fresh, the urine smell is very strong, and they must have slept here*".

When asked if he could identify the animal, he said: "Yes, these are droppings of the springboks, look there...they sleep here for long time, you see the humus, they sleep here for sometimes now". The fresh and some dried-out animal droppings found at this particular spot according to the San men corresponded to the fresh spoors, which they have identified as springbok.



Figure 6.122 Shows the area where the springboks supposedly overnight.

Through translation, the elderly man explained that the identification of these spoors was not only based only on the evidence of the spoors and the droppings, but also on their knowledge of the animal's urine scent, which according to him, is familiar because springbok is found everywhere, and is a common hunted animal.



Figure 6.123 Mr. Nlani Rlkxao (the young informant) inspecting fresh animal spoors near the first spring from the entrance of the site. View from the northern slope.

It was also evident that most of the animals use the same trails, which subsequently dispersed and branched out from two water points in the site into the landscape into further smaller trails. These trails are so narrow and regulated by frequent animal movements, especially during the dry season when the water points in the Erongo Mountain become limited. Keeping in mind the difficulties of interpretation of the rock art and the site functionalities, we questioned our informants some controversial topics. Our informants seem not to have any cultural knowledge of the meaning of the artwork other than the depiction of the animals chosen.

However, they were quick to point out that the two water points were two key important elements in all this. They stressed that knowing Omandumba terrain very well, the scarcity of water especially during dry seasons in this area meant that this site was not only important to the animals but also to the people.



Figure 6.124 some of the fresh antelope spoors identified by Mr. N!ani R!kxao (the young informant).

Since the site and its surrounding area is entirely covered with hard stones, this became challenging for the ancient hunters to virtually follow and discern animal spoors in this environment and instead chose to wait for the animals at the point and ambush them instead of tracking them, which means that knowledge of the terrain is vital. During dry season,

"Both groups must have competed for the water hence the animals might have been ambushed and hunted by the people who used the site then the site became not only a water point and a strategic hunting locale but also a cultural site where art was produced" stressed the older San informant.

The informants pointed out that "This site was a hunting ground", where hunters not only ambushed and trapped animals but also taught their children how to hunt that is why you find children's footprints with that of adults and the hunters were taught to identify animal spoors and decode them accurately" Mr. Kxao /Lukxao added" "Such skills even enabled them to distinguish between a spoor of a wounded animal and that of the rest of the herd" stressed Mr. N!ani R!kxao.

This is consistent with the preference in depicting spoors rather than figures, since the tracks are to be followed in the hunting processes. Furthermore, the two San men explained that dominance of the small antelope spoors signified the preferred hunted animals, because they were not only easy to hunt but they were also easy to carry to the shelters where they lived. Therefore, the preference for antelopes may have also a symbolic meaning, as interpreted in Portugal in the case of deer depiction predominance: human/deer symbiotic relations evolving into symbolic isomorphism between human and deer behaviour, which could also be the case for antelopes (CAMURI, FOSSATI et al., 2002; IGNÁCIO 2009; OOSTERBEEK, ALMEIDA et al., 2014). Once we finished discussing and examining animal spoors and figures, as well as some of the indeterminable figures, we began discussing human footprints at the site.

Generally, the informant had little knowledge about the footprints because they stressed that to know an individual's footprints; one must be familiar with the person first. In a discussion with the older San man, he emphasised that "these footprints could belong to anyone, they might have belong the artists, or hunters or his family or even their community" while pointing at a set of various footprints at Panel OEF61/14 showing various human prints in different shapes and sizes), or prints of the gods or heroes...I cannot really tell", stressed the older informant. They however, established that the prints seem to be nearly life-size representations of human footprints. Examining the sizes of the prints, he uttered: "The smaller one might be of children, the medium sized one could be of women while the larger one might represent a male". Like with the animal spoors, Mr. N!ani R!kxao was of the opinion that: "sometimes the size of the engraved print might not necessarily represent or point to the age of the person". He further explained that: "the artist (s) might choose to

engrave a small human print and that print could represent an adult and not necessary that of a child...it's a complex situation".



Figure 6.125 Mr. Kxao /Lukxao examining human footprints at Panel OEF61/27. The panel is located upper part on the southernslope. The artworks can be seen while standing in the middle of the river course.

He told us to be careful when we categorised the prints. When asked about why some human footprints have been juxtaposition had been juxtaposed to animal spoors, Mr. N!ani R!kxao replied:

"I cannot really tell, but in order to decipher and understand the spoors and footprints, you have to know the context in which they were was created...you have to understand the site context. This site was a hunting ground, and in that context, animal spoors and human footprints are two key visual signs in the art of tracking and ultimately hunting"...

He further clarified that human footprints are agents of our mobility and freedom as human being. While examining the site southern slope of the site, the older man continued to say: "Our feet allows us to move, to navigate the world, to gather food, to hunt, to stand up, to be able to do all activities and so forth...so they are placed together with the animal spoors to indicate a inter relationship between human and animals". He further offered some explanation for the presence of human footprints at the site: "signal that our ancestors where here, that the rock art was made by the people, they may also indicate that people prey on animals, more specifically on the animals shown in rock art". His final remarks on the subject

were that "*human cannot survive without animals, as animals are food*". After we finished examining all the engraved surfaces, we drove off to locate some of the rock painting sites.



Figure 6.126 With me is Mr. Kxao /Lukxao and Mr. N!ani R!kxao and my colleague Mrs. Fousy Shinana after examining a panel with human footprints at Panel OEF61/36. Photo credits: Maria Mwatondange.

c.Summary of the interviews

By examining all the individual animal figures and the spoors depicted at the engraving site, the cumulative counts of all depictions contains a total of 458 elements, comprising of 34 human footprints, 364 animal depictions of which 334 were animal spoors, (see Part D - engravings morphological variables) and other depictions counts. The local informants were able to identify all the 334 (91.8%) out of 364 of the animal species depicted. They identified the depictions based on their intimate knowledge of the local fauna spoors, through the assessment of the representational quality of the figures, in particular with respect to the correct depiction of anatomical features of animal figures and by comparing the fresh animal spoors species found in the site and those found in the animal trails leading into the site. It is therefore safer to suggests that identify elements of the pictorial record clearly reflects the compendium of local fauna found in the same environmental conditions today. Its therefore high possible that the engravers were creating the artworks based on wild fauna they observed and possibly hunted in the same landscape.

However, while the informants were identifying the spoors, I found out that that both of them would often identify the same spoor in a different way. Each person made decisions almost idiosyncratically – one relying largely only on size and shape, and the other ignoring size to make identifications based on shape alone. During these identifications, they would then go back and forth to the fresh spoors at the springs as well as in the animal trails to confirm the identity of the animals. At the same time, I also tried to match engravings against the field guide book to southern African animal tracks by Louis Liebenberg (LIEBENBERG 1990) in order to address the uncertainty. One critical problem mentioned by informant while establishing the animal species from engraved spoor was that the actual footprints from a single taxon (i.e. antelopes). They vary considerably in shape and size hence made it challenging to establish. Once in doubt, the informant would often depends on the substrate of fresh spoors on the (soft mud versus hard ground - at the springs). The same problem arises when the informants were identifying human footprints. Some human footprints are well proportioned in size and shape and with correct digits but some were either too small with missing toes while others were simply not proportioned.

As a result, there were variabilities in asserting both spoors and human footprints. Such variability was rated. However, in the midst of these challenges, the informants were able to estimate the age and sex of individual animals from the fresh spoors but not that of engraved

spoors. They suggested that some of these variations might have been deliberately produced to attest to the keen tracking abilities of the engraver, hence complicating the identification process.

The cumulative counts of all the identified spoors figures indicated the dominance of antelope spoors. These may have been of symbolic or economic importance for the engravers hence dominated the rock art, it is also possible that they might have been plenty in the landscape. The larger fauna such as elephants, rhino, giraffes and zebra also form part of the spoors corpus albeit in small quantities.

The engravings therefore provided record of the climatic conditions and faunal habitats of the Erongo Mountains. Through this analysis, once can therefore safely assume that species continuously occur throughout the Holocene climatic periods. An assessment of the accuracy of anatomical features clearly showed that both engravers and the local San men had intimate knowledge of the depicted species. The close match between engraved animals and fresh animal spoors at the site confirms that the engravers depicted animals that were present in the surrounding landscape. The comparison between the engraved animals and animal spoors and the painted faunal in rock paintings sites in the area has produced corresponding findings. Both animal repertoires are dominated by a high frequency of antelopes' species. The preferential depictions of these animal species may have symbolic, economic or environmental valuesto the engravers and painters.

In order to address challenges rose from the identification of spoors figures, the certainty of each species determination was rated. A score between 1 and 4 was assigned to all animal spoors and human footprints' identifications, where 4 indicate an uncertain identification, and 1 high confidence, see (Table 6.14).

Score	Certainty	Number of depictions
1	High	378
2	Medium	13
3	Low	18
4	Figures Uncertain	49

Table 6.14 Amount of confident and uncertain identifications

Regardless of these differences, the depictions contained sufficient detail to allow categorisations of elements into four groups namely; anthropomorphic; zoomorphic and abstract forms while figures with uncertainty were lumped together in the indeterminate category (see Table 6.22 and Fig. 6.175). About 411 depictions were identified with range between high and low confidence. This constitutes 90% of all recorded engravings while 47 figures, which represent 10% of the total corpus, were identified positively. The identifiable engravings largely correlate with the more naturalistic depictions, while those ranked in medium and low rate depict figures with very basic details often with some body parts omitted from the figures (i.e. legs, tail, toes, heel, eyes or ears etc.). In case of the animal spoors, those that have been omitted shows for example only one hoof (not in pairs) or the others hooves might even be played out onto other spoors.

Although the faunal remains of the from the excavations of Leopard Cave and Fackelträger Shelter are comparatively well documented, the available dates and animal identifications cannot provide time spans for the local occurrence of each species. I therefore have to accept that species continuously occur throughout climatic periods similar to the current climate in Namibia. The involvement of local San men who are experienced trackers provided valuable information and allowed identifications of the animals spoors in the study to which the researcher would otherwise not be able to establish on her own. Given the absence of Zooarchaeologists in Namibia, this case proved that indigenous traditional knowledge of people whose ancestors are said to have authored prehistoric rock arts could successfully be applied to complement scientific research into rock art.



"It's not just a set of footprints, they were here, our ancestors where here", Kxao /Lukxao. (4th April 2015, Omandumba East Farm)

6.2.4.Part B: General Description of Engraved Panels

The following section provides the summary of the general description of each engraved panels containing both animal depictions (spoors, figures and handprints), human representations in form of footprints, as well as abstracts and indeterminate forms recorded in this study area. As with rock paintings, the engravings' basic descriptive data includes the panel Id, GPS locations, panel elevations, the type of engraved surfaces, panels' orientation and their dimension, some brief observations about its location in the landscape, i.e., spatial distribution, proximity to previous panels and water points and, generally, its locality. We have provided data giving a graphical descriptive content of the site in form of the number art figures and superimposition (if any), themes, their location on the engraved surfaces, as well as their current state of conservation.

a.OEF61/01

Panel Id: OEF61/01 GPS Locations: E15°38 51.71/S21°30 55.07

a.1.Panel Description

The first panel *OEF61/01* in the rock-engraving site is a dark to brown stable boulder standing horizontally and located on the southern axis of the site overlooking the riverbed and it is found immediately upon arriving at the site (Fig. 6.128). The panel stands at 1344m above sea level and is oriented 42°N with a dimension of 110cm long and 160cm high.



Figure 6.128 Shows the location of Panel OEF61/01.

The panel is in proximity to the hiking trail in the site and its placement in this particular location is associated with the adjacent cluster of panel found a few meters from it. Due to its proximity to the river course, it is possible that the panel becomes submerged in the water: there is strong evidence of water stains beneath the rock panel surface. In terms of its stability, the primary concerns with the panel revolve around the pressure of the other boulders placed on top of this panel, which eventually resulted in the fracturing of the panel (left side) and ultimately splitting of the panel. Furthermore, the panel has good visibility owing to the

natural color, its texture, as well as the engraving technique where the artworks stand out against its surface. The panel offers enough room for artworks, but very few engraved figures have been executed on it leaving most surfaces without artwork.

There is no evidence of associated archaeology near the panel or elements of superimposition. Here, one form of engraving technique was used in the production of the artwork, namely the light pecking that reveals a lighter rock beneath it. This technique is very simple as it involves pounding this basalt rock surface repeatedly and continuously using maybe a crudely pointed stone or tool until the desired shape of the figure is achieved. The depth of the pecked marks is quite shallow as a result of the hardness and compactness of the basalt rock, which is often resistance to striking.

The artworks are only visible within a distance of 3m from the hiking trail, but an untrained eye could miss it, as the panel's height from surface is limited. The panel's repertoire included a total of 10 engraved figures placed slightly to the right with few recorded on the left of the panel. The artworks that predominant predominated are animal spoors and some individual pecked marks. Among the recognisable recorded artworks are 3 individual pecked animal spoors depicting one zebra spoor measuring 7cmx7cm and facing downwards, two klipspringers spoors facing upwards and located few centimetres from each other, but beneath the zebra spoor measuring 5cmx3c, 4cmx5cm, as well as seven other indeterminate animal spoors whose identity could not be established as a result of conservation challenge (these figures appear slightly blurred). These indeterminate figures are restricted to the eastern side of the panel near the large fracture, while the other few are placed near the recognised spoors.

b.OEF61/03

Panel Id: OEF61/03 GPS Locations: E15°38 51.87/S21°30 54.91

b.1.Panel Description

The third panel in the site is located on the southern axis of the site and measuring 114cm long and 80cm high (Fig. 6.129). The panel is standing at 1354m above sea level facing 141°SE and is overlooking the southern side of the riverbed and the entire northern view of the site.



Figure 6.129 Left is Panel OEF61/03 (red arrow) indicating its location in the site. Right image shows the depiction of a small duickerbuck

From the previous panel, the panel is accessed through a short walk crossing the riverbed and the hiking trail towards east of the site until just before reaching one of the prominent panels in the site (Panel OEF61/04), which has a good visibility. The panel has extreme low visibility owing to its natural dark colour and the fact that the light-pecked engraved animal figure matches exactly the colour of the panel, making it difficult to find. Here, we registered the second form of pecking technique employed at the site. The shape of the figure was outlined and only few parts of the inner figure (hind legs and part of the animal head) were in filled with pecking marks, probably to distinguish or reemphasize the most important part of the animal. Moreover, the panel is upright and sloping backwards underneath a shiny dark massive boulder beneath it, which stands stable on the ground.

The panel has only one fully engraved animal figure shown in a lateral view and depicting a small duickerbuck measuring 23cmx16cm in size and oriented west – the entrance of the site.

The figure occupies the right upper part of the panel and it is positioned near a thin winding lineal fracture right in front of the animal, an the impression that there is an interaction between the engraved surface and the figure, this as the figure appears to be walking towards this rock crevice in an attempt to define a sort of landscape context.

c.OEF61/04

Panel Id: OEF61/04 GPS Locations: E15°38 52.97/S21°30 53.91

c.1.Panel Description

By far, the best-known and easiest to find is Panel *OEF/04*, resting in the riverbed at an elevation of 1349m and holding an excess of 57 depictions of striking antelope spoors of varying in sizes (the largest spoor measures 8cmx8cm while the smallest one 2cmx1cm –(Fig. 6.130).





Figure 6.130 Left is Panel OEF61/04 (red arrow) indicating its location in the site. The panel is a second panel located on the northern axis of the site. And it is easily accessed through walking in the low riverbed from the previous panel following the horizontal walls of the riverbed on the northern axis of the site where about six sites from this panel are also found. Its artwork covers the entire rock face measuring 216cm long and 147cm high while the panel faces 45°E view.

Among the engraved animal spoors, springboks are predominant, accounting for thirty eight (38), following the springbok spoors are the eight 8 each zebra spoors, seven 7 kudu spoors while giraffe spoors account for four 4. The panel is highly visible in the landscape at the distance of 15m range, this being attributed to the fact that the engraved surface is out in the open and it produces a lighter colour beneath, making the artwork stand out from a reasonable distance. The surface of this brown boulder has many irregular fractures, as well as a fresh scar that has broken off the top right of the panel, but generally does not seem to affect the stability of the boulder.

This vertical boulder is attached to other large masses of boulders facing south and it is possible that the weight of these boulders pressurised the panel, which ultimately broke the panel. Its current location in the riverbed suggests that became submerged under the water during the rainy period, as evidence of water stains is visible from the main panel. There are various shrubs growing around the panel but fortunately they do not impact the panel except its visibility especially shortly after rainy season. There is no evidence of associated archaeological remains at the panel, neither in the panel nor superimposition.

However, about 2m west of the panel, we found small antelopes faeces coupled by wet and dry urine, as well as fresh small antelope spoors suggesting that animals either spend a night (to shelter an animal from the strong wind) or during the day (to shelter animals from scorching sun) or perhaps as a temporary resting place for the animals coming to drink water in the spring 10m away from this panel (bottom right). Here, one form of technique was used in the production of the artwork; namely, the light pecking that reveals a lighter rock beneath it using maybe a crudely pointed stone. The fact that the panel lay in the riverbed suggests that the artwork might be authored during the dry season when the stream is not flowing.

d.OEF61/08

Panel Id: OEF61/08 GPS Locations: E15°38 53.78/S21°30 53.68

d.1.Panel Description

Panel *OEF61/08* sits on a small triangular boulder (Fig.6.131) with a dimension of 66cm long and 20cm high sitting on top of smooth basalt surface but at the bottom of its surrounding boulders facing 184°SE on the northern axis of the site at an elevation of 1336m downstream. The panel has two projecting faces, but only one is engraved. The panel has very good visibility and can easily be recognized from a vantage point.



Figure 6.131 Left is Panel OEF61/08. Left image shows its location in the site. Right image shows the engraved depictions.

The surface texture of the panel has two different colours: the upper part appear to be wornout, lighter with minor exfoliates while the mid to lower part appear darker, harder undamaged. Nonetheless, the panel is in remarkably good condition, especially for being in the direct flow of water during rainy season. However, its upper part shows evidence of a large scar indicating a previous break off damage. Even though we were aided by the local San men to identify animal tracks, figures of undetermined figures were not deciphered because they seem not to know what they meant. The intriguing figure appears to look like a wiggly ostrich with two heads.

The panel had a total of seven zoomorphic spoors that occupy mostly the middle to upper part of this small boulder. The spoors measure between 5cmx3cm and 3cmx3cm in size, while the bird-like figure or, rather, an unidentified figure one has a dimension of 39cmx12cm respectively and occupies the entire middle of the panel with the small spoors placed left, right and mostly top of the bird-like figure. The animal spoors have been identified as three klipspringers and three warthogs. Almost all the spoors are facing up, with the exception of one klipspringer spoor that faces down. The figures are all lightly pecked, but the undetermined flower or bird-like figure is deeply pecked. There are various uncounted individual pecked marks surrounding this figure, in particular from mid to lower bottom of the panel.

e.OEF61/14

Panel Id: OEF61/14 GPS Locations: E15°38 54.49/S21°30 53.9

e.1.Panel Description:

The first panel containing human depictions (representing different individuals) is Panel OEF61/14 located approximately 15m from the site entrance and resting on top of the Panel OEF61/13, which has a dimension of 160cm long and 47cm high and is at an elevation of 1352m above sea level.



Figure 6.132 Panel OEF61/14. (1) Shows its location the site, (2) shows the depictions, (3) is traced image of the panel.

The panel is accessed through a very short walk from the site river course towards the southern axis immediately at the first spring of the site. It's a small dark to brown stable and rectangular boulder resting on a low-lying stable boulder immediately above the natural spring (Fig. 6.132). Other five panels containing predominantly animal spoors flank the panel. This brownish panel is oriented 09°N views, hence it is exposed to the extreme sun throughout the day. Being one of the prominent engraved surfaces containing human depictions, the panel's repertoire registered an excess of eighteen fully pecked depictions that occupy the entire surface of the panel. The panel and the artworks generally commands a great view in the landscape and are visible from a distance of 15m due to the fact that the dark brown engraved surface revealed a lighter color beneath. Documenting the panel was challenging during both survey campaigns given the fact that the panel is located in proximity to the spring, which is still used by animals especially in the summer.

During these recording episodes, various animals such as duiker bucks, springboks, Damara dik-diks and oryx came to visit us. Often when the animals are not found at the spring, their fresh spoors are always visible near the spring. The artwork at the panel has been lightly

pecked with their cortex removed and with slight variations of pecked marks in size and depth. This technique was accomplished either through the direct use of a pointed lithic tool or quartz or with a hammer and punch or combined by placing such a tool perpendicular to the panel.

Among the 18-recorded artworks are twelve striking human footprints varying in sizes and shapes measuring between 22cmx10cm, 13cmx9cm, 13cmx7cm, 14cmx4cm, 11cmx4cm, and 10cmx4cm in size. They occupy the entire panel, with a large foot located in the middle and with the smaller one restricted to the bottom of the panel. All the footprints are facing up and in association with each other. Among the footprints, eight to represent adults, one most probably a young person as well as three infants. Such identification is merely based on the physical morphologies of the footprints; it is also possible that some of these prints might not even be human, especially those with incomplete toes or digits that are pointy and with the absence of a foot arch. Of the twelve human depictions, only 2 have complete toes, about 6 are four toed, and an additional four registered only three toes. Moreover, it is also possible that the right foot is likely represented here as indicated by the location of the large toes and the position of the foot's internal, lateral and medial longitudinal arches. In addition to the anthropomorphs depictions, about two animal spoors depicting one buffalo and one warthog were restricted to the western edge of the panel.

The last category is of indeterminate figures, which account for four 4 pecked marks of varying sizes placed among the figures. The local San men from the San Living Museum identified the panel's depictions. No superimpositions were observed at the panel other than the fact that the artwork has been juxtaposed on the same panel. However, the panel is adjacent to other worked surface at the bottom, left and right, which contains only animal footprints. With regards to the spatial placement of the panel, it is ironic that the first panel containing human footprints is found immediately at the spring with an equally powerful visual impact, although there are other engraved panels in the immediate locality. This suggests that the spring must have been reliable, hence significant to both animals and humans who must have shared this scarce resource that sustained them particularly during the dry seasons. As a result, its significance must have been recognised with the prints of human and animals.

The current condition of the panel and its artworks is rather good given the fact that the site does not receive a high influx of visitors, and those that visit the site are usually under strict guidance from the farm owners. The boulder hosting the panel is very stable and appears to be not affected by the animals that normally rub their bodies onto other boulders because this panel is elevated from the ground, so this do not affect the artwork. The other concern was that, there are two fairly small fractures or fissures running horizontally across the panel cutting the two figures, possibly caused by higher extreme sun exposure or other inclement weather conditions, leading to a certain degree of superficial damage.

f.OEF61/22

Panel Id: OEF61/22 GPS Locations: E15°38 55.85/S21° 30 54.32

f.1.Panel Description

Situated on top of a low-lying slightly flat horizontal boulder partially submerged in the riverbed is Panel *OEF61/22* standing at 1355m above sea level. The panel is located approximately 10m easts from the previous panel and rests on the riverbed. Walking through the riverbed accesses the site. It's a large basalt boulder measuring roughly 4m long and 6m high and oriented 41°N, while its figures are facing upwards and leftwards (Fig. 6.133).



Figure 6.133 Panel OEF61/22. (1) Shows its location in the site, (2) shows position of the figures (3) is traced image of the panel. Bottom left and right shows some of the engraved figures on the panel.

The artworks occupy the right bottom of the panel and we observed that they become submerged in the water during rainy season. Although the panel commands a great view in the site, its artwork's visibility is restricted to only 1m range given the fact that the engraved surface remains very dark, which produces no contrast, and the fact that the size of artwork is very small. This in combination with the technique of engraving obscured the artwork. An untrained eye can easily miss the artwork on this panel especially during day light because the

panel becomes shiny and the fact that it's located in proximity to the hiking trail in the site. The artworks at the panel were firstly pecked, with clear visible peck marks and then smoothed 'polissoir' either by the artists or as a result of weathering, this given the fact that the engraved part of the panel becomes submerged in the water during the dry season.

The panel's inventory recorded a total of 14 engraved figures most of which have been juxtaposed together without contact and which comprised of a pair of 2 very small human footprints measuring between 4cmx3cm and 5cmx7cm length and width respectively placed at the extreme bottom of the panel and appearing to represent two right feet probably belonging to two individuals and placed 5cm apart but on the same level. Moreover, their toes seeded to be of equal size and shape but neither foot had a foot arch. The left foot is six toed with a pronounced internal or concave arch and appears to be connected to a small animal spoors (2 duiker bucks) at its left heel side while the right foot is placed without any associate spoor. Both feet suggest movement and appear to be moving into a small fracture (which may represent a landscape reference) located immediately above them and measuring 15cm in length. In addition to human representations, we also recorded ten animal spoors including one (1) prominent giraffe spoor measuring 18cmx10cm, about five springbok spoors measuring between 12cmx9cm and 5cmx4cm, one zebra spoor measuring 10cmx5cm, four duickerbuck spoors measuring between 8cmx7cm and 7cmx5cm, all located at the bottom left of the panel.

The panel's inventory further recorded two 2 lineal figures flanked among the spoors figures as well as additional 2 indeterminable figures in dotted circular motion just below the panel, but in proximity to the other artworks.

The panel has a strong stability overall but the surface is slightly compromised as revealed by the fading of the art, possibly attributed to its downstream location and the south-facing aspect. The panel itself, though small and stable, has a one prominent fracture that runs vertically through it that might cause future concerns. During heavy rains it is probable that part of the panel becomes submerged in the water, as water stain is still visible. There is no form of associated archaeological content at the site other than the artwork itself. In terms of conservation, the panel is exposed to the sunlight throughout the day to the point that most figures are not visible at certain times of the day; its position makes it susceptible to damage by people walking on it unintentionally.

g.OEF61/23

Panel Id: OEF61/23 GPS Locations: E15°38 55.91/S21°30 54.26

g.1.Panel Description

Resting immediately on the eastern rear view of the previous Panel *OEF61/23* is the *Panel OEF6123* (Fig. 6.134). This vertical angle positioned boulder stands at 1355m above sea level. It measures 94cm long and 17cm high and is oriented towards 176° S. It's a very dark panel with low visibility on the landscape similarly to its artwork content due to the direction it is oriented and the technique of engraving.



Figure 6.134 Panel OEF61/23. Left image shows its location in the site while the right the engraved figures on the panel.

The panel registered only 1 of the intriguing single figures with a visual resemblance of a Middle Stone Age (MSA) culture -flint/hand axe that measures 14cm long and 5cm wide and is facing down. In Namibia, the Middle Stone Age people were not hand axe makers but produced the so-called 'prepared technology' of Levallois cores, flakes, blades and points that resembles this figure. The figure is placed in the middle of the boulder just below a prominent fracture. The figure has been lightly pecked into this darker rock surface with very low visibility from far. The 'hand axe' figure has a unique slender shape with a thin, narrow two-sided (or bifacial) shape with concave edges. The figure has been placed in an inaccessible boulder where its surface offers enough room to host many figures, but only this particular figure was placed there. Local San Men did not seem to have an idea about what the figure might represent, but we placed it under the tool category.

h.OEF61/26

Panel Id: OEF61/26 GPS Locations: E15°38 55.94/S21°30 54.27

h.1.Panel Description

Situated on the upper slope of the eastern axis of the site and at the elevation of 1358m above sea level is Panel *OEF61/27*. The panel formed as upper slope wall measuring 2.69m long and 1.2m high. It is oriented at 22°N of the site overlooking almost the entire northern axis including several panels beneath it, as well as the riverbed. From the previous panel, our third panel is accessed through climbing on some sharp stable and some unstable boulders beneath it (Fig. 6.135).



Figure 6.135 Panels OEF61/26. Top and left images shows the location of the panel in the right image shows various engraved animal spoors and figures on the panel.

The panel is one of the top three panels that command great visibility in the entire site but its artwork visibility range from good to extremely poor, even if the panel is relatively large. This is because of the very contrasting colours of the engraved wall (yellowish and dark to brown) in combination with the light pecking techniques, as well as the sizes of the artworks. Almost all artwork on this panel is facing upwards and the artworks occupied the middle and slightly top parts of the engraved surface and are only visible from a 1m range. The panel surface contains many irregularities in the form of some fractures, crevices and some minor depression caused by weathering. Since they produced little to no contrast after being engraved, most of the artworks remain concealed and masked, making it difficult to identify.

Most of them were only visible during rainy season as the surface was wet, which hence produced a little contrast, but during the dry season, when the sun exposure is extreme, it becomes impossible to see the artwork. The light pecking technique used, coupled with the locations of the panel, made it difficult to identify. The panel has also other adjacent panels in its immediate surroundings, which contains mainly animal spoors.

Being one of the mega panels in the site, the panel has in excess of 72 individuals, some outlined pecked and some scratched figures. Among the recorded artwork are 3 human footprints measuring 23cmx11cm, 18cmx7cm and 11cmx6cm in size. Animal spoors on the left of the panel flank one located on top of the boulder individually. This footprint has its frontal only depicted and its five toes intact, the small one on the down right with a narrow sole and slightly broad frontal with five toes and a fully engraved larger right foot on the left with detached toes attached to the end of a small antelope tail. The second and third footprints are located on the far right of the panel among other animal spoors. In addition to human figures, about fifty-six are springbok spoors of various sizes measuring between 12cmx7cm and 5cmx5cm and spread across the panel also form part of the panel content. They have been mainly lightly pecked and those located on the eastern (left) part of the panel have good visibility, while those on the western side have their visibility reduced. Most of these spoors are paired in four, representing at least one springbok but the majorities are not paired and might represent various springboks.



Figure 6.136 Panel OEF61/26. Shows local San men examining and establishing various animal spoors and figures at the panel

Furthermore, other individual spoor (not paired) have also been recorded representing other animal species, i.e., a rhino, one giraffe, one duiker buck, one wildebeest, as well as a total of three animal figures that have been scratched representing two rhinos located on the eastern and western side of the panel, as well as one supposedly elephant figure – which we disputed but the local San men were adamant that it was an elephant (this is because the figure is faded and not clear as other figures). The indeterminate category comprised of six figures most of which have been juxtaposed against other figures across the panel.

i.OEF61/27

Panel Id: OEF61/27 GPS Locations: E15°38 56.28/S21°30 54.46

i.1.Panel Description

The fourth panel at the site containing human representations in a form of footprints is panel *OEF61/27* (Fig. 137). The panel stands at 1356m above sea level and is located on top of the slope of the southern axis of the site overlooking the riverbed. From the previous panel, it is reached through walking over some stable boulders 20 feet east of the previous panel. It's an upright vertical boulder with a height of 2.20m 1.4 width with an excellent visibility of about 15m range from the bottom of the riverbed and it is oriented 0°N or 360°N.



Figure 6.137 Panel OEF61/27. Shows local San men examining and establishing figures at the panel.

There are few fractures running parallel on the panel. The panel is just adjacent to other eastern panels following the formation of the site also with good visibility. Even though it's placed on top of a slope, the panel appear to be very stable. The panel's content registered a total of seven rock-engraving figures occupying the middle and top of the panel that have been pecked. Among those recorded artworks are three complete human footprints, with one located on top of the panel and two in the middle of the panel flanked by a small animal figure while facing up. The figures have been lightly pecked with their cortex removed and measure 22cmx10cm, 13cmx7cm, 8cmx4 and 19cmx7cm in size (Fig. 138).



Figure 6.138 Panel 0EF61/27. Shows the artworks at the panel. Right image shows the traced panel figures.

Two of the footprints are well defined depicting their basic traits (toes and heel), but we could not establish whether they depicted the right or left foot. Their upward orientation gives an impression that such print represents the identity of three persons since their shapes, sizes and even their placement on the panel differ. The larger one is absolutely naturalistic, nearly life size, with equally corresponding numbers of toes and a heel, a clear representation a real human foot. The second foot is equally well defined with a proportionately correct number of toes. Most of its toes with an exception of the baby toe are slightly disconnected from its frontal part. The third smaller toe has been placed beneath a small animal figure and is slightly faded or not artistically well executed or perhaps it is just a conservation challenge. Its size suggests that it could represent a child because even its toes are so tiny while its heel is very narrow. However, we could not establish whether it's a right or left foot, as its inner arch is not defined. Both footprints have been pecked with their cortex removed.

Apart from human representation, the panel's repertoire also contains two animal spoors adjacent to human footprints and the animal figure. One spoor is slightly faded and the other is well defined, and both depict duiker buck spoors. We also recorded one outlined animal figure depicting a duiker buck. In addition to those identified elements, we also recorded one abstract lineal figure measuring 20cmx14cm forming a T-shape form where almost all figures have been placed with an exception of a larger human figure which has been placed on top of the panel. What is peculiar about lineal figure is the fact that is shape touches either the baby toe or great toe, giving the impression that they are connected or walking following such linear shape.

j.OEF61/30

Panel Id: OEF61/30 GPS Locations: E15°38 56.28/S21°30 54.46

j.1.Panel Description

The fifth panel containing human footprints is Panel *OEF61/30*, resting on top of a lowstanding vertical boulder located at the extreme foot of the slope and part of it is slightly submerged or just adjacent to the riverbed (Fig. 139). The panel stands at 1334m elevation and measures around 64cm long and 06cm high while oriented at 60°NE and the figures are facing upwards.



Figure 6.139 Panel OEF61/30. Shows the location of the Panel (red arrow) in the site.

From the previous panel, the panel (Panel OEF61/29) is accessed by descending down to the riverbed. It's also easily accessed from the hiking trail that begins from the west towards east where the site abruptly ends. The panel containing the artwork is darkish and displays very little contrast on the engraved part of the panel and it is comprised of very thin fractures cutting the panel in two and, in doing so, separating the depicted human footprints. Nonetheless, the panel inventory accounts for a total of six rock engraving figures facing

upwards, including two human depictions measuring 13cmx19cm and 9cmx7cm respectively that have been outlined in thin peck marks with their cortex intact.

Here, the artist(s) incorporated the natural backdrop of the rock surface to complete the footprint without the need for to fill in. In this case, the footprints are seen interacting not only with natural features in the rock surface, but also with the animal figures on that panel. Furthermore, these depictions although having a complete foot, a well-shaped sole and complete digit/toes, are quite schematic in a sense that the artist(s) only depicted distinguishable marks that were probably deemed relevant.

They are also slightly larger than an actual life-size foot. (6.140). The thin fracture cut the panel in two and, in doing so it separated the depicted human footprints. Such fractures give an impression that they might represent a path, a route or other landscape features such as a track. Such track then leads up to other three to four panels on a steep slope that have been similarly pecked with other anthropomorphic footprints which are standing in a commanding position on both vertical boulders faces. Supplementing human depictions is one duiker buck spoor measuring 9cmx7cm, as well as one indeterminate fully pecked circular abstract figure also located beneath one of the human prints.

This is the first panel where one technique of engraving has been introduced, the outline with its cortex intact. All the human footprints are facing upwards and, once again, flanked by a complete pair of animal spoors, but we could not establish whether the prints are of the right or left foot as they have a peculiar trait in their composition so they look like a hybrid. Moreover, their toes seem of equal size and shape, but both neither feet do have a foot arch.



Figure 6.140 Panel OEF61/30. Shows the engraved artworks at the panel in the original image (left) and traced image (right).

The panel itself, though small and stable, has a one prominent fracture that runs vertically that might cause future concerns. Its location suggest that its might be partially submerged in the water during rain and flood events because it is in a watercourse. However, this has not caused extreme abrasion and loss of rock coating so far and neither has it destabilized the boulder's surface as the panel has a strong stability overall. Of concern at the panel are the shrubs growing near the panel; fortunately, they do not seem to impact the current condition of the panel, but it is future concerns since they are growing towards the direction of the artwork.
k.OEF61/33

Panel Id: OEF61/33 GPS Locations: E15° 38 56.26/S21°30 54.71

k.1.Panel Description

Resting stable on top of a boulder at an elevation of 1339m above sea level is Panel *OEF61/33* (Fig.141). From the previous panel, this panel is located further north and is accessed by climbing on top of other unstable and slippery boulders beneath this engraved panel. It's a very darkish boulder located on the southern axis and oriented 02°N; the panel has the dimensions of 181cm long and .85cm high.



Figure 6.141 Panel OEF61/33. Shows the location of the figure on the panel, as well as the location of the panel in the landscape.

The panel, furthermore, commands an excellent view of the northern axis, but has a low visibility range of about 3m, observable only upon arriving at the panel. Its visibility is restricted as a result of a weak peck and the fact that the engraved figure is not completed, displaying only its frontal face and by the fact that the figure is quite small in size (Fig. 6.142). The engraved surface, however, reveals a lighter surface beneath which helps us to identify the figure from a 3m distance. The panel contains a single individual anthropomorphic frontal foot facing upwards without its heel; it appears to be an adult right foot measuring 1cmx12cm. The depicted forefoot has the complete five toes but it's intriguing because of its dissimilarity to other human footprints in the site, as it also resembles

a feline-like design. Its morphology also puzzled the local San men who have a vast knowledge of tracks of both animal and human prints.



Figure 6.142 Panel OEF61/33. Shows the lightly pecked figure on the panel at 10cm scale.

The San men were of the opinion that the figure is complete and its placement in its location is deliberate. The figure is shallow pecked. The primary concerns at the panel include fissures and continuous exfoliation that might have led to the loss of some surface rock coating, which hopefully will not compromise the stability of the boulder.

l.OEF61/34

Panel Id: OEF61/34 GPS Locations: E15 38 56.33/S21 30 54.69

I.1.Panel Description

The seventh panel containing human representations is our current panel, Panel OEF61/34, standing at a 1335m elevation and oriented at 352°N and with a dimension of 1.8m long and 0.5m high (Fig.6.143). From the previous panel, climbing upwards from the previous panel over some sharp and unstable boulders accesses this panel. The panel provides an excellent view of the northern axis; since the engraved part of the surface has a high contrast, the artwork's visibility varies from 8 to10m from the bottom of the riverbed.



Figure 6.143 Panel OEF61/34. Shows the location of the Panel (red arrow) in the site.

The artworks at this panel were executed into two pecking techniques that are light and deep pecking with their cortex removed. The panel's inventory consists of four engraved figures and of two fully engraved human footprints measuring between 18cmx10 cm and 9cmx6cm and which are adjacent to each without contact and which are located in the middle of the panel and are facing upwards. The larger human print has been deeply pecked; its visibility is quite high as opposed to the adjacent one on the left. Both footprints have been firstly

outlined and then pecked (in-filled) with small peck marks inside their cortex, while the giraffe head is scratched and facing the west side of the site entrance.

The larger print is six toed and appears to be a left foot because the foot arch is slightly bent inside, while the small footprint has four toes with a small heel; yet it is not easy to decipher its anatomy. We questioned the local San men about the possible reasons why some of these footprints have either missing or extra digits, but they seem to have conflicted views. In addition to human footprints, the panel also contains one slightly faded animal figure identified as an outlined giraffe, showing only its headline outline and its elaborated neck, measuring 19cmx8cm and located to the right of the panel, roughly 25cm from human footprints. Unlike the fractures that are normally seen above, beneath or even in the middle of the panel's flanking figures, the fracture on this panel is located further right of the panel away from the figures (Fig. 6.144). There is also one indeterminate pecked figure, also located beneath one of the human prints. There are about three associate panels found in the immediate surroundings of this panel but they contain animal spoors. Although the panel is still stable, strong wind events could pose an immediate threat to the panel and its content.



Figure 6.144 Panel OEF61/34.Shows the artworks on the panel at 10cm scale.

m.OEF61/36

Panel Id: OEF61/36 GPS Locations: E15 38 54.61/S21 30 54.09

m.1. Panel Description

The final panel with human footprints at is Panel *OEF61/36*. The panel has the dimensions of 90cm long and 69cm high and is located about 50m on a steeply upslope of the site across the northeastern side of the riverbed and is oriented at 301°NW and stands at an elevation of 1359m above sea level (Fig.145). Accessibility to this panel requires a careful climbing through unstable rubble of boulders up on the northwestern side of the site. It's a darkish panel producing high contrasts of its engraved surface and its artworks are visible from 10m below the riverbed.



Figure 6.145 Shows the location of the Panel OEF61/36. (red arrow) in the site at a top of the northern slope.

The panel is placed in isolation with no adjacent engraved panels in its vicinity other than the previous panel (Panel OEF61/35) at the bottom of the northern axis found 15m away. Furthermore, since the panel is sloping upright, this makes it susceptible to planar weathering with surface irregularities already noted on the panel, but, overall, the panel is stable. The artwork on the panel has been placed at the right bottom and slightly upper area. Two of the prints (probably adults) have been deeply pecked with their cortex removed, while two out of

three smaller prints have been lightly pecked and slightly in filled with less dense pecked marks. The last smaller one attached to one of the adult print is simply outlined in smaller and thin pecked marks with its cortex intact.

The panel contains five distinct anthropomorphic footprints, consisting of two smaller ones slightly placed at the bottom right of the panel, measuring 12cmx8cm and 10cmx9cm and which appear to represent two different individuals since the right foot is depicted. The first footprint is five toed while the smaller one has only four digits slightly detached from its fore foot. They are both oriented upwards, giving the impression that they are emerging from beneath the panel and walking following the larger footprints ahead of them. Three of the footprints have been placed slightly above the smaller prints and have the dimension of 25cmx19cm, 13cmx8cm and 18cm 9cm in sizes respectively (Fig.146).



Figure 6.146 Panel OEF61/36. Shows the varied human footprints on the panel. Left, is the original image while right image shows the tracing of the panel.

The larger print on the top right has seven digits, while the medium print is six toed and the smaller foot (not proportional to human footprints), attached to the medium print on the top right, contains four toes. Both prints seem to belong to different individuals because they represent a right foot and have different shapes. It is possible that they represent two adults and three children. Four of these prints seem to be naturalistic drawn but once again, we could not establish possible reasons for extra and missing digits on some feet. We have also

observed that the artists did not utilize the entire panel since there is space especially left of the panel where the other prints could have been placed. It is like to be an international act rather than a random one.

The footprint top left attached to the medium one is quite abnormal, as its morphology also resembles a baboon handprint. During the recording and documentation campaign, we were able to photograph the panel in 3D. The engravings at this panel are in a very good condition thanks to a stable boulder and the protected location. Overall, the panel is very stable but susceptible to planar weathering (water run offs, wind erosion and the intense glare of the sun) since it's an upright panel.

n.OEF61/48

Panel Id: OEF61/48 GPS Locations: E15°38 55.85/S21°30 54.17

n.1.Panel Description

Panel *OEF61/48* is the last panel located on the northern axis of the site (Fig.147). It's found 4 meters from the previous panel and stands at 1355m elevation. The panel consists of only one animal figure – what appear to be a rhino, measuring 24cm high 55cm long and faces 0°N. The engraving figure on this panel is restricted to the lower right of the panel facing a large fracture to its right. The figure has been engraved through a scratching technique with its cortex removed. The animal was drawn in a lateral perspective with its well-defined curved backline and stomach line. Both hind and frontal legs are clearly shown, in addition to its well-detailed tail. The animal's frontal morphology is not well defined but its overall morphology can been seen.



Figure 6.147 Panel OEF61/48. Left image shows the location of the panel (red arrow) while the right image show the engraved figure at the panel.

The orange to yellowish part of the boulder produces very little visual contrast, thus the artwork is barely detectable and only visible from a close range. We could not distinguish its gender or whether the engraved rhino figure was a black or white rhino, as the determining features are not well defined in the figure. However, we suspect that it could be a white rhino as it have has a pronounced hump on the back and neck and a hooked lip as opposed to a flat-based lip of the black rhino, this according to the identification by the San people.

Furthermore, the rhino is 13cm long from tusk to tail and 11cm long from its shoulders to the legs, but its toes are not shown. Overall, the figure is in a very good condition, but there is large fracture in front of the figure, which is an indication of future break off. The panel appears to be stable but the pressure from other boulder behind it might cause future concern.

o.OEF61/49

Panel Id: OEF61/49 GPS Locations: E15°39 1.96/S21° 30 54.9

o.1.Panel Description

Found entirely in the middle of the riverbed is Panel *OEF61/49* (Fig.148), located in a ravine inclined about 120°E, facing north the panel and standing at 1338m above sea level. It is located just near Panel OEF61/22 and OEF61/23 and was discovered during the final field campaign. Although the panel commands great visibility in the site, its artwork can easily be missed because the panel's surface is very dark; producing no contrast, while the engraved figures, although deeply pecked is correspondingly, darker.



Figure 6.148 Panel OEF61/49. Left image shows the location of the panel (red arrow) in the site.

The panel has approximately 18 animal spoors, depicting twelve antelope spoors, identified as one klipspringer (measuring 4cmx5cm), about eleven springbok spoors (measuring between 10cmx 8cm and 8cmx6cm), four zebra spoors (measuring 5cmx4cm and 4cmx3cm) and two rhino spoor (measuring 10cmx9cm). The artwork on this panel is restricted to the northern side of the panel and the paintings have all been deeply pecked. There can be no doubt that it become completely submerged in the water during the rainy season (Fig.149), fortunately a short period compared to the dry season. However, we were not sure whether the panel is

located on its original location or if it might have fallen from the upper slope/ridgeline coming to rest in the streambed. We have also observed that the panel was highly likely walked over by hikers as the hiking trail runs through the ravine where the panel has lain down since the boulder's shiny darkish surface color coupled with the light pecking techniques of engraving makes it very difficult for people to see the artwork and, lastly, the fact that the soil erosion emanating from the movement of debris and other objects over the surface during rain and flood could potentially lead to the burying the panel as part of the panel is partially buried with sand and debris. Unguided visitors have the potential to harm the artworks since the hiking trail passes through the panel.





Figure 6.149 Panel OEF61/49. Top left images showing the location of the figures on the panel, while bottom left image shows the traced panel.

p.OEF61/50

Panel Id: OEF61/50 GPS Locations: E15 39 1.06/S21 30 55.85

p.1.Panel Description

This panel is located about 8m from the spring at the bottom of the northern slope overlooking the immediate open space and the southern axis of the site (Fig.150). It is easily accessible by a short 10-metre walk from the previous panel. It measures 64cm long and 34cm high and faces 182°S. The panel stands at 1342m above sea level. The panel can easily be missed by an untrained eye because its surface is very dark, while the engraved figure is equally dark. Therefore, this, in combination with the shade from the vegetation behind it, as well as other large boulders, made it even more difficult to find.



Figure 6.150 Panel OEF61/50. Left image shows the location of the panel (red arrow).

The artwork placed on the top left has poor visibility range because it's darker while the engraved surface produced no contrast. Overall, the boulder appears to be stable. However, its location at the bottom of the southern slope means that it is susceptible to water erosion in the event of a flood. The panel has only one engraved animal figure, which is likely to be a depiction of rhino which measures 22cmx9cm and which is depicted facing the direction of

the spring below the panel (Fig.151). The figure has been deeply pecked and was well executed.



Figure 6.151 Panel OEF61/50. Left image shows original image on the panel, while the right one is a traced image of the figure at the panel.



Landscape of Omandumba East engraving site, view from upper northern slope. Image credits: Harald Rust

6.2.5.Part C: Spatial Analyses of Landscape Attributes

The following spatial analysis examines the landscape variables of the rock-engraving site. The analysis comprises of seven landscape variables, namely (1) panels' placement and their geomorphological formations, (2) elevation, (3) proximity to springs, (4) accessibility, (5) aspect/orientation, (6) visibility of the engraved panels in the landscape and (7) the positioning of rock engraved figures onto rock surfaces.

a.Panel Placement

The engraved figures at site OEF61 have been executed on various basaltic boulders most of which have been shaped by a wide range of actions, including erosion, resulting in different morphologies, sizes, shapes, topography and orientation, found at various locations in the site. The engraved basalt panels are distributed along two main axes (north and south) that cover an area of approximately 1km (Fig. 6.152).

Map Legend



Figure 6.152 Shows the spatial distribution of the engraved panels in the site.Illustration by author.

The following table (Table 6.15) provides an overview of the locational settings in which rock engravings were found in the study area. Here, the total numbers of panels per three identified locations are quantified.

Location of the Panel	No. Of Panels	% of Panels
Middle Slope	4	8%
Bottom Slope	45	90%
River Course	1	2%

 Table 6.15 Indicates the locations of the panels in Site OEF61.

The table above indicates that the engraved boulders are found primarily at three different locations in the site. The majority of the panels are those found in the bottom slope of the site, accounting for 90%. Engraved boulders under this category are widely distributed along both axes of the site and their placement in the landscape varies from an isolated pairs of panels to large clusters of panels comprising of seven to twenty panels. Moreover, the sheer numbers and diversity of these engraved surfaces ranges from horizontal dimensions (flat/planar) surfaces to upright surfaces sloping upwards

About eight of these panels in this category, i.e., OEF61/01, OEF61/04, OEF61/20, OEF61/22, OEF61/23, OEF61/30, OEF61/31 and OEF61/38, are placed at the extreme bottom of the slope, therefore, becoming partially submerged in the river as evidence of water stains on these panels have shown, but the majority, although at the bottom of the slope, are not found in the river course. Engraved boulders found in the middle of the site are the second most represented, accounting for four panels representing 8%. Three of the panels under this category, i.e., OEF61/27/ OEF61/33, OEF61/34, have upright surfaces sloping upwards and are found in the same cluster, while panel OEF61/26 is a large vertical panel comprising of three clusters of split boulders. Lastly, about 2% representing one panel have been recorded in the river course, Panel OEF61/49. The panel under this category is completely in the middle of the river course and becomes submerged during the rainy season (Fig. 6.153 left)



Figure 6.153 Shows the location of the engraved panels in the site. Image to the left shows the mid slope (walls) and bottom slope (red arrow), while right image shows the location of Panel OEF61/49 in the river course.

The geomorphological setting of the engraved panels/boulders varies within the site as discussed earlier. Most common shapes of the engraved boulders range from rounded, square, triangle, rectangle, and diamond-shaped boulders to oval, columnar and perpendicular shaped boulders (Fig. 6.154). More often, the physical morphology (shape) and size of the panels do not determine the quantity of the figures, i.e., there are instances where largely shaped and sized surfaces contained few artwork, just as there are small shaped and sized panels with many figures which suggests that the panels were chosen deliberately, i.e., just as the artist (s) chose what to depict and what not to and how many to place on each surface. In many cases, the figures on the engraved surfaces are only restricted to a certain part of the panel while very few occupy the entire panel.



Figure 6.154 various shapes of engraved boulders. (A) Diamond-shaped boulder loping backwards, Panel OEF61/06. (B), Parallelogram-shaped boulder, Panel OEF61/30. (C) Square-shaped boulder resting on top of another boulder, Panel oef61/14. (D) A detached hexagon-shaped boulder standing vertically, Panel OEF61/10CLB. (E) A slightly round-shaped boulder, Panel OEF61/35. (F) A rectangular boulder lying horizontally, Panel OEF61/34. (G), A columnar jointing and perpendicular fracturing on the outcrop face, Panel OEF61/33, while (H) is an slightly rounded shaped boulder partially submerged in the river course, Panel OEF61/22.

b.Panels Elevation

The topography of the engraved panels was another important landscape attribute taken into consideration for analysis. This was crucial because the topography of the panels is one of the key elements influencing not only the visibility rate of the panels but also the accessibility of the artwork to their locations. It is possible that the topographical reference could have been one of the motivating factors for the selection of surfaces due to their elevations in the wider landscape. All the engraved panels in the site occur between 1323m - 1340m above sea level.

The elevation analysis used 5m ranges and divided it into three categories as reflected in (Table 6.16 & Fig. 6.155).

No. Of Panels (n=50)	Elevation (m)	% of Panels	No. Of. Figures (n=458)	% of Figures
4	1323 - 1328	8%	69	15%
26	1329 - 1334	52%	308	67%
20	1335 - 1340	40%	81	18%

Table 6.16 Summary of the range of panel elevations of Site OEF61



Figure 6.155 Base Map indicating the topography of the Panels recorded at three elevations for Site OEF61 Google Maps



Figure 6.156 Topography analysis of engraved Panels at Site OWF61 in Omandumba East Farm.

Data obtained from the elevations analysis above indicates that only four panels, representing 8% of the total panels, occurs between elevation ranges of 1323 – 1328m above sea level. Panels found in these topographical ranges are the first panels, i.e., OEF61/01 and OEF61/02 located on the southern slope while OEF61/03 and OEF61/04 are found on the northern slope. These panels are some of the most susceptible to erosion, especially in the event of flood, as evidence of water stains are visible from the lowest sections of the panels. All these panels contain only animal spoors and both animal figures (Panel OEF61/03). However, they are physically stable as they rest on the ground, with the exception of Panel OEF61/04, which rests on top of another boulder. The panels also serve as entry panels of the site. Panels under this category comprised of 69 artworks.

These were followed by the second category, containing 26 panels occurring between 1329 – 1334m elevation representing 56%. The bulk of these panels contain a total of 308 artworks representing 67%. Among the panel's artworks predominate animal spoors and few animal figures, as well as all the eight (8) panels contains human figures with the exception of the ninth panel (OEF61/61), which falls under the elevation of the next category range. Only seven (7) of these panels are located on the northern slope (OEF61/05-OEF61/11), while the rest of the panels are found on the southern slope.

The last category comprised of 20 panels containing 18% of the artworks found between 1335 – 1340m elevation. The majority of the artwork in this category comprised of animal spoors and figures, as well as one panel containing human figures (OEF61/36). Most of the panels are located towards the end of the site exit and occupy both the northern and southern axes. This range of results suggests that cultural factors had a large impact in determining the elevations for the panels. Geomorphologically, the availability of boulders at the same elevations could be another factor, since many unengraved boulders where were found all over the site. As a matter of fact, the majority of the boulders in the site are those without artwork.

c.Proximity to permanent water sources: springs

All the engraved panels are found in the riverbed and are confined to 400m areas out of 700m of the total outcrop. And therefore, all the panels are in proximity the river course that flanks the site (Fig. 6.157). However, not all the panels in the site are in the immediate proximity to the permanent water points, the two springs. The analysis of the proximity to water sources,

therefore, assessed the general distribution of engraved panels and their juxtaposition to the two springs in the site.



Figure 6.157 Shows the proximity of engraved panels (in blue) to Springs indicated in pink at site. © Google Earth.

For this, calculations were made of the distance in meters from each panel to the springs using a 50-metres measuring tape from two points (the panel and springs) on the ground and Google Earth maps. To achieve this, the distance calculations are given in 100 meters intervals, thus subdivided into four categories (Table 6.17).

Proximity Variables (m)	No. Of Panels (n=50)	% of Panels
Spring (near site entry)		
0-100	25	50%
101-200	4	8%
201-300	3	6%
301-400	18	36%
Spring (near site exit)		
0-100	18	36%
101-200	12	24%
201-300	4	8%
301-400	16	32%

Table 6.17 Proximity analysis of rock engraving panels in Site OEF61 to water sources (springs) in the site.

The proximity analysis of the panels to the two bodies of permanent water points, the springs, indicate that all the engraved panels 50 in the site are confined to 400m of both springs. (Table 6.17) details the results for the sites in relation to the two springs in the site. The analysis indicates that about 25 panels representing 50% panels within the site are 100m in proximity to the first spring located near the site entry (see Fig. 6.158 & Fig. 6.159). These comprised of last two panels. Among them are for instance, Panel (OEF61/10 OEF61/11, OEF61/12, OEF61/13, OEF61/14 and OEF61/15) located on both northern and southern axis of the site. Among all these panels, only one panel (OEF61/14) contains human footprints, while the rest of the panels contain various animal spoors.

The sites were followed by the massive decline of panels from 200m from the spring (near the site entry) of the site, accounting for 4 panels, representing 8%. Further declines of 3 (6%) panels were further recorded at a distance of 300m from the spring. The second majority of the panels 18 (36%) in the site are found tat 400 meters from the spring (near the site entry). The panels are those found from the middle of the sites towards the site exit point as shown in (Fig. 6.158).

Furthermore, about 18 (36%) have also been found 100m in proximity to the spring near the site exit (see Fig. 6.157 & Fig. 6.158). These panels were followed by a slight decline of panels 12 (24%) panels found in a 200m distances of the same spring. However, another sharp reduction of panels, 4 (8%) were those confined to 300m from the second spring. These are the same panels that were recorded at 200-300m from the first spring. The second most dominant panels are those recorded between 300 and 400m distance ranges from the second spring. The majority of the panels are those that were initially recorded between 100 – 200m from the first spring. Generally, the data indicates that all these engraved panels closer to the springs in the site, although variations in distance ranges exist among the panels.



Figure 6.158 Show a cluster of panels (OEF61/12, OEF61/13, OEF61/14 and OEF61/15) in proximity to the spring near the entry of Site OEF61. Below the panels is the reliable spring that retains water throughout the year.



Figure 6.159 Shows a cluster of panels (OEF61/12, OEF61/13, OEF61/14 and OEF61/15 as indicated in in red) in proximity to the spring near the site exit.

d. Proximity to Animal Trails

Another landscape variable that was investigated in this study was the current animal trail system in proximity to the engraving site. Such investigation was of utmost importance in order to establish the association/connections (if any) between the game trails or animal

migration with the engraved animal figures and spoors depictions at the site, this given the fact that the site is located in the riverbed where two reliable permanent water points, the spring. The likelihood of such trails system were used by prehistoric people for their mobility in order to have access to resources (food and water) is high given the limited and restricted water sources in this locality, particularly in the dry season. The site area, I discerned that the current trails system has limited routes possibly as results of the rugged terrains and limited water sources. The trails system follows the river system (Fig. 6.160) to the site, from the site entry to the site's exit point.



Figure 6.160 Current trails system (in red lines) around the engraving site in the Omandumba East Farm. Blue circle represent the position of the engraved panels while the pink indicates the locations of two springs. ©Google Maps

The trails analysis indicates that the animals either entered or exited from both sides of the site as three trails have been recorded on both sides as reflected in (Fig. 6.161). Upon inspecting the animal spoors in the trails and water points (springs), we observed, with the assistance of the San people, that the fresh spoors are very similar to the engraved spoors in the site (Fig. 6.162). It is, therefore, likely that the entire engraved animal spoors and figures in the site reflect a localized compendium of fauna that are still found in this environment today. The absence of other surface archaeological materials, as well as the geomorphological setting of the sites, therefore, suggest that the site was not a habitation site, but functioned as a hunting locale just as the ethno-historic evidence from the local San men maintained.



Figure 6.161 Left: The local San men Mr. Kxao /Lukxao, and Mr. N!ani R!kxao walking in the game trail towards the site. Right, Mr. N!ani R!kxao following fresh animal spoors in the site from the site exit towards the site entry.



Figure 6.162 Shows various fresh animal spoors in and around the site trail systems. (A) Oryx spoor tracks at the spring (near site exit point). (B) Bushbuck spoors tracks in one of the trails. (C) a fresh Kudu spoors in the spring (near site entry point). (D) The zebra spoors tracks at the spring (near site exit point).

e.Accessibility of the engraved panels in the site

The fifth landscape variable investigated in the study was the accessibility of engraved panels in the site. This was a critical enquiry in order to understand and establish the physical exertion needed to reach the engraved panels and the extent to which the artworks are hidden away from open view based account of their location, boulder surface colours and accessibility in the landscape, this so that we will be able to understand how the site was organized, perceived and accessed by the artists in light of their extensive distributions. Following Paul Bahn (BAHN 2006), classification of public and private art is used to determine the accessibility of the sites/panels, I have, therefore, categorized the panels according to the locations they occupy in the landscape on the basis of those: accessible (1) and those with restricted access (2) as demonstrated in (Fig 6.163). The accessible panels are those perceived to be easily reachable and viewable to everyone, while panels with restricted access are those perceived to have private viewing.



Figure 6.163 Shows a scatter chart indicating the total number of panels that are accessible and those with restricted access in the site.

The accessibility analysis indicated that about 45 panels, representing 90% of the panels within the site, are generally accessible. These panels are found at various locations within the site such as at the foot/bottom of the slopes and in the river course, as shown in (Fig. 6.164). Accessing these sites requires less effort; nevertheless, cautions are required since most of the boulders appear unstable with sharp edges.

Panels with restricted access account for five (5) in the site, representing 10% of the panels. These includes a cluster of panels such as OEF61/33, OEF61/34, OEF61/35, OEF61/36, OEF61/37 found located in the middle of the slopes and where we had to climb up to the upper slope in order to reach the panels. The nature of the access to these panels would, however, permit only few people to access them, as the reaching them can be dangerous as

the boulders have sharp edges, are slippery and unstable. Besides that, the spaces in between the boulders are also sometimes small and sometimes the nature of the jagged rocks interrupts the process of reaching them.



Figure 6.164 Top left and right images shows the local San men Mr. Kxao /Lukxao, and Mr. N!ani R!kxao trying to reach some of the panels with restricted access. Bottom image show my colleague, Mrs. Fousy Shinana trying to access one Panel OEF61/36.

With regards to viewing the panels, we observed that both accessible and restricted panels have different degrees of visibility. This is attributed to a number of key factors, including the visibility rate of the figures, orientations of the panels in the landscape, the size of the artworks on the panel (and to some extent even the number of artworks on the panel), the technique of productions, as well as the surface colour of the engraved boulders. These factors are explored further in the landscape analysis, that is, how they are likely to be some of the

influencing dynamics in the placements of the artworks at various locations. There are many instances whereby a panel is highly accessible but its artworks can easily be missed as a result of factors mentioned above (see Fig. 6.165 & 6.166).



Figure 6.165 The left image indicates the accessible location of Panel 0EF61/03 (red arrow) from the bottom of the slope, while the right image shows the artwork on the same panel that has restricted viewing due to the darker natural color of the panel producing no contrast, reducing its visibility.



Figure 6.166 The left image indicates the location of Panel OEF61/34 with restricted access on top of southern slope, while the right image shows the artwork on the same panel with high visibility and viable ratio due to the fact that the engraved surface produces contrast, the orientation of the panel allows it to be viewed from the bottom of the slope and the size of the artwork on the panel is large enough to be viewed.

f.Aspects/Orientations

The spatial orientation analysis of the engraved panels in the site was another important landscape variable used to broaden our knowledge of the spatial distribution and placement of the artwork on specific locations in this open-air site. The cardinal orientations of the panels influence not only the visibility (angle from which the audience can observe artworks) in the landscape, but also the mobility/accessibility to the panels. The engraved panels are oriented at various directions. This range of results suggests that both cultural and the geomorphological aspects were likely among the influencing dynamics in determining the

choice of panels. Panel orientations were taken looking generally at the angle of inclination of the panels in the site. For this, the analysis comprised of four groups: A from 0 to 90° (north), B from 90° to 180° (east), C from 180° to 270° (south) and D from 270° to 360° (west) as reflected in (Table 6.18 & Fig. 6.167) below.

Group	Number of Panels	Orientation	% of Panels
Α	16	0° - 90°	32%
В	25	90° - 180°	50%
С	4	180° - 270°	8%
D	5	270° - 360°	10%

Table 6.18 Summary of the panel's orientation at Site OEF61



Figure 6.167 Presents the orientations engraved panels at Site OEF61.

A similar pattern of orientation analysed in the painting repertoire have also been observed among the engraved panels. Like in the paintings sites, the orientation pattern among the engraved panels also suggests engraved panels under Group B are predominant, accounting for 50% of the total corpus are oriented easterly. Most of the panels under this group are those found on the southern slope, either from the upper and lower slope. They general explanations offered to the painting sites can also be replicated here since the engraved panels share similar characteristics. However, differences have been noted mong the engravings oriented this direction. For instance, the artworks depicted at these panels are in good state of conservation, owing to the engraving techniques and the fact that the site generally receives fewer visitors. The visibility of these artworks however, although high, it is influenced greatly by the surface of the engraved panel. (See visibility analysis at section g). The majority of sites hosting these panels are found at various locations within the site and they are all easily accessible. Examples of panels under this category are OEF61/01, OEF61/13, OEF61/14, and OEF61/15 etc.

These were followed by the panels oriented northerly, that account for 32% of the corpus. All the panels with this aspect were equally recorded on the southern slope. They too receive a fair amount of sun exposure throughout the day, except in the late afternoon as the northern slope and vegetation cover obscure them. Their visibility is slightly reduced unlike those oriented easterly. This, once again, is influenced greatly by the size of the artworks, the positions of the panel in the landscape, the size and shape, technique of engraving of the panel as well as the surface colour of the engraved area. Examples of these panels are: OEF61/08, OEF61/18, OEF61/25, and OEF61/30 etc. Group C accounts only 8%, while Group D represents 10 % of the engraved surfaces, most of which were recorded in the northern axis and few on the southern axis. These panels also share corresponding features on rock painting sites under these categories. Their visibility in the lower compared reduced angle of sun exposure. These panels were primarily difficult to see given the fact that panels are under the shadow of the slopes and vegetation. Examples of these panels are Sloping either backwards making them difficult to identify or directly in the river course.

g.Panels and artworks visibilities and locations in the site

The seventh landscape variable that was examined in the study is the visual or visibility analysis of the engraved panels in the site. The visibility analysis examines the optical ranges from which panels containing the engravings and their artworks are viewed in the landscape. Just as in the paintings analysis, the visibility analysis for the engraved panels in the site was categorized into four main classes according to the number of panels: up to 1m optical range, up to 3 m, up to 15 m, and greater than 15 m ranges as reflected in (Table 6.19 and Fig. 6.168)

Visibility Range (m)	No. of Panels (n=50)	% of Panels	Sum of Figures (n=458)	% of figures
1m	23	46%	78	14.2%
3m	4	8%	41	7.5%
15<	16	33%	175	31.9%
15>	7	13%	254	46.4%

Table 6.19 Visibility analysis of engraved panels according to number of figures in Site OEF61.

The visibility database search indicates 23 panels, representing (46%), containing 78 (14.2%) engraved panels and their figures, are visible only from a 1m optical range. The figures on these panels can only be seen upon standing directly in front of the panel. The visibility range of these figures is influenced by a number of factors, such as the size of the figures and panels hosting the figures (which is often very small), panels' orientation and angle of their inclinations in the landscape, as well as the colour of the panel surfaces which provides no contrast to the engraved surfaces (see Fig. 6.165). Some of these panels, i.e., OEF61/21, OEF61/37 are hidden behind other boulders. Panels containing the artworks viewed under a 1m optical range can be classified as 'very private' which means that they can only be viewed by one person at a time According to (KECHAGIA 1995, 1996 cf. LENSSEN- ERZ 2004:140), panels under this category are found in the engraved surface located 2 (see Fig. 6.168 and Table 6.20).

The visibility analysis of up to 3 m ranges is one the least represented, with only 4 panels, accounting for (8%) of the panels, containing the smallest number of artworks 41 (7.5%), viewed at that distance ranges. Panels under this category are found in engraved surfaces located at 1, 3 and 7, as shown in Figure 6.168 and Table 6.20). Examples of such panels in our study areas include OEF61/09, OEF61/20, OEF61/42 and OEF61/43. As with the previous panels containing artwork, this category occupies several locations in the site and the artworks can be viewed from short distances. Visibility analysis of the third category is that of panels found up to 15m distance ranges. They are the second most dominant panels; there are about 16 panels, representing 33%, containing 175 artworks, 31.9% of the total artworks. Panels with artworks under this category are also found on different panels occupying various locations in the landscape, such as 1, 3, 4 and 6 position.

Their visibility is quite high and most artworks can be seen from the bottom of the site (river course) or while standing at several locations in the site. Most of these panels can be viewed by a large gathering at once at various positions in the site, i.e., at bottom of the site and the

middle slope. They can, therefore, be classified as 'public art', according to the binary classification by (KECHAGIA 1995, 1996 *cf.* LENSSEN- ERZ 2004:140), because they can be seen from considerable distances. These are equivalent to those viewed at greater than 15 m ranges. They account for 7 (13%) of panels that contain 254 of artworks (46.4%). Such artworks are found on panels located mainly at location 3 and 6.



Figure 6.168 Shows the location of engraved panels and the position of artworks on the panels. Original pencil drawings of the site layout by Fousy Shinana-Kambombo.

Engraving Location	Definition
1	Middle of the panel sloping upwards (the panel without contrast).
2	Close to the ground on the rear or the lowest section of a slanting ceiling of the boulder, less than 10cm.
3	On a back of a boulder where engraving location 2 is already occupied.
4	In the middle of a flat horizontal slab surfaces above a boulder which produces contrast

5	On a vertical wall, visible from the bottom of the riverbed/ river course (with/without contrast).
6	On the edge of a boulder entirely submerged in the river course.
7	On a perpendicular forehead of a boulder visible from the bottom of the riverbed. The boulder producing contrast.

Table 6.20 Revised definitions for the engraving locations as illustrated in (Fig. 6.175), after (LENSSEN-ERZ1989, cf. LENSSEN-ERZ 2004:138)

The majority of these panels are placed in the open with good visibility while very few are placed in inconspicuous locations - hidden in-between boulders, often with low visibility. Moreover, the sheer number and diversity of these surfaces ranges from the vertical and horizontal dimension to the flat (planar) surfaces, upright surfaces sloping upward to those laid down in the riverbed. More often, the size of the panel does not determine the quantity of the figures, i.e., a large surface has more room for many figures than small surfaces, but often we found few engraved artworks in them as opposed to the small panels, which suggests that the panels were chosen deliberately, i.e., just like what the artist (s) chose to depict and what not to and how many to place on each surface. Added to this is the fact that the size of the engraved surface does not determine the figure's size or its visibility in the landscape as we observed in this study area. However, it is possible that space, surface color, visibility and the site orientation were determining factors, although not necessarily the decisive factors to behind the placement of the artworks on these surfaces.

h.Placement of artworks on the rock surfaces

The placement analysis investigated the exact location of the artworks on the boulder surfaces. They ranged from those occupying the top, middle, bottom, top and middle, middle and bottom, as well as to those occupying the entire panels. The placement of the engraved figures on the rock surfaces influences mainly the visibilities ranges of the artworks on the rock surfaces and, generally, in the landscape. As it has been indicated in the visibility analysis, the majority of the artworks can be viewed at greater than 15m range; this was possible because most of the figures are quite large, while their engraved panels produces contrasts which increases its visibility ratios.

Moreover, the position they occupy on their surfaces often enables them to be seen from a greater distances. The following Table 6.21 and Figure 6.169 provides the summary of the findings as well as details about the type of figures found on the different position in the panels

Position on the Panel (n=50)	Sum of panels (n=548)	% of Panels	Sum of figures	% of figures
Тор	11	22%	91	16.6%
Middle	10	20%	50	9.1%
Bottom	11	22%	89	16.3%
Top & Middle	4	8%	32	5.8%
Middle & Bottom	3	6%	68	12.4%
Entire Panel	11	22%	218	39.8%

Table 6.21 Summary of the placement of the artworks in the panels at Site OEF61



Figure 6.169 Histogram of the artworks placements in their panels at Site OEF61

The data search for the placement of the rock art figures on the panels identified six positions of rock art figures in the panel, including those that have been restricted to only the top 11 panels (22%), the middle 10 panels (20%), the bottom 11, (22%), the top and middle 4 panels (8%), those confined to the middle and bottom account 3 (6%) of the panel, as well as to those occupying the entire panel space 11 (22%).

The placement analysis further shows that the number of artworks placed on top of the panel's accounts for 91 figures, representing 16.6% of the total artworks. An example of panels whose artworks are restricted to the top of the panels includes the artworks at panels OEF61/11, OEF61/24, OEF61/33, OEF61/34 etc.). However, about 6/11 panels with human footprints are placed on top of the panels (Fig. 6.170) either in juxtaposition against animal

figures or spoors or adjacent to other human footprints. The rest of the panels whose figures are placed on top of the panels' host mainly animal spoors (see Fig. 6.167 right).



Figure 6.170 Example of panels hosting figures placed on top of their panels. Image to the left shows Panel OEF61/33 (top far and 34 below – red arrows) hosting human figures. Image to the right shows the artworks placed on top of Panel (OEF61/24) containing mainly animal spoors and figures.

Artworks restricted exclusively to the middle of the panels are the third most represented panels and account for 10 panels, representing 20%, but with the second least quantity of the artworks, about 50 artworks, representing 9.1% (Fig. 6.171). These panels are widely distributed in the site, but mainly at the bottom of the slopes. These panels contain only animal spoors and figures. Examples of such panels includes panel OEF61/01, OEF61/03, OEF61/21 and OEF61/32.



Figure 6.171 Example of panels with figures placed in the middle of the panels. Left is Panel OEF61/01 with animal spoors. Right is Panel OEF61/50 depicting an animal figure – a rhino.

The visibility rangers of the artworks placed in the middle of the panels vary, depending on whether the engraved panels produces a contrasting colour beneath it or not. Those that creates the contrasting pale brown color underneath clearly stands out (Fig. 6.172 left) while those without dark-coloured surfaces do not reveal lighter colour beneath, which means that they have a low visibility rate, even though the artworks are larger in sizes (Fig. 6.168 right).

The engravings recorded at the bottom of the and lowest section of the rock surfaces of the panels were registered at 11 panels, 22%, containing about 89 figures, representing 16.3%. However, the visibility ratios of these panels were not influenced by the position of the artworks and the location of the panel in the landscape. Similar to those described in the previous category, these panels occupies occupy various locations in the site, from those found in the river course, i.e., OEF61/49 (Fig. 6.172 left), those found on panels resting on top of other boulders, i.e., OEF61/47 (Fig. 6.172 right) and to those found at the bottom of the slopes, i.e., OEF61/41, OEF61/37 and OEF61/30 etc.



Figure 6.172 Example of panels with figures placed at the lowest section of the panels. Left is Panel OEF61/49 with animal spoors. Right is Panel OEF61/47 depicting an oval-shaped figure.

Panels with artworks in the top and middle of the panels is one of the lowest; there are 4 panels, accounting for 8%, while containing about 32 artworks, representing 5.8% in the site. These include panels found various locations such as the bottom and middle of the slopes. Examples of these panels are OEF61/02, OEF61/15, OEF61/17 and OEF61/27 (Fig. 6.173). Among these panels, only one, Panel OEF61/27, shows three human footprints, while the rest of them are comprised mainly various antelope spoors and figures.



Figure 6.173 Shows panels with figures placed at from the top up until the middle of the panels. Left is Panel OEF61/15 with antelope spoors of various sizes. Right is Panel OEF61/27 depicting three figures in juxtaposition to an animal figure, as well as numerous spoors

Another least represented figures are those restricted to the middle to the bottom of the panels. They account for three (3) panels, representing 6% and hosts containing about 68 artworks, 12.4% of the total figures. These comprised panels OEF61/06, OEF61/08 and OEF61/41. All these panels are located at the lowest bottom of the northern slope and their artworks can be clearly seen from a distance. The two panels (OEF61/08 and OEF61/41) are smaller and stand vertically, while the larger panel (OEF61/06) is an upright panel with its artworks facing upwards. The artworks on these panels (Fig. 6.174) consist mainly of animal spoors (antelope spoors and what appear to be an elephant trunk in juxtaposition to other animal figures, i.e., a lizard and tree-like figure – indeterminate).



Figure 6.174 Shows panels with figures placed in the middle to the bottom of the panels. Left is Panel OEF61/08 with antelope spoors in sizes adjacent to one of the indeterminate figures. Right is Panel OEF61/43 depicting two figures – a lizard at the bottom and an elephant in the middle right of the panel.
The last category is of the artworks that occupy entire panels. The panels account for 11 panels, 22%, containing the largest number of figures (218), representing 39.8%. These panels vary in size, shape, as well as in orientation, just like other panels. Their artworks are visible at various distance ranges while occupying several locations in the site, but mainly at the bottom of both slopes. The panels comprised of those with human figures (OEF61/14, /OEF61/35 and OEF61/36) (Fig. 6.175) and those that exclusively with animal spoors (OEF61/04, OEF61/10CLB, OEF61/12 etc.) as shown in (Fig. 6.176.)



Figure 6.175 Shows panels with figures (human) that occupy the entire panels. Left is Panel OEF61/35 with three human footprints in juxtaposition to antelope spoors, while the image on the right is that of Panel OEF61/36 depicting only human figures.





Figure 6.176 Shows panels with figures (animal spoors) that occupy the entire panels. Left is Panel OEF61/14 with various antelope spoors, while the image on the right is that of Panel OEF61/12, also depicting antelope and zebra spoors.

i.Summary of spatial analyses

The rock art panels are distributed along an east to west axis that covers approximately 400 meters. The majority of the panels (92.2%) are located at the foot of an elevation along the banks of both axes, while the lowest (2%) is placed in the river course; their placement in the landscape varies from an isolated pairs of panels (various shapes and sizes) to large clusters of panels comprising of seven to twenty panels. Moreover, the diversity of these engraved surfaces ranges from surfaces in the horizontal dimension (flat/planar) to upright surfaces sloping upwards. The site topography indicates that the lowest 8% of the total panels occurs between elevations ranges of 1323 - 1328m above sea level which hosts 15.1% of the figures. These were followed by the panels contain a total of 308 artworks, representing 67.2%. In these panels predominate animal spoors and few animal figures, while the last category of artworks, found between 1335 - 1340m elevations, accounts for 36% of the panels, containing17.7% of the artworks.

Another aspect of the site context attributes that were investigated and recorded during this study is the proximity of panels to water points in the site. Rock art panels in the site are located along the banks of the river course. Therefore, all panels are located near water in form of the river and the springs. However, due to their various locations they occupy in the site, there is variability in their proximity to springs. The analyses indicated that 50% of the panels are within 100m from the first spring. Followed by 8% within 200m. While those found at 300 and 400m range from 6% and 36% from the first spring. Contrary are those located 100m from the second spring accounting 36%. These were equally followed by 25% of panels found in 200m of the same spring while 8% and 32% were confined within 300 and 400m of the second spring.

Springs are the natural depressions where water is preserved throughout the year in the site. Due to the presence of the active springs in the site, there are active trail systems around the site from the water points from game animals, which must have been used by game during prehistoric period, as the game' fresh spoors are compatible with the engraved spoors found in the site today. The accessibility analysis indicated that about 90% of the panels in the site are generally accessible. Such sites are found at various locations in the site such as at the foot/bottom of the slopes and in river course while panels with restricted access account for 10% were mainly found located on the vertical slopes. With regards to the orientation of the

panels, the analyses reveals the tendency by the engravers to orientate the sites easterly as 50% of the panels at the sites faces this direction. These were followed by those oriented northerly, registering 32% in the study while those that receives less light are those with southerly and westerly aspects, registering 8% and 10% of the total corpus. These results are very similar to the data obtained in the painted site.

The visibility database search indicates that the majority of the panels (46.4%) hold 14.2% of the figures visible from only 1m optical ranges, while the majority of the figures (46%) of the artworks) are 14% of the panels, are visible for a distance range greater than 15. However, the visibility analysis suggests that the distance ranges at which rock art figures can be viewed is largely influenced by a number of factors, including the size of the figures and panels with the figures, the position of the figures on the panel, panels' orientations and angle of their inclinations in the landscape, as well as the colour of the panel surfaces (which either produces contrasts or not to the engraved surfaces). The last important landscape analysis was the placement of the figures on the surfaces. The results indicate that the majority of the figures (39.8%) and the lowest category (6%) are those restricted to the middle to the bottom of the panels, while those hosting only 12.4% of the total figures.



[&]quot;This is not a good time to view the artworks as the sun intensity is too much" Mr. N!aniR!kxao 04th April 2015, Engraving site.

6.2.6.Part D: Engravings Morphological Variables

Part D presents the morphological variables of rock engraving panels recorded in Omandumba East farm. Rock Art morphological variables present the prevalence of rock engravings in the study area, analyses rock art elements and typology, techniques of production, superimpositions/ overlapping (if any), element counts, and surface archaeological artefacts present at the site, as well as conservation aspects of the panels.

a.Number of engraved figures and panels at Site OEF61

The dataset for rock engravings in Omandumba East farm recorded a total of 50 engraved panels containing an excess of 548 individual rock art elements. Information on the number of figures per panel was also obtained. The first analysis of the morphological variables established the number of rock engraving figures per panel. The analysis reveals a wide range of figures per panel, from one (1) to a maximum seventy-two (72), with the average number of figures per site standing at 8.9, as illustrated in the histogram (Fig. 6.177).



Figure 6.177 shows a histogram of total number of rock engravings figures per panel of Site OEF61.

b.Engravings' prevalence in Site OEF61

The engraving repertoire shown in the histogram above (Fig. 6.177) reveals a total of 548recorded figures. We categorized and assigned both elements in the designated groups based on their morphological references, even if their identities have not been established. This according to Hipolito Collado (COLLADO 2014:145 *cf.* COLLADO 2006) is critical in order to avoid inconsistencies and to reach a far greater significant unity for the entire graphic set.

For this reason, the site's figurative typology is predominant of identifiable zoomorphic representation with a total of 364 individual elements representing 79.5% of the total elements. Following zoomorphism taxa is the indeterminate category, which account to 47 elements representing 10.3%. The category of anthropomorphs accounts for 7.4%, followed by the least category of abstract representations at 2.8% (Table 6.22 and Fig. 6.178).

Elements	Sum of Figures (n=458)	% of Figures
Anthropomorphs	34	7%
Zoomorphs	364	80%
Abstract: Lineal, dots and ovals	13	3%
Indeterminate	47	10%

Table 6.22 Presents the summary of the total number of elements recorded at Site OEF61.



Figure 6.178 Presents the percentage of all elements recorded at Site OEF61.

c.Morphology and Style of engraved elements

c.1.Anthropomorphic Representations

At many rock engravings sites in Namibia, there is a persistent presence of human representations in the form of footprints and, to some extends, of handprints. In all these instances, these depictions form one of the least represented symbolic expressions, particularly in the antiquity of rock engravings. According to Ernst-Rudolf Scherz, (SCHERZ 1975), human representations in a form of hands and footprints makes up only 2% of the overall engravings, as opposed to 62% in the paintings observed at major rock engraving sites in Namibia.

The current site repertoire in site OEF61 recorded at 34 (7) human footprints found at only 9/50 engraved surfaces (see Fig. 6.179, Fig. 6.180 and Table 6.23), with the majority

clustered in one locality in the southern slope of the site, while only one (OEF61/36) is found on the northern slope. The panels with human figures are concentrated approximately within 5 meter's reach of each other, and most of them have been juxtaposed with animal figures or spoors or adjacent to other human footprints. There is one case where in one panel (OEF61/33) only one human figure does not share the panel with other figures (i.e. animals or human); while the rest of them are juxtaposition and adjacent to 2 or 12 figures on the same panel.

Map Legend



Figure 6.179 Indicates the locations and distribution of human footprints (in red panels) at Site OEF61.



Figure 6.180 Shows various forms of human depictions recorded in Site OEF61.

All these engraved human footprints represent a full foot (outlined with its cortex removed or intact as well as the fully engraved) with the exception of two footprints whose depictions only shows its frontal, recorded at Panel OEF61/33 (Fig. 6.180 {17 & 34}). Furthermore, the majority of human depictions are naturalistic, with anatomical references similar to those of contemporary human feet. The prints are very detailed; exceedingly simple schematization are used to represent such figures, while some are schematic but possess explicit visual resemblance of the human prints. The prints are shown adjacent to each other singly or simply in juxtaposition and on the same panel in-group as the twelve, while many are depicted in pairs (but representing various individuals – as their sizes, shapes and even the foot represented differs).

All footprints are facing upwards- regardless of the panels' orientations, but with varied visibility ranges since they occupy different parts of the engraved surfaces.

Two pecking techniques and styles have been established among the anthropomorphic representations. The first technique and style includes footprints that have been outlined only with their cortex intact inside the outlined figure (see also Fig. 6.177 {15 & 16}). Here, the

artist(s) chose to incorporate the natural background of the rock surface to complete the footprint without filling in. In this case, the footprint is seen interacting, not only with natural features in the rock surface, but also with the animal figures on that panel. Furthermore, these figures have been lightly pecked with small thin peck marks. In the human repertoire, such depictions are less common and were recorded only at one panel, which was Panel OEF61/30, representing 6% of total human representations. These depictions, although having a complete foot, a well-shaped sole and complete digit/toes, are quite schematic in the sense that the artist(s) only depicted distinguishable marks that were probably deemed relevant. They are also slightly larger than life-sized feet.

The panel containing the artwork is located at the extreme bottom of the slope, sitting at the edge of the riverbed on the southern slope. It comprised of a thin fracture cutting the panel in two and, in doing so, separating the depicted human footprints. Such fractures give the impression that they might represent a path, a route or other landscape features such as a track. Such a track then leads up to three to four panels on a steep slope that have been similarly pecked with other anthropomorphic footprints and which in a commanding position on both vertical boulders faces.

The second technique and style, which predominates, represents 94% of the mainly naturalistic engraved footprints. Figures under this category are fully pecked footprints with their cortex removed, as shown in (Fig. 6.181). They are equally detailed, some with simple schematization. Few of these have complete toes, while the majority has either incomplete or extra digits, ranging between four to six toes. I could not establish any particular function or reason for the incomplete of extra digits among human figures. However, I will not rule out a conservation challenge (such as fading or deteriorations of part of the figure – to be included in the indeterminate figures) or possible cultural factor or an omission from the artists, but there are no convincing evidences for thesepostulations. Furthermore, footprints are sometimes depicted as a single footprint or in a pair (two), but not matching and sometimes they appear in a line also suggesting a track. These footprints certainly have physical morphologies similar to those of real-life human prints feet.



Figure 6.181 Left image shows outlined figures with their cortex inside at Panel OEF61/30. Right Image shows fully engraved footprints at Panel OEF61/14

Almost all human footprints have been presented from a front perspective showing their frontal and heel parts and oriented in the same direction, giving a certain degree of upwards movements. Those that are depicted singly are not associated with other figures, but are adjacent to other engraved panels found in the same locality and, generally, the entire site.

Panel No.	No. Of Figures	Part of foot	Size (cm)	Infant	Young	Adult	No. Of toes	Right/ Left or indeterminate	Gender
	8								
EF6114	12	Complete	22cmx10cm, 13cmx9cm, 13xmx7cm,	3	1	8		Right	Indeterminate
			14cmx4cm, 11cmx4cm, 12cmx7cm,				Range		
			13cmx6cm, 10X4cm				between		
							3, 4 and 5		
OEF6122	2	Complete	4cmx3 cm and 5cx7cm	-	2	-	5 each	Right	Indeterminate
OEF61/26	3	Complete	23cmx11cm, 18cmx7cm and	-	Indetermi	Indeter	5 each	Right	Indeterminate
			11cmx6cm		nate	minate			
OEF6127	2	Complete	22cmx12cm and 17cmx8cm	-	1	2	5 each	Right	Indeterminate
OEF6230	2	Complete	13cmx19cm and 9cmx 7cm	-	-	2	5 each	Indeterminate	Indeterminate
OEF6133	1	Frontal	11cmx12cm	-	-	1	5	Indeterminate	Indeterminate
OEF6134	2	Complete	18cmx0 cm and 9cmx 6cm	-	1	1	5 and 6	Indeterminate	Indeterminate
OFF6135	5	Complete	18cmv10.9cmv6cm.7cmv4cm.and	_	_	_	5 each		Indeterminate
0110133	5	Complete	5cmx5cm	-	_	-	Jeach		matterninate
OEF6136	4	Complete	25cmx19cm, 13cmx8cm, 18cmx 9cm,	2	1	3	4 to 7 toes	Indeterminate	Indeterminate
			12cmx8cm and 10cmx9cm						

 Table 6.23 Details the number of human footprints recorded in the Omandumba East farm site OEF61.

c.1.1.Morphologies of Human Footprints

Data presented in Table 6.23 indicates that a total 33/34 human footprints are complete human representations (Fig. 6.182), while only two figures recorded at Panel OEF61/33 are presented with their frontal without its heel (Fig. 6.183) The figure measures11cmx12cm and its size and shape suggest that it's likely to have been an adult imprint. However, we could not determine whether it's a right and left foot as the index toe is not well defined and all the five toes are same size and length. Its internal arch, however, points towards a right foot (see Panel full description).



Figure 6.182 Presents some of the complete human footprint with their heels. (A) Panel OEF61/14. (B) OEF61/22. (C) OEF61/35 and (D) OEF61/27. All figures in 10cm scale.

These depictions having complete feet and well-defined soles; some have extra or missing digits, while some appear to be slightly larger or smaller than life-sized feet. Some of the footprints, especially the smaller ones recorded at Panel OEF61/14, are quite strange, both in morphology and size. However, all the data and their juxtaposition to animal spoors in the site

adds crucial dimensions to the interpretation of functional morphology and it enhances our understanding regarding social behaviour.



Figure 6.183 Presents a human footprint without its heel, recorded at Panel OEF61/33.

c.1.2.Gender and Identities

The gender of human footprints has not been determined although the imprints come in varied dimensions and morphologies. The local San informants were of the opinion that men generally have longer, broader feet than women for any given stature. In our discussions, they stressed that male feet differ from female feet in a number of shape characteristics, particularly the arch, the lateral side of the foot and the ball of the foot.

c.2.Zoomorphic Representation: Animal spoors, figures and a handprints

Zoomorphic taxon represents animal spoors, figures and handprints. The faunal taxa predominate, with an excess of 364 depictions, representing 80% of the engravings repertoire (Table 6.24). The taxa therefore comprised of 344 (95.4%) animal spoors, representing a variety of individual species, predominantly large and small antelope spoors, as well as spoor tracks of mega fauna, i.e., elephant, rhino and zebra, reflecting the local faunal species found in the same environment today. In addition to animal spoors, detailed field data further recorded an additional 17 animal figures comprised of various species, including 5 giraffes, 5 rhinos, 2 duiker bucks, 1 oryx/gemsbok, 1 kudu, 1 springbok including a lizard 1, as well as 1 baboon handprint, all of which have been represented in the sample.

The class of animal figures that could not be identified ('indeterminate') is less frequent in the study, accounting for only to 3 elements. These incorporates all animal figures that have the basic anatomical parts (head, torso and limbs), allowing them to be included in the zoomorphs category, but whose biological identifications could not be established on account of inadequate anatomical references pertaining to the animals. The following table presents the summary of the findings.

Zoomorphs Taxa	Sum of Figures (n=364)	% of Figures
Spoors	344	95.4%
Giraffe	5	1.4%
Rhinoceros	5	1.4%
Duickerbuck	2	0.5%
Oryx	1	0.2%
Kudu	1	0.2%
Springbok	1	0.2%
Lizard	1	0.2%
Baboon Handprint	1	0.2%
Indeterminate Zoomorph	30	0.8%

Table 6.24 Summary of individual animal species represented in the engraving repertoire of Site OEF61

Panels showing animal figures and spoors are widely distributed across the site along both slopes. However, I observed a tendency to place animal figures (either 1 or 2) solely on their own panels without any association or their being juxtaposed with other animal figures or spoors in the site. For instance, animal figures were recorded at twelve engraved surfaces. About 9/12 of those panels constitute only animal figures without any association with either human footprints, i.e., panel OEF61/03, OEF61/07, OEF61/09, OEF61/19 and so forth (see Fig. 6.184).

While very few animal figures have been juxtaposition juxtaposed either in the panels showing human footprints or animal spoors (OEF61/41 and OEF61/44, see (Fig. 6.185). Those that have been juxtaposed with animal spoors are often placed at the lowest section of the panel, while the spoors (not matching animal figure) are placed at the top of the panel.



Figure 6.184 Some of the panels showing solely animal figures. Left image, Panel OEF61/03 while right image shows Panel OEF61/19.



Figure 6.185 Example of panels showing solely animal figures in juxtaposition to animal spoors at the bottom part of the panel. Left image, Panel OEF61/37 while right image is Panel OEF61/41.

Another observation in regard to the panels displaying animal figures is the fact that these panels do not appear together or in the same locality (cluster) in the site, but are found in different locations (often hidden and secluded) in the site, mostly on the northern slope. Furthermore, the boulders give the impression that they were chosen deliberately because they seem to have been placed on darker surfaces, producing little or no contrast and low visibility. Following the detailed summary of the animal species, individual species are presented in Table 6.24.

c.2.1.Spoors (344)

The dominance of animal spoors comes as no surprise since they are most widely represented depictions in the engravings in Omandumba (Fig. 6.186) and generally in Namibia. These remarkable depictions come in a variety of shapes and size and represent a range of animal species. The spoor depictions are very detailed, with individuals usually shown either singly, in pairs or in small groups consisting of 4 or in a large group with over 60 spoors. Most of them have been juxtaposed near each other but without contact. All the spoors appear complete, but we could not determine whether they represents represented individual animals or not as some do not match. Nonetheless, they reflect the range of local fauna found in the same environment today. In fact, some of the spoors of the same species have been seen at the two springs in the site itself. It is possible that the same animal specie were around where the artworks were produced.





About 95.3% of the spoors represent antelope species, i.e., duiker (*Cephalophinae*), klipspringer (*Preotragus Oreotragus*), springbok (*Antidorcas marsupials*), kudu (*Tragelaphus Stepsiceros*) and oryx/ gemsbok (*Oryx Gazella*) as shown in (Fig. 6.187 -6.191). Following

the antelope in quantity are large and powerful animals such as the zebra10), 2.9%, the rhino (3), 0.9%, the giraffe (2), 0.6%, and an elephant spoor (1), 0.3% (see Table. 6.24).



Figure 6.187 (A) The duiker buck, (B) duiker buck fresh spoor and (C) engraved duiker buck spoors at Panel OEF61/04. All spoors at 10cm scale.



Figure 6.188 (A) klipspringer, (B) klipspringer traced spoor and (C) engraved klipspringer spoors at Panel OEF61/16. All spoors at 10cm scale.



Figure 6.189 (A) springbok (B) springbok fresh spoor and (C) engraved springbok spoors at Panel OEF61/15. All spoors at 10cm scale.



Figure 6.190 (A) Kudu (B) kudu fresh spoor and (C) engraved kudu spoor at Panel OEF61/31. All spoors at 10cm scale.



Figure 6.191 (A) Oryx (B) Oryx fresh spoor and (C) engraved oryx spoor at panel OEF61/22. All spoors at 10cm scale



Figure 6.192 (A) mountain zebra (B) zebra fresh spoor and (C) engraved zebra spoor at Panel OEF61/01. All spoors at 10cm scale



Figure 6.193 (A) rhino (B) rhino fresh spoor and (C) engraved rhino spoor at Panel OEF61/11.



Figure 6.194 (A) giraffes (B) giraffe fresh spoor and (C) engraved giraffes spoors at Panel OEF61/06. All spoors at 10cm scale



Figure 6.195 (A) elephant (B) elephant fresh spoor and (C) engraved elephant spoor at Panel OEF61/25. All spoors at 10cm scale

c.2.2.Giraffe (5)

It is one of the common animals in rock art, especially in paintings of the Omandumba Farms, generally in Erongo and in Namibia at large. In fact, the giraffe has been identified as kind of a replacement of the eland in the southern African rock art. In the engraving repertoire, giraffes are recorded in five panels: OEF61/09 (2), OEF61/37 (1), OEF61/43 (1), and, lastly, at Panel OEF61/34 (1), as shown in figure 6.196.



Figure 6.196 Left, is a depiction of the largest giraffe in the site at Panel OEF61/37, right, are the depiction two slightly faded giraffes at Panel OEF61/09.

Like most of the panels containing animal figures, none of these panels are adjacent to each other. They have been distributed all over the site, with the majority found in the southern axis as opposed to the northern slope. Three of the giraffes are found in extreme proximity to the trail and the first spring in the site (OEF61/09 and OEF61/37), while the rest are found in the upper slope. Most of them have been placed on dark surfaces with reduced visibility but not in hidden surfaces. Some of them are depicted single singly (but in association with only other animal spoors) or in pairs (without any other associated animals). Their bodies generally differ in size, with the larger one measuring 76cmx60cm, while the smaller has the

dimensions of 10cmx17cm in size. Furthermore, they are shown with their tails extended and full outlined bodies rising elegantly in the air without their hooves.

c.2.3.Rhinoceros (5)

These large often-solitary herbivorous mammals represent 1.4% in the zoomorphs repertoire (Fig. 6.197). They have been recorded at four panels, namely, Panels OEF61/26 (2), OEF61/39 (1), OEF61/48 and OEF61/50. In the site, they are placed at different locations exclusively on the southern slope and always at the bottom of the slope. At two panels, they are depicted in juxtaposition and in association with a herd of other animal spoors such as the kudu, springbok and zebra. In one panel, a rhino is portrayed at its own panel walking in isolation, while in the last panel; it is shown superimposed over an oryx figure. Figure 6.194 below presents some of these figures. Overall, these mega fauna are always depicted in lateral perspective.



Figure 6.197 Left, is a depiction of the rhino at Panel OEF61/26. Bottom, is the depiction of a rhino (red) in a bicephalic scene with an oryx (yellow) and another indeterminate, superimposed animal figure (blue) at Panel OEF61/39

c.2.4.Oryx (1) and Springbok (1)

An oryx animal figure was also recorded at Panel OEF61/39 found in a bicephalic scene (sharing the same body but with two different heads) with a rhino and another indeterminate animal figure superimposed on a rhino (Fig. 6.198). See Panel OEF61/39 for full description. The springbok is also one of the least represented figures in the site and, generally, in engravings in Namibia. In the site inventory, a springbok figure was recorded at Panel OEF61/07 and placed on its own panel without any association with other figures, forms or spoors. Its engraved surface is also darkish; it has restricted visibility and is slightly hidden behind a couple of boulders. The figure is less stylized and less detailed, but its basic references (head, legs and body) have been presented (Fig. 6.198) below.



Figure 6.198 Left, is a depiction of an oryx at Panel OEF61/39, while the right image shows a faded figure of what has been established as a springbok at Panel OEF61/07

c.2.5.Lizard (1) and Baboon Handprint (1)

The engraving dataset also comprised one of the uncommon depictions in of Namibian rock art - a reptile figure depicting most likely a monitor lizard (*Varanusniloticus*), which was recorded at Panel OEF61/41. Its physical morphology is consistent with that of a reptile. At Twyfelfontein, two engraved reptiles depicting what is thought to be crocodiles were recorded at one of the panels (VAN HOEK 2002). The panel showing this figure is located at the lowest section of the boulder partially submerged in the riverbed.

The figure has been juxtaposed against another indeterminate spoor. A baboon handprint has also been accounted in the engraving repertoire at Panel OEF61/24 and placed among antelope spoors and some indeterminate spoors. The figure is not well defined, but its morphology point to baboon print as shown in Figure. 6.199.



Figure 6.199 Left image shows a depiction of a reptile at Panel OEF61/41, while the right image shows what is likely to be a baboon handprint pointed by a red arrow at Panel OEF61/24.

c.2.6.Abstract: dots, oval, linear and circle forms

The term 'abstract' describes a series of rock art elements that do not fit neatly in other categories and which display some degree of variability in their designs. In the repertoire of the rock engravings at our site, we recorded a total of 13 abstract figures representing one of the lowest percentages in our study, about 3% of all artwork at the site (Table. 6.25 and Fig. 6.200). These figures mainly dominated by the features of abstract signs namely, dots, oval, linear, circles – sometimes outlined circles in filled with small pecked marks inside with its cortex removed.

Panel No	No. Of Elements	Forms Depicte	d	Description
OEF61/02	3	Dots	3	Three individual peck marks in the form of dots immediately below the spoor figure measuring between 1cmx1cm.
OEF61/25	1	Lineal	1	One single deep pecked lineal figure on the right side of the panel in between two antelope spoors measuring 23cmx1cm.
OEF61/27	3	Lineal	3	Two lineal figures found on the panel. One form broken stripe of fine lines/hairlines of an undetermined figure- but appears slightly fresh. While the other is another is an undetermined pecked linear figure measuring 7cmxcm, and the shorter 4cmx5cm and one unidentified figures in a V-shaped form measuring 6cmx4cm.
OEF61/31	5	Circle Linear	2 2	One in filled circle measuring 5cmx4cm immediately next to the human footprint flanked by another indeterminate figure above it. There are also some of two linear figures located below and slightly on top of human footprint below the fracture fissure line.
OEF61/48	1	Oval	1	An outlined oval shaped abstract figure with its cortex intact is measuring 18cmx6cm with visual resemblance of an enclosure or a primate print.

 Table 6.25 Summary of the abstract forms from Site OEF61



Figure 6.200-Left image shows a depiction of three small peck marks (dots) beneath a spoor fat Panel OEF61/02. Bottom Image shows three lineal figures placed on top of all the figures at Panel OEF61/27.

c.2.7.Indeterminate Forms

The engraving repertoire has also taken into account the taxonomical class of "indeterminate" accounts for 47 form, representing 10%. It comprised of figures that completely lacks diagnostic features (animal, human or abstract form) required to determine their forms. The indeterminate forms have been juxtaposed against other figures on various panels showing largely animal spoors at several locations in the site, i.e., OEF61/08, 0EF61/23, OEF61/24, OEF61/32 and OEF61/40 among others. The following Figure 6.198 indicates some of the indeterminate forms under this category that were recorded in the engraving repertoire.



Figure 6.201 Top image shows some of the indeterminate figures at Panel OEF61/23, while the bottom image shows the indeterminate figure at Panel OEF61/08.

d. Techniques and styles of engraved figures at Site OEF61

Several rock art studies have allowed us to identify and to reconstruct the different techniques employed in the execution of rock engravings by prehistoric artists of Southern Africa (BUTZER et al., 1979; KI-ZERBO 1981; DOWSON 1992; LEWIS-WILLIAM 1997; OUZMAN 1992, 2007; KINAHAN 2004, 2006; CHIPPINDALE et al., 2014). In the Engraving repertoire, three engraving techniques have been employed in the execution of the engravings, namely, pecking (light and deep), scratching and polishing techniques.

Between the three identified methodologies, pecking is predominant predominates, accounting for 94% figures found at 42 panels in the site, of which 90% have been lightly pecked, followed by those that have been deeply pecked with 4%. In all these instances, each and every individual pecked mark differs both in size and depth, but both are rounded (Fig. 6.202).

Techniques	No. of Panels (n=50)	% of Panels	No. of Figures (n=458)	% of Figures
Light Pecking	38	76%	412	90%
Deep Pecking	4	8%	18	4%
Scratching	5	10%	10	5%
Polishing	3	6%	3	1%

Table 6.26 Presents the variables in technique analysis of engraved figures recorded at Site OEF61.

Furthermore, the pecked marks are generally finer with smaller and more controlled peck marks to define the subjects. These techniques are likely to have been achieved through the direct or indirect use of a crudely pointed lithic tool of flint, quartz, or with a hammer and punch combination by placing such tool element perpendicular to the rock surface. The light pecked engravings vary from a very simple or shallow peck mark in which the cortex of the rock is broken by many small blows to create lines and in-filled shapes of the figure. The deep pecking technique must likely be the result of continuous repetition and the successive use of the pecking action deep in the rock surface through indirect percussion perpendicular to the rock surface until the desired shape and depth of the shape was achieved.



Figure 6.202 Two types of pecking techniques recorded in the site. (A) Light pecked animal figure recorded at Panel OEF61/19. (B) These are the deep-pecked figures of a rhino and an antelope spoor at Panel OEF61/11.

Another technique under this category was recorded at 3 panels i.e. OEF61/20, OEF61/22 and OEF39 and which comprised of only 3 figures, 1%, that were firstly pecked, with visible peck

marks, and then smoothed 'polissoir' either by the artists or as a result of weathering, given the fact that both panels are located in the middle of the river course way (Fig. 6.203)These artworks are deep pecked but not very visible to the naked eye probably because of the very dark surfaces or backdrop of the engraved surfaces which does not reveal a light colour beneath.



Figure 6.203 An example of figures that have been pecked firstly and then smoothed resulting in a smooth engraved surfaces. Image to the left is an oryx spoor from Panel OEF61/22. Image to the right shows several antelope spoors at Panel OWF61/20.

The final technique employed in the production of rock engraving figures in site OEF61 is scratching. Figures under the scratching technique comprised of thinnest lines (linéaire) as figures used to define the subject. These were recorded at 5 panels, representing 10%, and comprising about 10 engraved figures, representing 10%. Panels hosting these figures are Panel OEF61/09, OEF61/26, OEF61/43, OEF61/47 and OEF61/48.

The figures under this category have been lightly outlined onto rock surfaces and appear to be very recent (Fig. 6.204). The scratching technique was likely achieved through a very sharp pointed stone because the basalts rocks are relatively hard. Engraved figures, therefore, contain multiple individual thin scratched lines that define the engraved subject. The scratched marks are very thin; fortunately, some produced little contrast beneath.



Figure 6.2014 Two rhino figures achieved through scratching technique. Left image recorded at Panel OEF61/48 while right image at OEF61/26.

Stylistically, various fine line styles in which depictions were produced exists within the site. These ranges from those that have been fully engraved, outlined and partially in filled, as well as those that have been outlined with their cortex not removed. The following Table 6.27 provides detailed summary of the variation in the method of depiction used.



Stylistic Analysis

Table 6.27 Summary of the stylistic analysis of the engraved depictions of site OEF61.

The fully engraved depictions include a total of 449 individual depictions consisting mainly of all animal spoors, some few animals, abstract forms, many indeterminate forms, as well as some human depictions. Depictions under this category were fully engraved with their cortex removed (Fig. 6.205). These were followed by the depictions that have been partially engraved, which account only for 2 animal figures recorded at Panel OEF61/19 and OEF23 in the entire site (see Fig. 6.206). Here, the artists have incorporate the natural background of the

rock surface to complete the figures and, in doing so, only certain distinguishable feature of the part of the animal 'deemed relevant' were drawn. In this case, the figure is seen interacting with natural features in the rock surfaces.



Figure 6.205 The fully engraved artworks (animal spoors) at Panel OEF61/04. All figures at 10cm scale.



Figure 6.206 Left shows a partially engraved animal figure at panel OEF61/19. The artists appear to have incorporated the natural background of the rock surface to complete the figure, which is seen interacting with its natural features.

Depictions that have been outlined and the partially infill are also very low, with a similar record of 2 animal figures recorded at panels OEF61/37 and OEF61/27 (Fig. 6.207). Artwork in this category was outlined then lightly in-filled with either shallow/deep pecking marks. In

some cases, the natural relief of the rock surfaces was utilized to accentuate some areas of depictions. Both pecked elements are moderately defined with some being poorly defined, while depictions that were entirely outlined without infill account for 5 figures in the entire site. They comprised mainly of two human, animal and indeterminate figures recorded at panel OEF61/30, 0EF61/03, OEF61/07, and OEF61/47, as shown in (Fig. 6.208). Stylistically, both techniques were used for human and animal spoors, but only the outline technique was used in animal figures and in a few human footprints.



Figure 6.207 Shows panels hosting figures that have been outlined and the partially in filled with shallow peck marks. Left image show an outline and partially in-filled giraffe figure (on its neck and head) at Panel OEF61/37. The right image show partially in-filled (head and ears) figure as at Panel OEF61/27. All figures at 10cm scale.



Figure 6.208 Shows some of the panels hosting outlined figures without in fills. Left is Panel OEF61/30 with two outlined human figures. Middle image show an outlined oval shaped figure at Panel PEF61/47, while right image show one of the outlined animal figure at panel OEF61/07

e.Superimposition

In the engraving repertoire, overlapping elements are not frequent. The only case that might qualify for superimpositions in the engraving site is that of animals over other animals recorded at Panel OEF61/39. Here, about two (or even three) animal figures – rhino, oryx and one indeterminate animal figure appear to have been superimposed on each other, while the rhino and oryx are sharing the same body but with two different heads also called 'bicephalic' (see Fig. 6.209 -6.211).



Figure 6.209 Left image shows the panel OEF61/39 displaying overlapping figures. Right image shows an unretouched original figure

The oryx part is clearly distinguished by its striking physical morphology: its elaborated long sharp horns (10cm), narrow, ringed and curved spine, hind and frontal legs and its thick neck and front-nasal area (the artist again used the natural feature of the rock to complete the head), while the rhino is distinguished by its long horns and the shape of its mouth. The animal's heads are opposite each other with their back adjoined together, but the rhino body serves as a "frame" for the Oryx's body and it's not clear which animal was engraved first or which of two overlapping figures precedes the other because the peck marks appears comparable in size and shape.

The depth of the peck marks of both animals appears to be patinated or weathered. The figures are positioned in the lower section of the panel –with the oryx to the left facing east – the site exit, while the rhino to the right facing west- the entrance of the site. With the landscape enquiry as a backdrop of this study, I observed that the superimposition at this

particular panel was not as a result of lack of space on the panel because the panel has enough room to host many figures. The placement is rather intentional.



Figure 6.210 Left image shows the reconstruction of Panel OEF61/39 if other animals used rhino's (black) body. This is the reconstruction of superimposition phases in the figures.



Figure 6.211-Left image shows the reconstruction of Panel OEF61/39 if other animals used the Oryx's (black) body.

f.Conservation Variables

The conservation analysis of the current condition and the potential threats affecting the rock art site in the study areas (OEF and OWF) are presented in Section A of the painting analysis, which is inclusive of the engraving site.

In relation to the current condition of the engravings, it is important to mention that all the panels in the study arc exposed to the sunlight all day. Most of the engravings were not visible at certain times of the day because we could only record the site from 11am - 15pm as the site is hosts two important springs used by game animals in the morning and late afternoon. Only one panel (OEF49) is susceptible to damage by people (or animals) walking on the artworks since it lies directly in the river course. Other anthropic actions identified in the site were the recently engraved (scratched) graffiti on panel OEF61/26 (Fig. 6.212) as well as fresh inscriptions (initials and date of visit at the site most likely by tourists (Fig. 6.213).

Therefore, a management and conservation plan for the farms' rock art is a priority case because they are already open to tourists.



Figure 6.212 Fresh graffiti in the form of scratching recorded at Panel OEF61/26.



Figure 6.213 Left image shows graffiti in form of inscriptions in the site. These graffiti's were recorded on the southern axis of the site at Panel OEF 26 and near panel OEF 30.

g.Surface Archaeological Collection

Surface archaeological analysis investigated if the engraving site was used for dwelling by means of surface archaeological artefacts in order to associate such finds with the art. However, unlike large quantities of surface archaeological collection recorded at many painting sites in the study areas, only one surface artefact in the form of a potsherd was found inside one of the boulders immediately above Panel OEF61/37 near the first spring (see Fig. 6.214). However, its direct association with the rock art cannot be firmly established. It is not

certain whether the potsherd is a collection from the same people who made the rock engravings or whether it was a later artefact which could have been added at a later stage by another group that could have used the site, especially given the fact that it is found in proximity to the spring. The absence of surface archaeological finds generally was not surprising given the fact that engravings in Namibia are usually found in open-air locations where human habitation would have not been possible since they are mostly placed on vertical surfaces with no useful open space, unlike the painting sites that offer shelter. If there were artefacts in the site, they were likely carried away by the river due to the topography of the site and the fact that it floods sometimes after heavy rains; it is possible that traces of use of the site for dwelling could have been washed away. Therefore, the absence of contextual archaeological finds in the site makes it impossible to associate surface finds with the art.



Figure 6.214 Presents the potsherd recovered immediately above the first spring in the site near Panel OEF61/37.

h.Summary of morphological Analyses

The dataset for rock engravings in the Omandumba East Farm recorded a total of 50 engraved panels containing an excess of 548 individual rock art elements. All figures were identified, counted and recorded at each panel in an effort to understand their density and diversity. The number of figures per panel ranges from a single image to a maximum number of 72 with the average number of figures per panel standing at 8.9. The highest density of figures therefore (30 - 72) figures per panel was recorded at 67%. Medium density panels (10-29 figures) were less common in the site, representing only 10%, while the lowest number of figures per panel was recorded at 23% % of the panel in the site.

The engraving in Site OEF61 comprises four categories of figures, which together represented a total of 548 individual engraved figures. The highest frequency of 80% was recorded among the zoomorphs depictions (animal spoors - that depict footprints of different animals, as well as animal figures). Figures that could not be easily determined were lumped together under the category 'indeterminate' and are the second most represented, accounting for 10% of the total elements. The indeterminate category consists of figures that completely lack definite and diagnostic features. Anthropomorphic depictions are also relatively well presented in the engraving repertoire. They comprised mainly of human footprints of various shapes, sizes, morphology and a varied number of toes that account for 7%. The least frequent, that of 3% was recorded among the abstract forms.

The abstract art is mainly dominated by abstract signs in the form of dots (very small hemispherical hollows pecked marks with extremely shallow depths), oval and some linear forms most of which have been juxtaposed with some figures. Patterns have been observed in the data that suggest that the placement of engraved artworks was not randomly done. One example is the placing of animal figures and spoors on the same panel with human footprints engravings without superimposition (juxtaposition). At most panels where human footprints were placed on the same panel with animal spoors the footprints are always placed (adjacent) to the animal spoors or animal at the same location (level) with no contact.

The techniques analysis indicates three different techniques used in the production of engravings. These are pecking (light and deep) with finer and very small and controlled pecked marks, scratching (with extremely thin lines) and polishing. Light pecked figures predominate, 90%, found at 76% of the panels in the site. These were followed by figures that
have been produced through scratching technique, accounting for 5% and found at 10% of the panels in the site, while those that have been deeply pecked account for 4% of figures, registered at 8% of the panels. The least used technique was recorded among the figures (1%) that have been produced through pecking and polishing found at 6% of the panels in the entire site. The stylistic analysis indicated that 449 artworks have been fully engraved, predominantly animal spoors, a few animals, abstract forms, many indeterminate forms, as well as some human depictions. These were followed by the artworks that have been outlined without in filled, accounting for (5) depictions observed among the few human footprints, some abstract figures and only animal figures. Depictions that have been partially engraved and those that have been outlined first and then partially engraved account for (4) figures in the site.

Superimposition is less frequent in site, appearing only at one panel (OEF61/39) where an oryx, rhino and one indeterminate animal appeared in a bicephalic scene. The placement was intentional at this specific panel because the panel offers enough room to accommodate other figures. The animals also appear to be sharing the same body (oryx and rhino). There are many cases in the site where many figures found on the same panel co-exist with other figures, yet they have not been superimposed on each other; instead they are simply adjacent to each other without contact on the same panel.

With regards to surface archaeological collections, only one surface artefact in form of a potsherd was found inside one of the boulder above Panel OEF61/37 near the first spring. However, such a find could not be dated by associated with the rock art since it is not established whether such artefact is from the original authors or from the modern period added at a later stage by another group that could have used the site. The site setting, however, suggests that it could have been unsuitable for human habitation since it does not offer any form of shelter for people.



6.3.SECTION C: PIGMENT ANALYSES

Section C presents the results of the pigment analysis carried from three different contexts. The objectives of the analyses were carried out to answer research questions about the origin and provenience of the coloured materials used in the production of rock paintings and about their chronological context. The geographic origin of the coloured materials was investigated through establishing the chemical and mineralogical compositions of the pigments. The potentiality for direct dating was assessed also through the characterization of the nature of the pigment. Should they contain organic materials, such possibility provides avenue for direct carbon dating.

6.3.1.Significance of pigment analyses in the study

In order to complete archaeological contextual information of the rock art sites in our study, various samples of possible coloured materials used to produce pigments were extracted from three different contexts described in Chapter 5, on which numerous analytical methods were performed in characterising pigments. This was crucial in to provide detailed information on the origin of the materials used in the production of paintings within our study areas.

These techniques include: microscopic and macroscopic observations, the Infrared Spectroscopy Fourier transform (FTIR) for the analysis of the chemical bonds present in the various samples and X-ray fluorescence spectrometry for the analysis of the chemical elements present in the materials. These analyses were carried out in different laboratories in Paris namely: the Molecular and Structural Archaeology Laboratory (LAMS - UMR 8220) for the X-ray fluorescence (XRF) and the DRX for noninvasively on non-prepared samples and the Museum National d'Histoire Naturelle for XRD and FTIR. The results of those recovered from Leopard Cave or site OWF42 as well as geological stones collected in Brandberg and Burnt Mountains have been studied and analyzed by a Master's student, Océane Lapauze (LAPAUZE 2016) in the laboratory Histoire Naturelle de l'Homme Préhistorique (HNHP – UMR 7194) at the Musée de l'Homme département of the Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle of Paris.

In addition, *in situ* X-Ray Fluorescence analyses were also performed at 8 paintings sites in Erongo Mountains under the direction of Matthieu Lebon and Guilhem Mauran (MAURAN 2016) from the Musée de l'Homme département of the Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle of Paris. Of the 8 analysed sites, six of these are from Omandumba Farm; one site is from farm Ai Aiba/Anibib opposite Omandumba while the other one site is from Tubusis farm, south west of Omandumba. The sites were selected as a result of their diversity of colours they present. Of the particular interest were figures painted in black, red and white. Other interests were drawn based on the archaeological significance of the sites in the region. The results of these analyses consequently provided a broad overview of the paintings' diversity in the study. Below are the results.

6.3.2.Results

a.Macroscopic and microscopic observations

The following macroscopic and microscopic observations were made on the archaeological coloured materials recovered from the stratigraphic squares (P7, O7, P8 and O8) of Leopard Cave excavated during the 2015 archaeological mission (Fig. 6.215). These were categorized into 13 groups based on their visual texture and visible mineralogy with only minor consideration of their colours, as it could result from their alteration.

However, coloured materials that could not be linked to any other major group were lumped in a specific group (group 8). Among this group, one piece in particular presented some very specific features as one of its faces was processed, probably to produce a coloured powder that could have been used as a pigment (Fig. 6.216). Other archaeological materials with no specific characteristic or any colouring ability were lumped into an indeterminate group. All the results of the analysis are discussed in details in master thesis of Océane Lapauze, (LAPAUZE 2016).



Figure 6.215 Shows the stratigraphic distribution of the number of archaeological pieces excavated in the 4 squares 2015, (credits: PLEURDEAU 2016:33).



Figure 6.216 presents various groups of coloured material excavated at Leopard Cave site. Photo credits: LAPAUZE 2016: 56-61).

- Group 1 element are characterised by brick-orange colour (Fig. 6.216). They are porous in nature and composed of coarse-grained particles visible to the naked eye. Quartz and mica-like's crystals are observable as inclusions into the coarse-grained matrix. The cutting of the sample P7 234 showed that the black inclusions present in the surface of the samples correspond to the rock with no oxidation. These samples appear to be derived from detritus sedimentary rocks or of volcanic dyke.
- Group 2 samples are black to very dark color whose surface is smooth and shiny with metal aspect. Their particles are not physically visible on the surface due to its hardness. Few types of quartz have been observed in some samples. The elements present in this group appear to be related an accumulation of iron oxides, which is very rich in hematite's –iron oxide (more than 50%), found in soils of Southern Africa (DAYET 2012) and along the chain Damara (BREITKOPF1988) in Namibia.
- Group 4 elements are few but of peculiar texture. They have friable appearance with fine grains' size. The silty clay composing the large part of their matrix host inclusions of numerous micas and little quartz.
- Group 5 samples have a foliated structure with on certain parts alternation of black and red colours. Mineralogically, only a few crystals of quartz and micas have been observed

in these samples. This group is the most important in terms of the number of samples, however its strong alteration makes it very difficult to describe.

- Group 7 samples form part of small purplish spheres with a smooth appearance.
 Numerous micas flakes are present in a fine-grained matrix. The color of these samples is a one of their specific characteristic, as it was not seen in any other groups.
- Group 9: The granulometry of elements in this group is very fine with very few minerals in inclusions (only a few micas). The alteration surface colour is orange rust.
- Group 8: This set brings together the elements with colouring abilities with or without traces' process. The elements of this group are not comparable to any group in particular hence, they will only be considered at a later stage of the analysis. However, within this group, one particular sample stands out, sample O8b Z=206-215 (Fig. 6.216 Group 8), containing evidence of surface use by men. The sample consists of a central area of color yellow coated with a layer of red color. The two parts are identical in all respects (texture and the particle size), with differences observed only in terms of rock color.
- Group 11 samples have shades of red and black. They have coarse particle size and present some quartz minerals with irregular surfaces.
- Group 12 rocks are very dark and have an irregular surface, coated with little small inclusive quartz. The structure of these samples resembles that of volcanic bombs.

Group	Samples No.	Colour	FTIR results					
Archaeological C	ontext: Leopard cave							
Group 1	P7 234	Orange	Anorthite					
Group 2	O8a t5 (Z=225-230)	Black /Dark	Haematite + Quartz					
Group 4	P7c t7 (Z=215-220)	Red/White	Quartz + Microcline + Micas					
	P7 135	Red	Quartz + Micas + Feldspar + Anorthite					
Group 5	O8a t4 (Z=195-200)	Black /Red	Haematite + Quartz + Albite					
Group 7	P7b Z=195-200	Purplish	Haematite + Quartz					
	P7c t8 (Z=190-195)	Purplish	Haematite + Quartz + Kaolinite					
Group 11	P7c t3 (Z=205-210)	Black /Red	Haematite + Quartz + Goethite					
Group 12	O7b t1 (Z=230-235)	Black	Haematite + Quartz					
Geological Conte	xt							
Burnt M /Cr	1	Red	Haematite + Quartz + Feldspar + Kaolinite					
Burnt M/Cr	2	Unknown	Haematite + Quartz + Feldspar + Kaolinite					
Brandberg	1	Mica/Quartzite	Mica + Quartz + Kaolinite					
Brandberg	2	Mica/Quartzite	Mica + Quartz					
Brandberg	3	Red	Haematite + Quartz + Kaolinite					
Painting Sites: Su	urface Collection							
Erongo: Site OWF	F56 (EW) 1	Red	Haematite + Quartz + Kaolinite					
Geological Sample	e X3	Quartzite	Haematite + Quartz + Kaolinite					
Erongo: Site OWF39 (FT) 1		Red	Haematite + Goethite + Kaolinite					
			Lepidocrocite + Montmorillonite					

b.Fourier Transforms Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) results

Table 6.28 Mineral composition present in the samples through Fourier Transforms Infrared spectroscopy(FTIR) analysis

The FTIR treatment results (Table 6.28) highlights various mineral phases present in the samples. The majority of the archaeological and geological rock samples contains fractions of hematite. The presence of goethite and lepidocrocite, which are also form of iron oxides, within the matrix in respectively two and one element is of higher interest. The lepidocrocite is only present in a single geological sample (Site OWF56) for which FTIR identified both hematite and goethite phases. Goethite is present in another sample, one archaeological sample of Group 11 (p7c t3). Quartz on the other hand is only absent in two samples of the 17 analyzed. This mineral phase is easily recognizable as a result of its characteristic peak's duplication at 796 cm-1 and 777 cm-1.

Moreover, almost half of the sample contains clays, however, the FTIR treatment identification method does not go beyond the kaolinite family. Indeed, kaolinite and montmorillonite clays have common peaks. Therefore, although it is possible to observe the montmorillonite when it is not in the presence of other clays of this family thanks to its peak at 3620 cm-1, it is difficult to decide on its presence when it is mixed with other clays of the kaolinite family.Kaolinite and other mineral phases conceal the peaks of the montmorillonite

that could allow easier identification.Other minerals such as micas, alkaline and potassic feldspar are also present in few samples. Some feldspars were detected on the mineral scale, however according to the phases present in the sample, identification of the feldspars failed. The same problem arises for micas elements, which it has not been possible to discriminate between biotite and muscovite. To remedy this, we compared the results obtained with those derived from the DRX on powders.

Group	Samples No.	Colour	XRD results					
	~							
Archaeological	Context: Leopard cave							
Group 1	O8b Z=205-215	Orange	Haematite + Quartz+ Micas+ Feldspars+ Illite					
	O8 14	Orange	Haematite + Quartz+ Feldspars					
	P7 234	Quartzite	Micas+ Feldspars+ Amphibole					
Group 2	O8a t5 (Z=225-230)	Black	Haematite + Quartz					
Group 4	P7c t7 (Z=215-220)	Mica/Quartzite	Quartz +Micas + Feldspars					
	P7 135	Mica + Quartzite	Micas + Feldspar + Sepiolite					
Group 5	O8b Z=205-215	Black /Red	Haematite + Quartz + Feldspars + Amphibole					
	O8a t4 (Z=195-200)	Black /Red	Haematite + Quartz + Feldspars					
Group 7	P7b Z=195-200	Purplish	Haematite + Magnetite +Quartz					
	P7c t8 (Z=190-195)	Purplish	Haematite + Quartz+Micas+ Dickite					
Group 9	O7a Z=215-220	Orange	Haematite +Quartz+Micas+ Illite					
Group 11	P7c t3 (Z=205-210)	Black /Red	Haematite + Quartz +Geothite+Micas+Feldspar					
Group 12	O8a Z=195-200	Black	Feldspar + Quartz					
	P7c Z=190-195	Black	Haematite+ Quartz +Feldspars+ Illite					
	O7b t1 (Z=230-235)	Black	Haematite + Quartz+Micas+ Illite					
Group 13	O7c Z=230-235	Dark/Grey	Haematite+ Illite+ Anatase					
Geological Con	text							
Burnt M (Cr)	1	Red	Haematite + Quartz + Feldspar + Kaolinite					
Burnt M (Cr)	2	Unknown	Haematite + Quartz + Feldspar + Kaolinite					
Brandberg	andberg 1		Mica + Quartzite + Kaolinite + Talc + Dickite					
Brandberg	2	Mica/QuartziteM	ica + Quartzite +Kaolinite+ Norsethite					
Brandberg	3	Red	Haematite+Quartz + Kaolinite+ Rutile					
Painting Sites: S	Surface Collection							
Erongo: Site OW	VF56 (EW) 1	Red	Haematite+Quartz+ Kaolinite+ Dickite					
Geological Sam	ole X3	Quartzite	Haematite+Quartz+ Dickite					
Erongo: Site OWF39 (FT) 1		Red	Haematite+ Lepidocrocite+ Kaolinite+					
			Montmorillonite + Goethite					

c. X-ray Powder Diffraction (XRD) results

Table 6.29 The results obtained through X-ray Powder Diffraction (XRD) analysis.

The X-ray Powder Diffraction (XRD) results (Table 6.29) established various mineral phases, which were not detected with the FTIR analysis. The results confirmed hematite, an iron oxide, to be the predominant phase in the various samples. As hematite is the stables iron oxide phase, its predominance in the distinct samples is therefore coherent. However, it is

associated with magnetite in a sample of the Group 7, (p7b Z=195 - 200), to goethite in two and to lepidocrocite in one. Goethite was spotted in namely the Archaeological Survey of Group 11 (p7c t3) and the geological (Site OWF56). This last sample was also the only one bearing some lepidocrocite. Hematite, goethite and lepidocrocite are three distinct iron-oxides phases largely known for their colouring strength. They correspond to various alterations' states of iron core, and are all naturally found in association from one to another. The results also indicates a single archaeological sample: group 7, p7b Z=195 - 200 to contain magnetite, which in addition to others is also an important iron oxide mineral. Among the most common mineral phases, three are of interest since XRD allowed more precision in their identification than what had been done thanks to FTIR analyses: clays, feldspars and micas. Muscovite, the most common white potassic mica, largely predominates in the samples analysed, only one sample appeared to bear some biotite, common dark potassic mica.

As for the feldspars, XRD experiments lead to the detection and identification of microcline potassic alkaline feldspar –, Anorthite – a group of plagioclase feldspars rich in calcium – and albite – a group of plagioclase feldspars rich in sodium. Identification Anorthite and albite can help differentiate rocks and understand some of their geological history. However, for three samples it was not possible to proceed to the identification of the feldspar to higher level than their family: alkaline, calcic or potassic. Hornblende is present in a single sample of the Group 1, P7 234, whose mineralogical nature suggests a volcanic rock. As a matter of fact, hornblende mineral is part of the amphiboles' family, common in the magmatic rocks such as granites. In addition, it is also originated from the constitutive granite of the massif of the Erongo.

As for the clay fractions, the X-ray Powder Diffraction (XRD) analysis has helped to detect the presence of dickite in 4 samples, occasionally manifested alongside with kaolinite, which belong to the same kaolinites family. Sepiolite particular clay – is only found in one sample. Within the samples, quartz is only absent from only three of them. It is the most predominant and consistent mineral, in addition to Haematite present in the majority of the samples. Quartz is however not the most discriminant mineral considered in the framework of a study of provenance given that it enters in the composition of most of the rocks.Talc minerals were only detected in one of geological sample at Brandberg 1. Three samples of this deposit have been analyzed and only one manifested such element. The norséthite composition is another element registered single in the sample from the same deposit of Brandberg 2. This mineral is a barium carbonate and belongs to the group of the dolomite. It is considered rare in the rocks but may be present in metamorphic context (MROSE et al., 1961). The rutile element is also present in the sample of Brandberg 3 and is a titanium dioxide, which cans either, be found as rutile or anatase.

1.X-ray Fluorescence (XRF) results

E	chantillons	Si	Р	S	Cl	K	Ca	Ti	V	Cr	Mn	Fe	Ba	Total
Groupe 1	P7 104	20,00%	-	0,20%	0,60%	0,25%	0,28%	0,14%	-	0,09%	0,32%	26,00%	0,02%	47,90%
	P7 234	54,00%	0,22%	0,13%	0,46%	2,20%	13,00%	2,90%	-	0,11%	0,95%	44,00%	0,22%	118,19%
	O8 14	76,00%	0,84%	0,55%	0,61%	6,19%	4,33%	0,53%	0,03%	0,01%	0,95%	39,00%	0,26%	129,30%
	O8b Z=205-215	61,00%	0,55%	0,27%	1,12%	6,61%	2,68%	2,97%	0,12%	0,21%	0,48%	29,00%	0,26%	105,27%
Groupe 2	O8 15	13,00%	-	0,01%	0,08%	1,00%	4,00%	0,43%		0,03%	0,11%	45,00%	0,04%	63,70%
	O7a Z=215-220	96,00%	0,04%	0,11%	0,21%	6,64%	0,29%	1,44%	0,02%	0,01%	0,18%	17,00%	0,25%	122,19%
	P8a Z=210-215	12,00%	0,84%	0,20%	0,16%	0,50%	0,71%	0,13%	0,01%	0,04%	0,07%	81,00%	0,06%	95,72%
Groupe 4	P7 135	45,00%	-	0,13%	0,44%	9,60%	6,40%	1,12%	-	0,03%	0,12%	13,00%	0,12%	75,96%
	O7a Z=220-225	12,00%	-	0,01%	0,08%	1,00%	2,00%	0,03%	-	0,01%	0,01%	58,00%	0,01%	73,14%
	P7 82	68,00%	-	0,07%	0,04%	1,56%	1,71%	0,92%	-	0,06%	0,08%	14,00%	0,11%	86,55%
Groupe 5	P7 333	38,00%	0,43%	0,03%	0,48%	0,39%	0,28%	0,16%	0,01%	0,05%	0,12%	93,00%	0,01%	132,96%
	O8b Z=205-215	12,00%	1,12%	0,49%	0,45%	1,56%	0,67%	0,36%	0,03%	0,05%	0,14%	86,00%	0,04%	102,91%
	O8b Z=205-215 (2)	111,00%	0,24%	0,23%	0,51%	16,00%	1,40%	2,36%	0,03%	0,01%	0,20%	18,00%	0,57%	150,55%
Groupe 7	O7d Z=206-210	109,00%		1,86%	1,12%	3,73%	24,00%	0,53%		0,01%	0,25%	13,00%	0,04%	153,54%
Groupe /	P7c t8	23,00%	0,96%	0,31%	0,61%	1,44%	2,65%	0,15%	0,02%	0,02%	0,16%	58,00%	0,06%	87,38%
Groupe 9	O7a Z=215-220	79,00%	0,52%	0,20%	1,53%	12,00%	2,85%	3,10%	-	0,01%	0,26%	27,00%	0,58%	127,05%
Groupe 11	P7c Z=200-205	6,00%	0,34%	0,19%	0,62%	1,84%	0,57%	0,28%	-	0,06%	0,12%	70,00%	0,03%	80,05%
Gloupe II	P7c t3	67,00%	0,06%	0,13%	0,54%	0,82%	26,00%	0,12%	0,01%	0,02%	0,52%	39,00%	0,02%	134,24%
Groupe 12	O8a Z=195-200	93,00%	-	4,41%	0,20%	19,00%	6,22%	0,16%	-	0,00%	0,72%	12,00%	0,18%	135,89%
Groupe 12	P7c Z=190-195	131,00%	0,50%	0,02%	0,55%	10,00%	0,73%	0,41%	0,02%	0,01%	0,12%	20,00%	0,13%	163,49%
Groupe 13	O7a	113,00%	0,45%	0,27%	0,16%	1,19%	0,65%	0,51%	0,03%	0,01%	0,06%	17,00%	0,02%	133,35%
Gloupe 15	O7c Z=230-235	57,00%	0,22%	0,04%	1,07%	5,31%	1,53%	6,84%	0,17%	0,05%	0,25%	56,00%	0,28%	128,76%
Eléments Importants	O8b Z=205-215 (Point Jaune)	39,00%	0,01%	0,01%	0,53%	2,68%	1,23%	1,62%	0,07%	0,02%	0,04%	25,00%	0,17%	70,38%
	O8b Z=205-215 (Point Rouge)	14,00%	0,31%	0,27%	0,68%	0,72%	0,82%	1,10%	0,09%	0,04%	0,05%	57,00%	0,12%	75,20%
Géologiques	Brandberg 1	65,00%	0,30%	0,02%	0,07%	0,73%	0,25%	2,50%	-	0,04%	0,01%	21,00%	0,26%	90,18%
	Brandberg 2	75,00%	0,28%	0,06%	0,12%	2,93%	1,65%	2,10%	-	0,04%	0,06%	14,00%	0,37%	96,61%
	Brandberg 3	43,00%	1,02%	0,11%	0,09%	0,23%	0,92%	1,00%	-	0,05%	0,07%	61,00%	0,12%	107,61%
	Site OWF56 (EW)	6,75%	0,77%	0,30%	0,37%	0,15%	3,09%	0,07%	0,01%	0,01%	1,69%	64,00%	0,89%	78,10%
	Site OWF39 (FT)	11,00%	0,88%	0,47%	0,15%	0,07%	0,37%	0,13%	0,01%	0,03%	2,57%	80,00%	0,06%	95,74%
	X3	5,37%	0,63%	0,29%	0,22%	0,16%	0,21%	0,17%	-	0,03%	0,25%	73,00%	0,68%	81,01%
	Burnt Mountain 1	8,20%	0,87%	0,38%	0,56%	0,19%	0,79%	0,21%	-	0,05%	1,45%	92,00%	0,01%	104,71%
	Burnt Mountain 2	46,00%	0,28%	0,34%	0,22%	0,77%	0,73%	1,16%	0,04%	0,04%	0,20%	47,00%	0,34%	97,12%

Table 6.30 The results of X-ray Florescence (XRF), after (O. LAPAUZE

The XRF results reflected in (Table 6.30) above indicate the prevalence of silicon in every sample, with sometimes-incompatible rates (> 100%). Similarly, iron is also a major element with substantial amounts in most of samples analyzed. Their occurrence according to LAPAUZE (2016) is consistent with the presence of quartz and iron oxides mineral phases. She further stressed that the XRF results mainly used to discriminate some mineral phases in DRX analysis based on the elements contained in the samples, whilst considering the relativity of the results. This concerns especially the analysis of 8 elements namely the: phosphorus, sulphur, chlorine, potassium, calcium, titanium and manganese.

e.In situ analyses preliminary results: nature of the pigments used

According to Guilhem Mauran (MAURAN 2016), the analyses performed at various painting sites revealed existence corresponding trends with minor variances. These came as a result of sites' substrates variation. There is a need for further quantitative treatments of the spectra collected to understand the variations. The following paragraphs sum up the general trends that seemed to appear from the *in situ* measurements. Only in some minor cases, due to very specific features, are the sites namely distinguished. The analyses performed on the black paintings at Black Gnu Wall site revealed the absence of manganese (Mn) in the pigments' layers. Consequently, the black used were not manganese oxides or hydroxyl-oxides. In most cases, the spectra did not show any differences between the spectra collected from the black layer's analysis and from the substrate, (Fig. 6.217) characteristic of charcoal based paintings at the Black Gnu Wall/OWF2016.



Figure 6.217 Analysis of the black pigments used to realize the black gnu figure of BGW site, made of charcoal. In the upper right corner: colour-enhanced picture of the gnu representation. (After, MAURAN 2016:13).

The black paintings of the Elephant Wall/site OWF56 site showed peculiar features. The intensity of the iron peaks was higher from the pictorial layer than from the substrate, (Fig. 6.218). Both two black figures (elands) analysed in this site were performed after a red elephant figure, it might be due to iron traces spread over the substrate by water leaking. Raman analyses performed on samples collected in 2015, revealed the presence of both hematite and carbon, sustaining the previous hypothesis or the use of a mixture of the two as a blackish pigment. Micro-observations would provide more indications on the mixture of the carbon and haematite phases, allowing differentiation between the two previous hypotheses.



Figure 6.218 Analysis of the black pigments used to realize the equids figures, containing charcoal and hematite. In the upper right corner: the area of the two black equids and the red elephant, (after, MAURAN 2016:14).

Among the very specific features of the Ghost Cave/site OEF60 was the presence of dark brown figures, appearing almost black at first glimpse. The XRF analyses presented few differences with the substrate's spectrum, (Fig. 6.216), with predominantly higher amount of iron in the pictorial layer. Although great care was exercised to analyse an area clear of any other pigment, as it can be seen in (Fig. 6.219), the anthropomorphic has been covered by a red figure. Therefore, it is thought that the spectrum collected also presented some of the element of the later red pigment, despite the care of only analysing the dark hue. As the hue of the dark representation is not black though rather dark brown, it is believed that the pigment used 15 might have incorporated some scarce amount of iron oxide together with charcoal or soot. Further analyses should confirm this last hypothesis.



Figure 6.219 Analysis of the dark brown anthropomorphic representation of Ghost Cave site, made of charcoal and iron oxide. In the upper right corner: close view of the dark brown anthropomorphic figure, (after, MAURAN 2016:15).

White pigments were also analysed on the ostrich figure at the site. In addition to this figure's analysis, white alteration that developed around the figure was also analysed. The qualitative analyses performed on the site showed minor distinctions between the alteration and pigment's layers, (Fig. 6.220). Consequently, the analyses did not lead to proper identification of the pigment composing the pictorial layer. Instead, it provided evidence of a structure made of the superposition of a wall alteration and a pigment layer. The superposed layers contain a calcium carbonate, e.g. eggshell (CaCO3), a calcium sulphate, e.g. gypsum (CaSO4), and possibly a calcium phosphate, e.g. apatite (Ca5(PO4)3(OH,Cl,F)). Further Infrared analyses of micro samples will confirm this theory.



Figure 6.220 XRF in situ results of the white pigments and alteration of site OEF60. In the upper right corner: close view of the ostrich figure from which the white pigment spectrum was collected. (After, MAURAN 2016).

As for the reds pigments analysed at site Elephant Wall, Leopard Cave, Fackelträgger shelter and at Ghost Cave contained iron corresponding to iron oxide based pigments. The various amounts of silicon, aluminium and potassium detected could also be characteristic of clays. To confirm this hypothesis, further treatments of the spectra collected are required to proceed to a full quantitative analysis.

Of a particular interest from the preliminary results of the *in situ* experiments is the fact that darker hues of red corresponded to higher amounts of iron, (Fig. 6.221). This could be either due a difference of thickness of the pictorial layers or to the composition of the pigments used containing already initially various amounts of iron. The thickness of the pigments layer is of crucial importance when carrying out *in situ* analyses. This is because most paintings in Omandumba has only thin pictorial layer which prevents the *in situ* analyses from being effective. Such analyses lead to analysing multiple testing of the pigments requires more treatment of the spectra collected and further analyses to confirm their identification.



Figure 6.221 the result of two distinct red hues at Fackelträgger shelter/ site OWF39b, (after, MAURAN 2016:17).

f.Discussions of the pigment analysis results

f.1.Advantages and limitations of the different techniques used

Different microscopy techniques used in analyses have many benefits and some limitations, hence the need to carry out measurements with different methods on the same samples in order to make comparisons and valid interpretations. The use of XRD analysis for example, is non-invasive and allowed direct analyses on the untreated blocks (samples). Samples from Leopard Cave pigmented blocks had irregular surfaces, due to their coarse-grained granulometry, making the µ-XRD difficult to analyse. This is why, in addition to those already analyzed by DRX (geological and some archaeological), they were powdered and then analyzed to compare the results obtained by other two methods (FTIR and XRF) analyses. The archaeological samples (Group 1, Group 4 and Group 5) whose mineral phases could not be determined were uncertain on the Diffractogram through the μ -XRD analysis. This is because the µ-XRD flat imaging did not provide well-defined rings. In a normal circumstance, the results are supposed to provide clear uniform rings, as the samples analysed presented a large heterogeneity coupled with direction issue of the mineral phases of each sample, the imaging plates presented heterogeneous and discontinuous rings. The prime example of such results' bias has been observed among the samples from Group 12: O8a Z =195-200 (Fig. 6.222) below.



Figure 6.222 Imaging plate of the sample Group 12 08a Z = 195-200. (After, LAPAUZE 2016:70)

The Diffractogram obtained from this sample were not exploitable to determine their mineral phase, due to its coarse-grained irregular surface and its nature. The Fit2D software converting the imaging plate into a spectrum uses the pixels' concentration on a ring to produce the position and intensity of a diffraction peak. The higher the concentration, the higher intense the peak is. And if these peaks do not have well-defined rings, the results can

be misinterpreted or inconclusive. The imaging plate above was generated from the second phase of samples from the X-ray Diffractometry. The diffraction hence did not give well-defined rings. They simply formed a dense and broad points distributed along the rings and which cover part of the adjacent ones. According to the Fit2D software used, the positions of grey to dark shades indicates the low intensity of the peaks which is below the concentration of the pixels required on the ring hence resulting in the bias results of the peak intensity as presented in the Diffractogram (Fig. 6.223).



In addition to the results presented in the Diffractogram above, the same samples were powdered. It generated desirable intensity and the mineral phases were identifiable in final Diffractogram (Fig. 6.224).



Figure 6.224 Diffragramme on powders of the sample group 12 O8a Z = 195-200 (after, LAPAUZE 2016:71).

The peaks intensity generated from the powder Diffractogram (Fig. 6.224) are well defined hence, the powder method was more suitable for the samples as the samples have irregular surface. Reducing the samples to powders permitted to get rid of the issue of the diffraction on non-regular surfaces, providing more relevant results. The results also indicated a large predominance of hematite as iron oxide contained in the samples.

In addition to thatin-group 12, most of the samples (archaeological and geological from Erongo) constitute haematite as revealed from the XRF analyses. The microscopic analyses generated from FTIR and XRD studies were most beneficial, as they have provided valuable mineralogical compositions of the samples in the study. However, this was only achieved by reducing samples to powder, which implies partial destruction. The main disadvantage of these methods is that they are invasive. However, the powders were recovered and re-used for other analyses.

f.2. Archaeological considerations: Provenience

The geological samples in the study indicated that the majority of rocks possess haematite. However, only two samples from the same geological deposit of Brandberg did not contain them. For the other iron oxides, only lepidocrocite and goethite are present as well as sample from Site OWF39/ Fackelträger Shelter, which comes from a surface find of the shelter in Erongo Mountain. It is important to note that goethite is only present in Group 11 archaeological samples: P7c t3. Although all geological samples from Brandberg, Burnt Mountain near Twyfelfontein as well as those from Erongo Mountains contains hematite, the mineralogical composition of this compound present significant heterogeneity. This permits an efficient discrimination between the different potential coloured materials' sources considered. It suggests that the haematite from Brandberg and Burnt Mountain were not responsible for the pigments used in the production of rock paintings in the study – in Erongo Mountain, instead, the haematite from Erongo used to manufacture ochre is locally sourced in Erongo massif.

The identified compound of haematite is also one of the most dominant iron oxide minerals in the archaeological samples. Besides goethite cited in previous geological samples, no other iron oxide appears to be present in the archaeological samples. Other mineralogical compositions for instance in Group 1 sample: P7 234 and two elements from Group 4: P7c t7 and P7 135 indicates that they are rather of volcanic origin. Therefore, after comparing the

results, it is safer to suggest that hematite was the major mineral used in the colouring materials sampled at Leopard Cave/ OWF42.

Another important geological feature in the matrix is clay evidenced by FTIR and XRD. Even though such methods do not allow full identifications of the clay fractions species with certainty, presence of smectite and clays of the kaolinite family can already be confirmed. Among all the samples analysed the ones from Burnt Mountain near Twyfelfontein and Brandberg appeared to contain such compounds. Archaeological samples from Leopard Cave/OWF42 do not contain such clays. The three Brandberg samples come from the same secondary deposit, however, each of them have secondary mineral specific to each of them. As, none of the archaeological samples analysed contains similar secondary minerals and clay fraction. It clearly indicates that the archaeological coloured materials from Leopard Cave do not come from these far sites.

The two geological samples from also site OWF56 – surface archaeological collection of well as site OWF39 have similar mineralogical compositions and suggest that they come from the same geological deposits present in the Erongo granitic massif. The analyses of pigments groups from the stratigraphic of Leopard Cave are also heterogeneous. This, according to (LAPAUZE 2016) results from exploitation of various sources, availability of such sources and not necessarily favouring any specific pigments in particular. However, despite a large collection of pigmented rocks from the archaeological deposits, only one sample has use traces evidence (O8b Z = 206-215). This according to Lapauze results from "crushing and not abrasion on a millstone", (LAPAUZE 2016: 75). Furthermore, the presence of pestles from the same levels in this context also suggests the preparation and use of pigments.

In general, other raw coloured materials concentrations at Leopard Cave site from different levels suggest a period of intensification of symbolic behaviour at site. This has also been confirmed through various archaeological materials recovered from different squares. LAPAUZE (2016) has also indicated that the presence of materials with no natural pigments in the study might have been picked up because of their colour and tried as a colouring material.

g. Conclusion and Perspective of pigment analysed

These coloured material analyses only presented the analysed data from two contexts, archaeological from Leopard Cave and geological in the Brandberg massifs and Burnt Mountain near Twyfelfontein World Heritage site. The archaeological deposits and geological samples from two sites in Omandumba West farm suggests that the raw material used in the production of pigment to perform the rock painting sites were locally sourced in Erongo granite massif rather than regional exploitation of raw materials outside Erongo massif. The analyses also showed a significant presence in haematite in many sample - suggesting the preferred source of colouring mineral.Pigment recollected from another site (OWF18) in 2016 as well as the grindstones and pestles from the archaeological sequence of Leopard Cave could not be analysed at the end of 2016. These will be analysed in at a later stage of 2017 to provide absolute dates of the paintings (black and white) and provide information of the material and "chaine opératoire" used to produce them. Their analyses might also provide a better chronological context in which the rock art of the Erongo were painted.

With regards to the *in situ* analyses, the previous results briefly developed tended to show the presence of black representations made of carbonaceous materials. Although sounding promising concerning the direct dating of the parietal figures, the scarce amount of pictorial material used to perform them highly limits this perspective. Indeed, classic C14 dating procedures could require up to 10 mg of material to provide a relevant date. For all the black paintings seen and studied during the fieldwork of November 2016, such quantities would induce a large alteration of the figure's reading. We have thus to investigates other procedures of C14 samples preparation and analysis to reduce the sample size needed for C14.

As some of the black paintings analysed were already sampled in 2015, further analyses will be carried out to confirm the presence of carbonaceous and better identify their nature as charcoal or soot. The experiments will also investigate the possible use of organic materials, such as wax, fat and blood, in the pigments' recipes. As for the other colours (red and white), further treatments of the spectra collected on the various sites will be carried out to provide better insights of the pictorial layer's composition and thickness. Coupled with micro-samples analyses, investigations will focus on the characterization of the pigments and the "chaine opératoire" (the various steps required to prepare the pigment ranging between the collection of raw materials to their application on the wall) involved in their preparation.

7.DISCUSSIONS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This chapter reviews the previous research findings to address the thesis questions and objectives. Discussions include interpretation of rock art findings in form of chronology - absolute and relative dating, i.e., sequences of superimpositions - patination, stylistic typologies and archaeological associations. Ethnographic analogies associated with symbolic meaning and social context of rock arts that can be drawn from the data will also be examined. To understand the study sites' context, distribution, and possible functions, discussions about their spatial distribution to hypothesize how the landscape was organized are also presented. Lastly, considerations about management recommendations for rock art sites are also provided, with special focus on the proclamation of the area as a Namibian heritage zone to be protected according to the terms of the National Heritage Act No. 27 of 2007. Thus, I suggest regular monitoring, introduction of conservation measures and regulation of tourism activities.

7.1.Discussion of the General Research Findings

7.1.1.Chronology: Paintings and Engravings in Omandumba Farms

a.Absolute Chronology

Establishing chronology and interpreting the meanings of rock art are some the major challenges in prehistoric art, and the parietal artworks of Omandumba are no different. During this study, there was adequate reason to consider that absolute dating would be possible. For this reason, pigments' samples were collected from several suitable rock paintings sites in Omandumba West farm. These were examined through various analytical techniques described in the previous (Chapter 6, Section C) in order to establish chemical elements present in the materials. These analyses in addition to the *in situ* X-Ray Fluorescence analyses. Preliminary results of this study conclude that only two sites, Blackman Shelter/OWF25 (black colourant) and OWF60 (white colourant) contained traces of carbon accretion, albeit in small quantities. But due to the fact the samples were extracted from very

thin painted layers, they were insufficient for carbon dating at this stage. Samples form these sites will be re-extracted through the on-going research activities in the farm 2017. Should the samples contain sufficient carbon, it is feasible to have absolute dates through procedures of C14 samples preparation and other analysis such Accelerator Mass Spectrometry (AMS) might be applied to these painting sites. Dating engravings through direct isotopic dating methods is nearly impossible in Omandumba because of their very nature.

Unlike paintings that contain traces of organic materials, though in small quantities, engravings do not contain any, hence, no possibility of direct dating. What complicates the engravings' case even more emanates from the fact that they cannot be dated in association either. Indeed, the engravings' site is found in a location where human habitation would have been possible because they are mostly placed on boulders with no useful open space around site.

b.Relative Chronology

In the investigation, relative dating of both paintings and engravings in form of superimpositions' sequences, patination, stylistic typologies and archaeological associations were also considered. However, these equally proved to be difficult in determining the age of the artworks.

c.Superimpositions

For instance, among the paintings repertoire 38.1% of the total record overlap each other. Among these elements, it was possible to establish at least two to three sequences of superimposition. However, this was only feasible in cases where more than one colour is used or in the event where paints' inconsistency is detected. Conversely, this too, greatly depended of the condition of the artworks. When the artworks are deteriorated, the latter becomes even more problematic. In instances where only one colour was used, detangling these figures was also challenging because the painted figures have the same consistency. Nevertheless, among zoomorphic depictions, there were thematic indicators that particular representations might be older than others. It is observed especially among the fully painted animals in red monochrome such as elephant, rhino and to some extent giraffe depictions. These animals have been prominently superimposed, mostly by outlined with no in-fills or partially outlined animal figures, or other elements. In all these situations, even though sequences of superimpositions are established, they do not give any information about the time gap between their achievement's periods. However, there is always the possibility that the painters superimposed one figure over another deliberately, and that they are of similar age.

The same problem has been observed among the engravings in the study. Only one case of superimposition was recorded at panel OEF61/39, representing 2% of the total engraved artworks. Establishing which figures were drawn first was challenging. The fact that the figures, (see Fig. 6.8.5.1) appear to be in a bicephalic scene made the latter even complicated. Attempts were made to examine the degree of weathering/patination through magnified glass observations. Because no differences were made with regards to the depth of pecked marks and the fact that the engraved surface produced no colour contrasts beneath it, such prospections provided inadequate results. However, it is also possible that these overlapping engravings could have been made at different times. I based this assumption on two arguments: first, on the fact that some of the engravings - especially those executed on dark surfaces with no contrast - appear to be older due to heavy patination unlike those scratched and placed on lighter surfaces seemingly recent. The second argument relies on some engravings' panels placed in the middle of the river course, which undoubtedly become submerged in the water during rainy season. It is also highly probable that they were created all the engravings at the same time during the same dry season hence variations in patination may have resulted from the various factors including the location of the panels.

In these cases, patination may not be a reliable indicator since many climatic and environmental factors can contribute to a faster or slower rate of patination. Therefore, the use of such phenomena to estimate rock surface ages requires an intimate understanding of the processes active in repatination to which future studies, i.e., micro-erosion analysis and microscopy as per (BEDNARIK 2002) recommendations, may provide adequate and informed analytical data about the patina.

d.Stylistic Analyses

Establishing chronology through stylistic analysis is also questionable because of the variations and idiosyncrasies existing among painted figures. For instance, detailed analyses of rock paintings in Omandumba farms denote a coherent group of fine-line paintings styles. Among them, various styles and techniques exist. These fine-line representations included the outlined sketches with single line, outlined depictions with their interior filled with same colour, outlined figures with their interior partially filled with the same colour, monochrome

paintings with the same colour blocked as well as dichromatic representations. Amid these figures, various colours were used, with red predominating the repertoire (44.9%), followed brown 39.9%, and orange with 13.7%. Paintings in white and black account for 0.8% and 0.7% in the study. Still, colours are not a reliable parameter for determining the age of the painting due to conservation issues, as their rate of deterioration is not the same. However, through superimpositions, it was possible to distinguish probable phases among these colours. Similar findings are observed among the techniques and styles employed in the production of engravings. Most of them have been pecked finer with smaller controlled peck marks, followed by those scratched and polished. Yet, these different styles and techniques did not necessarily indicate the age of the artworks.

It is likely that a society might be represented by more than one style because of social class, gender and function's diversity among its members. It is also possible that two different social groups might even co-exist within the same geographic space, thus possibly leading to the emergence of a unique style (HODDER 1978). Therefore, using style to demarcate social boundaries and confidently establish the identities of the painters and engravers is difficult. Furthermore, cultural boundaries are even more blurred especially in this specific geographic landscape where archaeological evidences suggest social relations of various groups of people (PLEURDEAU et al., 2012 & PLEURDEAU 2016). In this study, both paintings and engravings differ considerably in terms of their themes. Paintings are quite narrative, with scenic representations of hunting, dancing, ceremonial activities, leisure and probably trance events drawn upon metaphoric contents directly linked to everyday experiences as manifested by the relative large number of anthropomorphic figures. Animals dominate the paintings, like humans, they too form groups with clear relations to each other.

The engravings on the other hand are non-narrative. Spoors/tracks representations are abundant while animal figures and human footprints are quite few and rarely in scenes, thus, these individual representations do not relate to one other. The examination of the figurative contents, techniques and fine-line styles in paintings and finer pecking with smaller controlled peck marks and light scratching in the engravings suggests that the hunter-gatherers were likely responsible the production of artworks as the entire activity repertoires reflect their social and economic system. The continual depictions of large and powerful animals, i.e., giraffes, rhinoceros, elephants, felines, other hunted animals as well as the scenic

representation hunting and gathering activities serve as common denominator connecting hunter-gatherers artists/ society in central Namibia and in Southern Africa's regionally.

It is generally accepted that hunter-gatherers' tradition represents the oldest rock art tradition, which persisted in southern Africa until the 19th century AD, (LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1990; ANATI 1986; SMITH 1997) and in Namibia (LENSSEN-ERZ et al., 2005; KINAHAN 1996; 2005). While full certainty has not been reached, mainly due to the challenges of dating rock art, the majority of paintings and engraving in Southern Africa including Namibia seems to have been made during the Holocene period, belonging to Late Stone Age. Some may be older, as for example, Apollo 11 in Namibia dated back to about 26 000 BP (WENDT 1972).

While studying the styles and themes of rock paintings and engravings in the Brandberg Mountain, Jürgen Richter (RICHTER 2002a) has defined possible chronological sequences of hunter-gatherers rock art of central Namibia based on their typology. Using the giraffe as an example (Fig. 7.1), the author suggests that different styles may indicate a possible chronological gap between the figures. In this scenario, he (RICHTER 2002a: 527-532) indicates that detailed paintings or engravings with specific attributes and clear representations of their living counter parts (fully painted/engraved) are attributed to representation mode la, which is older. Animal designs linked with their spoors/tracks belong to representation mode lb. Where animal representations match with their tracks, they are thought to be from mode 3, while the mere representations of animal spoors are thought to be the recent depictions, attributed to mode 4.



Figure 7.1 The representation modes in engravings and paintings of Central Namibia. In possible chronological; sequence from top to bottom

- 1. More or less naturalistic animal representation,
- 2. Animal representations with linked tracks
- 3. Animal representations with assignable tracks at some distance
- 4. Mere track representations.

The typology of rock art in Omandumba farms shows similar trends, as demonstrated by various fine-line

depictions and succession of superimpositions. Therefore, if we were to accept the spectrum of the representation modes as a chronological development, this would mean that outlined figures and spoors depictions in the study are likely to be the recent artworks and, therefore, painting tradition probably persisted a little while longer until mode 3 in Erongo, while the engraving tradition is likely abandoned at mode 4. This chronology slightly differs from the one of the Brandberg where painting tradition is reportedly abandoned before mode 2, while engraving disappear with the end of mode 4, including spoors depictions at Twyfelfontein (RICHTER 2002a: 528). Such assumption is further collaborated by the existing evidences from palaeoclimatic reconstruction in central Namibia (TYSON 1986; HEINE 1998; RICHTER 1991; BIERMAN et al., 2001; BRÜMEL et al., 2001). Aridity of the Namib Desert intensified throughout the Holocene period, which subsequently changed the mobility patterns of hunter-gatherers, due to reduction of critical resources (water and food). Erongo Mountains unlike Brandberg and Spitzkoppe massifs receive more than twice the 100-mm annual rainfall. Therefore, its ecological zone may have offered a habitable environment, wider varieties of game and seasonal plant foods throughout the year. As a result, hunting and gathering economy may have survived into more recent time without being entirely displaced by herders' groups.

e.Associated Archaeology

The most common archaeological features in Omandumba farms (excluding rock art) are widespread scatters of Late Stone Age surface materials including fragments of potteries, charcoal, lithic materials, ostrich eggshells' fragments, beads, pestle, hearth sediments and some stone structures. However, such materials are only restricted to some painted sites, especially rock shelters and cave shelters with evidence of occupation as well as few sites. Since the engravings are confined to a small-scale area and the absence of associated contextual archaeological finds made it difficult to date by association. The small grittempered potsherd discovered in the site cannot be dated in association with the engravings since its origin could not be firmly established. It is not certain whether the potsherd is from the same cultural authors who made the engravings or whether it was a later addition.

The rock paintings of Omandumba on the other hand; have been linked to associated archaeological remains recovered from the LSA archaeological excavation of the occupation layers in the Fackelträger rock shelter/site OWF39 in Omandumba West (RICHTER 1991). Here, the mid-section of the horizon B of the LSA occupation (Fig. 3.7) had produced a

concentration of 360g of hematite and pigment-stained pestle dating between 3.500BP - 2.000BP and/or from 1,550 BC ±50 AD. Such find is likely linked to the production of rock art. The site's LSA sequences had also recovered various animal remains including ostrich eggshells, springboks, steenboks, oryx/gemsbok, klipspringers, dassies and rabbits among others (WENDT 1972:10; RICHTER 1991:48). These findings have been complimented by another prominent LSA archaeological site in Omandumba West farm is that of Leopard Cave, south of the Fackelträger shelter (Fig. 3.9). Here, archaeological evidence directly linking the rock paintings in Omandumba to the site occupants was the discovered through *in situ* pigmented grinding stone and pestles artefacts (Fig. 4.12) recovered from Layer (P7) dated between ca. 3200 and 3500 ka BP (PLEURDEAU et al., 2016). The findings therefore suggest that the mode of preparation were likely to be as a result of crushing followed by a grinding thus attesting intensive use of colours. Such findings make Leopard Cave the only site, in Central Namibia, where paintings are directly associated with the tools dedicated to the preparation of pigments. Their analyses are on going and results might provide an improved chronological context in which the rock art of the Erongo were painted.

Furthermore, the site's LSA assemblages includes lithic artefacts, beads and pendants ornaments, and evidence of human remains burned with anthropogenic cut marks dating from about 6000 years (PLEURDEAU et al., 2012; PLEURDEAU 2016). The site's fauna taxon is represented by minimum number of individual species including ostrich eggshells, medium-sized bovids such as impala (*Aepyceros melampus*), springbok (*Antidorcas marsupialis*) while klipspringer (*Oretragus oreotragus*) is represented in the small bovid category.

These evidences have convincingly indicated that there seems to be a link between the choice of some animals painted or engraved and the dietary preferences. The analysis of the faunal remains at these sites indicates that the meat component of diet was derived from both hunted game, including antelopes such as springbok, steenboks, oryx/gemsbok, klipspringers and from small, easily captured animals like lizards and rabbits. Eggs, from the ostrich eggshell fragments may have supplemented the diet. The antelope species correspond to the antelope recorded at the site-painting repertoire (see Fig. 6.16 and Fig. 6.18). Correspondingly, some of recovered animal species from Leopard Cave also match the painted animals in cave shelter (see Fig. 6.22). As a result, these evidences suggest coherence link between painted figures with archaeological materials.

Among the fauna corpus are two Caprine remains (sheep/goat) dated back to 2300 BP – making it the oldest evidence of domestic animals in the entire Southern Africa (PLEURDEAU et al., 2012). However, there is direct link between the Caprine remains and painted animal figures, as they do not correspond. The main explanations for the sharp differences among the faunal remains in Leopard Cave such as the sheep or goat bones may indicate a scenario where hunter-gatherers probably had access to some domesticated animals as evidence of painted sheep were recorded at some younger sites in the Brandberg (KINAHAN 1991; RICHTER 1991; PAGER 1993). Since there are no data on the size and distribution of herding sites in Erongo Mountains, it is difficult at this stage to confirm an apparent succession of hunting to herding economy or a situation where both groups coexisted, which will point to a mutual use of the landscape. At present, it is safer to suggest that the age of Omandumba rock art is therefore based on the general position of hunter-gatherers rock art sites within the occupational history of Central Namibia, particularly the Late Stone Age chronology phases A - F (see Fig. 3.4).

7.1.2. Meanings of Omandumba rock art

Researchers have tried to understand the symbols and metaphors in hunter-gatherers' rock art tradition of Southern Africa thanks to the wealth of ethnographic information collected from the 19th and 20th centuries (BLEEK & LLOYD 1911; THOMAS 1959, LEWIS- WILLIAMS 1990; LEWIS-WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1989; MARSHALL 1976, 1999; LEE 1979; BARNARD 1992 just to mention but few). This information has provided insights into the possible meaning and context of rock art, even in Namibia where neither historical testimonies nor ethnographic accounts of the San were ever recorded. The artists beliefs, myths and views on the cosmos are complex, tiered andmultifaceted, and this study hinges on various lines of evidence in the search for thesymbolic meaning behind painting dance postures. Some of the main lines of interpretations were that their rock arts were created as part of religious practices including boys' and girls' initiation, rainmaking rituals, healings and other shamanistic activities.

The co-occurrence of the rock paintings and engravings in this cultural landscape offers avenue into the investigation of the meaning and interrelationship between these two types of rock art. It further allows an examination of rock art within its landscape's context. Below are some impressionist remarks made regarding the meanings of some rock painting sites from Omandumba postulated by Verena Börner, (BÖRNER 2013) who applied shamanistic theories to some rock painting sites.

a.Animal Potency:

a.1.Spirit animals:

Eland, for example, is said to be associated with the initiation rituals of boys and girls, and its role in healing and rainmaking activities. It is understood that associating with eland could bring the shaman closer to the gods and their supernatural powers. In trance, the shaman would then feel as he/she was turned into an eland (LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1981:75-101). At Crown Boulder/site OWF52a, Börner made reference to the presence of two elands' depictions (a bull and a female) (Fig. 7.2.).



Figure 7.2 Eland 's depictions at Crown Boulder / site OWF52a.

Börner argued that, the seclusion of this site from habitation areas such as Fackelträger shelter/site OWF39, Leopard Cave/site OWF42 and Seal Shelter/site OWF49, in addition to the absence surface of archaeological

artefacts, and the site

morphology – flanked by boulders and accessible through small passages – suggests that Crown Boulder was likely used for such ceremonies. It is also believed that San people attach great values to bees and honey (LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1981, 1983). Apparently, the buzzing sounds of swarms of bees have a powerful association with sensations experienced in the altered state of consciousness. The /Xam community in the Kalahari even performs Honey Dance(MARSHALL 1999:55, 73, 76-77). It is believed that the shaman "becomes" the honey (meaning that the shaman acquires the honey's potency), and honey and baby bees were said to contain strong potency (Marshall 1999:55, 73, 76-77). Today, the Ju/'Hoansi even call the Great God the 'Mother of Bees' (THOMAS 1959; LEWISWILLIAMS & PEARCE 2004). Therefore, the presence of the bees and their swarms at the site (Panel OWF22b - see Fig. 6.41) might afford a compelling support for this interpretation (HOLLMANN & HEINE 2003). In this study, elands depictions are less frequent and are likely to be substituted by the springbok and giraffe (SCHERZ 1986; LENSSEN-ERZ 1997), which would imply a regional variation in the ritual significances of certain animals. There is an apparent insufficient ethnographic information about other antelopes such as oryx, kudu, springs, impala, duiker bucks and klipspringers game that are in abundance in the study. However, available evidence suggests that their metaphorical significances are linked to environmental and economic concerns rather than religious beliefs (CAMPBELL et al., 1994:138).

a.2.Rain making animals:

Other analogies related to the potency associated with certain animals are the significance of mythical rain animals, i.e., the large and powerful game such as rhino, giraffe, serpents, large antelopes and elephants (VINNICOMBE 1996; EASTWOOD et al., 1999; HOLLMANN and STEYN 2003; LEWIS-WILLIAMS 2006; OUZMAN 1996, 2002, 2010) as part of the rain making ceremonies among the hunter-gatherers. The last 5000 years oversee an increasing aridity in central Namib (HEINE 2005) where human began to adapt to desert environment (KINAHAN 2005:120). Such shifts translate to competition of scarce food and water resources for both people and animals, which might have forced hunter-gatherer groups to intensify ritual activities to strengthen their traditional values and cohesions by ensuring successful hunting. The ethnographic records within Kalahari hunters support this assumption where ritual activities are reportedly intensified when resources were scarce according to (LEE 1979; BARNARD 1992). It is therefore suggested that these rainmaking animals were placed at crucial places in the landscape to enhance the power in the rainmaking activities by adding intangible aspects of the place (DEACON 2002).

Rhinoceros are considered potent animals because of their size and aggression. They are thought to possess large amounts of body fat associated with San religion. The rhino's supernatural potency is based on their tendency to sweat profusely consequently its association with water. Rhinos are thought to be active at night and therefore identified with rain (HOLLMANN & LEWIS-WILLIAMS 2006:511). Their juxtaposition near springs at the engraving site (see Fig. 6.135 & Fig. 6.147) might be due to the fact that springs were likely to be the only available water sources in this area, especially in dry seasons, hence, an underlying association ritual activities. Its juxtaposition at the ceremonial site of Priests Shelter/site OWF46 (see Fig. 6.25 and Fig. 6.27) may have been a deliberate attempt to enhance the power in the rainmaking activities by adding intangible vales to the site. Giraffes are also considered sacred rain-animals. It is believed that because of their long neck, they stretch into the clouds, therefore deemed as a rain-giver (HOLLMANN & LEWIS-WILLIAMS 2005; EASTWOOD et al., 1999; OUZMAN 2007). Giraffes' and rhinos' depictions in the study are rarely found single on the various sites. They are largely found in association with each other, with clear relation to other figures. Some particular sites stand out, where giraffes, for instance, are placed next to landscape features, e.g., at Crown Boulder/site OWF52a, where they have been paired to what has been identified by local San people as 'rain crowd' like figure (see Fig. 7.1.2), while at site OWF52b, OWF39a, OWF50 and OEF60a, they have been are juxtaposed to arboreal representations. At the engravings' site, these rain animals are found in close proximity to the first spring of the site (Panel OEF61/37).

Moreover, serpents are also believed to be part of the rain making beliefs. Large serpents are said to guards the sites, while some are thought to dwell in sacred pools found either on mountaintop or near spring the foot of the mountains or hills (VINNICOMBE 1996:233; DOWSON 1998:75). At site Seal Shelter/ OWF49, a serpent depiction (Fig. 6.93) with two seemingly bodies has been juxtaposed on a rock surface near the entrance of the site. This site has a fair amount of LSA surface artefacts and sediments suggesting previous occupation phases. However, the close proximity of a spring that holds water during dry season is of crucial interest. If we are to accept the metaphors associated with this interpretation, it is probable that the serpent serves the previously mentioned function, hence, attaching not only ritual importance of the site to its locations in the landscape, but also attesting connection with the geomorphological variables of the rock formations.

a.3.Enigmas:

Omandumba farms have many animal representations whose metaphorical meanings are beyond our understanding. For instance, feline depictions constitute major enigmas. The dangerous felines are said to have supernatural powers and could become invisible. Sanbelieve that shamans could turn themselves into lions⁷. This interpretation by the local San man from Omandumba San Living Museum offer a convincing evidence for this interpretation because the depiction of feline at site OEF60a (Fig. 7.3) appear hidden behind a tree like figure. However, other metaphoric interpretations cannot also be ruled out.



Figure 7.3 Feline depictions at site OEF60a.

b.Spoors Figures:

Omandumba has a large number and variety of animal spoors and human footprints. In the painting repertoire, rare depictions of what appear to be antelope spoors have been recorded at site OWF08 paired with matching animal species (springboks and oryx/gemsbok, see Fig. 6.88). In the engraving dataset, animal spoors outnumbered human footprints. Spoor representations are said to be

archetypal metaphors representing two dominant concerns – identity and journeys – signifying human–animal relation (OUZMAN 2010). Like information revealed from the local San men from the SLM, a skilled tracker can use spoors to precisely identify an animal – even distinguish between spoors of a wounded animal and that of the rest of the herd – their numbers and sometimes their sex and indented destinations and so forth. Therefore, the fact that the natural springs were mostly likely the only underground source of water for both

⁷Kxao /Lukxao, personal communication, 04th April 2015, Omandumba West Farm

people and the animals especially in a dry season meant that both human population and animal may have competed for water, hence, the site became not only strategic hunting spots but also cultural site where arts were produced.

The dominance of the antelope spoors signifies not only the preferred hunted animals or its abundance in the environment but perhaps its symbolic meaning to the hunter-gatherers as interpreted elsewhere in the case of deer's' depiction predominance: human-deer symbiotic relations evolving into symbolic isomorphism between human and deer behaviour, which could also be the case for antelopes (CAMURI, FOSSATI et al., 2002; IGNÁCIO 2009). Therefore, a general explanatory approach using potencies associations with animal figures can be replicated here. Rock art then belongs to a cognitive tradition in which metaphorical potency of certain animal figures was harnessed for the purposes of rain-making rituals and as medium of communication as attested by the dominance of antelope spoors as well as large and powerful animals like giraffes, elephants and rhinoceros.

c.Spirit World

c.1.Trance metaphors:

Ethnographically, the hunter-gatherers' world understanding was that there was an ordinary World in which normal people physically dwelt and a spirit World accessed by trained powerful beings, Shamans or Medicine People only (LEWIS-WILLIAMS 1981). It is said that anyone could become a shaman, but their task was painful and dangerous, as they had to travel in strange and often hostile spiritual dimensions (Ibid 1981).

Although therianthrope figures depicting a blend of animal and human bodies, are commonly found in hunter-gatherers rock art of southern Africa (BUTLER 1997: LEWIS WILLIAMS & DOWNSON 1999), Omandumba repertoire suggests very little record of these figures. These figures are distinguished from 'normal' human figures in sense that they consistof a blend of real and nonreal representations. It is shamans believe that they turn into animals when they enter altered states of consciousness during the trance dances. Human depictions in trance postures are fairly well documented in hunter–gatherers' rock art tradition in Southern Africa (see for example (LEWIS-WILLIAM 1983a: LEWIS-WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1999:40;BLUNDELL 2004). Some of these distinctive postures include bending forwards, arms extended backwards.

In this repertoire, numerous human figures in trance postures have been recorded at few sitesabout 3 and makes up 0.2% of figures. Referring to trances' postures, Verena Börner (BÖRNER 2013:5) has cited three prominent anthropomorphic "ghosts" figures (Fig. 7.4) at site OEF60b (see Fig. 6.1.40 for entire panel), painted exclusively with white colour and displaying some characteristic traits of the "Eldritch-figures" coined by G. Blundell (BLUNDELL 2004). Here, the "ghostly figures" are depicted in postures associated with the altered states of consciousness. One of the figures appears to lie (superimposed) on the other's back "the arms-back-posture assumed when the inner potency reaches a boiling state" (BÖRNER 2013:5) while other 'ghost" figure – the larger ghost appears to be leading all other figures at the panel while in procession in a white female kudu immediately in front of it.



Figure 7.4 Human depictions in trance postures at Ghost Cave/site OEF60.

Boner suggests that paintings at the site can be linked with concepts of "ghosts", Ju/'Hoansi trance potency associated with, death, disease as well as female affairs and fertility. There are also three similar spindly human figures in bend forward postures (another well know trance posture) were recorded at the site OWF11 (see Fig. 6.79 left). Börner's' study had also indicated that such figures are linked to the trance metaphors. Therefore, it is probable that the locations of these sites are of mythical importance, and that ritual activities were then connected to these specific sites in the landscape. Like at sites OWF52 and OEF60, site OWF11 was also inhabited due to the site morphology and complete absence of surface archaeological collections. And if there were artefacts, it is likely that such materials were displaced due to water leaking, wind erosion and animals. What was interesting with all these sites was the fact that the painted surfaces have either cracks, fissures or rock crevices and other features which gives impressions that these features were incorporated into the rock art to serves as entries to the supernatural World. These specific features may have represented

and strengthened the spiritual belief system" of the painters and in doing so, adding values to the sites.

Another interesting case is that of the human footprints at site OEF61/ engraving site. The majority of the imprints are frequently placed next to inaccessible surfaces as if these indicate paths and entrances into spirit World. Sven Ouzman (OUZMAN 2002) who interpreted similar rock art in Twyfelfontein suggests that shaman could move through solid rock, using entrance not visible to the initiated eye. Such rock surfaces were apparently not mere canvas, but veils serving as threshold to a parallel spiritual World. However, no explanation is given why some human footprints have extra digits/toes or incomplete toes (see for some samples at Panel OEF61/14, Fig. 6.132; Panel OEF61/34 Fig. 6.144 and Panel OEF61/36, Fig. 6.146). It is therefore possible that both spoors and human prints were conceptually linked to other rock art in the region, forming routes that people could follow as part of quests to form and renew relationships with special places and re-affirms their duties as custodians of the land" (Ibid 2002).

7.1.3.Spatial context and distributions of Omandumba rock arts

One of the main research questions was to establish whether the art sites of Omandumba farms were deliberate or random actions, and whether one could detect certain patterns of distribution, which could point to their possible functions. This question was of utmost importance to the researcher due to little previous rock art's investigation in Erongo Mountains in order to establish whether the distribution of Omandumba rock art had a density comparable to other well-researched sites in Central Namibia.

The spatial distribution of the rock art sites in Omandumba farm (Fig. 6.1) indicates that the rock art does not reflect the entire distribution of human activity in this area, because the sites were only located at specific geographic zones. Painting sites for instance, are restricted to granites, which generally follow the natural geological formation of the area.

The distribution of the sites indicates that the majority of the artworks are hosted primarily on boulders, followed by those in rock shelters, granitic walls and caves. Their concentration and distributional pattern appear to have been an act of marking the landscape because the sites indicate the commencement of specific topographical feature and the end of other. It emerged from the study that the majority of the sites 94% are closely clustered in a valley, at the foot

of hills among large boulders, suitable rock and cave shelters while others are found in isolated rock outcrops, which marks the end margins of the slopes. Only 6% of sites were placed in rock shelters and boulders uphill slopes that often mark the beginning of the rise of slopes. The engravings on the other hand are confined to a small-scale concentration of basalt deposits with a narrow passage (small river course) that connect two sections of the site. Therefore, their spatial restriction can be linked to the patterns of behaviour in the use of a landscape as well as geology. Furthermore, the characteristic, quantity and spatial distribution of the sites allowed one to hypothesize about how the landscape was organised, pointing to possible sites' functions.

The spatial analyses revealed that the majority of paintings' sites located at the foot of the hills slopes are easily accessible by foot and are found within 500m of the river tributaries, while only 33% resides 500m away and more from springs. About 10% of painting sites located at the top of elevations are found 100m in the immediate in proximity to ponds. These waterways only have water sporadically, for instance, the rivers flow only during rainy season, whereas springs hold adequate water supplies of water until the next rainy season and pools are fed by run-off from granite slopes but often dry up after rainy season.

The fact that 94% of the sites are located within 500m from water points implies that the rock art sites at low elevations functioned as places where both communal social, economic and casual ritual activities likely took place. Therefore, it is safe to postulate that hunter-gatherers chose the sites because they were located at vantage points or the presence of what (LENSSEN-ERZ 2001:51) termed 'basic needs' or natural infrastructures, such as water, food and shelter. For instance, among the sites located at the foot of hillslopes, only 20% afforded shelters (short/long term living spaces) with high to low traces of human habitation. The sites could have provided security from predators or rival groups. These sites have direct access to food and water resources - especially during dry season, when springs would act as magnet to congregate game animals, and some of them might have served as casual ritual sites. Their geomorphological formations and location in the landscape would be ideal for dwelling purposes because they would shelter hunter-gatherers from the harsh westerly wind from the Namib Desert. The orientation analysis of these sites suggests that these sun-warmed boulders in between the shelters would store heat during the day, which would keep the spaces warm at night. Therefore, these sites would have been ideal places for social interactions.
The remaining 80% of them were not habitable due to their geomorphological formations. Boulders and granitic walls hosting these sites are virtually free standing vertically to the ground or forming clusters of sites in the landscape. They do not shelter, hence, are often exposed at the surface to various degrees of increment weather conditions such as sun, rain and wind. The sites proximity to water sources would make people susceptible to danger from predators at night, hence, they were simply not ideal for habitation. This assumption is further strengthened by the small or absence of human traces. Therefore, it can be argued that the sites may have served several functions to painters including but not limited to: overnight stations for hunters or waymark sites since they are located along the natural travel routes, or small hiding places where hunters might lie to ambush game coming to springs, or casual ritual activities' sites such as rain-making and initiations' ceremonies where likely performed, e.g. site OWF52, OWF11 and OEF60 (see Fig 7.2, Fig. 7.3 and Fig. 7.4).

Sites located uphill slopes are secluded, with no neighbouring sites and have difficult access. They account for 8% of the study corpus, e.g., sites OW30, OWF44, OWF45, OWF46 and OWF47. These sites are far from natural infrastructures: water, game and access to convenient flat areas. The only immediate form of water source is in form of ponds/pools. Among these sites, only site (OWF30) confirmed evidence of human occupation as attested by the mundane activities (stone tools, charcoal, bones and pestle) and the site geomorphological formation. It can be argued that sites conveniently occupy vantage points, viewing the larger landscape. Due to their topographical locations, it is possible that the whole landscape was kept under surveillance and allowed hunters to observe the movements of other people and animals, and spot and track animal migrations. Such position on the landscape provided prehistoric occupants of Erongo Mountains with a convenient location to view Omandumba and other areas of interests. It is therefore possible these sites likely functioned as hermitage sites where ritual activities might have been performed. Figures at the sites have their idiosyncratic characters common in hunter-gatherers' ritual activities, while sites OWF46 and OWF47 (Priests and ostrich shelter sites) are closely associated with stone structures (Fig. 6.22 Fig. 6.28).

The engravings on the other hand were confined to a small-scale concentration of basalt deposits with a narrow passage (river course) that connects two sections of the site. The site's geomorphological setting, its spatial distribution in the landscape as well as the absence of surface artefacts, apart from small grit-tempered potsherd, suggest that the sites did not

function as a place where human habitation would have been possible. The artworks are primary placed on vertical surfaces with no useful open space unlike the painting sites that offers shelters. It is also highly probable that the engravers did not lived for a long period, given the limited number of engraved panels as opposed to those unengraved because the engravings' tradition might not have been as spread as the paintings or that it lasted a shorter periods. It can therefore, be argued that the sites functioned as important markers in the landscape, indicating water's avaibility (springs) and game animals as hunter-gatherers passed for navigation in the landscape. This assumption is collaborated by two facts: firstly, being that all engraved panels are narrowly confined in the interior of the site – primarily, the mid-section of the site slopes, the bottom and in the river course way – which would have been easily accessed by the engravers as they walk in the riverbed and not on the exterior/margin of the site.

It is said that mobility was not only a necessity for the life of hunter-gatherers but also a mean of communication (MARSHALL 1976), consequently, it is possible that creating the artworks at a waymark like this site would have been an expression of their identity, fostering their nomadic lifestyle and celebrating their mobility (LENSSEN-ERZ 2008:29-50); and secondly, by the presence of fresh spoors of various animals at the site – which, would indicate trail system connecting the site to a wider landscape. The fact that some panels are in the river course way indicates that the artworks may have been produced during dry season as they become submerged in water. Furthermore, it is also possible that the site may have served as a strategic hunting locale where animals would have been ambushed at water points (springs) during dry period when shortage of water and food forced people to congregate near the spring as climatic records indicates increased aridity during the Holocene period in Central Namibia (HEINE 2005; Smith 2008). The ethnographic records also indicate that ritual activities were intensified when the resources were scarce (LEE 1979; BARNARD 1992).

Based on the spatial analysis in the distribution of the sites, I should stress that the sites may have multiple functions other than those discussed under this research enquiry. Therefore, with the evaluation of the 61 sites, they lead to profiles features that allowed assigning them to these specific classes coined by (LENSSEN-ERZ 2008:37-47) (see also the location of thesites in Fig. 7.5).

- Class A: Landmark or waymark sites (in green-Fig. 7.5), located along the natural travel routes or near remarkable feature along such routes. All uninhabited, the sites located at the foot of hills and near conspicuous landscape features such as passages or saddles in the mountain with few human traces like rock art and artefacts. The majority of the artworks depicted at the sites show people moving in small or large groups bearing hunting equipments, long sticks and some unidentified objects. These sites make up (28) 46% of the corpus of sites in the study. Examples of sites under this category includes site OWF09 (Fig. 6.3), OWF11, OWF12 (Fig. 6.5), OWF50 (Fig. 6.30) and OWF56 (Fig. 6.43) as well as many other sites hosted on mainly on boulders and granitic walls).
- Class B: Short-term living sites (in purple -Fig. 7.5),small shelters with few human traces, may have been for instance, an overnight station for small hunting part. Example of such sites in the study includes: site OWF13, OWF14 OWF15, OWF16, OWF17, OWF19, OW20, OWF21 and OW25/Blackman Shelter and OW30/ Christian Shelter (Fig. 6.7). The sites attain (11) 18% ratio among all sites.
- Class C: Long-term site (in red-Fig. 7.5), large shelter with a lot of space and useful natural infrastructure nearby, relative few paintings but ample traces of presumably social activities (stone tools, bones, charcoal). In the study, one site fit for this profile is site OWF42/Leopard Cave shelter (Fig. 6.20 & Fig. 6.21), and site account for 2%.
- Class D: Aggregate camp (in light blue-Fig. 7.5), similar characteristic to Class C, but significantly more paintings. Only two sites fit this profile in the study, namely: site OWF39/ Fackelträger Shelter and site OWF49/Seal Shelter. They account for 3% (see Fig. 6.13) of the corpus, but have large number of rock painting figures. Features that characterize these sites include: direct access to immediate surrounding, good visibility of the landscape, and strong emphasis on women in paintings and have various sites in proximity.
- Class E: Casual ritual sites (in yellow-Fig. 7.5), similar to Class B but bearing significantly more paintings or engravings. They account for (14) representing 23% in the study. These sites are relatively small, with low intensity of usage and have neighbouring sites in proximity. They also have complex paintings most of which

are highly visible within 15m ranges. The artworks depicted at these sites serve as hot spot for communications among people and spirit World beings linked to shamanistic activities. Examples of such sites are OWF05/Scherz Fissure, OWF 43, OWF11/Strey Wall, OWF52, OWF55 and site OEF61/the engraving site among other site (Fig. 7. 5& Fig. 6.79 left).

Class G: Sanctuary (in dark blue-Fig. 7.5), hermitage, isolated sites off from the usual natural infrastructure, with unusual depictions. The profile described by Lenssen-Erz of these sites includes the fact that they occupy vantage points – providing panoramic view of wider stretch of the landscape, occupying isolated locations with difficult access and do not have direct access to basic resources. In the corpus, these sites are less frequent and account for (5) 8% for the whole corpus of sites in the study. Sites fitting this profile are site OWF44, OWF45, OWF46, OWF47 and OEF60 (see Fig. 6.23 and Fig. 6.29). Artworks at the sites are placed at inaccessible locations such as ceilings of rock crevices and on boulders with restricted movements. The sites occupy the hilltop in the study.



Figure 7.5 Map of Omandumba Farms indicating the location of six classes of sites according to their functionality profiles summarised above.

Although geology have been the determining factors in the distribution and techniques of two genres kinds of rock art (paintings and engravings), their occurrence in this cultural landscape is not surprising given the fact such manifestations are quite common in Central Namibia as observed at some of the well know sites like Twyfelfontein (SCHERZ 1975,1986; OUZMAN 2002; KINAHAN 2010) and in the Brandberg Mountain (SCHERZ 1975; OUZMAN 2002; GWASIRA 2012). Similar to the situation of Twyfelfontein, both paintings and engravings in our study do not also present cases of direct contact between themselves unlike those recorded in Brandberg where superposition of paintings over engravings occurs (GWASIRA 2012). It can be argued that the congruence of paintings and engravings in the same cultural landscape was not a random act but a way of appropriating the landscape through forming routes that hunter-gatherers people could follow as part of quests to forge and renew relationships with special places and assign their identities.

Following discussions about the spatial distribution of the sites above, another important research question in the study was to establish why the artworks where only painted and engraved on specific surfaces or location and not others.

To answer this question, the landscape analyses of the sites demonstrated that there were other motivating factors that were likely considered when the prehistoric people chose what figures to place and where to place them on the rock surface. The analyses, therefore, established that - for whom notion - the intended audiences of the figures, largely influenced the painters and engravers decisions regarding the size of figures, how many to place on each rock surface, their colours (pigments used), the techniques employed (paintings/engraving) and even considered shape of the rock and its aspect/orientation, accessibility and the locations they occupy in the landscape. This has resulted in the situation where only specific rock surfaces where chosen and not others.

For example, among the painted sites in the study, there is variability in visibilities of the artworks. The analysis indicated that 15% of sites containing y 24% of rock-painting figures are visible from less than 1m optical ranges, which is classified as 'very private'. These sites occupy several topographical locations in the landscape, but they do not serve as entry sites to their localities (as they have neighbouring site/panels) but are often hidden and can only be viewed by one person at a time – either in a squatting, sitting or bending position directly in front of the painted rock surface or in laying on the back position because the artworks are

placed at these positions 2, 4, 8 & 9 (see Fig. 6.71 and definitions in Table 6.7). The sites restrict movements around their area hence most of their figures were photographed with difficulties to such an extent that even using IFRAO scale was impossible in some situations. This phenomenon has been observed for instance at site (OWF42/Leopard Cave (Fig. 6.21; OWF47 – Fig.6.28, OEF60b – Fig. 6.51) and other sites in the study. Under the spatial analysis in the distribution of the sites, they were registered mainly in Class E, G and one site in Class C – site OWF42/Leopard Cave. The majority of the artworks at these sites are extremely small, but very well detailed and they seem to give an impression that they are either emerging or disappearing into cracks or rock crevices while interacting with the layering in the rock surface, like at site OWF12 (Fig. 6.6) and OEF46b (see Figure 6.27).

As demonstrated by the ethnographical records, these rock surfaces apparently act like a membrane between this and the other World (LEWIS WILLIAMS & DOWSON 1990). Therefore, the cracks were likely viewed as pathways, which connected the World and could only be followed by shamans and inhabitants of the spiritual World (OUZMAN 1998:36). Other examples of 'private sites' sites are shown as follow:



Figure 7.6 Site OWF05/Scherz's Fissure. The marked image on top reflects the location of the fissure at the site while the bottom image in a close up image of figures on the fissure. Artwork at the site can only be viewed at squatting/sitting position.



Figure 7.7 Sites OWF45. Image on top indicates the narrow entrance of the rock crevice where the artworks are placed.

The bottom image has been stitched to compose the figure, as it was impossible to photograph the entire snake figure in one image due to restricted movements. Figure at 10cm. Artworks at the site are viewed at squatting position as the figures at placed at position number 6. The figures are painted in brown monochrome but only the snake's body has been outlined. The site is located on top of a kopje-facing Leopard Cave.



Figure 7.8 Site OWF43. The left image indicates the location of the painted location – at the narrow passage of the site with restricted movement.

The figure depicts what appear to be a fully painted bichrome (brown and black) rhino. The site is located 30m east of Leopard Cave, at the bottom of cretaceous massif



Figure 7.9 Site OWF35. Is another site, with restricted movement. The site is secluded located away from other sites. The figure depicts various human and headless springboks painted in pale red monochrome that are poorly preserved. The site is located at a foot of a hill. All figures at 10cm scale

Figure 7.10 Site OWF55. The top image indicates the location of the painted area on the surface – with restricted movement. The figure depicts a group of six women bearing what appear to be long sticks and some indeterminate objects. They are depicted walking, giving an impression that they walking out of crack. All figures are fully painted in brown monochrome. The site is located at foot of a hill hidden behind Tuba Rock/site OWF50



If we were to accept that 15% of these specific macro landscapes in Omandumba were utilized under this motivation, then this would imply that these sites were chosen deliberately for religious significances and ritual activities associated with the hunter-gatherers' belief systems. Therefore, the audiences of these sites were likely to be the shamans and powerful individuals in the hunter-gatherers' societies who may have serves as bridges between supernatural and the living world. It can therefore, be argued that these sites were likely meant to be painted as their geomorphological formations may have embodied painters' and engravers belief system.

Contrary, is the case with sites that host figures placed in deliberate location or rock surfaces that can be seen from those near the site and can be seen from more than 3m to greater than 15m ranges that are classified as 'public art' or public mode of representation (LEENSSEN-ERZ 2004: 140 *cf.* HARTLEY & WOLLEY VAWSER 1997:188), which account for 85% painted panels while hosting an excess of 75% of figures. These sites also occupy several topographical locations in Omandumba landscape. However, unlike the very private sites, most of these serves as entry sites in their localities (as they have neighbouring site/panels) but are often in open and can only be viewed by many people at a time – mostly in standing or slightly squatting positions.

The geomorphological surrounding of these sites permit free movement around the site. On the rock surfaces, the artworks are placed at these positions like 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10 &11 (see Fig. 6.71 and definitions in Table 6.7) in the landscape. This phenomenon has been observed for instance at site (OWF09 (Fig. 6.3; OWF12 (Fig. 7.13; OWF39a (Fig. 7.11 & Fig. 7.12) and many other sites in the study. Under the spatial analysis in the distribution of the sites, they were recorded mainly in Class A, B, C, D and very few in Class E. The majority of the artworks are relatively larger and they too interact with the natural formation in the rock surface as well as with the entire landscape features.



Figure 7.11 Site OWF39a shows the group of about 10 people viewing the artworks while 'standing' at panel OWF39b. Here, the movement of people is not restricted.



Figure 7.12 Site OWF39a shows figures interacting with the rock surface of the same panel viewed by many people standing at panel (previous figure). The artworks are placed in the middle of the panel.



Figure 7.13 Site OWF39b shows figures interacting with the rock surface while people are viewing the artworks while standing. Figures at the panel occupy the bottom and middle of the rock surface.



Figure 7.14 Is another example of 'pubic art' at site OWF12 showing a San man from the SLM standing at the site. The artworks are placed in the middle of the rock surface

Detail examination of sites intended for general viewing indicated that the depicted artworks do not only interacts with the natural rock surfaces but the artists had deliberately chosen these sites making highly focalized references to vital *in situ* resources that were likely available. Being nomads in nature, it is possible that these sites served as important economic navigational strategies across the landscape to signal availability of food and water resources for otherwise dispersed arid hunter-gatherers. The need to signal social and economic

information to others may well have been focused in locations where groups of people were likely to aggregate – for a range of purposes within a variety of social and economic contexts. For instance, the analyses indicate that these rock art sites are primarily found both on boulders, low cliff faces and granitic walls occupying various topographic configurations with direct access to the open field and are in proximity to natural resources (water and game). Some springs are found at a foot of hills hosting these sites and these too have formed focused locales for occupation and art production. Other less permanent water is found in lower relief valleys where rock pools are formed as a result of seasonal rain.

These rock pools, when full, would have provided semi-permanent water for foragers. Some of the resources are also shown in rock art. For example, depictions interpreted as landscape features such as trees, bees and bee swarms have been placed in localities where even today these features are found. It is possible that these resources may have existed at a time of rock art production considering the climatic stability in this part of Namibia. Even if this is only suggestive, it is highly probable. While investigating rock art in the Branbderg, Tilman Lenssen-Erz also stressed "natural infrastructures remained relatively unchanged from prehistoric times until today" (LENSSEN-ERZ 2004:136). At site OWF52 and OWF54 for instances, depictions of bees and bees' swarms corresponds to the bees and beehives found on the tree near the painted panel of site OWF52 and on the same painted rock surface (see Fig. 7.15 & Fig. 7.156). In these scenarios, it is my opinion that painters were most likely painting what they were seeing at that particular time, given how territorial bees are.



Figure 7.15 Site OWF55. A. Shows painted figure of a dense fleck of bees/ bees' swarms. B. Indicate the location of painted figures and bees' nests on the same painted rock. Honey many have been an important food source for the hunter-gatherers.



Figure 7.16 Site OWF52b. Indicate the location beehive on a tree in proximity to the painted boulder where figures of bees and bees' swarms are recorded.

Other examples of painted depictions placed in the same localities as their living counterpart in the study are some of the trees' figures, e.g. depiction of what is likely to be a Quiver Tree (*Aloe Dichotoma*) at site OWF39b/ Fackelträger shelter (Fig. 7.17) below.



Figure 7.17 Site OWF39b/ Fackelträger shelter. The image on the left indicates the location quiver tree on the panel, while image on the left show an image of a quiver tree found near the engraving site in the study.

The tree is one of the largest and arguably most striking, floral element in Central Namibia. Information obtained from the local San men at the SLM suggests that quiver tree is used to construct quivers bag for hunters to carry their arrows. They have also reported that since the tree is water retentive, it is an important source of drinking water. It is therefore possible that the tree must have been not only an important water source but also enabled hunter-gatherers to reproduce their hunting equipment continuously. Its depiction at the site must have served as a signal other hunter-gatherers groups of its presence in this environment.

Hunting themes are apparent at all sites deemed public arts in the study. The depictions of entire animal corpus mirrors local fauna found in Erongo even today. Fauna may have been abundant in Erongo given the advantageous configuration of the mountains. The dry-season shelters being located in the north and northwestern mountains range, where Omaruru-River and its tributary springs lies, perhaps provided phreatic water to people and migratory animals that came and went by the season as common large animal species like elephants often migrate along the same lines in the landscape, along natural lines of communication, following dry riverbeds in search of water. These lines of communication would have been important and favourable to hunter-gatherers' migrations between Erongo and other areas such as Brandberg, Spitzkoppe and Twyfelfontein. Therefore, people inhabiting these areas may have appreciated returning animals, thus, resulting the intense ritual activity – art production. If we were to admit that 85% of Omandumba landscape was utilized under this motivation, then this would imply that these sites were chosen strategically for social and economic significances associated with the hunter-gatherers' lifestyle, therefore, the audiences of these sites were likely to be ordinary hunters-gatherers.

Similar pattern in the visibility ratio has also been observed among the engraved panels at site OEF61. The visibility analysis demonstrates that about 46% panels hosting only 14.2% figures are visible from only 1m optical ranges – 'very private'. Here, the artists deliberately place the 'very private' artworks on very dark surfaces producing very little or no contrasts on panels sloping upwards. Unlike painting sites that are placed at concealed locations, most panels hosting these figures are in conspicuous locations. Figures under this motivation occupy the small section of the panel and are either placed individually on the panel or adjacent to other figures but with no clear relation to each other. These panels similarly occupy several topographical locations in the site. Like the painted sites under this motivation, they too do not serve as entry panels to their localities and can only be viewed while squatting and bending directly standing in front of the panel. The figures are placed at these positions 1, 3 & 6 (see Fig. 6.168 and definitions in Table 6.20). However, only few

panels are located at places with restricted movements as many are found at the bottom of slopes. Following figures present some of examples of panels under this motivation (Fig 7.18 & 19) below.



Figure 7.18 show the location of Panel OEF61/03. The panel is slopping upwards. The artwork can only be viewed at squatting position. The figure is seen fading into a small fracture while interacting with the rock surface. Notice that the panel is placed next to 'public panel' OEF61/04



Figure 7.19 Shows the 'hidden' location of Panel OEF61/37.The panel is slopping upwards. The artwork can only be viewed at squatting position..The figure is seen interacting with the rock surface. Notice that the panel is placed next to 'public panel' OEF61/14 and OEF61/15 immediately in front of the springs. Here, the giraffe figure is paired to antelope spoors - no clear relation to each other.

Panels hosting figures deemed 'public' makes up 54% of the corpus while attaining 85.8% of the representations in the study. Panels hosting these figures are placed in conspicuous yet deliberate locations seen from more than 3m to greater than 15m ranges (Fig. 7.20 & Fig. 7.21). These panels are found mostly at the bottom and mid-section of the slopes around the

site. Unlike private panels, they serve as entry panels in their localities and are often in open environment. The engraved representations reveal a lighter colour beneath the panel. Figures at these panels occupy either the entire panel, middle or are restricted at the top and can be viewed by many people at a time – mostly in standing or slightly bending positions. The artworks are placed at these positions like 2, 4 & 5 (see Fig. 6.168 and definitions in Table 6.20). Following are some of the examples of sites under this motivation.



Figure 7.20 Is example of 'pubic art' at Panel OEF61/14. The artworks are seen in standing position from a distance. The engraved surface revealed a contrast colour beneath.



Figure 7.21 Is another example of 'pubic art' at Panel OEF61/04. The artworks are seen from a distance in the riverbed. The engraved surface revealed a contrast colour beneath.

The data demonstrate that the placement of artworks on chose rock surfaces and the overall distribution of the sites in the study was not randomly done. They were placed in these specific locations for significant activities deemed relevant to the hunter-gatherers' World. Public art was strategically placed in proximity to food resources and water (vantage points),

which would have been ideal places for social interactions while 'private art' was equally strategically placed away from public where ritual activities were likely carried out.

Consideration of sites orientations and their exposure to sun had also provided a broad range of rock art interpretation about site choices in the study. The fact that the majorities of painted panels 61% and 50% of engraved panels are oriented easterly has also greatly influenced the visibility of the artworks. The majority of these painted sites are within 'public art' and I have observed that these sites get more sun than others and this probably explain why they were highly visible and ideal for habitation unlike 'private art' that were oriented southerly and westerly whose visibility where reduced. Due to absence of the sun, these sites were extremely colder and windier than others. Therefore, this analysis has also supported the deliberate selection of sites in their current locations in the landscape.

With the rapid increase of deterioration of rock art sites in Southern Africa including in Namibia, many rock art sites are endangered as a result of increased tourism development, resulting in irreversible damage and loss. It was of utmost importance for this thesis to establish the current state of conservations of the rock art sites, paintings and engravings in the study areas. The condition assessments have pin-pointed two main factors threatening rock art sites in Omandumba farms: natural factors such as rock weathering, biological agents, animal action, normal geological activity, and threats emanating from anthropogenic activities including tourism related activates, dust, acts of vandalism and inadequate conservation strategies used in attempt to 'preserve' the sites. The rate at which the paintings are deteriorating is still unknown given the fact that few that previous records by researcher like AbbéBreuil (BREUIL 1960) are inadequate while those collected in 2012 indicated minor changes with slight increase in human vandalism. Since the condition of any rock art site constantly changes, condition documentation enables one to avoid the automatic reaction of presuming that the physical structures of sites are necessarily in decay.

The results from the condition assessment of the sites were uploaded in the rock artmonitoring database of the National Heritage Council of Namibia to enable the responsible institution to make necessary measures towards the management and conservation of the rock art sites.

7.2. Final remarks and future direction for research

The primary objective of this work has been to explore and expand the set of methods and theories from which rock art is studied. The project methodology was structured around the contextual approach of gathering and analysing data, to which a number of landscape approaches were dealt with. Central to this has been to study the sites *in situ*, their distribution in relation to wider landscape features and widerarchaeological contexts. New documentation techniques through the use of DStretch and Adobe Photoshop applications has made it possible to see more of the actual figures at the sites and sequence of superimpositions. In this regards, the interpretation of rock art is never better than the documentation. Documenting the sites systematically at various seasons has also allowed researcher to understand changes and landscapes characters, which help us, understand why rock art were produced at the locations they are found today.

When I set out for the field research, I was not only contentedly around the framework of theory and methods of contextual landscape but also understood the importance of processes involved, dialectical relations and experiences. Perhaps growing up largely in the rural village of Namibia and having explored macro landscapes of many rock art areas in Namibia had helped me structure my explorations of this landscape and the rock art by reinforcing my awareness of my own being in the world. This strong existential focus was not foreign to me, and it allowed me to see and experience the rock art in a different manner than had I visited the sites with a mind set on gathering only contextual data. In becoming more aware of the micro landscape of this area, and of the ways in which those miniature landscapes have been incorporated into the rock art to become the backdrop of their micro topography, through the figures and artists' deliberate manipulation of place, I have come to realize that the rock art also has a strong existential focus - the relationships between people and the rest of the world. As I pondered my own being in the world at the rock art sites, I recognize that the rock art is in part an exploration of the artists' experiences of being in their world as well.

The nature of these interactions with selves and our environment strongly influences our understanding of the world around us. It is possible that these interactions become the basis of metaphors, which in turn developed the fundamental concepts of time, space and knowledge. By understanding this, and by acknowledging that the conceptual system of hunter-gatherers was radically different from that of my own, I began to bridge the gap between the two

through the process of exploring the various physical contexts in which Omandumba rock art sites are found, and by considering the effects of these contexts.

First, it was possible that the engravers and painters were concerned with the way visitors accessed and moved about rock art sites. This is demonstrated by the frequency with which certain elements appear and reappear in this tradition. Artworks placed ledges/sills and those placed in concealed locations for example, restrict people's movement; while at the same time provide a convenient place to stand, sit and squat while viewing the figures. Figures placed on cliffs and up hills were often chosen, requiring the visitor to climb, frequently risking life to experience the rock art intimately. These and other elements were probably sought by artists, who spent time looking for places with just the right collection of physical elements which would provide the specific viewing and access conditions they desired; these conditions would provide a context for the art they wished to produce. By controlling how the rock art was experienced, the artists in turn could control the "consumption" of the rock art, even in their absence. They could ensure everybody was able to access the painted or engraved panel, or restrict access to a select few. It is possible that they ensure that their sites were passed by other groups of travellers following natural routes through the landscape, or hide them way in incongruous places, thereby making a visit to them the goal of a dedicated journey.

All these elements had meanings, which started with basic sensory-motor experiences, and perhaps ended with social or cosmological implications. The recognition of these experiences, of the fact that the artist had some control over them, and of the probability that they affected the visitors' understanding of the figures, are important elements to bear in mind as the implications of this research enquiry are explored. This is made more clear when I considered the surfaces on which the rock arts were placed. It is therefore safer to suggest that that rock art sites were placed in their current locations in relation to the value of the local area for resource procurement. The study area was probably not an easy place in which to live, but it is reasonable to assume that during the need for social and ritual communication equally pressing like utilitarian needs, and therefore, some rock art point to its ritualized context, hence, the driving force behind the production of rock art was largely ideological and economic. Local flora and fauna have also played a significant role of the environment of Erongo rock art, are depicted at many sites.

In conclusion, I would like to point out that Erongo Mountains are one of the key rock art areas in Namibia that cannot be completely understood from the scope of this study. There remain several issues that require further and in-depth study including continuous archaeological research that focus on establishing the chronology of the rock art through pigments analysis along with examining other archaeological materials recovered from excavations as well as continuous archaeological investigation of sites identified in the study to have potential for further research. The study however, has demonstrated that the Omandumba has a potential for providing absolute chronology of the rock art based on the set of organic pigments albeit in small quantity collected from some painting sites as well as relative chronology based on superimpositions of both engravings and paintings. This study, however, has contributed to the general knowledge of the rock art corpus of the Erongo Mountains through an empirical documentation of the rock art and its associated archaeology as a first step.

Given the severe shortage of qualified archaeologist in Namibia, the study has also demonstrated that research of this nature can only be achieved when local heritage institutions promote and create avenues where collaborations with various research institutions, universities and the involvement of local communities around the sites is encouraged.

7.3.Management Recommendations

It should be universally accepted that the archaeology and cultural heritage presented in Omandumba farms and Erongo Mountains in general is of outstanding value to humanity. Thus, all of our intervention on the sites should be of similar outstanding quality and pay homage the intellectual and spiritual status of the prehistoric people who lived at and created artworks at this place before us. Below are some of identified several recommendations for the management of rock art sites on Omandumba as a result of this research project. The recommendations relate to all the preservation efforts of Namibia's rock art and are based on the following categories: monitoring sites; current status; hiking trails; paths and campsites; visitor centre; training outreach and community involvements.

7.3.1.Monitoring

Monitoring is a crucial step in any management process as it enables the responsible institution (NHC) to determine causes and rates of rock art deterioration derive a prognosis

and develop appropriate conservation strategies for sites. Monitoring is thus an indispensable tool in their attempts to minimize or mitigate site damage. Rock art sites in Namibia have to endure with obstacles of the non-existence of prerequisites strategies such as site management plans (according to National Heritage Act No. 27 of 2004 Standards); capacity of NHC to manage sites; and the lack of funding to support monitoring programs. Since 2012, monitoring program under the Department of Archaeology and Heritage Research has been in existence at NHC. However, such program is growing at slow pace given the fact that its carried out by one rock art specialist and fact that the available resources are usually tailored for existing sites already enjoying legal protection as per National Heritage Act No. 27 of 2004 and very few sites receiving significant number of tourists like Omandumba farms. The program monitor at least 2 sites annually but depending on the availability of funds and emergency situations such as fire outbreaks, earth tremors etc. In Omandumba farms for instance, condition assessment was first carried out in 2012 and had emphasized sites of high density and sites receiving significant receiving most tourists including OWF09, OWF10, OWF11, OWF12, OWF17, OWF18, OWF39, OWF50, OWF52, OWF56 and OEF60. Most of these sites are located near farm roads and trails susceptible to human damage therefore; high priority is always given to them. It therefore envisioned that such monitoring activity is repeated every 3 years.

7.3.2.Site Management Plan

According to the National Heritage Act of Namibia (NHA) standards, every rock art site opened for public should be comprehensively recorded with a site management plan to sustain the site as a long-term future as a cultural attraction (National Heritage Act No. 27 of 2004, sections 58). The management plan should ensure, among other things, that regular and continuous condition monitoring is conducted. It is only after the guarantee that these conditions have been fulfilled that a site can be formally registered with the National Heritage Act. It is envisioned that the next step after this based line research that all efforts will be geared towards developing a management plan of Omandumba rock art sites. The management plan will involves talks with the site custodians (GRN), landowners (Rusts Family), heritage authority (NHC), local community (San people and Erongo Conservation Area Committee), Erongo Regional Council, Omaruru Local authority and rock art specialists. It is proposed that such management plan will be simple and practical with considerations such as: creating site information, addressing some farm roads in proximity to sites, creating and maintaining existing paths, removal of camp sites in extreme proximity to rock art sites i.e. (OWF17 & OWF18), suggestive of suitable time to view the sites to avoid visitors pouring liquids to improve visibility of figures, regular training of local guides, access to the site and number of people allowed at each site, marketing and raise awareness of the present state of heritage and promote public understanding of Namibia's heritage. The National Heritage Council of Namibia and the Rust Family will administer the management plan.

7.3.3.Current status

The physical and biological condition of paintings, engravings and archaeology of Omandumba varies from bad – very good. Visible human damage is relatively minimal with the slight insensitive of the tourism development at sites OWF17, and OWF18, that has been transformed into camping site, thus reducing the archaeological value of the sites. The management plan will therefore encourage proper consultation and heritage impact assessment, in accordance with the National Heritage Act No. 27 of 2004 before tourism related development are carried out near rock art sites in farm. It is therefore recommended that:

- The camping site be clearly removed and relocated to a distant where it does not threaten the existence of the paintings nor site setting.
- A proper information/ signboard is erected notifying the campers of the existence of the paintings and emphasizing the importance of such archaeological artefacts in Namibian pre-colonial history.

7.3.4. Hiking Trail and Paths/farm roads

In general, hiking trails in Omandumba farms is not a problem given the fact that visitors are properly supervised and guided to sites open for public. Though most of the tourists are sensitive to proper etiquette, some damages have occurred. For example, at Elephant Wall/site OWF56, graffiti in form of charcoal drawing have been recorded on the painted wall. It will, therefore, be proposed that warning signs against vandalism will be erected at these vulnerable sites including the engraving site. Some of the paths and farm roads in Omandumba West farm are not in good condition. Most of the paths and farm roads go or pass directly to rock art sites, which not only encourages physical contacts with the painted

figures for example at Porters Boulder/site OWF09, OWF10, OWF11, OWF50 and site OWF52 but also increases dust accumulations onto painted rock surfaces emanating from dust kicked up by visitors to the site, from vehicles driven too close to the sites and dust blown up by wind. The recommendation will therefore include issues such as:

- No vehicle can be driven up to the site. Visitors have to walk the last 100metres to the site. Clearly delineated pathways need to be laid down.
- The signposts inform visitors that no one is allowed to visit the site without a guide.
- An information signboard notifying the campers of the existence of the paintings near hiking trails and emphasizing the importance of such archaeological artefacts in Namibian pre-colonial history. Such a board will carry the message cooperative heritage conservation and sustainable use among the camping site.
- Physical improvements: Creation of walking paths, information boards, interpretive panels and warning Signage, iron or wooden barriers to vulnerable sites, i.e., site OWF39, OWF50, OWF52, OWF09, OWF11 and OWF56. Leaflets and brochures outlining the cultural importance of the site will also form part of the restoration measures.

7.3.5.Development of a visitor centre

There is no existing visitor centre in Omandumba farms. It is therefore proposed that a possible visitor centre be developed either near the road to the San Living Museum or near Omandumba West farmstead. The visitor centre should have information about the sites, maps of sites open to public only, the farm's information, map of the camping sites, which also indicates some of the activities that visitors can do in the farm such as sun set viewpoints, water points for animal viewing, birds watching etc. Perhaps small shop serving day visitors since the farm is located in proximity to the well-known D2315 main road connecting the west coast.

7.3.6. Training and Outreach

Omandumba farm guides (local San people from the SLM) are generally helpful especially with regards to the indigenous knowledge about the local flora and fauna as well as meaning and identification of many painted and engraved figures. However, they too need to be informed about the danger of erecting small fires inside painted shelters for demonstrations to tourists or even coming into physical contact with the paintings as it has been observed during the past three years of this research. Clearly, this is stem from goodwill, but such matter can cause physical damage to the paintings. Perhaps, the training outreach should also include some guiding etiquettes and pay particular attention to the ratio of guide/tourist, which is eight (8) at all, rock art sites in Namibia (depending on the geomorphology of site though).

7.3.7.Recognition of local protection efforts

Although all rock art sites in Namibia whether found in private and state land are automatically the properties of the Namibian government according to the Section 54 & 55 of the National Heritage Act No 27 of 2004; the NHA does not legally recognise the local means of management and conservation of heritage sites even though some of the sites have been properly been taken care of by the local community in proximity of the sites, as it is a case with Omandumba. It is therefore proposed that amendment to the NHA legislation is necessary in order to effectively address this problem and it is hoped that Omandumba farms will serve as the first case study in this scenario so that they are empowered to continue looking after the sites as they have been doing it for years.

7.3.8.Legislation of Omandumba archaeological heritage in Namibia's National heritage register

It is according to the National Heritage Act of Namibia (Section 29, 30 & 35) standards, that before heritage sites are nominated as national heritage sites that all scientific study of the sites be completed and publications made available with a comprehensive site management plan. It is therefore projected that after completion of the Omandumba management plan, the farm will be nominated as national heritage site as per NHA No. 27 of 2004 and all the site information will be included in the national heritage database of cultural sites in Namibia.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abreu, M. E. S. DE,

2012. *Rock Art in Portugal: History, Methodology and Traditions*, Volume 1. Unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, Vila real, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro.

Anati, E,

1986. The state of research in rock art: The rock art of Tanzania and the East African sequence, *Bollettino del Centro Camuno di Studi Preistorici XXIII:* 15-68.BCP 23: 15-68.

Ashmore. W. and Knapp, B.

1999. Archaeologies of Landscape: Contemporary Perspectives, Blackwell Publishers: Malden MA.

Anschuetz, K.F., Wilshusen, R. and Scheick, L.

2001. An Archaeology of Landscapes: Perspectives and Directions, *Journal of Archaeological Research*, Vol. 9, No. 2.

Arocena, J., Hall, K. and Meiklejohn, I.

2008. Minerals Provide Tints and Possible Binder/Extender in Pigments in San Rock Paintings (South Africa), Geoarchaeology: *An International Journal*, Vol. 23, No. 2, 293–304, DOI:10.1002/gea.20215.*f*

Arsenault, D.

- 2004a. Rock art landscape and sacred places: attitudes in contemporary archaeological theory, In: Chippindale, C. & Nash, G. (eds.), *The Figured Landscape of Rock-Art. Looking at Pictures in Place*: 69-84. Cambridge.
- 2004b. From natural settings to spiritual places in the Algonkian sacred landscape: an archaeological, ethnohistorical and ethnographic analysis of Canadian Shield rock-art sites. In: Chippindale, C. & Nash, G. (eds.), *The Figured Landscape of Rock-Art. Looking at Pictures in Place*: 289-317. Cambridge.

Bahn, P.

1998.	The	Cambridge	Illustrated	History	of	Prehistoric	Art.	Cambridge:	Cambridge
	Univ	ersity Press.							

2010. *Prehistoric Rock Art: Polemics and Progress.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Barker, G. W. (ed.)

1995. *A Mediterranean Valley: Landscape, Archaeology and Annales History in the Biferno Valley*, Vol. 2, London, Leicester University Press.

Barnard, A.

1992.	Hunters and Herders of Southern Africa: A Comparative Ethnography of the Khoisan
	Peoples. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Barnard, P. (ed.)	
1998.	Biological Diversity in Namibia: Namibian National Biodiversity Task Force,
	Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Windhoek, Namibia.
Bednarik, R. G.	
1993a.	About cupules. Rock Art Research, 10: 138–139.
2002.	The dating of rock art: a critique. Journal of Archaeological Science, (11) 29:1213-
	1233.
2008.	Cupules. Rock Art Research, 25: 61–100.
2010.	The interpretation of cupules. In R. Querejazu Lewis and R. G. Bednarik (eds.),
	Mysterious cup marks: proceedings of the First International Cupule Conference,
	pp. 67–73. BAR International Series, 2073, Archaeopress, Oxford.

Binford. L.R. and Sabloff. J.A.

1982. Paradigms: Systematics and Archaeology, *Journal of Anthropological Research*, (2) 38:137-53.

Binford, L. R.

1992.	Seeing	the	preser	nt and	interpret	ting	the	past-	-and	keeping	thin	igs s	straight.	In
	Rossign	ol,	J., an	d Wa	ndsnider,	L.	(eds	.), Sp	oace,	Time,	and	Arcl	haeologi	ical
	Landsco	apes,	Plenu	m Pres	s, New Y	ork,	pp. 4	3–59.						

Börner, V.

2013. Die Uberprufune der Schamanismus-Theorie anhand ausgewahlter Felsmalerien ausdem Erongo Gebirge, Namibia. Goethe-University, Frankfurt.

Butzer, K. W., Fock, L., Scott, Y. and Stuckenrath, R.

- 1979. Dating and Context of Rock Engravings in Southern Africa, *Science*, (4386) 203: 1201-1214.
- Bleek, W.H.I. and Lloyd, L.C.
 - 1911. Specimens of Bushman folklore. London: George Allen.

Blumel W-D., Emmermann, R. and Huser K.

1979. Der Erongo. Geowissenschaftliche Beschreibung und Deutung eines sudwestafrikanischer Vulkankomplex. Scientific Research Series, South West African Scientific Society, 16, 140 pp. airncross

Bradley, R.

1997.	Rock art and the prehistory of Atlantic Europe: signing the land. London
	Routledge.

- 2000. *An Archaeology of Natural Places*. Routledge London.
- 2002. Working without informants: field studies of rock art in later prehistoric Europe. *Centre of archaeological research,* the Australian National Museum, Canberra.

Brain, C.K. and Brain, V.

1977. Microfaunal remains from Mirabib: some evidence of palaeoecological changes in the Namib, *Madoqua*, *10: 285-293*.

Breitkopf, J. H.

1988. Iron formations related to mafic volcanism and ensialic rifting in the southern margin zone of the Damara Orogen, Namibia. *Precambrian Research*, 38(2), 111–130.

Breuil, H. A.

1957.	Philipp Cave: The rock Paintings of Southern Africa 2. London.
1960.	Anibib & Omandumba and Other Erongo Sites: The Rock Paintings of Southern
	Africa: Vol. 4, Calouste Gulbenkian Foundation.

Breunig, P.

1986.	Archaeological Research in the Upper Brandberg, Nyame Akuma 27:26-27.
2003.	Der Brandberg, Untersuchungen zur Besiedlungsgeschichte eines Hochgebirges in
	Namibia, Africa Praehistorica, 17. Köln.

- Bruce, A., &Bahmann, U.
 - 2006. Famous mineral localities: Erongo Mountains Namibia, *the Mineralogical Record*', 37-5.
- Bruno, D. & Thomas, J. (eds)
 - 2008. *Handbook of Landscape Archaeology.* (illustrated, reprint edn) (Volume 1 of *World Archaeological Congress Research Series*). Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press.

Camuri, G., Fossati, A. & Mathpal, Y.

1993. *Deer in Rock Art of India and Europe*, Indira Ghandhi National Centuryre for the Arts, New Delhi

Collado, H.

2014. Main Characteristics of Oukaïmeden Rock Art, Morocco, *Quaternary-Prehistory Research Group, Complutum*, 2014, Vol. (2) 25: 141-166, ISSN: 1131-6993.

Conkey, M.W.

1982. Boundedness in art and society. Pp. 115-128. In I. Hodder (ed.), *Symbolic and Structural Archaeology*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Conkey, M. W. and Hastorf, C. A. (Eds.)

1991. *The uses of style in archaeology*, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.

Conrad, J., Breunig, P., Gonska, h. and Marinetti, G.

1998. The feasibility of dating rock paintings from Brandberg, Namibia, with 14 C. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 15:463-466.

Culson, D., and Campbell, A.

2001. *African rock art: paintings and engravings on stone*, Abrams, New York.

Chase, B.M., Meadows, M.E and Carr, A.S.

2010. Evidence for progressive Holocene aridification in southern Africa recorded in Namibian hyrax middens: Implications for African Monsoon dynamics and the "African Humid Period", *Quaternary Research*, (1) 74: 36–45.

Chippindale, C	C., and Nash, G. (eds.)
2004.	The Figured Landscapes of Rock – Art, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
Chippendale, C	C. and Tacon, P.S.C. (eds.)
1998a.	The Archaeology of Rock Art, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
Clottes, J and I	Lewis-Williams, J.D.
1998.	The shams of Prehistory: trance and magic in the panted caves, New York: Abrams.
Dayet, L.	
2012.	Matériaux, transformations, et fonctions de l'ocre au Middle Stone Age. Thèse de doctorat Physique des archéomatériaux. Université Michel de Montaigne Bordeaux 3.
Deetz, J.	
1990.	Landscapes as cultural statements. In Kelso, W. M., and Most, R. (eds.), <i>Earth Patterns: Essays in Landscape Archaeology</i> , University Press of Virginia, Charlottesville and London, pp. 2–4.
Dowson, T. A.	
1998.	Rain in Bushmen Belief, Politics and History: The Rock-Art of Rain-making in the South-Eastern Mountains, Southern Africa. In: Chippindale, C. and Taçon, P.S.C. (eds.) <i>The Archaeology of Rock-art:</i> 73-89. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
1998.	Rock art of the Central Namib Desert. Newsletter of the prehistoric society, 30:6-7.
Eastwood, E. I	3., Bristow, C. & Van schalkwyk, J. A.
1999.	Animal behaviour and interpretation in San rock art: a study in the Makgabeng Plateau and Limpopo-Shashi Confluence Area, southern Africa. <i>Southern African Field Archaeology</i> 8: 60–75.
Evans, J.	
2003.	Environmental archaeology and the social order. London: Routledge.
Gierde, J. M	
2010.	Rock art and Landscapes: Studies of Stone Age rock art from Northern Fennoscandia, Tromso, University of Tromoso Uit.
Giess, W.	
1971.	A preliminary vegetation map of South West Africa, Dinteria, 4.
Gillette, D.	
2011.	Cultural Markings on the Landscape: The PCN Pecked Curvilinear Nucleated Tradition in the Northern Coastal Ranges of California, University of California, Berkeley.
Gomes, H; Ros	sina P., Holakooei, P., Solomon, T. and Vaccaro, C.
2013.	Identification of pigments used in rock art paintings in GodeRoriso-Ethiopia using Micro-Raman spectroscopy, <i>Journal of Archaeological Science</i> , (2013) 40:

473

4073e4082.

Goudie, A., & Viles, H.

2015. Landscapes and landforms of Namibia, *Springer:* University of Oxford.

Gwasira, G.

- 1998. Rock Art in Namibia: Its Past, Present and Future, *Pictogram*, vol. 10(1):54-56.
- 2000. *Twyfelfontein Preliminary Report for UNESCO*, June 2000.
- 2000. Rock Art Site Management in Namibia, with Particular Focus on Twyfelfontein, *Pictogram*, Vol. 11(2):16-22.
- 2012. The archaeology of the Dome Gorge in the Daureb/ Brandberg, Namibia: Themes, content and context, University of Namibia, *Journal for Studies in Humanities and Social Sciences*, Vol.1, Number 1, March 201:2 -ISSN 2026-7215.

Gwasira, G. and Lenssen-Erz, T.

2010. Two hairline engravings in the Dome Gorge, Daureb, Namibia. *South African Archaeological Bulletin*, (192) 65: 215-220.

Heine, K.

2005. Holocene climate of Namibia: a review based on geoarchives, Institute of Geography, University of Regensburg, Germany, *African Study Monographs, Suppl.*30: 119-133, March 2005.

Henshilwood, C.

- 1996. A revised chronology for pastoralism in southernmost Africa: new evidence of sheep at c. 2000 b.p. from Blombos Cave, *South Africa, Antiquity*, 70, 945-9
- Henshilwood, C. S., d'Errico, F., Watts, I.
 - 2009. Engraved ochres from the Middle Stone Age levels at Blombos Cave, South Africa. *Journal of Human Evolution*, 57(1), 27–47.

Hollmann, J. and Steyn, W.

2003. A report on the rock paintings in the Erongo Mountain, Erongo Region: Karibib, Omaruru District, Namibia, Unpublished Report, RARI Field trip 8–28 June 2003.

Hollmann, J., and Lewis-Williams, J.D.

2006. Species and supernatural potency: an unusual rock painting from the Motheo District, Free State province, South Africa. *South African Journal of Science* 102: 509–12.

Hodder, I.

1992. *Theories and Practice in Archaeology*, London: Routledge.

Hudson, T. & Lee, G.

1984. Function and symbolism in Chumash rock art. *Journal of New World Archaeology* 6(3), 26–47.

Huser, K.

1977. Namibrand und Erongo, Karlsruher Geographische Hefte 9, 214 pp.

Ignácio,	E.
----------	----

2009.	A representação de cervídeos no complexo rupestre do Parque Nacional Serra da Capivara: morfologias, sintaxe e contextos arqueológicos. Uma análise visual [Tese de mestrado]. 165p. Vila Real: IPT-UTAD, Master Erasmus Mundus em Quaternário e Pré- história.
Ingold, T.	
1992.	Culture and the perception of environment. In Croll, E., and Parkin, D. (Eds.), <i>Bush Base: Forest Farm: Culture, Environment, and Development</i> , Routledge, London, pp. 39–56
1993.	The Temporality of the Landscape, World Archaeology 25, (2): 154-174.
Jacobs, J., Pisar	revsky, S, Thomas, R.J. and Becker, T.
2008.	The Kalahari Craton during the assembly and dispersal of Rodinia, <i>Precamrian Research</i> , Vol. 160, Issue 1-2, 5 January 2008, PP. 142-158.
Jacobson, L.	
1976.	A Critical Review of Damaraland Culture, <i>Cimbebasia</i> , Ser. B – Vol. 2- No.8, 17 September, pp. 203-208.
Jones, T.E.H.	
1981.	The Aboriginal Rock Paintings of the Churchill River. <i>Anthropological Series</i> : Saskatchewan Museum of Natural History No.4. Regina: Saskatchewan Department of Culture and Youth.
Kinahan, J.	
1989.	Pastoral nomads of the Central Namib Desert, Unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, University of Witwatersrand.
1990.	Four thousand years at the Spitzkoppe: change in settlement and landuse on the edge of the Namib Desert, <i>Cimbebasia</i> , 12:1-4.
2011.	<i>From the Beginning: The archaeological evidence</i> , Wallace, M. and Kinahan, J., (eds.), pp. 15-44, Columbia University Press.
2005	The late Holocene human ecology of the Namib Desert, In 23°S, Archaeology and Environmental History of the Southern Deserts, Smith, M, and Hesse, P., (Eds.), Canberra.
Korn, H. and M	Iartin, H.
1959	Gravity tectonics in the Naukluft Mountain of South West Africa: <i>The Geological Society of America Bulletin</i> , Vol. 70, pp. 1047-1078.
Lancaster, N.,	
2002	How dry was dry?-Late Pleistocene palaeoclimates in the Namib 571 Desert, <i>Quaternary Science Review</i> , 21, 769-782.
Lapauze, O.	
2016	Diversité des matières colorantes utilisées sur le site de Léopard Cave (Erongo, Namibie), Unpublished Master thèses, Paris, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle.

Lee, R B.

- 1984. The Dobe !Kung. Holt, Rinehart & Winston, New York.
- 1979. !Kung Spatial Organisation: An Ecological and Historical Perspective. In: Lee, R.B. and DeVore, I. (eds) *Kalahari Hunter-Gatherers: Studies of the !Kung San and their neighbours*. London: Harvard University Press.

Lebon, M., Pichon, P., Menu, A, L. Chiotti, Nespouletd, N., Pailletd, P. and Beck, A.

2011. PIXE characterisation of prehistoric pigments from AbriPataud (Dordogne, France), *X-Ray Spectrom*, 2011, 40, 219–223.

Lenssen-Erz, T.

- 1997. Metaphors of Intactness of Environments of Rock Art Paintings of Namibia. In Rock-art as visual ecology, by P. Faulstich (Editor), pp. 43-54, AZ American, Tucson, 2004 Landscape Setting of rock painting sites in the Brandberg (Namibia): Infrastructure, Gestaltung, use and meaning, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- 2004. The Landscape Setting of Rock painting Sites in the Brandberg (Namibia): Infrastructure, Gestaltung, Use and Meaning. In *The Figured Landscapes of Rock Art*, pp. 131-150, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- 2007. Rock art in African Highlands, Brandberg/Daureb, Namibia Painters of a Prehistoric Hunter-Gatherer world. In: Bubenzer, O., Bolten, A. & Darius, F. (eds.): *Atlas of Environmental Change and Human Adaptation in Arid Africa. Africa Praehistorica*, 21. Heinrich-Barth-Institut: Köln, 2007: 72-73.
- 2008. Spaces and Discourse as Constituents of Past Identities the Case of Namibian Rock Art. In: Inés Domingo Sanz, Danae Fiore & Sally K. May (eds.), *Archaeologies of Art: Time, Place, Identity.* Left Coast Press, Walnut Creek: 29-50.(2012a) Adaptation or Aesthetic Alleviation – Which Kind of Evolution Do We See in Saharan Herder Rock Art of Northeast Chad?*Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 22,1: 89-114.
- 2012. Rock Art in Context theoretical aspects of pragmatic data collections. In: Ben Smith, Knut Helskog& David Morris (eds.), Working with Rock Art -Recording, Presenting and Understanding Rock Art Using Indigenous Knowledge. Wits University Press: Johannesburg: 47-58.

Lennsen-Erz, T. and Linstädter, J.

2009. Resources, Use Potential and Basic Needs – A Methodological Framework for Landscape Archaeology. In: Michael Bollig& Olaf Bubenzer (Hrsg./eds.) *African Landscapes:* Interdisciplinary Approaches. *Springer*, New York, 2009: 159-197.

Lewis-Williams, J.D.

- 1981. Believing and seeing, symbolic meanings in southern san rock paintings, London: Academic Press.
 - 1992. Ethnographic Evidence Relating to 'Trance' and 'Shamans' among Northern and Southern Bushmen. *South African Archaeological Bulletin* 47(155):56-60.
 - 1995. Seeing and Construing: The Making and 'Meaning' of a Southern African Rock Art Motif.*Cambridge Archaeological Journal*, 5(1):3-23.
- 1999. 'Meaning' in Southern African San Rock Art: Another Impasse? South African Archaeological Bulletin 54(170):141-145.

2006.	The Evolution of Theory, Method and Technique in Southern African Rock Art Research. <i>Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory</i> , Volume 3, 4: 343-377.			
Lewis-Williams, J.D. and Loubser, J.H.N.				
1986.	Deceptive appearances: a critique of southern African rock art studies. Advances in World Archaeology 5:253-			
Lewis-Williams,	, J.D and Dowson, T.			
1988.	The Signs of All Times: Entoptic Phenomena in Upper Paleolithic Art, <i>Current Anthropology</i> ,29:201-45.			
1989a. 1999.	Reply. Current Anthropology, 29:252-238. Images of Power: Understanding Bushman Rock Art. Pretoria: UNISA.			
Lewis- Williams	s and Pearce D.G.			
2004.	San Spirituality: Roots, Expressions, and Social Consequences. Cape Town: Double Storey Books.			
Liebenberg, L.W	ν.			
1990. Lipe, W.D.	The Art of Tracking: The Origin of Science. Cape Twown: David Phillip.			
2002.	Public Benefits of Archaeological Research. In "Public Benefits of Archaeology", edited by B. Little, pp. 20-28. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.			
Ljunge, M.				
2010.	Rock art and meaning of place: some phenomenological reflections. In " <i>changing pictures: rock art traditions and visions in Northern Europe</i> ", Oxford and Oakville: Oxbow Books.			
Maggs, W., & T	im, O'C.			
1998.	Cartographic content of rock art in Southern Africa. InWooward, Davis and Lewis, G. Malcom (Eds.), <i>The history of cartography</i> , Chicago: University of Chicago Press.			
Marcott, S., Sha	kun, J.D, Clack, P. and Mix, A.C.			
2013.	A Reconstruction of Regional and Global Temperature for the Past 11,300 Years, <i>Science</i> ,08 Mar 2013: Vol.339, Issue 6124, pp. 1198-1201, DOI: 10.12/Science.1228026.			
Marshall, L.				
1976. 1999.	<i>The !Kung of Nyae Nyae</i> . Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press. <i>The Nyae Nyae !Kung: beliefs and rites</i> . Peabody Museum Monographs (8). Cambridge, MA: Peabody Museum			
Mauran, G.				
2016.	Preliminary results of the in situ X Ray Fluorescence analyses of the parietal paintings of the Erongo Mountains, Erongo region, Unpublished Report, Museum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris.			
Meighan, C.W.				

1981. Theory and practice in the study of rock art. In: Meighan, C.W. (Ed.), *Messages from the past: studies in California rock art, Monograph XX*. Institute of Archaeology, University of California, Los Angeles, pp. 3 20.

Mendelsohn J., Jarvis A., Roberts C. and Robertson T.

2003. Atlas of Namibia: A Portrait of the Land and its People. Published for the Ministry of Environment and Tourism, David Philip Publishers, Cape Town, South Africa.

Migoń P. and Goudie, A.

2000. Granite Landforms of the Central Namib', In Acta Universitatis Carolinae, *Geographica, XXXV, Supplementum,* p.p. 17–38.

Milner, S.C. (Ed.),

1997. Geological map of Namibia (1:250,000), sheet 2114-Omaruru, *Geological Survey of Namibia*.

Morris, D.

1988. Engraved in place and time: a review of variability in the rock art of the northern Cape and Karoo, *South African Archaeological Bulletin*, 43: 109–120.

Mcdonald, J.O.

2006. 'Rock Art", in Archaeology in Practice: A student Guide to Archaeological Analyses, Blackwell Publishing: Malden, USA.

Nankela, A.M.

- 2012. The Landscape Setting of the Rock Arts Sites in Kunene Region, Namibia". In Oosterbeek 1 (Ed.) "*Landscape within rock art*", Centro de Pré-Historia do Institut Politécnico (CEIPHAR), Tomar, Portugal.
- 2014. Rock Art and cultural Identity formation in Namibia: reference to Twyfelfontein world heritage site (pp. 143-174)", *In Identities and Diversities: Ethnicity and Gender*, by Lins et al (eds.), Teresina: Fundacao Quixote- CEIPHAR/ITM
- 2015. "Rock art of Omandumba Farms in Erongo Mountain, Namibia". In *Expression quarterly e-journal of atelier in cooperation with uispp-cisnep, international scientific commission on the intellectual and spiritual expressions of non-literate peoples*, N9 September 2015, page 129.
- 2015. "Style, techniques and graphic expression of Omandumba Rock Art Sites in Erongo Mountain, Namibia" in "Styles, techniques et expression graphiquedansl'artsurparoirocheuse (Styles, Techniques and Graphic Expression in Rock Art), Proceedings of Session A11d of the 17th World Congress of the IUPPS (Actes de la session A11d du 17e Congrésmondial de l'UISPP) (Burgos 1-7 September 2014), pp 28-34.
- 2015. Rock Art Research in Namibia: A synopsis, in "Symbols in the landscape: rock art and its context", edited by Hipólito Collado Giraldo and José Julio GarcíaArranz, proceedings of the XIX International Rock Art Conference IFRAO 2015, (Cáceres, Spain, 31 August - 4 September 2015), Arkeos, 2015, pp. 1419-1435.

Nash, G.

2000. Defining a Landscape/place – Rock Art as Boundary of Cultural and Socio-Political Identity: A Norwegian Perspective. 1-16. In: Nash, G. (Editor.), *Signifying Place*

	and Space. World perspectives of rock art and landscape: BAR International Series, 902.
2002.	The landscape brought within: a re-evaluation of the rock-painting site at Tumlehed, Torslanda, Göteborg, west Sweden. In: Nash, G. & Chippindale, C. (Eds.), <i>European</i> <i>Landscapes of Rock-Art:</i> 176-194. Routledge. London
Ndlovu, N.	
2009.	The Comparative Analysis of Rock Art in Southern Africa. A Special Interest in the Eland.The School of Historical Studies Postgraduate Forum <i>E-Journal Edition</i> 7, 2009, New Castle University.
Oosterbeek, L., A	Almeida, N. and Garcês, S.
2014.	Territories revisited: identities and exclusion as seen from an archaeological perspective. In: <i>Identidades e diversidade cultural. Etnia e género</i> , by LINS, M, BORGES, M, Oosterbeek, L., MENDES, A., Leite, A.D. AND Lima, A (Eds.) pp. 65-77, Fundação Quixote – CEIPHAR/ITM, Teresina.
Ouzman, S.	
1996. 1998.	Thaba Sione: place of rhinoceroses and rock art. <i>African Studies</i> 55: 31–59. Towards a Mindscape of Landscape: Rock-Art as Expression of World
2001	Understanding, In " <i>The Archaeology of Rock Art</i> ", by Christopher Chippendale and Paul S. C. Taçon, pp. 30-41, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
2001.	Seeing is deceiving: rock art and the non-visual, <i>World Archaeology</i> , Vol. 333(2): 237-256, Archaeology and Aesthetics.
2002.	<i>Twyfelfontein Site Reports</i> , Unpublished report for the National Monument Council of Namibia.
2002.	Black or white? The identification and significance of rhinoceroses in South AfricanBushman rock art. <i>The Digging Stick</i> 19 (2): 9–12.
Preucel, R. W. an	nd Hodder, I.
1996.	Communicating present pasts. In Preucel, R. W. & Hodder, I. (Eds.), <i>Contemporary Archaeology in Theory: A Reader</i> . Blackwell, Oxford
Pirajno, F.	
1990.	Geology, geochemistry and mineralization of the Erongo Volcanic Complex, Namibia, <i>South African Journal of Geology</i> , 93, 485–504.
Pleurdeau, D.	
2016.	Dynamique des peuplements en Namibie a l'holocène, mission archéologique en Namibie, rapport d'activités de la champagne, Unpublished report, Paris, Museum National D'Histoire Naturelle.
Pleurdeau, D., In	nalwa, E., Detroit, F., Lesur, J., and VELDMAN, A.
2012.	Of Sheep and Men: Earliest Direct Evidence of Caprine Domestication in Southern Africa at Leopard Cave (Erongo, Namibia), <i>PLoS ONE</i> 7(7): e40340.
Rifkin, R., Hensl	nilwood, C. and Haaland, M.
2015.	Pleistocene Figurative Art Mobilier from Apollo 11 cave, Karas region, Southern Namibia, <i>South African Archaeological Bulletin</i> , 70, (201): 113–123, 2015.

Rifkin, R. F., D'Errico, F., Dayet-Boulliot, L., Summers, B.

2015. Assessing the photoprotective effects of red ochre on human skin by in vitro laboratory experiments. *South African Journal of Science*, 111(3-4), 1–8.

Richter, J.

1991.	Studien zur Urgeschichte Namibia's, Africa Prehistorica, 3, Köln. \									
1993.	The Messum-Menongue complex: Early Holocene stone tool assemblages in									
	Namibia and Angola. – Quartär, 43/44: 1 63- 171.									
2002a.	The Giraffe People: Nimibia's Prehistoric Artists, Tides of the Desert - Gezeiten der									
	Wüste. Festschrift R. Kuper. Africa Praehistorica 14, Köln, 523-534.									

Richter J. and Vogelsang, R.

2008a. Rock Art in North Central Namibia- It 's Age and cultural Background, In *Heritage* and Cultures in Modern Namibia: Indepth Review of the country, edited by C. Limpricht and M. Biesel. A Tucsin Festschrift, Windhoek, Göttingen.

Sandelowsky, B., & Viereck, A.

1969.	Supplementary	Report	on	the	Archaeological	Expedition	of	1962	to	Erongo
	Mountain of South West Africa, Cimbebasia, B 1:1-43.									
1977.	Mirabib - an arcl	haeologi	cal s	study	in the Namib, M	ladoqua, 10,	221	-283.		

Scherz, R. E.

1970.	Felsbilder in Südwest-Afrika, Teil I: Die Gravierungen in Südwest-Afrika ohne den
	Nordwesten des Landes. FundamentaA7. KöWWien.

- 1975. Felsbilder in Sudwest-Afrika: Teil II: Die Gravierungen im NordwesternSudwest-Afrikas, *Böhlau Verlag*, Cologne, ISBN 978-3-412-03374-3.
- 1986. Felsbilder in Südwest-Afrika, Teil 111: Die Malereien FundamentaA7/III. Köln/Wien.

Schmidt, I.

2011. A Middle Stone Age Assemblage with Discoid Lithic Technology from Etemba 14, Erongo Mountains, Northern Namibia, DOI 10.3213/1612-1651-10183. Published online April 30, 2011 © Africa Magna Verlag, Frankfurt M, *Journal of African Archaeology*, Vol. 9 (1), 2011, pp.

Schmidt, B.

2001 Messages from the past: Rock Art of Eastern and Southern Africa, *Stone Watch*, ISBN-3-00-007863-0

Schutz, A. & Luckmann, T.

1975. Strukturen der Lebenswelt. *Luchterrhand, Neuwied und Darmstadt.*

Smith, B. and Ouzman, S.

2004. Taking stock: Identifying Khoekhoen herder rock art in Southern Africa, *Current Anthropology*, 45, (3): 499-526.

Smith, B.W. and G. Blundell
2004. Dangerous ground: a critique of landscape in rock-art studies, In "*The Figured Landscapes of Rock Art*", by Chippindale, C. & Nash, G (Eds.), pp. 239–262, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Smith, M.A. and Hesse, P. (Editors)

2005. *Archaeology and environmental history of the Southern Deserts*, National Museum of Australia Press, Canberra.

Taçon, P.

1994. Socializing landscapes: the long term implications of signs, symbols and marks on the land, *Archaeology in Oceania*, 29, 1994, pp 117-129.

Taçon, P.S.C. and Ouzman, S.

2004. Worlds within Stone: The Inner and Outer Rock – Art Landscape of Northern Australia and Southern Africa, In"*The Figured Landscapes of Rock Art*", by Chippindale, C. & Nash, G., (Eds.), *pp. 39-68*, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.

Tilley, C.

1994.	A phenomenology of landscape: Places, Paths and Monuments, Oxford, Berg.
1997.	A Phenomenology of Landscape: Places, Paths and Monuments, illustrated edn.
	London: Bloomsbury Academic
2004.	The Materiality of Stone, Explorations in Landscape Phenomenology. Berg. Oxford.
2010.	Interpreting Landscapes: Geologies, Topographies, Identities; Explorations in
	Landscape Phenomenology 3. (illustratededn). Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast
	Publishing.

Tuan, Y-F.

1974. Space and place: Humanistic perspective. *Progress in Geography* 6, 211-252.

Turner, M.G., Gardner, R.H., and O'neill, R.V.

2001. Landscape ecology in theory and practice, *Springer*, New York.

Thomas, E.M.

1959. The Harmless People. Harmondsworth: Penguin.

Trumbull, R.B., Emmermann, R., Buhn, B., Gerstenberger, H., Minggram, B., Schmitt, A. and Volker, F.

2000. Insights on the genesis of the Cretaceous Damaraland igneous complexes in Namibia: the Nd- and Sr-Isotopic perspective. *Communications of the Geological Survey of Namibia*, 12, 313-324.

Tyson, P.D.

1986. *Climatic change and variability in southern Africa*: Cape Town, Oxford University Press.

Vinnicombe, P.

1976. *People of the Eland.* Pietermaritzburg: Natal University Press, South Africa.

Vogelsang, R., Richter, J., Jacobs, Z., Eichhorn, B., Linseele, V., Roberts, R. G.

2010.	New excavations of Middle Stone Age deposits at Apollo 11 rock shelter, Namibia:
	Stratigraphy, archaeology, chronology and past environments. Journal of African
	<i>Archaeology</i> , 8(2), 185–218.

Vogelsang, R. and Eichhorn, B.

2011. Under Mopane Tree: Holocene Settlement in Namibia, *Africa Prehistorica*, 24. Heinrich-Barth-Institut, Köln 2011, pp.220 ISBN 978-3-927688-3-7.

Wadley, L.

1979. Big Elephant Shelter and its role in the Holocene prehistory of Central South West Africa, *Cimbebasia* B 3:1-76.

Wellington J.H.

1967.	South West Africa a	nd its human issues,	Oxford: Clarendon Press.
-------	---------------------	----------------------	--------------------------

Wendt, W. E.

- 1972. Preliminary report on an archaeological research programme in South West Africa, *Cimbebasia*, (B), 2, pp.1-6.
- 1974. Art Mobilier from the Apollo 11 cave, South West Africa: Africa's oldest dated works of art. *South African Archaeological Bulletin*, 31:5-11.
- 1976. Art mobilier from the Apollo 11 Cave, South West Africa: Africa's oldest dated works of art. *South African Archaeological Bulletin*, 31, (121/122), pp. 5-11.

Wigand, M., Schmitt, A.K., Trumbull, R.B., Villa, I.M. & Emmermann, R.

2003. Short lived magmatic activity in an anorogenic subvolcanic complex: 40Ar/39Ar and ion microprobe UPb zircon dating of the Erongo, Damaraland, Namibia, *Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research*, 2715 (2003) 1^21.

Williamson, B.S.

2000. Direct Testing of Rock Painting Pigments for Traces of Haemoglobin at Rose Cottage Cave, South Africa, *Journal of Archaeological Science*, (2000) 27, 755–762 doi:10.1006/jasc.1999.0489.

Willcox, A. F.

1963.	The rock art	of Southern	Africa.	Nelson, New	York.
		v			

Whitley, D. S.

- 2000. *The Art of the Shaman: Rock Art of California*, the University of Utah Press, Salt Lake City.
- 2011. Introduction to Rock Art Research, Left Coast Press, Walnut Creek, California.

Zendeno, M.

2008. 'The archaeology of territory and territoriality' in *Handbook of Landscape Archaeology*.(eds) B. David & J. Thomas, Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Publishing, 210-215.

WEBOGRAPHY

Deacon, J.

2002. Southern African Rock Art Sites. Retrieved from: www.icomos.org, accessed on 27 January 2014.

Ouzman, S.

2007. Rock Art of Twyfelfontein, Namibia, Africa, Twyfelfontein site report, Bradshaw Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.bradshawfoundation.com/namibia/twyfelfontein_site_report17.php, accessed on 9th July 2014.

http://www.uni-koeln.de/sfb389/

accessed on 10thMarch 2014.

www.maphil.com

accessed on 27 November 2016.

https://www.nps.gov/training/tel/guides/hps1022_aic_code_of_ethics

accessed on 13th March 2014.

http://johnmuirlaws.com/

accessed on 12th March 2016

http://www.conservation-us.org/index.cfm?fuseaction¼page.viewpage&pageid¼1026 Code of Ethics and Guidelines for Practice. American Institute for Conservation [AIC e Conservation-us.org. Retrieved on 15.04.13.]

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Rock Art Survey & Recording Form

ROCK ART REGISTRY FORM

NATIONAL HERITAGE COUNCIL OF NAMIBIA DEPARTMENT OF ARCHAEOLOGY & HERITAGE RESEARCH



LOCALIS ATION							
Project Name:	Region:	Surveyor (s):					
Site Owner:	Date:	Time:					
Site name:	Recorder (s):	Legal Status:					
GPS coordinates:	Sheet No:	Altitude: Meters					
Maps:	Scale:						

Nature of Access to Rock Art Area (Please tick appropriate box)

Open Access	
Private Access	
No access	

SECTION A: LANDSCAPE CONTEXT OF THE SITE

GEOLOGICAL SETTINGS:	Х	COMMENTS	ECOLOGICAL SETTINGS	Х	COMMENTS
Rock Types			Vegetation		
Granites Basalt Sandstone Schist Others			Wooded Bushy Thorny Grassland Others		
Landscape Situation	Х	Comments	Fauna Type	Х	Comments

Outcrop Pavements River bed Hill top Valley flat Plateaux Mountain			Wild Animals Domestic Animals Others		
SITE ENVIRONMENT	FILL IN	COMMENT	EXPOSURE TO SUNLIGHT	Х	Comments
Site/Panel Size Length Width Painted area			Morning Afternoon All Day		
PLACEMENT OF FIGURES		SITE VISIBILITY (m/km)	ROCK SURFACE		Comments
Open Air Boulder Cave Shelter Ledge/Sill Pavement Riverbed Others			Vertical Horizontal Slopping Upwards Slopping Downward Ceiling Overhang Ledge/Sill Others		

SECTION B: THE CONTEXT OF THE PANEL

Accessibility to the site:

Date: Recorders:					Site ID:						
Panel ID		Panel	Measure	nts		Panel N	leasurem	ents		0	otional
Cluster Number		Dist ance from Prev .site	Visib- ility (m)	Proximity to Water Points (R. S. P)	Proxi mity to Ani. Trails	Elev. (m)	Orientati- on 1 to 360	Width cm	Height cm	No. of Elemen t	Comme nts

	PANEL DATA: ROCK ART DATA					
Types of roc	k art:					
□Paintings	□Engravings	□Others				
Paintings:	Outline Monochron	ne Bichrome Polychrome Others				
Engravings:	Light Pecking Deep	Pecking Scratched Abraded/Polished Incised Others				
Pigment Col	Pigment Colour used at the Panel& Quantity					
Red⊡Brown⊡Black□Yellow□White□ Orange□ Others□						
Rock Art Ele	ments					

Anthropomorphs Inventory Total: Dimensions (cm) of Figure (L & W) Techniques of the figure Figure N⁰ Type of Pigment Colours Photography figure Camera No. Of 1 Photos 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

12				
13				
14				
15				
16				
17				
18				
19				
20				
21				
22			1	
23				
30			1	

Indeterminate Anthropomorphic:

Zoomo	rphs Inven	tory	Total:			
Figure Nº	Type of figure	Dimensions (cm) of Figure (L & W)	Techniques of the figure	Pigment Colours	Register Ph	otography
1					Camera	Number
2						of Photos
3						
4						
5						
6						
7						
8						
9						
10						
11						
12						
13						
14						
15						
16						
17						
18						
19						
20						
21						
22						
23						
30						

Indeterminate Zoomorphic:

Therianthropes:

Other Types of Figures Inventory Total:

a) b) c) d) e) f) g)	Phytomorphs Lineal Concentric Circle Cupules Dots Indeterminate Others	es				
Figur e N⁰	Type of figure	Dimensions (cm) of Figure (L & W)	Techniques of the figure	Pigment Colours	Registe	er Photography
1 2					Camer a	No. Of Photos
3 4 5						
6 7						
8 9 10						
11 12						
13 14						
15 16 17						
18 19						
20 21						
22 23 30						
COMPO	SITION			1	I	
Individua	al Es cenic 🗆					
The Sce	ene (s) observe	ed at the Site/Panel				
Hunting Journe	□ Hunters□Birt ey□Astronomica	hing □Ceremony□ Cu I□Others	upulation⊔Healing	⊓⊟Herds		

Elements of Superimpositions at the Panel? Ye

Yes□

No□

Superimpositions		Association			Observation:	
Figure	Overrides	Figure	Figure	Associated	Figure	

	No	No	with	

SITE SURFACE ARCHAEOLOGICAL DEPOSITS

Yes ⊡None⊡

If yes, Indicate the nature of Surface finds at the Site/Panel & Quantity by marking X in the space provided.

[×] [] []	Means "little"
[x] [x] []	Means "medium quantity"
[x] [x] [x]	Means "a lot"

- 1. Animal Remains_____
- 2. Beads_
- 3. Ceramic Fragments_____
- 4. Hearth/ Sediments_____
- 5. Lithics_____
- 6. Stone Structures_____
- 7. Geologic: Ochre_____Haematite_____Others_____
- 8. Pestle_
- 9. Grinding Stones_____
- 10. Others_

SECTION C: CONDITION ASSESSMENT OF THE SITE

(Please cross X the appropriate box)

Site	e Setting (weathering processes)	Not Present	Present	Obvious	Dominant
	Differential (channels/hollows)	0	1	2	3
	Planar (scaling/flaking)	0	1	2	3
	Cratering/pitting of a rock art panel	0	1	2	3
	Burnt areas	0	1	2	3

Site	e Setting (biological evidence)	Not Present	Present	Obvious	Dominant
	Lichen (crustose) Lichen (foliose)	0	1	2	3
	Moss	0	1	2	3
	Algae	0	1	2	3

	Grass/turf patches and detritus (leaves/needles) waste	0	1	2	3
Site	e Setting (Animal Impact)	Not present	Present	Obvious	Dominant
	Droppings (game/stock) of animal waste	0	1	2	3
	Wear (rubbing)	0	1	2	3
	Chips or scratches by animals	0	1	2	3
	Animal blood or droppings on the art wall	0	1	2	3

Site	e Setting (Human Impact)	Not Present	Present	Obvious	Dominant
	Chips or scratches	0	1	2	3
	Construction near the site Graffiti (carved) Graffiti (painted	0	1	2	3
	Plough/flail marks	0	1	2	3
	Quarrying	0	1	2	3

Site	e Setting (Physical and chemical threats)	Not present	Present	Obvious	Dominant
	Water pooling	0	1	2	3
	Water flow	0	1	2	3

Severity of threats

None	Slight Moderate	Moderate	Severe

Site Setting (geological factors)	Not Present	Present	Obvious	Dominant
Fissures independent of stone lithification (pressure release, calcrete wedging).	0	1	2	3
Fissures dependent on lithification (bedding, foliations)	0	1	2	3
Changes in textural anomalies (banding, concretions)	0	1	2	3
Rock weakness	0	1	2	3
Weaknesses of the Rock Art Panel	Not Present	Present	Obvious	Dominant
Fissure soil (future location of break-off)	0	1	2	3
Plant growth near or on panel	0	1	2	3
Scaling & flaking (future location of flaking — millimetre-scale, or scaling — centimetre-scale)	0	1	2	3
Undercutting (beneath the panel)	0	1	2	3
Other concerns (e.g. water flow)	0	1	2	3
Evidence of Large Erosion Events On and Below the Panel	Not Present	Present	Obvious	Dominant
Anthropogenic activities	0	1	2	3
Fissure soil/concrete wedging (or dust in fissure soil,	0	1	2	3

or both)					
Fire	Fire			2	3
Construction	Construction			2	3
Other natural causes of b roots, intersection of fract	eak-off (wedge work of ires)	0	1	2	3
Evidence on Small Erosic	n Events on the Panel	Not Present	Present	Obvious	Dominant
Abrasion (from sediment	ransport by water)	0	1	2	3
Anthropogenic cutting (cc	nstruction etc.)	0	1	2	3
Crumbly disintegration (ir powdery)	groups of grains or	0	1	2	3
Flaking of the weathering	rind (peel off a rock)	0	1	2	3
Granular disintegration (n and granitic)	ost frequently sandstone	0	1	2	3
Loss parallel to stone stru	cture (bedding or foliations)	0	1	2	3
Rounding of petroglyph e pictograph images)	0	1	2	3	
Scaling (centimetre-scale	; thicker than flaking)	0	1	2	3
Other forms of increment birds)	Other forms of incremental erosion (e.g. insects, birds)			2	3
Rock coatings (crust) on	he Panel	Not Present	Present	Obvious	Dominant
Anthropogenic (chalking	graffiti, other)	0	1	2	3
Droppings	Yes / No / Uncertain				
Dust Coatings	Yes / No / Uncertain				
	Other Concerns at	the Site:			
Overall Condition of the Site	Panel				
Excellent Good Poor Others					

PHOTOGRAPHY REGISTRY FORM

Region:	
Site Name:	
Panel No (s):	
Photographer (s):	

Date	Panel Name	Number

Conventional photography record

Caption	Picture number
Panel from N	
Panel from S	
Panel from E	
Panel from W	
Vertical view	
Landscape/context view (indicate direction)	

Panorama pictures

Stitched filename			

LOCALISATION	OMANDUMBA	Engravings	Other Components
Region:	Rock Art Database	Light Pecked:	Style Count:
Site Owner:		Deep Pecked:	Superimpositions:
UTM Easting:		Scratched:	Pigment Analyses
UTM Southing:		Abraded/Polished:	Associ. Archao:
Site	Landscape Cont	Others:	Archaeo Recomm:
Name:	Orientations:		Anthropic Actions:
ID:	Location:	Paintings	Animal Impacts:
Elevations:	Positions:	Painting Type:	Biological Impacts:
Site Context:	Distance From:	Colour (s):	Chemical Impacts
		Black:	Overal Conservat:
Landscape Situation	Quantity	Brown:	Sites Open to Public:
Rock Type:	Panels	Red:	Mana. Recommenda:
Vegetation:	Est. Panel Count:	White	Site References:
Fauna		Yel/Oran:	
Site Type:	Paintings Panels:		Comments
Visibility	Engraving Panels:	Rock Art Elements	
Figures Placement	Site Total Count:	Anthropomorphs:	
Part Conference	Elements	Zoomorphs:	
Rock Surface:	Element Count:	Therianthropes:	
Sun exposure:	Total Elements:	Phytomorphs:	
Proximity variables:	Painting Count:	Abstracts:	
Panel Size:	Engravings Count:	Indeterminate:	

Appendix 2: Template of Omandumba Rock Art Database Entry Form.